

Long-term effects of mitigation measures and meteorological conditions on aerosol characteristics in Beijing, China

Zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines DOKTORS DER NATURWISSENSCHAFTEN von der Fakultät für Bauingenieur-, Geo- und Umweltwissenschaften des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT)

genehmigte

DISSERTATION

von

Master of Science Yuan Chen geboren in Hunan, China

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 14.07.2016

Hauptreferent: Prof. Dr. S. Norra Korreferent: Prof. Dr. K. Schäfer

Karlsruhe 2016



This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 DE License (CC BY 3.0 DE): http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/de/

Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation, abgesehen von der Benutzung der von mir vollständig und genau bezeichneten Hilfsmittel, selbstständig verfasst und die Grundsätze des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT) zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis in ihrer aktuell gültigen Fassung beachtet habe.

Karlsruhe den 28.05.2016

Yuan Chen

Acknowledgement

This research was made during my Ph.D. study at the Institute of Applied Geosciences (AGW) of the Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Germany. I would like to express my gratitude to the China Scholarship Council (CSC) for supporting my studies in Germany and to the Graduate School for Climate and Environment (GRACE) at KIT for funding support for experiments performance, attending summer school and conferences, and scholarship at the end of my Ph.D. study.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor Professor Dr. Stefan Norra. He is strictly demanding but fully understanding. He gives me great scientific freedom with the support of his professional knowledge and helpful suggestions. He offers me not only professional but also personal support during the last years. He is an advisor, a colleague, a father and a friend. Thank you very much, Stefan!

My special thanks go to Professor Dr. Klaus Schäfer for being my Korreferent with great support for my work. My warm thanks go to Professor Dr. Thomas Neumann for nice suggestions for my research and the good working environment at the institute.

Thank Dr. Utz Kramar for his technical support for chemical analysis with X-ray fluorescence spectrometer at AGW. Thank Mrs. Claudia Mossner and Mrs. Cornelia Haug for their support for chemical analysis with inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer. Thank Mr. Volker Zibat for his technical support for Scanning Electron Microscopy analysis in the Laboratory for Electron Microscopy at KIT.

Thank Professor Obst and Professor Thomas Schwatz for their support for bio particles analyses at the Institute of Functional Interfaces (IFG) of KIT. Thank Dr. Harald for providing me the access of using the Small-Scale Powder Disperser 3433 and the Aerodynamic Particle Sizer 3321 at the Institute of Meteorology and Climate Research (IMK) of KIT. Although these results were not used in this dissertation, they were parts of my Ph.D. study and supported my whole research.

At the German Meteorological Service (DWD) in Freiburg, I obtained lots of support for using their laboratories, particularly from Mr. Mathieu Fricker and Mr. Volker Dietze. Thank for the intensive cooperation, their help with the experiments and nice suggestions.

I have received great support and help for sample collection in Beijing, China from the China University of Geosciences, Beijing (CUGB) and the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES). Cordial thanks go to Professor Dr. Cen Kuang at CUGB, Professor Chai Fahe and Professor Chen Yizhen at CREAS, as well as their students for the long-term nice cooperation.

I want to thank Professor Dr. Jörg Schäfer in the University of Bordeaux, France for supporting me on particulate mercury (HgP) analysis at his lab and the one-month visit research there. I would like to thank Professor Lv Yujuan at the Shenzhen University, China for the two-month visit research there.

Thank Alexandra Nothstein and Peter Illner for their support, encouragement and the great atmosphere in our office. Furthermore, Thanks go to all my colleagues at KIT for the nice working atmosphere, exchanging ideas and helping each other: Nina Schleicher, Elisabeth Eiche, Beate Oetzel, Zsolt Berner, Arno Hartmann, Denise Böhnke, Fabienne Kürner, Nicolas Börsig, Sebastian Potsch, Olga Körting, Xiaohui Tang and Helena Banning.

Words cannot express enough thanks to my parents and my sister for their unconditional love, always being proud of me and believing in me. Particular thanks go to my boyfriend Xi for his infinite love, accompany and support in Germany.

Abstract

Due to the influences on climate, economy and human health, air pollution has become a significant concern of both scientists and the public all over the word, especially in the developing countries. Beijing, the capital of China, a typical megacity in Asian countries, has been suffering from severe air pollution owing to high loads of aerosol particulates. The swift growth of population, economy and number of automobiles was accompanied by the increase in total energy consumption and pollutants emission. To improve air quality, series of intervention measures were established by the government. And in order to hold a 'Green' Olympic Games in 2008, the most intensive mitigation measures were put into force in Beijing. This large 'experiment' performed by the government provided unique opportunity to study the impact of the intervention measures on air quality.

These intervention measures included particular mitigation measures on specific pollution sources, such as improved emission standards, traffic restriction, construction limitation and afforestation, and macro intervention policies such as energy structure transformation. In this context, with long-term sampling and analyses of atmospheric particulates from 2005 to 2014, the main aims of this dissertation were 1) to study the characteristics of the aerosol particulates and define their sources, 2) to evaluate and quantify the effects of various governmental measures on air quality, 3) to analyze the effects of meteorological conditions, such as precipitation and sand-dust weather, on aerosol distribution, 4) and to provide a substantial scientific contribution to aerosol study, human health research related to air pollution, as well as policy-making for improving air quality in China.

The annual mean concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ from 2005 to 2014 was 65.6 µg/m³ and the annual mean of TSP from 2007 to 2014 was 227 µg/m³. They both exceeded the annual mean standards (level II) for $PM_{2.5}$ (35 µg/m³) and TSP (200 µg/m³) according to the Ambient Air Quality Standard (GB3095-2012) in China. The concentrations of most elements of $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing were higher than the corresponding concentrations in other studies in European or American countries. Of the four elemental concentrations mentioned in the

Ambient Air Quality Standard, only As average concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ exceeded the standard (2.5 times), based on nine-year (2005-2013) measured data.

Principle component analysis (PCA) was performed to categorize and identify the main sources of fine particles according to the element associations: typical anthropogenic sources (i.e. traffic and smelting), geogenic dust, agriculture sources (i.e. fertilizers), coal combustion, steel-related industry, comprehensive combustion emission and diffuse urban pollution.

Concentrations of traffic-related elements, such as Pb, Sb and Sn, varied with the strictness of traffic restriction measures. The pollution level was inversely correlated with the intensity of the measures. The introduction of license plate lottery policy for car registration since the beginning of 2011 in Beijing led to the largest annual growth during the ten years of total amount of vehicles from 2009 to 2010. This was considered as a contributor to the relatively high concentrations of traffic-related elements in 2010 compared to 2009, especially in summer time when other sources for these elements played a minor role.

Chromium (Cr), Co and Ni were used to evaluate the influence of the relocation of the Capital Steel Company. Annual mean concentrations of Cr, Co, Ni decreased in 2010 compared to those in 2008 if only three-year measured data were analyzed. However, from the view of nine-year (2005-2013) data, the decrease in Cr, Co and Ni between 2008 and 2010 did not continue but reversed slightly between 2011 and 2013, which was attributed to the nearby relocation with the recovery of production.

Temporal distribution of black carbon (BC) showed a distinct declining trend from 2005 to 2013, which was well correlated to the declining consumption of coal and coke. Gallium (Ga) was recommended as a tracer for coal combustion for the first time, due to its strong correlation with BC and coal consumption, as well as its concentration variation between the heating- and non-heating periods. From a long-term perspective, particulate mercury (HgP) concentration fell even with increasing total energy consumption and growing total

vehicle number. The strong correlations between HgP and BC/Ga in winter, together with the success of energy structure transformation on reducing BC/Ga suggested the effectiveness of this transformation on HgP emission control. The effects of this macro intervention measure in improving air quality were quantified according to the reduced concentrations of these relative pollutants.

Mass concentrations of different size fractions of coarse particles (2.5-80 μ m) all showed slightly decreasing trends during the long-term observation period. Most of the peaks correlated to the sand dust or dust storms. The Olympic Games period displayed lower concentrations than the rest of the sampling time, demonstrating the effectiveness of mitigation measures on reducing coarse particles. The different size distribution patterns during different pollution days provide reference information for the enactment of mitigation measures on aerosol particles.

Precipitation had direct scavenging effects on aerosol particles. Thus periods with similar precipitation were selected for comparison when studying the effects of mitigation measures. $PM_{2.5}$ and BC were responsible for visibility deterioration. Temperature had an indirect effect on aerosol distribution, as the heating activity – mainly coal combustion – occurred with low temperature in winter and led to high aerosol load. Wind condition affected aerosol distribution by re-suspending local dust or introducing aerosol pollution from the surrounding areas. Wind carrying dust from the north and the northwest with high wind velocity triggered sand dust or dust storms, especially in spring. Year-by-year variations of temperature and wind conditions were similar from the ten-year observation and played a minor role in aerosol distribution.

The year 2008 was a milestone for air quality improvement during the ten years. Effective governmental mitigation measures for specific sources (e.g. traffic restriction measures) and macro intervention measures (e.g. energy structure transformation) are recommended to be continued and improved in order to obtain more "blue sky" days in the future. One the one hand, industry relocation is not recommended as a long-term effective measure to mitigate air pollution, but on the other hand the concurrent improved emission standards

are considered promising. For both environmental sustainability and human health, aerosol pollution is a crucial issue to be mitigated in Beijing and more efforts are required for better air quality.

Zusammenfassung

Aufgrund der Einflüsse auf Klima, Wirtschaft und Gesundheit ist die Luftverschmutzung für die Wissenschaftler und Öffentlichkeit der ganzen Welt ein bedeutender Grund zur Sorge geworden, insbesondere in den Entwicklungsländern. Peking ist als Hauptstadt von China eine typische Megastadt in asiatischen Ländern. Aufgrund der hohen Belastung durch Aerosolpartikeln ist Peking von schwerer Luftverschmutzung betroffen. Mit dem schnellen Wachstum von Bevölkerung, Wirtschaft und Anzahlan Fahrzeugen nimmt auch gleichzeitig der Energieverbrauch und die Emission der Schadstoffe zu. Zur Verbesserung der Luftqualität wurde eine Reihe von Maßnahmen durch die Regierung durchgefährt. Um ,grünen' olympische Spiele im Jahr 2008 abhalten zu können, wurden intensivste Schutzmaßnahmen in Peking durchgesetzt. Dieses von Regierung durchgeführte große ,Experiment' bietet die einzigartige Gelegenheit, die Auswirkungen dieser Interventionsmaßnahmen auf die Luftqualität zu untersuchen.

Die Interventionsmaßnahmen enthalten besondere Schutzmaßnahmen zu spezifischen Verschmutzungsquellen, z.B. verbesserte Emissionsstandards, Verkehrssteuerung, Baubeschränkung, Aufforstung, und Makrointerventionspolitik, wie z.B. Innovation der Energiestruktur. Unter diesem Gesichtspunkt und des langfristigen Probennahme und Analyse der atmosphärischen Partikel von 2005 bis 2014 sind die Hauptziele dieser Dissertation 1) die Untersuchung der Eigenschaften der Aerosolpartikel und die Feststellung ihrer Quellen, 2) die Bewertung und Quantifizierung der Auswirkungen verschiedener staatlicher Maßnahmen auf die Luftqualität, 3) die Analyse der Auswirkungen der meteorologische Bedingungen, wie z.B. Niederschläge und Sandstürme, auf die Aerosolverteilung, 4) und das Liefern eines erheblichen wissenschaftlichen Beitrags zur Aerosolforschung, Gesundheitsforschung bezüglich der Luftverschmutzung sowie Politikgestaltung zur Verbesserung der Luftqualität in China.

Die mittlere jährliche $PM_{2.5}$ -Konzentration von 2005 bis 2014 war 65.6 $\mu g/m^3$ und die mittlere jährliche TSP-Konzentration von 2007 bis 2014 war 227 $\mu g/m^3$. Beide überschritten die mittleren jährlichen Standards (Stufe II) für die $PM_{2.5}$ - (35 $\mu g/m^3$) und TSP- (200 $\mu g/m^3$) Konzentration, anhand vom Umgebungsluftqualitätsstandard (GB3095-2012) in China. Die meisten $PM_{2.5}$ -Elementkonzentrationen in Peking sind höher als die entsprechenden Konzentrationen in anderen Untersuchungen in europäischen

oder amerikanischen Ländern. Von den vier Umgebungsluftqualitätsstandard erwähnten Elementkonzentrationen überschreitet, basierend auf den neunjährigen Messdaten (2005-2013), nur die durchschnittliche As-Konzentration von PM_{2.5} den Standard (Faktor 2.5).

Eine Hauptkomponentenanalyse (PCA) wurde durchgeführt, um die wichtigsten Quellen des Feinstaubs je nach Elementgruppierung zu kategorisieren und zu identifizieren. Die wichtigsten Quellen enthalten typische anthropogene Quellen (z.B. Verkehr, Verhüttung), geogenen Staub, Landwirtschaftsquellen, (z.B. Düngemittel), Kohleverbrennung, Stahlherstellungs-und-verarbeitungsindustrie, Gesamtemissionen aus Verbrennung und diffuse Städtische Luftverschmutzung.

Die Konzentrationen der verkehrsbezogenen Elemente, wie z.B. Pb, Sb und Sn, variieren je nach Strenge der Verkehrsteuerungsmaßnahmen. Der Verschmutzungsgrad war invers mit der Intensität der Maßnahmen korreliert. Die Einführung der Nummernschild Lotteriepolitik für Kfz-Zulassungen seit Anfang des Jahres 2011 in Peking führte von 2009 bis 2010 zum größten jährlichen Wachstum der Fahrzeuggesamtmenge in zehn Jahren. Besonders in der Sommerzeit, wenn andere Quellen für diese verkehrsbezogenen Elemente eine kleine Rolle spielten, wird dies als Beitrag zu den relativ hohen Konzentrationen von verkehrsbezogenen Elementen in 2010, Vergleichen mit 2009, betrachtet.

Chrom (Cr), Co und Ni werden zur Bewertung des Einflusses der Verlegung des Hauptstadtischen Stahlunternehmens. Wenn nur dreijährige Messdaten analysiert wurden, sanken die mittleren jährlichen Konzentrationen von Cr, Co, Ni im Jahr 2010, im Vergleich zu 2008. Aber aus der Sicht von neunjährigen (2005-2013) Daten nehmen Cr, Co und Ni zwischen 2008 und 2010 ab und nehmen dann leicht zwischen 2011 und 2013 zu. Dies wurde der nahegelegenen Verlegung und der Wiederaufnahme der Produktion zugeschrieben.

Die zeitliche Verteilung des schwarzen Kohlenstoffs (BC) zeigt eine deutliche rückläufige Tendenz zwischen 2005 und 2013, die gut mit dem rückläufigen Verbrauch von Kohle und Koks korreliert. Aufgrund seiner starken Korrelation mit BC, Kohleverbrauch und seiner Konzentrationsschwankung zwischen den Heiz- und Nicht Heizperioden wird Gallium (Ga) als Tracer für die Verbrennung von Kohle zum ersten Mal empfohlen. Aus einer langfristigen Perspektive sank die partikuläre Quecksilberkonzentration (HgP), trotz erhöhtem Gesamtenergieverbrauch und wachsendes Fahrzeugegesamtzahl. Die starken Korrelationen zwischen HgP und BC/Ga im Winter zusammen mit dem Erfolg der Energiestruktur Umwandlung auf die BC/Ga-reduktion weisen auf die Effektivität dieser Umwandlung auf die HgP-Emissionskontrolle. Die Auswirkungen dieser Makrointerventionsmaßnahme zur Verbesserung der Luftqualität wurden anhand der reduzierten Konzentrationen dieser relativen Schadstoffe quantifiziert.

Die Massenkonzentrationen verschiedener Größenfraktionen Groberpartikel (2.5-80 µm) zeigten alle im langfristigen Beobachtungszeitraum leichte Abwärtstrends. Die meisten Peaks korrelieren mit Sandstaub oder Staubstürmen. Die im Zeitraum der olympischen Spiele Konzentrationen waren niedriger als die während der restlichen Abtastzeit gemessenen. Die Wirksamkeit der Abhilfemaßnahmen zur Verringerung der groben Partikel wurde dadurch bewiesen. Die unterschiedlichen Größenverteilungsmuster an verschiedenen Verschmutzungstagen liefern Referenzinformationen für den Erlass von Minderungsmaßnahmen bezüglich Aerosolpartikel.

Niederschlag hatte direkte reinigende Auswirkungen auf die Aerosolpartikel. Deshalb wurden Perioden mit ähnlichem Niederschlag zum Vergleich ausgewählt, um die Auswirkungen von Risikominderungsmaßnahmen zu untersuchen. PM_{2.5} und BC waren für die Verschlechterung der Sichtbarkeit verantwortlich. Die Temperatur hatte eine indirekte Wirkung auf die Aerosolverteilung, da die Heizaktivität – hauptsächlich Kohleverbrennung – bei niedriger Temperatur im Winter auftritt und zu eines hohen Aerosolbelastung führt. Die Windbedingung beeinflusste die Aerosolverteilung durch Resuspension lokalen Staubs oder Eintrag von Aerosolbelastung aus der Umgebung. Die Winde mit hohen Windgeschwindigkeiten aus dem Norden und Nordwesten brachten Sandstaub oder Staubstürmen, besonders im Frühling. Aus der zehnjährigen Beobachtung sind die Schwankungen von Temperatur- und Windbedingungen von Jahr zu Jahr ähnlich und spielen bei der Aerosolverteilung nur eine kleine Rolle.

Das Jahr 2008 war ein Meilenstein für die Verbesserung der Luftqualität innerhalb der zehn Jahre. Es wurde empfohlen, effektive staatliche Minderungsmaßnahmen für bestimmte Quellen (z.B. Verkehr-Beschränkungsmaßnahmen) und Makrointerventionsmaßnahme (z.B. Energiestruktur Umwandlung), fortzusetzen und zu verbessern, um mehr Tage mit ,blauem Himmel' in der Zukunft zu erhalten. Einerseites kann der industrielle Standortwechsel nicht als langfristig wirksame Maßnahme zur Milderung der Luftverschmutzung empfohlen werden, aber andererseites werden die gleichzeitigen verbesserten Emissionsstandards als aussichtsreich angesehen. Sowohl für die ökologische Nachhaltigkeit, als auch für die menschliche Gesundheit, ist die Aerosolverschmutzung ein Schlüsselproblem, welches in Peking vermindert werden muss und es werden mehr Anstrengungen gefordert um eine bessere Luftqualität zu erhalten.

Table of contents

	Erklärungi
	Acknowledgementii
	Abstractiv
	Zusammenfassung
	Table of contents xii
	List of Figuresxvi
	List of Tablesxviii
1	Context of this dissertation
	1.1 Purposes and the whole structure of this dissertation
	1.2 Study area: Beijing, China
	1.2.1 Beijing and its surroundings
	1.2.2 Development of Beijing
	1.2.3 Energy consumption in Beijing
	1.2.4 Variation of air pollutants during the last decade
	1.3 Synoptic summary of experiments and methods
	References
2	First author scientific publications
	2.1 The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination
	characteristics of PM _{2.5} in Beijing
	2.2 Long-term variation of black carbon and PM _{2.5} in Beijing, China with respect
	to meteorological conditions and governmental measures
	2.3 Evaluation of impact factors on $PM_{2.5}$ based on long-term chemical
	components analyses in the megacity Beijing, China 12
	2.4 The effect of government policies on the temporal development of
	contamination characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China 14
3	Co-authored related scientific publications
	3.1 Atmospheric particulate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Efficiency of
	mitigation measures and assessment of health effects

	3.2	Seasonal dynamics of coarse atmospheric particulate matter between 2.5	μm
	and 80	μm in Beijing and the impact of 2008 Olympic Games	18
	3.3	Characteristics and sources of PM in seasonal perspective - A case stu	ıdy
	from o	ne year continuously sampling in Beijing	20
4	Partic	ulate Mercury (HgP)	22
	4.1	Introduction and background	22
	4.2	Methodology	23
	4.2	2.1 Sampling	23
	4.2	2.2 Analytic methods	24
	4.2	2.3 Meteorological data	25
	4.3	Temporal distribution of HgP in aerosol particles (PM _{2.5} and TSP)	25
	4.3	3.1 Monthly and seasonal variation of HgP in aerosol particles	25
	4.3	3.2 Long-term variation of HgP in aerosol particles from 2005 to 2013	27
	4.4	Influence of meteorological conditions	28
	4.5	Influence of governmental mitigations	30
	4.6	Summary	32
	Re	ferences	33
5	Coarse	e particles (2.5-80 μm)	35
	5.1	Introduction and background	35
	5.2	Methodology	36
	5.2	2.1 Sampling	36
	5.2	2.2 Analytic methods	36
	5.2	2.3 Meteorological data	37
	5.3	Types and morphology of coarse particles	38
	5.4	Comparison with TSP and PM _{2.5} data	40
	5.5	Temporal distribution of coarse particles and weather condition	42
	5.6	Evaluation of governmental mitigations on coarse particles	45
	5.7	Cases study of size distribution patterns	47
	5.8	Summary	48
	Re	eferences	49
6	Synop	tic conclusions	. 52

6.1		Air quality in Beijing	52
6.2		Effects evaluation of mitigation measures and meteorological conditions	54
6.3		Estimation for effects of aerosol pollution on human health	57
6.4		Outlook	58
	Re	ferences	59

Appendix

A—Full papers of first author scientific publications
A.1 The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination
characteristics of PM _{2.5} in Beijing
A.2 Long-term variation of black carbon and PM _{2.5} in Beijing, China with respect to
meteorological conditions and governmental measures
A.3 Evaluation of impact factors on $PM_{2.5}$ based on long-term chemical components
analyses in the megacity Beijing, China
A.4 The effect of government policies on the temporal development of contamination
characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China
B—Full papers of co-authored scientific publications 104
B.1 Atmospheric particulate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Efficiency of mitigation
measures and assessment of health effects 104
B.2 Seasonal dynamics of coarse atmospheric particulate matter between 2.5 μm and
80 µm in Beijing and the impact of 2008 Olympic Games
B.3 Characteristics and sources of PM in seasonal perspective - A case study from
one year continuously sampling in Beijing 124

List of Figures

Fig. 1.2 Population, vehicles (civil automobiles) and GDP of Beijing from 1978 to 2014. 3

Fig. 4.5 HgP concentrations in PM_{2.5} and wind direction during four seasons from Dec.

2012 to Nov. 2013. The legends display HgP concentration ranges in pg/m^3 and the left
scales display the percentage frequencies
Fig. 4.6 Correlations between HgP and BC (Fig. 4.6-a)/Ga (Fig. 4.6-b) concentrations in
PM _{2.5} during winter (Win), January (Jan) and August (Aug) from 2005 to 2013 30
Fig. 5.1 Typical geogenic aerosol particles during sand dust or dust storms: a) quartz: b)
The set of dust storms. a) quarter, b)
mica; c) feldspar (albite); d) amphibole; e) dolomite; f) clay minerals
Fig. 5.2 Biogenic particles: a) pollen; b) diatom; c) and d) organic remains
Fig. 5.3 Anthropogenic aerosol particles: a) fly ash; b) soot chain with iron oxides; c) soot
chains with Fe-Cr-Ni; d) chromium oxide; c) iron oxides agglomerated on clay minerals; f)
carbon fiber 30
Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSD and the sum of DM and coerce
Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of $PM_{2.5}$ and coarse
Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of $PM_{2.5}$ and coarse particles (2.5-80 µm)
Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of $PM_{2.5}$ and coarse particles (2.5-80 µm)
Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of $PM_{2.5}$ and coarse particles (2.5-80 µm)
Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of $PM_{2.5}$ and coarse particles (2.5-80 µm)
 Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of PM_{2.5} and coarse particles (2.5-80 μm). Fig. 5.5 Temporal distribution of coarse particle mass concentrations in different size fractions SF 1-5, The Olympic Rings indicate the period from CW32/08-CW38/08 which covered the whole Olympic Games period, including the Olympic Summer Games (8-24th in August, CW32/08 to CW34/08) and the Paralympic Games (6-17th in September,
 Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of PM_{2.5} and coarse particles (2.5-80 μm). Fig. 5.5 Temporal distribution of coarse particle mass concentrations in different size fractions SF 1-5, The Olympic Rings indicate the period from CW32/08-CW38/08 which covered the whole Olympic Games period, including the Olympic Summer Games (8-24th in August, CW32/08 to CW34/08) and the Paralympic Games (6-17th in September, CW36/08 to CW38/08) in 2008.
 Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of PM_{2.5} and coarse particles (2.5-80 μm). Fig. 5.5 Temporal distribution of coarse particle mass concentrations in different size fractions SF 1-5, The Olympic Rings indicate the period from CW32/08-CW38/08 which covered the whole Olympic Games period, including the Olympic Summer Games (8-24th in August, CW32/08 to CW34/08) and the Paralympic Games (6-17th in September, CW36/08 to CW38/08) in 2008.
 Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of PM_{2.5} and coarse particles (2.5-80 μm). 40 Fig. 5.5 Temporal distribution of coarse particle mass concentrations in different size fractions SF 1-5, The Olympic Rings indicate the period from CW32/08-CW38/08 which covered the whole Olympic Games period, including the Olympic Summer Games (8-24th in August, CW32/08 to CW34/08) and the Paralympic Games (6-17th in September, CW36/08 to CW38/08) in 2008. Fig. 5.6 Annual mean mass concentrations of total coarse particles (2.5-80 μm) with

Fig. 5.8 Size distribution of coarse particles in four representative weeks from four seasons.

List of Tables

Table	1.1	The	study	contents,	the	applied	techniques	and	instruments	within	this
dissert	atior	1				•••••				•••••	6
Table	6.1	Annua	al mear	n concentr	ation	s of poll	utants in thi	is stu	dy and corre	sponding	g air
quality	/ star	ndards	s from o	different co	ountr	ies and V	ИО			•••••	53
Table	6.2 C	Conce	ntratior	ns of pollut	tants	and varia	tions in Bei	jing a	erosols		55

1 Context of this dissertation

1.1 Purposes and the whole structure of this dissertation

Air pollution has become one of the greatest environmental concerns of both the public and scientists. It impacts human health via different ways, especially via respiratory tracts. Beijing, the Capital of China, a typical Asian megacity, has been suffering serious air pollution. To hold a 'Green' Olympic Games in 2008, the municipal government took a series of mitigation measures, covering industry, traffic, construction and afforestation, to control pollutant emission. Meantime, energy structure transformation has been in progress in all of China, and particularly in Beijing, by increasing cleaner energy and reducing coal consumption. This large 'experiment' performed by the government provided unique opportunity to study the impact of the intervention policies on air quality.

In this context, with long-term sampling and analyses of atmospheric particulates from 2005 to 2014 in Beijing urban area, this dissertation aims to 1) study the characteristics of the aerosol particulates and define their sources, 2) to evaluate and quantify the effects of various governmental measures on air quality including specific mitigation measures such as traffic control and industry relocation, and macro intervention policies such as energy structure transformation, 3) to analyze the effects of meteorological conditions, such as the precipitation and the sand-dust weather, on aerosol distribution, 4) and to provide a substantial scientific contribution to aerosol study, human health research related to air pollution, as well as mitigation-policy making in China.

This dissertation is based on the accumulation of seven scientific publications (sections 2.1 - 2.4 and 3.1 - 3.3) and two other parts: particulate mercury (HgP) study (section 4) and coarse particles study (section 5). I am the first and the corresponding author for four of these publications (sections 2.1 - 2.4) and a co-author for the other three (sections 3.1 - 3.3). The four first-authorships include three research papers and one conference paper published by Springer, while the co-authorships include the other three research papers. All the papers are based on sample collection, physical and chemical analyses, bio- and

mineral-analyses and experiments that were performed and gained within the frame of the aerosol study on basis of China-German cooperation for the ten years.

This background of the study area was illustrated in the following section 1.2 in order to better understand the purposes of this study. All the experiments and methods used in this study were summarized in the section 1.3 so as to get an overview of the contents of this study.

1.2 Study area: Beijing, China

1.2.1 Beijing and its surroundings

Beijing, the capital of the People's Republic of China, lies on the northwest border of the North China Plain and is surrounded by the Yanshan Mountains clockwise from southwest to northeast (Fig. 1.1-a, 1.1-b). There are vast desserts and loess areas especially to the north, northwest, west and southwest of Beijing, which are the principal domestic sources of sand dust or dust storms occurred in Beijing (Fig. 1.1-a). The urban traffic system consists of six ring roads in Beijing with additional streets and expressways (like G1) connecting to neighboring provinces (Fig. 1.1-b).



Fig. 1.1 Dimensional topography of the surround area of Beijing and the sampling sites (CUGB and CRAES) and the main traffic network of Beijing urban area, including the 2nd-6th ring roads (Fig. 1.1-a, data sources: National Geomatics Center of China and SRTM 90 m Digital Elevation Data, Fig. 1.1-b, source of the map: OpenStreetMap, produced with ArcGIS 10.2 Desktop).

The region of Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei (BTH) is one of three major rapidly developing economic zones in China (Xin et al., 2010). Beijing and Tianjin are directly administrated municipalities by the national government, surrounded by the Hebei province. It contributed to 10.9% of national Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and 7.8% of national population in 2010 (Zhao et al., 2013). With the speedy development of economy, BTH has become a major study region with respect to air pollution in China.

In 2014, permanent resident population was approximately 24.5 million in Beijing. The green land coverage percentage in 2014 was 47.4%, higher than 42.0% in 2005, and it was over 2 times of 22.3% in 1978. The forest coverage rate in 2014 was 41.0%, higher than 35.9% in 2006 (data in 2005 unavailable). All these statistic data were from Beijing Bureau of Statistics (2015).

1.2.2 Development of Beijing

The development of population, vehicles (civil automobiles) and GDP of Beijing was incredibly fast during the past decades (Fig. 1.2). For the ten years from 2005 to 2014, the permanent population increased from 15.4 to 21.5 million, the total amount of motor vehicles doubled from 2.5 to 5.6 million, and the GDP boomed from 697 to 2130 billion Yuan (the Chinese currency) (Fig. 1.3).



Fig. 1.2 Population, vehicles (civil automobiles) and GDP of Beijing from 1978 to 2014.

Car registrations have been being allocated by a license plate lottery policy since the beginning of 2011 in Beijing. Voluminous citizens purchased cars in 2010 before this

policy took effect. Consequently, the growth of the total amount of vehicles from 2009 to 2010 was the steepest during the ten years with an upswing of 0.79 million, and the growth was slow from 2010 to 2011 with only an increase of 0.17 million (Fig. 1.3).



Fig. 1.3 Population, total vehicles and GDP of Beijing from 2005 to 2014 (observation period of this study). Data sources: Beijing Bureau of Statistics, 2006-2015.

1.2.3 Energy consumption in Beijing

Total energy consumption increased (Fig. 1.4) with the rapid development of motorization



Fig. 1.4 Total energy consumption and coal consumption in Beijing. Data sources: Beijing Bureau of Statistics, 2006-2014.

and industrialization in Beijing. The energy consumption structure shifted toward less coal and coke, more gas, more renewable energy such as wind energy and water energy, and more nuclear energy. Under this energy transformation policy, coal consumption in Beijing decreased gradually from 30.7 million tons SCE (Standard Coal Equivalent) in 2005 to 22.7 million tons SCE in 2012 (Fig. 1.4). However, coal is still the predominant fuel for industrial processes and domestic life in Beijing and the surrounding area, although it has been gradually being replaced by natural gas in Beijing urban area since 1999 (Beijing Environmental Protection Bureau, 2012). The energy consumption data has been calculated based on new approach according to National Bureau of Statistics since 2013. Total energy consumption until 2013 and coal consumption data until 2012 are available with the old statistic approach. Here only data with the same statistic approach is used to compare.

1.2.4 Variation of air pollutants during the last decade

Daily averages of inspiratory particulate matter (PM_{10}), Sulfur oxides (SO_x) and nitrogen oxides (NO_x) from 2005 to 2014 were available from the Beijing Municipal Bureau of Environmental Protection (Fig. 1.5). For the three air pollutants, average concentrations in the years after 2008 was relatively lower than those before 2008. The year 2008 became a



Fig. 1.5 Annual means of daily concentrations of PM_{10} , SOx and NOx from 2005 to 2014 in Beijing. Data sources: Beijing Bureau of Statistics, 2015.

milestone for improving air quality in Beijing. Annual mean PM_{10} concentration kept decreasing from 2005 to 2013; however, it slightly increased from 2013 to 2014. Sulfur dioxide shows a decreasing trend for the while NO_x ten years, concentrations increased again after 2008 but still lower than those before 2008.

1.3 Synoptic summary of experiments and methods

Samples were collected at two sites in Beijing urban area: one was installed near the main entrance of the China University of Geosciences, Beijing (CUGB) at a height of 1.5 m, and the other one was set up on the roof of the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES) at a height of about 20 m (Fig. 1.1-b).

Atmospheric particulates, including $PM_{2.5}$ (<2.5 µm), TSP (total suspended particles) and coarse particles (2.5-80 µm) were studied within this dissertation. The study contents, the applied techniques and instruments were introduced in Table 1.1.

Content	Technique	Instruments	Particulate types	Sampling site
Particle mass	gravimetric analysis	Microbalance (Sartorius SE 2-F, Göttingen, Germany)	PM _{2.5} & TSP	CUGB CRAES
Chemical	inductively coupled plasma	High-Resolution (HR)-ICP-MS	PM _{2.5}	CUGB
elements	mass spectrometer (ICP-MS)	Axiom (VG Elemental, USA)	PM _{2.5} & TSP	CRAES
BC	optical transmission	SPECORD 50 and SPECORD	PM _{2.5}	CUGB
	technique	50 PLUS (Analytic Jena AG, Jena, Germany).		CRAES
HgP	cold vapor atomic	Direct Mercury Analyzer	PM _{2.5}	CUGB
	absorption spectrometry (CVAAS)	(Milestone DMA-80, Italy)	PM _{2.5} & TSP	CRAES
Particle species	scanning electron microscopy and electron dispersive X-ray fluorescence spectrometry (SEM-EDX)	Quanta FEG 650 (FEI, USA) coupled to EDXRF	coarse particles	CUGB
Size distribution and mass concentration	a PC-aided automatic image analysis system	An optical microscope (ZEISS Axioplan 2), an adapted automatic scanning stage (Prior Scientific), a high-resolution CCD camera (SVS-VISTEK) with the image analysis system Digitrace V.3.4 (IMATEC)	coarse particles	CUGB

Table 1.1 The study contents,	the applied techniques	and instruments	within this dissertation.
fuole fiff file study contents,	the applied teeninques	and motifulionts	while the dissertation.

References

Beijing Bureau of Statistics, 2006-2015. Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2005-2014. China Statistics Press, Beijing, China. (a series of Yearbook, in Chinese)

Beijing Environmental Protection Bureau (BEPB), 2012. Report on the State of the Environment in Beijing (1994-2011). <u>http://www.bjepb.gov.cn/portal0/tab181/</u>.

Xin, J., Wang, Y., Tang, G., Wang, L., Sun, Y., Wang, Y., Hu, B., Song, T., Ji, D., Wang, W., Li, L., Liu, G., 2010. Variability and reduction of atmospheric pollutants in Beijing and its surrounding area during the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games. Chinese Science Bulletin, 55(18), 1937-1944.

Zhao, P. S., F. Dong, D. He, X. J. Zhao, X. L. Zhang, W. Z. Zhang, Q. Yao, H. Y. Liu., 2013. Characteristics of concentrations and chemical compositions for PM_{2.5} in the region of Beijing, Tianjin, and Hebei, China. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 13(9), 4631-4644.

2 First author scientific publications

2.1 The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of PM_{2.5} in Beijing

Authors: Yuan Chen, Nina Schleicher, Yizhen Chen, Fahe Chai, Stefan Norra

In: Science of the Total Environment, 2014, 490, 647-658. DOI:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.049

	Science of the Total Environ	ament 490 (2014) 647-658
	Contents lists availa	able at ScienceDirect
and a lot	Science of the To	otal Environment
E.C.L.		-
ELSEVIER	journal homepage: www.el	sevier.com/locate/scitotenv
The influence of gov characteristics of PN	ernmental mitigation 1 2.5 in Beijing	measures on contamination
Yuan Chen **, Nina Schlei	cher ª, Yizhen Chen ^b , Fahe C	hai ^b , Stefan Norra ^{a,c}
² Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, J ^b Institute of Urban and Regional Atmospheri ^c Institute of Geography and Geoecology, Kar	adsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131, Karlsruhe Sciences, Chinese Research Academy of Environm ruhe Institute of Technology, 76131, Karlsruhe, G	Germany emal Sciences, 100912, Beijing, China emany
HIGHLIGHTS		
The influence of governmental mitia	ation measures on PM22 was investizated	
 Source apportionment of PM_{2.5} was Concentrations of traffic-related elegenetics 	analyzed by principle component analysis sents varied with the restiueness of measu	-
 Steel-related elements were reduced 	after relocation of the Capital Steel Comp	ares. any.
 Pollution peaks before implementation 	on of the respective measures were obser	ved.
ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT	
A R T I C L E I N F O Article history: Received 20 March 2014 Received in revised form 8 May 2014 Available online xxxx	A B S T R A C T Beijing, the capital of China, I Weekly PM _{2.5} samples—coli characteristics of atmospheri 2008 Summer Olympic Game to the previous studies before	as become one of the most air-polluted cities due to its rapid economic grow exted continuously from 2010 ro 2010—were used to study the contaminat particles and effects of governmental mitigation messares especially since r. PMa, mass concentrations during the sampling period were reduced compa 2005, although the were still to hith in comparison with environmental a
A R T I C L E I N F O Article history: Received 20 March 2014 Received 10 movied form 8 May 2014 Available online xxxx Editor: Xuexi Tie	A B S T R A C T Beijing, the capital of China, I Weekly PM _{2.2} , samples-coli characteristics of atmospheri 2008 Summer Olympic Game to the previous studies before dards of China and many oth show that elements of prima	as become one of the most air-polluted cities due to its rapid economic grow texted continuously from 2007 to 2010-were used to study the contaminat cparticles and effects of governmental mitigation measures especially since PMAs, mass concentrations during the sampling period were releaded comp- pendent set of the sample study of the sample set of the sample set of the er countries as well as VHO students. Results of principle component and any anthropogne or ording had an obvious of citien while elements mainly from
A R T I C L E I N F O Article Instruct: Received 20 March 2014 Received 10 March 2014 Available online xxxx Editor: Xuexii Tie Reywords: Urban arrosol	A B S T R A C T Beijing, the capital of China, Weekly PM ₂ , samples—coll characteristics of atmospheri 2008 Summer Olympic Game to the previous studies before dards of China and many oth show that elements of prima natural environment kept a both anthropogenic and gesp	as become one of the most air-galaned cities due to its rapid economic grow texted continuously from 2007 to 2010—rece used to take the containing most and the containing of personneal millioning measures especially since $M_{\rm M_2}$ mass accountrations during the sampling period were reduced compa- tions and the same of the sampling period were reduced compa- tions and the same of the sampling period were reduced compa- tions and the same of the sampling period were reduced compa- tions and the same of the sampling period were reduced as the same same same same same same same same
A R T I C L E I N F O Ardick history: Received and thereary: Receive	A B S T R A C T Beijing, the capital of China, 1 Weekly PM _{2,3} samples—coll characteristics of atmosphere 2008 summer Olympic Game to the previous studies before show that clement is of prima natural environment kept a both anthropogenic and geog of the respective measures. So especially during different ta	as become one of the most alreading data data due to its radial concentry groups test containing the SSO for
A RTICLE IN FO Article history: Reviewood 20 March 2014 Reviewood 20 March 2014 Reviewood 20 March 2014 Accepted 11 May 2014 Accepted 11 May 2014 Accepted 11 May 2014 Reviewood Benerative Homan annool Dennial Composition Source approximation Formation Composition Source approximation	A B S T R A C T Beijing, the capital of China, I Weekly Ma, samples-could characteristics of atmospheri 2008 Sumer Olympic Came to the previous studies before durits of China and many of both athorney of prana both athorney of the came of the both athorney of the came of the second durits of the came of the second durits of the came of the shows that there is a long way measures need to be continues.	In theorems one of the merical is pallance dates due to its random content gene to contain the second sec
A RTICLE INFO ARTICLE INFO Machine States 2014 Received a Parket (Rem B May 2014) Received I May 2014 Nationalise uniter rough Challen annos Phala Seconditionalise annos Phala Temporal distribution Second approximation Second Approximation	A B S T E A C T Beijing the crystal of CNL Weikly PDs., stamptsroll characteristics of atmospher 2008 Summer Olympic Game to the privations studies before darks of China and music that and a constraint of the natural of environment level - both anthropoperis mananes. See especially during different far shows are seen to be continue measures need to be continue	as become one of the most air-published clairs due to its rapid economic grow stret continuously from 200° to 2010-were used to study the contaminant of the stretch stretch stretch stretch stretch stretch stretch stretch (Na ₂), match stretch were used to log hair compares the analytic ero controls any ella (NH) standards. Results of principle component and are controls any ella (NH) standards. Results of principle component and are controls any ella (NH) standards. Results of principle component and are controls any ella (NH) standards. Results of principle component and the standards of the stretch standards and the stretch principle standards. The component and stretch stretch stretch restrictions. The comparison with due comparison and international stand the restrictions. The comparison with addre comparison and international stand restrictions. The comparison with addre comparison and international stand the restrictions. The comparison with addre comparison and international stand restrictions. The comparison with addre stretch addresses for their neurons a distribution stretch addresses.
A R TI C L E I N P O Activities C E I N P O Method Instruction Markage 2014 Académ et al level of Markage 2014 Académ et al level of Markage 2014 Académ et al level of Markage 2014 Markage 2014 Markag	A B 5 TEACT Weight Sept 4 Chas. Weight Sept 4 Chas. Weight Sept 4 Chas. Weight Sept 4 Chas. 2003 Summer Ungree Charge and Charge Charge Charge Charge and Charge Charge Charge Charge and Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge and Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge and Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge and Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge Charge and Charge Charg	as become one of the next air polluted click due to the capit encounting pre- text containing the m320 for 320-bases used to study the constantial encounting and effects of the study the constantial encounting and effects of the study the study of the study the Max, mark concernation during the sampling profield were related comp- any anthropygeneric origin bal as obvious define while elevents manify the encounter is see 40 while backtachs. Received in projection construct and profile the study of the study of the study of the study of the new elevents concernations constraint to the restrictiveness of relative means for provide the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study to get node relative study of the
A RTICLE IN PO Arachimere Becond 20 March 2014 March Marce Becond 20 March 2014 March March 2014 Available and the cost Hanne Arachimere Anti- Becond Hanne Anti- Becond Hanne Anti- Becond Hanne Anti- Becond Hanne Anti- Becond Hanne Ha	A B 5 TEACT being but a straight of this is when the straight of the straight of the characteristic of annopleric characteristic of annopleric and the straight of the straight of the dark of of the straight of the straight of the straight of the straight of the	as become one of the next air-parliand click due to its rangel economic gene text or continuously from 2007 to 2007
A RTICLE IN PO Arachimere Becond 20 March 2014 March Marce Becond 20 March 2014 March March 2014 March 2014 Ma	A BSTRACT Neing by Action of the second Characteristic characteristic conduction of the second characteristic 2008 Semant Ohmeric Characteristic 2008 Semant Ohmeric Characteristic after of Characteristic conductions of the respective measures. See a on the chement a prime to the antipoper of the second at the second characteristic conductions and monocitation of the world, air measures seed to be continue measures seed to be continue and monocitation of the world, air respective dynamic concerns of the and monocitation of the world, air measures seed to be continue and monocitation of the world, air concerns of the properties of the second at the concerns of the properties of the second at the air and monocitation of the world, air measures seed to be continue at the second at the second at the second at the second at the second at the second at the second at the second at the second at the second at the second at the second at the the second at the second at the second at the the second at the second at the second at the the second at the second at the second at the the second at the sec	as become one of the next air-parliand click due to its raif erasonnic grow text of continuously from 2007 to 2007—here used to study the constantial erast of continuously from 2007 to 2007—here used to study the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the erast of the constantial erast of the constantial erast of the erast of the constantial erast of care. Lapso, bistantial, loonhay, Dhaka, Shangha, or Chonging, La capate after western constantial erast of the dongshere. The support and of other spheres such as the performant and loss dates the support of the bangeline. The substantial erast of the dongshere the environmental constantial from substantial effect western constantial erast of the dongshere. The substantial erast of the determined and additional heaves of the substantial erast of the determined heave of the constantiant erast of heaves of the substantial erast of the determined and additional manta heagin lever in constantial erast band

Authorship statement

This peer-reviewed scientific journal article was written by me and is based on data obtained from the CRAES site from 2007 to 2010. The data included $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations, mass and concentrations of 25 elements in PM_{2.5} samples. I was responsible for gravimetric analyses of part of the loaded filters and performed the corresponding chemical analyses in the laboratories at KIT-AGW with the support from the technicians Cornelia Haug for filter digestions and Claudia Mößner for ICP-MS analyses. The

statistical analysis of all data and influence evaluation of governmental mitigation measures on $PM_{2.5}$ were finalized by me. Nina Schleicher contributed to sample preparation, data processing and communication with CRAES. Yizhen Chen and Fahe Chai were the responsible scientists and primary cooperation partners from CRAES. They

offered the possibility of long-term aerosol sampling at CRAES and arranged all the sampling work in China. Stefan Norra designed and supervised the whole study structure. All co-authors critically reviewed the manuscript and agreed to the publication in Science of the Total Environment.

Abstract

Beijing, the capital of China, has become one of the most air-polluted cities due to its rapid economic growth. Weekly PM_{2.5} samples - collected continuously from 2007 to 2010 - were used to study the contamination characteristics of atmospheric particles and effects of governmental mitigation measures especially since the 2008 Summer Olympic Games. PM_{2.5} mass concentrations during the sampling period were reduced compared to the previous studies before 2005, although they were still too high in comparison with environmental standards of China and many other countries as well as WHO standards. Results of principle component analysis show that elements of primary anthropogenic origin had an obvious decline while elements mainly from the natural environment kept a relatively stable course. The governmental macro-control measures influenced both anthropogenic and geogenic sources, but they also led to some pollution peaks prior to implementation of the respective measures. Some element concentrations correlated to the restrictiveness of relative measures, especially during different traffic restrictions. The comparison with other countries and international standards shows that there is a long way to go in order to improve air quality in Beijing, and that governmental mitigation measures need to be continued and reinforced.

© The full article is reprinted with kind permission from Science of the Total Environment in Appendix A.1. Copyright © 2014 Elsevier B.V.

2.2 Long-term variation of black carbon and PM_{2.5} in Beijing, China with respect to meteorological conditions and governmental measures

Authors: Yuan Chen, Nina Schleicher, Mathieu Fricker, Kuang Cen, Xiu-li Liu, Uwe Kaminski, Yang Yu, Xue-fang Wu, Stefan Norra

In: Environmental Pollution, 2016, 212, 269-278, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.01.008



Authorship statement

This peer-reviewed scientific journal article was written by me and is based on data obtained from the CUGB site from 2005 to 2013. The data included $PM_{2.5}$ and black carbon mass concentrations with meteorological data collected from a meteorological station in Beijing registered at the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) with the code 54511. I was responsible for part of the sampling, gravimetric analyses of the unloaded loaded filters and and performed the corresponding black carbon analyses in the laboratory at the

German Meteorological Service (DWD) with the support from Mathieu Fricker and Uwe Kaminski. Furthermore, all the scientific data evaluation was performed by me. Mathieu Fricker and Uwe Kaminski were the responsible scientists and primary research partners from DWD. They offered the instruments for black carbon analysis. Nina Schleicher and Yang Yu contributed to part of the sample preparation and data processing. Kuang Cen was responsible for the long-term running of the CUGB site. Xiu-li Liu and Xue-fang Wu

contributed to sample collection at the CUGB site. Stefan Norra designed and supervised the whole study structure. All co-authors critically reviewed the manuscript and agreed to the publication in Environmental Pollution.

Abstract

Black carbon (BC) and PM_{2.5} were studied for nine years from 2005 to 2013 in the Beijing urban area. The overall weekly average mass concentrations of BC and PM_{2.5} were 4.3 and $66.8 \ \mu g/m^3$. PM_{2.5} annual means of the nine years are around 2 times of the standard (GB3095-2012) in China, and are 5-7 times higher than the WHO standard. The Beijing Olympic Games in 2008 was a milestone to mitigate aerosol pollution. Temporal distribution of BC shows a distinct declining trend, and annual mean mass concentrations of PM_{2.5} after 2008 were lower than those before 2008 but increased from 2011 to 2013. Wind rose plots show that high BC concentrations are usually associated with low wind speed of northeastern or southwestern winds, generally causing poor visibility. Governmental mitigation measures such as traffic restriction despite increased motor vehicle numbers and gasoline consumption and industry relocation with declining consumption of coal and coke were successful in reducing BC emissions. Annual mean of BC was reduced by 38% in 2013 compared to 2005. However, BC contamination in Beijing is still severe when compared to other urban areas around the world.

© The full article is reprinted with kind permission from Environmental Pollution in Appendix A.2. Copyright © 2016 Elsevier Ltd.

2.3 Evaluation of impact factors on PM_{2.5} based on long-term chemical components analyses in the megacity Beijing, China

Authors: Yuan Chen, Nina Schleicher, Kuang Cen, Xiuli Liu, Yang Yu, Volker Zibat, Volker Dietze, Mathieu Fricker, Uwe Kaminski, Yizhen Chen, Fahe Chai, Stefan Norra

In: Chemosphere, 2016, 155, 234-242, DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.04.052

	Contante Este available at ColongeDirect	π -
A-493.5425	Chamasphara	Chemospher
2.81	Chemosphere	
ELSEVIER jo	urnal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/chemosphere	
Further of immed	fasters on DM - based on long terms aborning	-
components analyse	s in the megacity Beijing, China	CrossMa (
Yuan Chen ^{a,*} , Nina Schlei Volker Dietze ^d , Mathieu I Stefan Norra ^{a, f, g}	icher ^a , Kuang Cen b , Xiuli Liu b , Yang Yu b , Volker Zibat c , Fricker d , Uwe Kaminski d , Yizhen Chen c , Fahe Chai c ,	
⁴ Institute of Applied Geosciences, Working G 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany	coup for Environmental Mineralogy and Environmental System Analysis, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology,	
^b School of the Earth Sciences and Resources, ^c Laboratory for Electron Microscopy, Karlsru- ^d Air Quality Department, Research Center H ^d Institute of Urban and Regional Atmaspher ^f Institute of Geography and Georeology, Wo	, China Duliversity of Geosciences, 10083 Beijing, China he Institute of Forknolog, 7831 Nacharah, Germany luman Biometeorology, German Meteorological Service, 79104 Freiburg L Br, Germany his Science, Chinase Research Academy of Environmental Sciences, 100012 Beijing, China King Coop for Environmental Miscrosoft gan and Environmental System Analysis, Karlavabe Institute of	
Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany ⁸ Institute of Mineralogy, Technische Universi	ität Bergakademie Freiberg, Brennhausgasse 14, 09599 Freiberg, Germany	
HIGHLIGHTS		
HIGHLIGHTS Chemical components of aerosol part Different courses of BM., ware defi	tticulates were analyzed in Beljing for nine years.	
H I G H L I G H T S • Chemical components of aerosol pas Different sources of PM _{2,3} were defit • The influences of mitigation measur • For the first time, gallium (Ga) was	triculates were analyzed in Breijing for nine years. and by principle component analysis. es on air quality were quantified and evaluated. doed as a trace for our combustion on China.	
HIGHLIGHTS - Chemical components of aerosol par - Different sources of PM _{2.5} were defi - The influences of mitigation measur - For the first time, gallium (Ga) was - A RTICLEINFO	triculates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years. end by principle component analysis. 	
HIGHLIGHTS -Chemical comparents of acrossl pair -Different source of PM ₄ , were defi -The influences of mitigation measur - For the first time, gallium (Ga) was of - A RTICLEINFO - Article history: Received 22 January 2016	triculates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years. end by principle component analysis. or an at quality were quantified and echanol. end as a trace of each controlmention in builds. A B S T R A C T Man years of ascepting and analyses of fine particles (<i>TM</i> _{1.1}) were performed in B 2013. Tweeye-serve chemical detentests and Balek carbon (BE): 19 Ph2 ₃ ver analysis.	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stuc
HIGHLIGHTS Compares of censol paper Different sources of Plays were characterized to the plays of the plays o	tricolates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years. end by principle component analysis. ere as at regular (were quantified and evaluated. evaluation of the state of the s	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stuc component analys v of anthropogen
H I G H L I G H T S - Chemical components of aeronol pai - Different sources (PMa), sever edit - The influences of mitigation measur - For the first time, gallum (Ca) was - A T T I C L E I N F O - Artifich hittp: Revived 22 January 2016 Revived 22 January 2016 Accepted 13 April 2016	tectulates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years, early and a second s	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stuc component analys ty of anthropogen quality were eva sing coal in Beijin
H I G H L I G H T S - Chemical components of aeronal pan Different sources (PMa, severe dia - Por the first time, gallium (Ga) was - Tor the first time, gallium (Ga) was - A tr I I C L E I N P O - March Harry: Reviewed 23 paner 2016 D Agened 13 page 12016 - Handing failner: Raf Ebinghan	tricidates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years. See I by principle component analysis. See I and the second	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stuc component analys sty of anthropogen quality were eva sing coal in Beijin riation between the so of relevant the
NIGHLIGHTS Obtensioners darson parter Obtensioners darson parter Differens source darge, were defi Die influences of micigation measure Antic Alter CLE LINFO Antic Altery Antic	triculates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years. end by principle component analysis. ere at a requirity were quantified and evaluated. each at texer for four combination in Chans. A B 5 T R A C T Non-specific combination in Chans. A B 5 T R A C T Non-specific combination in Chans. A D 5 T R A C T Non-specific combination in Chans. A D 5 T R A C T Non-specific combination of Design aerostory. Incide- defined different types of elementaria domestics and Marka corthen (BC) in PM23 were analyze chemical characteristics and temporal distribution of Design aerostory. Incide- defined different types of elementaria domestics and were also concernations and activities including potentionential intervention measures and hattrad sources on an date to its concretions with <i>E</i> and combination, as were also concernations interla such as A C, C& B and BA is the capteriol Chapter there therebees of the main hosting- and non-bosting periods. The taffic restrictions effectively indexed emissions metals such as A, C, C& B and BA is the capteriol Chapter therebees on the such as the concretions on hosting- and non-bosting periods. The taffic restrictions of the circles on the concretions on hosting- and non-bosting periods. The taffic restrictions of the circles on the concretions on hosting- and non-bosting periods. The taffic restrictions of the circles on the concretions on the concretio	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stuc component analys voj da nthropogen r guality were eva sing coal in Beijin riation between the smelters relocatio
H I G H L I G H T S	recidents were analyzed in Beijing for nine years. See 1 by principle component analysis, invariant used as a tracer for coal combustion in China. A B 5 T R A C T The years of sampling and adverse of fine particles (<i>TM</i> _{2.1}) were performed in B 2013, Tweety-seen chemical adverses of fine particles (<i>TM</i> _{2.1}) were performed in B 2014, Tweety-seen chemical adverses of fine particles (<i>TM</i> _{2.1}) were performed in the 2015, Tweety-seen chemical adverses of adverse adverse adverse defined different types of chemical sources, based on which, the influences of a vari- activities including governmental intervention measures and advard adverses of a vari- defined different types of chemical sources, based on which, the influences of a vari- activities including governmental intervention measures are advarded including sources must be attain, and a A ₂ < 2,5 and 35. The respective lines of measures metals and a A ₂ < 2,5 and 35. The respective lines of measures in the composition of the tweet Chinese spring fieldward as and spring explores the composition of the tweet theorem and the spring explores of the tweet advective defines of measures theorem and the spring explores of the tweet advective defines of measures metals and a A ₂ < 2,5 and 35. The respective lines of measures three spring explores of the tweet advective defines of measures three spring explores of the tweet advective defines of measures three spring explores of the tweet advective defines of measures three spring explores of the tweet advective defines of measures three springs explores of the tweet advective defines of measures three springs explores of the tweet advective defines of measures advective defines of measures three springs explores of the tweet advective defines advective defines of measures three springs explores of the tweet advective defines of measures advective defines of measures three springs explores of the tweet advective defines of measures advective defines of measures advective defines of meas	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stuc component analys vg of anthropogen r quality were eva sing coal in Beijin riation between th so of relevant hear smelters relocati isplay during eve ted in several tim
NICHLICHTS Othersionersetter of aerosol pain Othersionersetter of aerosol pain Different sources of aerosol pain Pain aerosol pain aerosol pain Article LILIP Aerosol Article Article LILIP Aerosol Article Article Aerosol Article Aerosol	tricidates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years. end by principic component analysis. Lead as a tracer for coal combustion in China. A B S T R A C T New years of computer analysis of fore particles (<i>TM</i> ₂₁) were performed in B 2013. Twenty-seen chemical chements and Back carbon (<i>IK</i>): in <i>PM</i> ₂₃ were analysis chemical characteristics and temporal distribution of Beijing aerosks, Phintiple derived and the second second second second second second second second and the second second second second second second second second second and the second second second second second second second second second second and the second second second second second second second second second and the first time, cals used as a tracer element for hosting activities insidely due to its correlation with <i>B</i> and cal combustion, as well as its concentration of the second second second second second second second second second the second second second second second second second second second the second second second second second second second second second second tables and the second secon	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stuc component analys ty of anthropogen quality were eva sing coal in Beijin ration between ti ns of relevant heas smelters relocati lisplay during eve smelters relocati soft during even smelters reloca
NICHLICHTS Othersioners of aerosol pair of the aerosol pair of th	tricolates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years. end by principic component analysis. used as a tracer for coal combustion in China. A B S T R A C T New years of sampling and analyses of fine particles (<i>They</i> ₁) were performed in B 2013. Twenty-seen chemical chements and Back carbon (E): in <i>Pha</i> ₂₃ were analyse chemical characteristics and temporal distribution of Beijing aerosks, Phintiple data and the second second second second second second second second and the second second second second second second second second second and the first time, Ca is used as a tracer element for housing activities insubju- due to its correlation with R and cal combustion, as well as its concentration as a used for the first time, Ca is used as a tracer element for housing activities insubju- due to its correlation with R and cal combustion, as well as its concentration of the second second second second second second second second second relations and the second second second second second second concents, display, The integrits of all three decisions with a star decision of a second second second display. The integrits of all three decisions with microard capacity, linework display, The integrits of all three decisions and second	eijing from 2005 eijing from 2005 ty of anthropogen susing coal in Beijin and the sustainable of the sustainable substance and the substance and the substance substance and the substance and the substance substance and the substance and the substance substance and the substance and the substance and the substance and the substance and the substance and the substance and the substance and the substance and the substan
NICHLICHTS	tediates were analyzed in teliging for nine years. Mark Star Star Star Star Star Star Star Star	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stage sy of anthropagen y of anthropagen guality were ever inso of relevant hease smetters relocation inselvant immediate single and in several immediate single and in several immediate single and transformation dut storms induce standard mitghts reserve
NICHLICHTS	ticktes were analyzed in teljeing for nien years. Wei by princejic component analysis. Wei and an analysis of the state	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stut component analysis yof anthropogene susing coal in Beijin attaino between it and of refevant hear and a station between the stati
NICHLICHTS Obterris ourse of Armon part of	<text><section-header><text><text><text></text></text></text></section-header></text>	eijing from 2005 ed tit order to stati- component analysis ty of anthroopenet analysis sing coal in Reight and the statistical sing coal in Reight and the statistical sing of the statistical statistical sing methers relocated in several time attrainable mitigation obtain more "bit All rights reserve
NICHLIGHTS	Teledates were available of highing for inthe years. We dry principic component analysis. The second second combination of the second secon	eijing from 2005 ed in order to stus component analys ry of anthroopen ry of anthroopen suffers relocation sof relevant heas suffers relocation suffers relocation suffers relocation suffers relocation obtain more "bit attractes for freework obtain more "bit All rights reserve c of China, is th is a sypical Asia

Authorship statement

This peer-reviewed scientific journal article was written by me and is based on data obtained from the CUGB site from 2005 to 2013. This data was used to compare with the data obtained from the CRAES site. I was responsible for part of the sampling, gravimetric analyses of the unloaded and loaded filters and performed the corresponding chemical analyses (27 elements) in the laboratories at KIT-AGW with the support from the technicians Cornelia Haug for filter digestions and Claudia Mößner for **ICP-MS** analyses.

Furthermore, all the scientific data statistics and evaluation of impact factors on $PM_{2.5}$ were performed by me. Nina Schleicher and Yang Yu contributed to part of the sample preparation and data processing. Kuang Cen was responsible for the long-term running of the CUGB site. Xiu-li Liu contributed to sample collection at the CUGB site. Volker Dietze, Mathieu Fricker and Uwe Kaminski were the responsible scientists and primary research partners from DWD. Yizhen Chen and Fahe Chai were the responsible scientists and primary and primary research partners from CRAES. Stefan Norra designed and supervised the

whole study structure. All co-authors critically reviewed the manuscript and agreed to the publication in Chemosphere.

Abstract

Nine years of sampling and analyses of fine particles (PM_{2.5}) were performed in Beijing from 2005 to 2013. Twenty-seven chemical elements and black carbon (BC) in PM_{2.5} were analyzed in order to study chemical characteristics and temporal distribution of Beijing aerosols. Principle component analysis defined different types of elemental sources, based on which, the influences of a variety of anthropogenic activities including governmental intervention measures and natural sources on air quality were evaluated. For the first time, Ga is used as a tracer element for heating activities mainly using coal in Beijing, due to its correlation with BC and coal combustion, as well as its concentration variation between the heating- and non-heating periods. The traffic restrictions effectively reduced emissions of relevant heavy metals such as As, Cd, Sn and Sb. The expected long-term effectiveness of the steel smelters relocation was not observed due to the nearby relocation with increased capacity. Firework display during every Chinese spring festival season and special events such as the Olympic Games resulted in several times higher concentrations of K, Sr and Ba than other days and thus they were proposed as tracers for firework display. The impacts of all these factors were quantified and evaluated. Sand dust or dust storms induced higher concentrations of geogenic elements in PM2.5 compared to non-dust days. Sustainable mitigation measures, such as traffic restrictions, are necessary to be continued and improved to obtain more "blue sky" days in the future.

© The full article is reprinted with kind permission from Chemosphere in Appendix A.3. Copyright © 2016 Elsevier Ltd.

2.4 The effect of government policies on the temporal development of contamination characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China

Authors: Yuan Chen, Nina Schleicher, Yizhen Chen, Fahe Chai, Shulan Wang, Stefan Norra

In: Rauch, S., Morrison, G., Norra, S., Schleicher, N., (eds.), Urban Environment, Springer, 2013, 313-321. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-7756-9_27



Authorship statement

This scientific article was written by me and is based on data obtained from the CRAES site from 2007 to 2010. I responsible for gravimetric was analyses of part of the loaded filters and performed the corresponding chemical analyses (7 elements) in the laboratories at KIT-AGW with the support from the technicians Cornelia Haug for filter digestions and Claudia Mößner for ICP-MS analyses. Nina Schleicher contributed to sample preparation, data processing and communication with CRAES. Yizhen Chen and Fahe Chai were the responsible scientists and primary

research partners from CRAES. They offered the possibility of long-term aerosol sampling at CRAES and arranged all the sampling work in China. Shulan Wang contributed to sample collection at the CRAES site. Stefan Norra designed and supervised the whole study structure. All co-authors critically reviewed the manuscript and agreed to its publication.

Abstract

To host Green Olympic Games, the Beijing municipal government took comprehensive measures to improve air quality in 2008, which partly are still in force in 2012. The aim of this study is to investigate the temporal distribution of aerosol contamination characteristics and their variations under different government intervention policies. $PM_{2.5}$ samples were collected continuously from 2007 to 2010 in the north of Beijing City. Element concentrations were analyzed by HR-ICP-MS. Results showed that concentrations of traffic-related elements such as Sn, Sb and Pb varied with the strength of traffic restrictions. Elements like Cr, Co and Ni, which are correlated with industries, were reduced under special policies like the relocation of Capital Steel Company. In general, the improving air quality demonstrates the success of government intervention policies although still the concentrations are too high if compared to international threshold values.

© The full article is reprinted with kind permission from Springer Science and Business Media in Appendix A.4.

3 Co-authored related scientific publications

3.1 Atmospheric particulate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Efficiency of mitigation measures and assessment of health effects

Authors: Schleicher, N.J., Schäfer, J., Chen, Y., Blanc, G., Chai, F., Cen, K. and Norra, S.

In: Atmospheric Environment, 2016, 124, 396-403, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.09.040

an contractor of the	Contents Este envilable et CrimenDirect
	Atmospheric Environment
ELSEVIER i	ournal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/atmosenv
Atmospheric particula of mitigation measure	ate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Efficiency (International Constants) and assessment of health effects
N.J. Schleicher ^{a, *} , J. Schäfer S. Norra ^{a, c, f}	$^{\rm b}$, Y. Chen $^{\rm a}$, G. Blanc $^{\rm b}$, Y. Chen $^{\rm c}$, F. Chai $^{\rm c}$, K. Cen $^{\rm d}$,
* Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Ka ^b Université de Bordeaux, UME 5805 EPOC, 330 ^c Iostitute ef Urban a Regional Attraopheric In ^a Department of Earth Sciences and Resources, ^b Institute ef Geography and Geocetalogy, Karlos ¹ Institute of Mineralogy, Technische Universität	Honde Knizitar of Technology, Advancering 200, 76131, Karlznuke, Germany Sk. Penac Gelek, France wienemental Research, China Reasent Academy of Erwinnenstal Sciences, Beijing, 100012, China China University of Conciences, Beijing (2000); Zh. Karlanda, Cermany aluh Istuliatar of Erchnology, Kainerta, Z. 7813K, Karlanda, Cermany Regulademic Prelocy Reimologyane U, dology, Reinberg, Cermany
H I G H L I G H T S • Study of particulate mercury (HgP) in • Evaluation of short- & long-term succ • HgP in Aug-08 decreased by 65% com • Decrease in winter indicated slight for • But still high HgP levels regarding adv	accould from 2005 to 2013 in summer and winter, cost of mitigation measures during Olympic Games, and to previous poor who to implemented measures. By etem meyorement of HgP politicals in belging, the start during the start of the start during.
HICHLICHTS Study of particulate mercury (HgP) in Study of both-s. Along-term suc- both-study of the study of the	accruch from 2005 to 2013 is summer and winter: cost of mitigation measures during Olympic Games, and to previous port which is implemented measures. Even in provide the origination of the measures. The basis difference main the origination of the origination or the origination of the origination or the origination of the origination or the origination
HICOLLICATS UNDERGISTICS HICOLIC ALL CONTS HICOL	served firm 2001 to 2011 in numeror and minit: the of migration measure during typipe Gaussi and to proving usery and the in inflexioned measures, age minimized measures and the inflexioned measures. The control of the inflexioned measures are also and the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures are also and the inflexioned measures in plantmeasures implicit measures (1947) was malted before, during, and after the Dipupie Gaussi measures implication of the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned on the inflexioned measures inflexioned in the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned on the inflexioned measures inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures including the 'odd-even har' to halve the which would be inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned on the inflexioned on the inflexioned inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures including the 'odd-even har' to halve the which would be inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned on the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures and the inflexioned measures in the inflexioned measures and the inflexioned measur
H I G H L I C H T S H I G H L I C H T S Object of earliest energy (Hr) [in] Object o	when them table to the intermeter meters in the intermeters of the int

Authorship statement

This peer-reviewed scientific journal article is based on atmospheric particulate mercury (HgP) analysis of samples collected at the CRAES site and a site in the southeast of Beijing. Specifically, I prepared part of the TSP samples for HgP analysis. Furthermore, I contributed to part of the TSP mass concentration calculation. In total my contribution to this article amounts to around 15%.

Abstract

Atmospheric particulate mercury (HgP)

was studied before, during, and after the Olympic Summer Games in Beijing, China, in August 2008 in order to investigate the efficiency of the emission control measures implemented by the Chinese Government. These source control measures comprised traffic reductions, increase in public transportation, planting of vegetation, establishment of parks, building freeze at construction sites, cleaner production techniques for industries
and industry closures in Beijing and also in the surrounding areas. Strictest measures including the "odd-even ban" to halve the vehicle volume were enforced from the 20th of July to the 20th of September 2008. The Olympic period provided the unique opportunity to investigate the efficiency of these comprehensive actions implemented in order to reduce air pollution on a large scale. Therefore, the sampling period covered summer (August, September) and winter (December and January) samples over several years from December 2005 to September 2013. Average HgP concentrations in total suspended particulates (TSP) sampled in August 2008 were $81 \pm 39 \text{ pg/m}^3$ while TSP mass concentrations were $93 \pm 49 \ \mu g/m^3$. This equals a reduction by about 63% for TSP mass and 65% for HgP, respectively, compared to the previous two years demonstrating the short-term success of the measures. However, after the Olympic Games, HgP concentrations increased again to pre-Olympic levels in August 2009 while values in August 2010 decreased again by 30%. Moreover, winter samples, which were 2- to 11-fold higher than corresponding August values, showed decreasing concentrations over the years indicating a long-term improvement of HgP pollution in Beijing. However, regarding adverse health effects, comparisons with soil guideline values and studies from other cities highlighted that HgP concentrations in TSP remained high in Beijing despite respective control measures. Consequently, future mitigation measures need to be tailored more specifically to further reduce HgP concentrations in Beijing.

© The full article is reprinted with kind permission from Atmospheric Environment in Appendix B.1. Copyright © 2015 Elsevier Ltd.

3.2 Seasonal dynamics of coarse atmospheric particulate matter between2.5 μm and 80 μm in Beijing and the impact of 2008 Olympic Games

Authors: Stefan Norra, Yang Yu, Volker Dietze, Nina Schleicher, Mathieu Fricker, Uwe Kaminski, Yuan Chen, Doris Stüben, Kuang Cen

In:
Atmospheric
Environment,
2016,
124,
109-118,
DOI:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.08.029

<



Authorship statement

This peer-reviewed scientific journal article is based on size distribution data of coarse particles (2.5-80 µm) samples collected at the CUGB site. Specifically, I collected part of the samples and meteorological Further, Ι data. contributed to the revision and correction of the draft manuscript. In total my contribution to this article amounts to around 5%.

Abstract

Beijing is well known as a megacity facing severe atmospheric pollution

problems. One very important kind of pollution is the high amount of particles in Beijing's atmosphere. Numerous studies investigated the dynamics of fine particles smaller 10 μ m. Less information is available on the coarse particle fraction larger 10 μ m, although geogenic dusts, which often are composed by those coarser particles, frequently affect the air quality in Beijing. Therefore, systematic sampling and analysis of size fractionated particulate matter between 2.5 and 80 μ m was performed in Beijing from April 2005 till

October 2009. Atmospheric particles were collected in the North-West of Beijing using a cost-effective passive sampling method called Sigma-2. Altogether, 200 weeks could be analysed and assessed. Concentrations and size distribution of atmospheric coarse particles were determined by automated microscopic single particle analysis. Seasonal variability of the total mass of different size fractions was identified as follows: spring> winter > autumn > summer. High concentrations of transparent mineral particles indicate the activity of geogenic sources in spring and winter time, due to asian dust events and resuspension of soil from local bare land during dry and windy periods. The percentage of opaque particle components differs seasonally with relatively high values in winter, confirming combustion of fossil fuels for heating purposes as a predominant pollution source in this season. The influence of meteorological conditions on concentrations and size distribution of atmospheric particulate matter between 2.5 and 80 µm is demonstrated for the whole sampling period. Lowest pollution by coarse aerosols occurred during the period of the 2008 Olympic Summer Games. A general trend of decreasing total coarse particle mass concentrations was observed. Due to frequently observed high total coarse particle mass concentrations of several 100 μ m·m⁻³ it is strongly recommended to enhance research and observation regarding these air pollutants to gain a better understanding of their dynamics, health effects, well-being impacts on Beijing inhabitants and the effectiveness of mitigation measures.

© The full article is reprinted with kind permission from Atmospheric Environment in Appendix B.2. Copyright © 2015 Elsevier Ltd.

3.3 Characteristics and sources of PM in seasonal perspective – A case study from one year continuously sampling in Beijing

Authors: Rongrong Shen, Klaus Schäfer, Jürgen Schnelle-Kreis, Longyi Shao, Stefan Norra, Utz Kramar, Bernhard Michalke, Gülcin Abbaszade, Thorsten Streibel, Mathieu Fricker, Yuan Chen, Ralf Zimmermann, Stefan Emeis, Hans Peter Schmid

In: Atmospheric Pollution Research, 2016, 7, 235-248, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2015.09.008

	Rundpient remition security (2016) 255-248
HOSTED BY	Contents lists available at ScienceDirect
新闻之前	Atmospheric Pollution Research
733	
ELSEVIER	journal homepage: http://www.journals.elsevier.com/locate/apr
Ovininal antials	
Channa article	Continue of the second se
characteristic	s and sources of PM in seasonal perspective – A case
study nom of	ie year continuousiy samping in beijing
Rongrong Shen	[*] , Klaus Schäfer ^a , Jürgen Schnelle-Kreis ^b , Longyi Shao ^c , Ura Kramas ^S , Bernhard Michalko ^a , Cülkin Abbastado ^b
Thorsten Streibel	^h , Mathieu Fricker ¹ , Yuan Chen ^e , Ralf Zimmermann ^{b,h} , Stefan Emeis ^a ,
Hans Peter Schmi	d "
^a Institute of Meteorology and Partenkirchen, Germany	Climate Research, Atmospheric Environmental Research, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (K77/IM66-IPU), 82467 Garmisch-
^b Joint Mass Spectrometry Cen ^c School of Genstience and Su	tre, Comprehensive Molecular Analytics, Heimholtz Zentram München (HMGU/CMA), 85764 Neulaerberg, Germany cursing Fantaereine, China Italaersity of Mining and Technology (Brillar) (CIMTR). 100083 Beiling, PR China
^d Institute of Geography and C ^c Institute of Mineralury and C	eoecology, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT)IGC), 76128 Karlsruhe, Germany Genchemistru, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT/IMG1, 76128 Karlsruhe, Germany
⁶ Institute of Mineralogy, TU Be ⁸ Research Unit Analytical Bio	rgakademie Freiherg (TUBF), 09396 Freiherg, Germany GeoChemistry, Helmholtz Zentrum München (HMCUMBCC), 85764 Neuherberg, Germany
^h Joint Mass Spectrometry Cen ¹ Research Center Human Bion	tre, Chair of Analytical Chemistry, University of Rostock (UR)(C), 18059 Rostock, Germany nationalism, fir Occility Department, Department Wetterdinest (DND)(AOD), 20104 Eartheas, Germany
T Yandowellow 1015	
7 September 2015 Accepted 7 September 2015 Available colline 21 October 2 Reywords: Regwords: Regwords: Source apportionment PMF Back trajectory cluster analys	the order of aprice 2011 - winter 2010 - summer 2010 - summer 2010 - anatima 2010. Organic amater (2010, second program of the component (2010, 101, 100, parted NU), unce the order of all most of the component of the component (2010, 101, 100, parted NU), unce the order of all most of the component of the second program of the component (2010, 101, 101, 101, 101, 101, 101, 101,

Authorship statement

This peer-reviewed scientific journal article is based on comprehensive chemical analyses of aerosol particle samples collected at the CUGB site with different instruments from this dissertation. Specifically, I contributed to the establishment of the sampling point at the CUGB site. Further, I contributed to inorganic chemical analysis with ED-XRF. In total my contribution to this article amounts to around 5%.

Abstract

Daily mass concentrations and chemical compositions (elemental carbon, organic carbon, water soluble ions, chemical elements and organic species) of PM were measured continuously in Beijing for one year from June 2010 to June 2011 (365 samples). The seasonal variation of PM mass concentration followed the order of spring 2011 > winter 2010 > summer 2010 > autumn 2010. Organic matter (OM) and secondary inorganic aerosol components (SNA: $SO_4^{2^-}$, NO_3^{-} and NH_4^{+}) were the two major fractions of PM

during the whole year. Source apportionment by PMF performed on the basis of a full year of data, including both inorganic and organic species, showed that biomass burning, secondary sulfate and nitrate formation, mineral dust, industry, coal combustion and traffic were the main sources of PM in Beijing during 2010-2011. Specifically, comparison among the four seasons shows that the contribution of secondary sulfate and biomass burning, secondary nitrate formation, mineral dust, and coal combustion were the dominating sources of PM in summer, autumn, spring and winter, respectively. The contributions of industry to PM was distributed evenly in four seasons, while traffic contributed more in summer and autumn than in winter and spring. Backward trajectory analysis was applied in combination with PMF and showed that air flow from the South contributed mostly to high PM mass concentrations in Beijing. Meteorological parameters (temperature, wind speed, wind direction, precipitation and mixing layer height) influence such a variation. In general, high relative humidity and low mixing layer height can raise PM mass concentration, while high wind speed and precipitation can reduce pollutants. In addition, wind direction also plays a key role in influencing PM because different wind directions can bring different pollutants to Beijing from different regions.

© The full article is reprinted with kind permission from Atmospheric Pollution Research in Appendix B.3. Copyright © 2015 Turkish National Committee for Air Pollution Research and Control. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V.

21

4 Particulate Mercury (HgP)

4.1 Introduction and background

Mercury in the atmosphere generally exists in three species: gaseous elemental Hg (GEM), reactive gaseous Hg (RGM), and particulate-bound Hg (HgP). GEM accounts for > 95% of the total atmospheric mercury while RGM together with HgP account only for < 5% (cf. Schroeder and Munthe, 1998). The residence time of GEM was estimated to be several months to up to two years due to the low chemical reactivity and water solubility, and thus GEM was considered as a global pollutant (Schroeder and Munthe, 1998). GRM and HgP have shorter residence time, hours to days and hours to weeks, respectively, and thus represent the local pollution or small-scale regional sources (HgP) (Lindqvist and Rodhe, 1985; Schroeder and Munthe, 1998).

Anthropogenic Hg emissions in China mainly attribute to fossil fuel combustion, cement production, metal mining and smelting, waste incineration and biomass burning (Zhao et al., 2015). Atmospheric Hg can be input to terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems by dry or wet deposition and adversely affects human health via bioaccumulation (Lindqvist et al., 1991; Zhu et al., 2014). It became a research hot point not only for natural scientists but also for pathologists.

China is the largest mercury emitting country (AMAP and UNEP, 2008), especially for HgP, which was considered to be higher in China than in the rest of the world due to coal combustion (Streets et al., 2005). In Beijing, coal combustion was reported as the major HgP source, while traffic, industrial and metallurgical activities and the red pigment from historical buildings contributed as minor sources (Schleicher et al., 2015). Heating supply in Beijing which usually starts in Mid-November and ends in the following Mid-March (cover the whole winter) is one of the major applications of coal consumption. In order to mitigate the influences of urban air pollutants emitted by coal-based heating, Chinese authorities have been promoting the transformation of coal into natural gas for heating

system in major cities since 1999 (Wu and Wang, 2014; Zhao et al., 2013). However, this action alone was not enough for eliminating the pollution (Liang et al., 2015). Energy structure transformation has been in progress in all of China, and particularly in Beijing, by increasing cleaner energy and reducing coal consumption (Chen et al., 2016a, 2016b). Traffic restriction measure according to the digit of the license plates, higher emission standards for industries and even relocation of industries were implemented to improve air quality as well.

This study evaluated the meteorological impact factors and the mitigation measures on HgP emissions based on long-term measurement data together with black carbon (BC) and Gallium (Ga) emissions which were also used to study the efficiency of energy structure transformation in Beijing in the sections 2.2 and 2.3 (Chen et al., 2016a, 2016b). To the authors' knowledge, only limited studies have investigated long-term HgP distribution of aerosol particles in Asian megacity and the long-term effects of mitigation measures on HgP. This study will contribute to both scientific researches and policy-making of pollution control measures.

4.2 Methodology

4.2.1 Sampling

Aerosol samples were collected at two sampling sites: one was installed near the main entrance of the China University of Geosciences, Beijing (CUGB) at a height of 1.5 m, and the other one was set up on the roof of the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES) at a height of about 20 m. CUGB site was located near the 4th ring road in the urban area and CRAES site was located between the 5th ring road and the 6th ring road (Fig. 1.1). All samples were collected on quartz fiber filters (Whatman Inc., Maidstone, UK) actively. PM_{2.5} samples were collected by Mini-Volume Samplers (Leckel, Berlin) with a flow-rate of 200 L/h at the CUGB site, while TSP samples were collected by a TSP-Sampler (Leckel, Berlin) with a flow-rate of 1 m³/h at the CRAES site.

4.2.2 Analytic methods

Particulate mass on filters were obtained by subtraction of loaded filter mass to unloaded filter mass which were determined with a microbalance (Satorius SE 2-F, Göttingen, Germany). All the gravimetrical analyses were carried out at constant temperature ($22 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C) and relative humidity ($40 \pm 3\%$). Filter blanks and laboratory blanks were used for quality control and accuracy improvement. Each filter was weighed at least triplicates before and after sampling, respectively, at the Institute of Applied Geosciences, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (AGW-KIT), Germany.

Four or six circles (diameter 5 mm) were punched out from the each filter sample and then placed in a metal sample carrier, ready for analysis without any further preparation. A Direct Mercury Analyzer (Milestone DMA-80, Italy) equipped with a cold vapor atomic absorption spectrometry (CVAAS) was used for analyzing HgP in aerosol samples. Firstly samples were combusted in an O_2 stream. Then the released Hg vapor was collected in a gold amalgamator and was transported to a heated cuvette for HgP analysis with the CVAAS.

Standard protocols included the use of filter blanks, laboratory blanks, and an external reference standard IAEA 433 (marine sediment, International Atomic Energy Agency) for all HgP analyses for quality control and quality assurance purpose.

The HgP contents (91 pg in 6 circles) in blank filters (N=28) were in the same range as the measurements (86 pg) of the laboratory blanks (N=184) which refer to empty metal carriers without any sample inside. The values of filter blanks were subtracted from the sample filters to improve the accuracy of HgP concentration calculation. The certified concentration of IAEA 433 is 168 ± 17 ng/g. The average concentration of this reference material throughout the measurements was 148 ± 19 ng/g (N=70). The measured results were corrected with a factor of 1.135 (ratio of certified value to measured average value of the reference standard material). Moreover, some PM_{2.5} samples (N=6) and TSP samples (N=5) were analyzed triplicates. The average standard deviation of these triplicates was 8 pg/m³ and 20 pg/m³ perceptively.

4.2.3 Meteorological data

Meteorological data were obtained from the German Meteorological Service (DWD). The 3-hourly parameters including precipitation, wind direction and wind speed were collected from a meteorological station in Beijing registered at the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) with the code 54511.

4.3 Temporal distribution of HgP in aerosol particles (PM_{2.5} and TSP)

To observe the variation during a year, HgP analysis was performed with weekly aerosol samples collected from Dec. 2012 to Nov. 2013. To observe the long-term variation of HgP, aerosol samples in Augusts from 2005 to 2013 were used for HgP analysis to represent summer variation, while aerosol samples in Januaries from 2006 to 2013 were used for HgP analysis to represent winter variation.

During a year (from Dec. 2012 to Nov. 2013), HgP concentrations in PM_{2.5} particle samples ranged from 500 to 4150 ng/g (ng (HgP) per g (particles)), from 13 to 529 pg/m³ (pg (HgP) per m³ (air volume)). The annual average HgP concentration in PM_{2.5} was 2010 \pm 1030 ng/g (136 \pm 111 pg/m³).

At the same time, HgP concentrations in TSP particle samples ranged from 454 to 2590 ng/g, from 73 to 862 pg/m³. The annual average HgP concentration in TSP was 1160 ± 428 ng/g (297 ± 179 pg/m³).

4.3.1 Monthly and seasonal variation of HgP in aerosol particles

According to the meteorological conditions in China, winter includes the months December, the following January and February, spring includes March, April and May, summer covers June, July and August, and autumn covers September, October and November. The monthly variation (Fig. 4.1) shows that the highest HgP concentration in both $PM_{2.5}$ and TSP occurred in January and the lowest occurred in July. The highest TSP and $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentrations were also in January, and the lowest TSP and $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentrations were in July with most precipitation (there was no TSP data in August due

to sampler error). Most precipitation occurred in summer (Fig. 4.1, Fig. 4.2). The lowest seasonal concentration occurred in summer with maximum precipitation and the highest occurred in winter with minimum precipitation. Therefore, precipitation was a significant factor to wash out aerosol particulates and thus leads to low HgP concentration in aerosols as well.



Fig. 4.1 HgP monthly variation in TSP and $PM_{2.5}$ with precipitation. The whiskers represent standard deviations.



Fig. 4.2 HgP seasonal variation in TSP and $PM_{2.5}$ with precipitation. The whiskers represent standard deviations.

4.3.2 Long-term variation of HgP in aerosol particles from 2005 to 2013

The Pearson correlation coefficient of HgP concentration in winter and in January was 0.98 (data in ng/g) and 0.91 (data in pg/m^3). January was used to represent for winter. August was used to represent for summer. The PM_{2.5} samples during 2008 Olympic Games were used out for other chemical analyses and thus there was no HgP data for August 2008.

For $PM_{2.5}$ samples, average HgP concentration (352 pg/m³) of the eight successive Januaries from 2006 to 2013 was around 5 times of HgP (74 pg/m³) of the eight Augusts from 2005 to 2013 (besides August 2008). In general, the Olympic year 2008 was a turning point for HgP winter concentration (Fig. 4.3). In winter, HgP average concentration after 2008 was 57% of that before 2008. HgP concentrations in August did not show obvious decreasing or increasing trend from 2005 to 2013 (Fig. 4.3-b). The concentrations in August 2012 and 2013 sharply reduced compared to those before 2012 (Fig. 4.3-b).



Fig 4.3. HgP concentrations in $PM_{2.5}$ with precipitation in January and August from 2005 to 2013. The whiskers represent standard deviations.

For TSP samples, average HgP concentration of the six successive winters from 2007 to 2013 was 458 pg/m³, it was around 1.6 times that in $PM_{2.5}$ (294 pg/m³) in the same time. In general, HgP concentrations in winter show a slightly declining trend during the observation periods (Fig. 4.4). HgP average concentration in Win_12/13 was 61% of that in Win_07/08. The concentration in Win_11/12 was lower than that in Win_07/08 with

similar precipitation to Win_11/12 (Fig. 4.4). HgP concentrations in August/September from 2005 to 2013 were reported by Schleicher et al. (2016). The lowest concentration was observed in August 2008 (Olympic Games period) but no long-term decrease or increase trend was observed for summer months with two sites data.



Fig 4.4. HgP winter concentrations in TSP and $PM_{2.5}$ with precipitation from 2007 to 2013. The whiskers represent standard deviations. The X-axis represents the winter in different years; for example, Win_07/08 means winter from 2007 to 2008, namely Dec. 2007, Jan. 2008 and Feb. 2008.

4.4 Influence of meteorological conditions

Beside the direct wash out effects of precipitation as described in the section 4.3, wind direction and wind speed can also play roles on aerosol distribution (Chen et al., 2016b), thus can affect HgP concentrations.

Aerosol samples were collected weekly in this study. During a week, wind direction usually changed several times and the weekly average wind direction did not reflect the real wind direction at every time point. Therefore, 3-hourly meteorological data and the weekly mean concentration for each of the 3-h in a week were used to interpret the correlation. Wind directions were defined briefly as N (north), NE (northeast), E (east), SE (southeast), S (south), SW (southwest), W (west), and NW (northwest). Based on the meteorological data for a whole year from Dec. 2012 to Nov. 2013, the main wind directions were from NE and SW. Wind from NW and N mainly occurred in winter, spring and autumn. And most of the high wind speed mainly occured with wind from NW and N, some from SW in spring. These seasonal variations were similar to the results with nine year data from 2005 to 2013 in the section 2.2 (Chen et al., 2016b), which means that the predominating wind condition were relatively parallel from a long-term perspective. Seasonal variation of HgP with wind direction was presented in Fig. 4.5. Wind from N and NW with relatively higher HgP concentration occurred more frequently in winter and autumn than in spring and summer. High or low HgP concentration in a certain season can occur with winds from different directions. Through a whole year, wind seasonal variation could affect HgP concentration to some extent (sources seasonality could also play a part at the same time). However, wind condition was considered to play only a small role in HgP distribution from the long-term perspective.



b: spring



Fig. 4.5 HgP concentrations in $PM_{2.5}$ and wind direction during four seasons from Dec. 2012 to Nov. 2013. The legends display HgP concentration ranges in pg/m^3 and the left scales display the percentage frequencies.

4.5 Influence of governmental mitigations

Coal combustion is a major source for HgP emission in Beijing (Schleicher et al., 2015). Heating supply in winter is one of the major consumes of coal. However, the coal consumption quantity for heating in each winter was unavailable, hence the direct correlation between HgP and coal consumption cannot be calculated. In the sections 2.2 and 2.3 (Chen et al., 2016a, 2016b), black carbon (BC) and Ga concentrations were reported to well correlate to coal combustion with nine years data. And Ga had good correlation with BC as well, especially in the heating period which covers the whole winter (Chen et al., 2016a). Energy structure transformation policies (less coal and more clean energy) in Beijing have being been implemented and were demonstrated to be effective to reduce BC and Ga in aerosols. Correspondingly, correlations between HgP and BC/Ga were investigated to help to interpret the influence of coal consumption on HgP.



Fig. 4.6 Correlations between HgP and BC (Fig. 4.6-a)/Ga (Fig. 4.6-b) concentrations in PM_{2.5} during winter (Win), January (Jan) and August (Aug) from 2005 to 2013.

Fig. 4.6-a shows the correlations between HgP and BC during the whole winter, January and August for $PM_{2.5}$. The strongest correlation was observed between HgP and BC during winter. January shows similar correlation to winter. The correlations between HgP and Ga (Fig. 4.6-b) were similar to the correlations between HgP and BC but relatively weaker. This seasonal difference of these correlations depends on the sources seasonality of HgP. The effectiveness of energy structure transformation on reducing BC/Ga (Chen et al., 2016a, 2016b) together with the strong correlations between HgP and BC/Ga in winter (Fig. 4.6) suggested the effectiveness of reduced coal consumption on HgP emission control.

For TSP, the lowest HgP concentration (pg/m^3) in August 2008 during the summer months from 2005 to 2013 demonstrated the short-term intensive governmental mitigation measures on HgP reduction but no long-term effect of the mitigation measures on HgP observed for summer months due to the relative stable sources in summer (Schleicher et al., 2016).

The lowest HgP concentrations in both TSP and $PM_{2.5}$ in winter were observed in Win_10/11 (Dec. 2010, Jan. 2011 and Feb. 2011) (Fig. 4.4). And the lowest HgP concentration in January occurred in Jan_11 (Fig. 4.3). These attribute to the largest annual decline of coal and coke consumption from 2010 to 2011 during the observation period (Beijing Bureau of Statistics, 2015).

Besides the energy structure transformation as a governmental macro intervention policy, specific mitigation measures during specific periods should be considered as well, for example, the relocation of the Capital Steel Company (CSC) and traffic restriction measures. They played a role along a whole year not mainly in winter.

The relocation project of the CSC started in 2005 and was completed at the end of 2010 in Beijing. The new company in Caofeidian, which is around 225 km to the southeast of the former location in Beijing, went into operation in the middle of 2010, and has gradually recovered the capacity at the new location. The sections 2.1 and 2.4 (Chen et al., 2013, 2014) reported the short-term effectiveness of this relocation project in reducing steel-related elements in $PM_{2.5}$ from 2008 to 2010. However, from a long-term perspective, the reduction did not continue and an increase of these elements was found since 2011, especially in 2012 and 2013 which was illustrated in the section 2.3 (Chen et al., 2016a). This is parallel to the higher HgP concentrations in Jan_12 and Jan_13 (Fig. 4.3) and could be also a reason for the higher HgP concentrations in Win_11/12 and Win_12/13 than in

Win_10/11 (Fig. 4.4).

The total amount of vehicles kept increasing over the entire investigation time (Fig. 1.3). The license plate lottery policy for car registration since the beginning of 2011 in Beijing caused the largest annual growth of total amount of vehicles from 2009 to 2010 (Fig. 1.3). This might contribute to the higher HgP concentration in Jan_10 (even with more precipitation) than in Jan_09 (Fig. 4.3). The average concentration in Aug_10 was lower than in Aug_09, which might attribute to the more precipitation in Aug_10 than in Aug_09 (Fig. 4.3).

4.6 Summary

In conclusion, for the long-term observation period from 2005 to 2013, meteorological conditions as well as mitigation measures can affect HgP distribution. Precipitation has direct scavenging effects on aerosol particles and thus reduced HgP. Wind condition plays a small role in HgP distribution from the long-term perspective, besides in the seasonal variation. Long-term HgP distribution was predominated by the control measures.

In winter, HgP average concentration in PM_{2.5} after 2008 was 57% of that before 2008, and the concentration in TSP in Win_12/13 was 61% of that in Win_07/08. Under the rapid economic and industrial developments in China, the total energy consumption kept increasing while the coal consumption reduced due to the energy structure transformation. HgP concentration fell from a long-term perspective even under the rapid development with increasing total energy consumption and growing total vehicle number. This demonstrated the effectiveness of the macro energy structure transformation policy and the specific mitigation measures on improving air quality and thus on HgP distribution. The Olympic year 2008 was a turning point for HgP winter concentrations.

This is not only an HgP case study, but also a representative mercury study in China, which reflect the mercury atmospheric pollution in developing countries. Improved technique to control HgP emission and governmental intervention measures are still on

demand to mitigate atmospheric mercury pollution in China.

References

Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP) and United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP): Technical Background Report to the Global Atmospheric Mercury Assessment. Geneva, Switzerland, 2008.

Beijing Bureau of Statistics, 2015. Beijing Statistical Yearbook 2014. China Statistics Press, Beijing, China.

Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Cen, K., Liu, X., Yu, Y., Zibat, V., Dietze, V., Fricker, M., Kaminski, U., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Norra, S., 2016a. Evaluation of impact factors on PM_{2.5} based on long-term chemical components analyses in the megacity Beijing, China. Chemosphere, 155, 234-242.

Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Norra, S., 2014. The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing. Science of the Total Environment, 490, 647-658.

Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., Norra, S., 2013. The effect of government policies on the temporal development of contamination characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China. In Urban environment (pp. 313-321). Springer Netherlands.

Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Fricker, M., Cen, K., Liu, X., Kaminski, U., Yu, Y., Wu, X., Norra, S., 2016b. Long-term variation of black carbon and PM_{2.5} in Beijing, China with respect to meteorological conditions and governmental measures. Environmental Pollution, 212, 269-278.

Liang, X., Zou, T., Guo, B., Li, S., Zhang, H., Zhang, S., Huang, H., Chen, S. X., 2015. Assessing Beijing's PM_{2.5} pollution: severity, weather impact, APEC and winter heating. In Proc. R. Soc. A (Vol. 471, No. 2182, p. 20150257). The Royal Society.

Lindqvist, O., Johansson, K., Bringmark, L., Timm, B., Aastrup, M., Andersson, A. Bringmark, L., Hovsenius, G., Håkanson, L., Iverfeldt, Å., Meili, M., Timm, B., 1991. Mercury in the Swedish environment – recent research on causes, consequences and corrective methods. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 55(1-2), xi-261.

Lindqvist, O., Rodhe, H., 1985. Atmospheric mercury – a review. Tellus B, 37(3), 136-159.

Schleicher, N. J., Schäfer, J., Blanc, G., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Cen, K., Norra, S., 2015. Atmospheric particulate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Spatio-temporal variations and source apportionment. Atmospheric Environment, 109, 251-261.

Schleicher, N. J., Schäfer, J., Chen, Y., Blanc, G., Chai, F., Cen, K., Norra, S., 2016. Atmospheric particulate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Efficiency of mitigation measures and assessment of health effects. Atmospheric Environment, 124, 396-403.

Schroeder, W. H., Munthe, J., 1998. Atmospheric mercury – an overview. Atmospheric Environment, 32(5), 809-822.

Streets, D. G., Hao, J., Wu, Y., Jiang, J., Chan, M., Tian, H., Feng, X., 2005. Anthropogenic mercury emissions in China. Atmospheric environment, 39(40), 7789-7806.

Wu, B., Wang, L., 2014. Energy and Exergy Analysis on China's Natural Gas Urban District Heating Systems for Replacing Coal: A Case Study of Beijing. Distributed Generation & Alternative Energy Journal, 29(1), 29-48.

Zhao, P., Dong, F., Yang, Y., He, D., Zhao, X., Zhang, W., Yao, Q., Liu, H., 2013. Characteristics of carbonaceous aerosol in the region of Beijing, Tianjin, and Hebei, China. Atmospheric Environment, 71, 389-398.

Zhao, Y., Zhong, H., Zhang, J., Nielsen, C. P., 2015. Evaluating the effects of China's pollution controls on inter-annual trends and uncertainties of atmospheric mercury emissions. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 15(8), 4317-4337.

Zhu, J., Wang, T., Talbot, R., Mao, H., Yang, X., Fu, C., Sun, J., Zhuang, B., Li, S., Han, Y., Xie, M., 2014. Characteristics of atmospheric mercury deposition and size-fractionated particulate mercury in urban Nanjing, China. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 14(5), 2233-2244.

5 Coarse particles (2.5-80 μm)

5.1 Introduction and background

Aerosol particles can be collected with both active samplers and passive samples. One disadvantage of active samplers is the requirement of auxiliaries such as power supply and air-flow meters, which leads to application inconvenience in the field. Passive samplers can be installed in various environments, even at quite remote locations. Due to the cost-efficient property, they can be employed as a network for large-scale air quality monitoring (Guéguen et al., 2012). However, sampling interval with passive samplers should be considered according to sampling purposes and local aerosol pollution levels. For example, to collect sufficient material for trace element and isotope analysis in France, 1-4 weeks sampling time was necessary depending on the different environments (Guéguen et al., 2012); to analyze the size distribution and mass concentrations of coarse particles in Beijing, a megacity and the capital of China, 3-4-day interval was utilized to avoid excessively high loads and superimpositions of particulates (Norra et al., 2016).

For the recent decade, increasing studies about fine particles were published with growing attention due to the adverse health impacts, environmental and climatic effects, especially in developing counties. In Beijing, the highest concentrations of aerosol particles mostly correlated to the dust events (Chen et al., 2016; Norra et al., 2016) which resulted in an increase of aerosol particulates predominantly in coarse fraction (Zhang et al., 2009). Sand dust or dust storms have direct impacts on visibility and thus affect residents' commute (Zhao et al., 2007; Akhlaq et al., 2012; Cao et al., 2014); they can also affect human health (Chen and Yang, 2005; Honda et al., 2012). Therefore, coarse particles were significant as well when investigating air pollution.

Within this dissertation, $PM_{2.5}$ and TSP were collected with active samplers which were studied in the former sections (section 2, 3 and 4), while coarse particles were collected

with a passive sampler from 2005 to 2012, which were studied in this section. This study is the first study of long-term variation of size distribution of coarse particles and the effects of mitigation measures on different size fractions.

5.2 Methodology

5.2.1 Sampling

Coarse particle (>2.5 μ m) samples were collected using a passive sampling device Sigma-2 (Grobéty et al., 2010, VDI, 2013) at the CUGB site. Technical details can be found in the guideline VDI 2119:2013-06 (VDI, 2013) and sampler description can be found in Norra et al. (2016). Particles were collected on highly transparent collection plates for optical microscopy (Norra et al., 2016). Generally, two samples in each week were collected in interval of three and four days in order to prevent too high loads and superimpositions of particulates from 2005 to 2012. To investigate the effects of the special governmental policies during the Olympic Games period in 2008, daily samples were collected in August and September 2008 (Schleicher et al., 2011, 2012). Weekly averages were calculated with daily samples or 3-4-day samples in one week. Part of the data (2005-2009) was used for studying the seasonal dynamics of opaque and transparent particles in different size intervals in Norra et al. (2016). Over the entire observation period, 763 samples were analyzed, and a few samples (N=77) were not available due to external errors such as sampler problem and sampling absence, accounting for 9% of total samples.

 $PM_{2.5}$ samples and TSP samples used for comparison and evaluation were collected at the CUGB site and the CRAES site, respectively. Detail information can be found in the former sections (section 2, 3 and 4).

5.2.2 Analytic methods

5.2.2.1 Types and morphology of coarse particles

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) was used to study the morphology of minerals and

other solid particles in aerosol. With a Quanta FEG 650 (FEI, USA) coupled to electron dispersive X-ray fluorescence spectrometry (EDX), particle composition and type were identified at the Laboratory for Electron Microscopy (LEM) at KIT by comparing the spectrograms of particles provided by Reed (2005). The excitation energy was 10 kV.

5.2.2.2 Size distribution and mass concentration

The method collected coarse particles up to 160 μ m (geometrical equivalent diameter). Mass concentrations of different size fractions can be analyzed in intervals of 2.5-5, 5-10, 10-20, 20-40, 40-80 and 80-160 μ m. For 92% of the samples (N=447) which were analyzed in all the intervals, the mass concentrations of particles larger than 80 μ m were less than 0.5% of mass concentrations of particles between 2.5 and 80 μ m. The largest particles usually occurred when the mass concentrations of particles between 2.5 and 80 μ m. The largest fraction >80 μ m was neglected within this study. The five size fractions in this study were defined as SF1 (2.5-5 μ m), SF2 (5-10 μ m), SF3 (10-20 μ m), SF4 (20-40 μ m) and SF5 (40-80 μ m).

A computer-aided automatic image analysis system Digitrace V.3.4 (IMATEC) together with a motorized optical microscope (ZEISS Axioplan 2), an adapted automatic scanning stage (Prior Scientific) and a CCD-digital-camera (SVS-VISTEK) were used for quantitative optical microscopic analysis of single particles at the German Meteorological Service (DWD) in Freiburg, Germany. Technical details of this method were depicted by Dietze et al. (2006). Mass concentrations were calculated as described in Dietze et al. (2006) and Schleicher et al. (2010).

5.2.3 Meteorological data

Meteorological data were obtained from the German Meteorological Service (DWD). The 3-hourly parameters including precipitation, temperature, visibility, wind direction and wind speed were collected from a meteorological station in Beijing registered at the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) with the code 54511.

5.3 Types and morphology of coarse particles

SEM combined with EDX analysis of coarse particles identified particles types from various sources, including geogenic, anthropogenic and biogenic. During sand dust or dust storms which often occurred in spring but also were contingent in other seasons, geogenic mineral particles predominated, for example, quartz, mica, feldspar (albite), amphibole, dolomite, and clay minerals (Fig. 5.1). These minerals were less frequent during non-dust days. Special biogenic particles, such as pollen and diatoms (Fig. 5.2-a, Fig. 5.2-b) were found to accumulate in spring especially during sand dust or dust storm events with high wind velocity. Organic remains of different morphology were also observed (Fig. 5.2-c, Fig. 5.2-d). Soot chains, fly ash and iron oxides (Fig. 5.3) were the leading anthropogenic particles in most Beijing aerosol samples. Particles containing Fe-Cr-Ni were also observed, and they mostly attributed to steel-related work. Carbon fibers (Fig. 5.3-f) were found in some samples, which might come from car brakes. A number of particles agglomerated with each other, which caused uncertainly when counting particle numbers of different size fractions.



Fig. 5.1 Typical geogenic aerosol particles during sand dust or dust storms: a) quartz; b) mica; c) feldspar (albite); d) amphibole; e) dolomite; f) clay minerals.



Fig. 5.2 Biogenic particles: a) pollen; b) diatom; c) and d) organic remains.



Fig. 5.3 Anthropogenic aerosol particles: a) fly ash; b) soot chain with iron oxides; c) soot chains with Fe-Cr-Ni; d) chromium oxide; c) iron oxides agglomerated on clay minerals; f) carbon fiber.

In general, geogenic particles contributed most to the total coarse particles in Beijing. Biogenic particles appeared seldom and only played a minor role in coarse particles. Anthropogenic particles appeared more frequently than biogenic particles but less than geogenic particles.

5.4 Comparison with TSP and PM_{2.5} data

For long-term period, the calculation method of mass concentration with coarse particles collected by Sigma-2 was not compared with other methods. To evaluate this method, mass concentrations of $PM_{2.5}$ and TSP samples were used for comparison. The sum of mass concentrations of total coarse particles (2.5-80 µm) from the passive sampler and $PM_{2.5}$ (<2.5 µm) from an active sampler at the same sampling site was used to compare with the mass concentrations of TSP from an active sampler.

TSP and PM_{2.5} samples were collected from different sampling sites. And for some weeks, the sampling periods of the two sites were not identical with one- or two-day malposition (earlier or later). This should be considered when discussing the comparison results of passive and active methods. Weighted mean of mass concentration $(C_{(n)wm})$ of a week (week number n) was calculated according to $C_{(n)wm} = (C_{(n-1)} + 2C_{(n)} + C_{(n+1)})/4$ and was used for comparison (Fig. 5.4).



Fig. 5.4 Comparison of mass concentrations between TSP and the sum of $PM_{2.5}$ and coarse particles (2.5-80 μ m).

For 62% of the sampling weeks (N=179) when three kinds of aerosol samples were all available, the sum concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ and coarse particles was larger than TSP mass concentration. On average, TSP mass concentration was 96% \pm 19% of the sum of $PM_{2.5}$ and coarse particles.

For 85% of spring weeks and 70% of winter weeks, TSP mass concentrations were usually less than the sum concentration. These weeks covered all the sand dust or dust storm events in spring. This indicated that the passive sampler overestimated the particles compared to the active samplers. The average overestimated concentration was 50.7, 36.1, 23.6, 57.9 μ g/m³, accounting for 21%, 28%, 14%, 26% of the average concentration of coarse particles for these weeks in spring, summer, autumn and winter, respectively. For the weeks with underestimated concentrations by the Sigma-2 system, 72 % were from summer and autumn. The average underestimated concentration was 20.1, 21.8, 22.2, 27.7 μ g/m³, accounting for 10%, 17%, 12%, 16% of the average concentration of coarse particles for these weeks in spring, summer, autumn and winter, respectively. On the whole, the underestimation extent was not as strong as the overestimation. It went through all the four seasons with a similar level (around 20 μ g/m³).

Overlapping of particles could lead to underestimation of particle number. Particle superimposition was a major problem when calculating the mass concentrations of particles from different size factions. Additional errors also existed during active sampling and filter analyses. For examples, too high aerosol loads during extremely polluted days can reduce the air flow. The sampler can even automatically stop when the filter is totally loaded and the air flow cannot pass through the filter. This can also result in underestimation of particle concentrations by active sampling.

In general, analytical results of samples from the passive sampler and those from active samplers were comparable from the long-term perspective (Fig. 5.4). For Beijing, one of the most polluted megacities, short interval (one day if possible) is recommended for size distribution study due to high loads of particles.

5.5 Temporal distribution of coarse particles and weather condition

Beijing hosted the Summer Olympic Games (8-24th in August) and the Paralympic Games (6-17th in September) in 2008. The corresponding weeks included calendar week (CW) 32/08 to CW34/08 and CW36/08 to CW38/08, respectively. These two periods together were called the Olympic Games period in this study.

From the long-term perspective, mass concentrations of different size fractions show slightly decreasing trends during the whole observation period. The Olympic Games period displayed lower concentrations compared to the other sampling time (Fig. 5.5). Most of the peaks correlated to the sand dust or dust storms. In most cases, wind from the north and the northwest with high wind velocity carrying dust triggered sand dust or dust storms especially in spring.

With increased planting and afforestation to prevent desertification and dust erosion, the day number of sand-dust weather (including sand dust and dust) showed a decreasing trend since the 1950s but only on a long term time sequence (An and Liu, 2004; Zhou et al., 2002) whereas year-to-year variations were not stable. According to the Sand-Dust Weather Almanacs for 2005-2012 (CMA, 2007-2014), there was no obvious increasing or decreasing trend for day number of sand-dust weather. The Beijing Observatory observed most days of sand-dust weather in 2006, which all occurred in spring. The highest peaks for mass concentrations of all size fractions during the whole observation period (Fig. 5.5) were observed with the most intensive sand-dust days in spring 2006.

This intensive sand-dust weather was triggered by several factors. The area around Beijing, including the east of Northwest China, the central and the north of North China, the most area of Inner Mongolia and the north of Northeast China, which covered the main areas of sand-dust domestic sources, had less precipitation in summer and autumn 2005 compared to the same periods in previous years, and the precipitation reduction in some areas was more than 50% (CMA, 2008). The prolonged drought in these areas from summer to autumn 2005 which attribute to El Niño resulted in decreased soil moisture and negatively

impacted land vegetation growth and thus impaired the ability of vegetation to retain soil. And relatively higher temperature $(1-2^{\circ}C \text{ higher})$ in spring 2006 compared to the same periods of previous years, which contributed to more evaporation of soil moisture, also resulted in soil loosening in the surrounding areas of Beijing. Furthermore, in early spring 2006, low precipitation with relatively high temperature thickened the surface dry soil layer. These all provided advantaged conditions for the high frequency of sand-dust weather, especially under windy circumstance (CMA, 2008). Therefore, climate and weather conditions in the areas around Beijing played an important role in sand-dust weather which could lead to high pollution of coarse particles.

Seasonal variation was characterized as the mass concentrations in sequence from high to low in: spring, winter, autumn and summer for the total coarse particles and also for all the five size fractions. This seasonal characteristic was identical to those of $PM_{2.5}$ and TSP. Among the 31 investigation season periods, summer 2012 presented the lowest concentrations for all size factions with the maximum precipitation. Spring 2006 presented the highest concentrations due to the frequent sand-dust weather but not with the least precipitation. If spring 2006 with extreme weather events was excluded for the long-term observation, the former slightly decreasing trends for mass concentrations of different size fractions get weaker. This should be considered when long-term study was conducted.



Fig. 5.5 Temporal distribution of coarse particle mass concentrations in different size fractions SF 1-5, The Olympic Rings indicate the period from CW32/08-CW38/08 which covered the whole Olympic Games period, including the Olympic Summer Games (8-24th in August, CW32/08 to CW34/08) and the Paralympic Games (6-17th in September, CW36/08 to CW38/08) in 2008.

From yearly variation perspective, temperature and wind condition were similar from 2005 to 2012. Annual mean mass concentrations of total coarse particles were well correlated with precipitation (Fig. 5.6). High mass concentrations of total coarse particles in 2005 and 2006 occurred with the low precipitation. Precipitation was a significant factor for scavenging coarse particles. However, mass concentrations of total coarse particles in 2009 were lower than that in 2007 with similar precipitation (Fig. 5.6), which might attribute to the mitigation measures which will be discussed in the following section.



Fig. 5.6 Annual mean mass concentrations of total coarse particles (2.5-80 μ m) with overall precipitation in each period.

5.6 Evaluation of governmental mitigations on coarse particles

To host a "Green" Olympic Games in 2008 in Beijing, a series of governmental measures for improving air quality were put into force step by step, including improvement of emission standards, restriction measures on traffic and construction, industry relocation and afforestation to prevent desertification and sand dust erosion (Chen et al., 2013, 2014; Schleicher et al., 2011, 2012; Wang et al., 2009, 2010). The most intensive mitigation measures were implemented during the Olympic Games.

For the five size fractions of the coarse particles, the lowest monthly-average mass concentrations during the eight successive Augusts from 2005 to 2012 all occurred in Aug_2008 (Fig. 5.7), when the Summer Olympic Games took place. Average mass concentrations of different size fractions were calculated with four week data for seven Augusts except Aug_2009 only with three-week data due to sampler problem. TSP and PM_{2.5} mass concentrations were calculated all with four week data in every August. Precipitation presented in Fig. 5.7 was the total precipitation in every August. Other meteorological parameters, such as temperature, visibility, wind direction and wind speed were similar for the eight Augusts and thus did not play a significant role for the long-term variation of coarse particle concentrations.

Compared to the average concentration in Augusts before 2008 (2005-2007), the mass concentration of total coarse particles (2.5-80 μ m) in Aug_2008 was reduced by 47%, namely 60.6 μ g/m³. In Aug_2009, mass concentrations of all size fractions increased by 65% (45.1 μ g/m³) compared to Aug_2008. However, average concentrations of all size fractions after 2008 (2009-2012) were still lower in comparison with the averages in Augusts before 2008 (2005-2007). The average mass concentration of total coarse particles in Augusts after 2008 was reduced by 24.4 μ g/m³ compared to that before 2008. The reduction mainly fell to the coarse fraction (>5 μ m) of the coarse particles, which was identical to the results of Schleicher et al. (2011) with short-term observation.

Precipitation was an important factor for scavenging aerosol particles. Therefore, periods with similar precipitation were selected for comparison in order to study the effects of mitigation measures. Aug_2008 had similar precipitation to Aug_2005 and Aug_2007, while their mass concentrations of all size fractions were higher than those in Aug_2008 (Fig. 5.7). Aug_2010 and Aug_2011 had more precipitation than Aug_2008; however,

concentrations of the former period were much higher than those in Aug_2008 (Fig. 5.6). These documented the effects of mitigation measures on reducing coarse particles.

The largest decline in 2008 and the continuous decline of mass concentrations of all size fractions of coarse particles indicated the effectiveness of the measures on improving air quality, especially reducing coarse fractions. The intensity of the mitigation measures determined the reduction of coarse particles.



Fig. 5.7 Monthly average mass concentrations of coarse particles (2.5-80 μ m) in different size fractions, together with PM_{2.5}, TSP and precipitation in August from 2005 to 2012. The Olympic Rings indicate the Olympic Games period in Aug_2008.

5.7 Cases study of size distribution patterns

According to the previous sections (section 2, 3 and 4), sand dust or dust storms and heating supply were investigated to represent the heavy pollution caused by natural sources and anthropogenic sources respectively. Calendar week 17, 34, 44 and 51 with similar precipitation (to diminish the scavenging effects of precipitation on coarse particles) were selected to represent for days with sand dust storm in spring, normal days in summer, normal days without heating in autumn and days with heating in winter. Fig. 5.8 shows the size distribution of the five size fractions during these weeks.



Fig. 5.8 Size distribution of coarse particles in four representative weeks from four seasons.

Coarse particles in CW 17/06 with sand dust storm were predominated by the coarse fraction SF3 and SF4 (10-40 μ m). Compared to other weeks, mass concentrations increased in all size factions. The increased percentage for each size fraction grew with the particle size. Coarse particles in CW 51/06 with heating activities were predominated by SF2 and SF3 (5-20 μ m). During normal days in summer and autumn (CW 34/06 and CW 44/06), SF2 (5-10 μ m) contributed most to the coarse particles. The different size distribution patterns during different pollution days provide reference information for the enactment of mitigation measures on aerosol particles by the government.

5.8 Summary

Various kinds of aerosol particles were observed, including geogenic particles which contributed most to the total coarse particles in Beijing, a small number of biogenic particles and anthropogenic particles which appeared more frequently than biogenic particles but less than geogenic particles.

With a long-term sampling and analyses, the comparable mass concentration data from active samplers (TSP and $PM_{2.5}$) and the passive sampler Sigma-2 (coarse particles) demonstrated the feasibility of the passive sampler system for aerosol study for the first time.

From the long-term perspective, mass concentrations of different size fractions show slightly decreasing trends during the whole observation period. Precipitation was an important contributor for this. The Olympic Games period displayed lower concentrations compared to the other sampling time. Most of the peaks correlated to the sand dust or dust storms. The highest peaks for mass concentrations of all size fractions were observed with the most intensive sand-dust days in spring 2006 due to global climate change caused by El Niño.

Seasonal variation was characterized as the mass concentrations in sequence from high to low in: spring, winter, autumn and summer for the total coarse particles and also for all the five size fractions.

During the eight successive Augusts from 2005 to 2012, the lowest monthly average mass concentrations for the five size fractions all occurred in Aug_2008. Compared to the average concentration in Augusts before 2008 (2005-2007), the mass concentration of total coarse particles (2.5-80 μ m) in Aug_2008 was reduced by 47%, namely 60.6 μ g/m³. From the long-term perspective, the average mass concentration of total coarse particles in Augusts after 2008 was reduced by 24.4 μ g/m³ compared to that before 2008. These all demonstrated the effectiveness of the mitigation measures on improving air quality. And the most intensive measures led to the highest air quality.

During sand dust days, mass concentrations increased in all size factions compared to other weeks. The increased percentage for each size fraction grew with the particle size. The different size distribution patterns during different pollution days provide reference information for the enactment of mitigation measures on aerosol particles by the government.

References

Akhlaq, M., Sheltami, T.R. and Mouftah, H.T., 2012. A review of techniques and technologies for sand and dust storm detection. Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology, 11(3), 305-322.

An, Y. G., Liu, X. F, 2004. Characteristics of climate change of dusts in Beijing Tianjin and Hebei region. Journal-Shandong Agricultural University, 35, 84-88. [in Chinese, English abstract].

Cao, C., Zheng, S. and Singh, R.P., 2014. Characteristics of aerosol optical properties and meteorological parameters during three major dust events (2005-2010) over Beijing, China. Atmospheric Research, 150, 129-142.

Chen, Y. S., Yang, C. Y., 2005. Effects of Asian dust storm events on daily hospital admissions for cardiovascular disease in Taipei, Taiwan. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A, 68(17-18), 1457-1464.

Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Norra, S., 2014. The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing. Science of the Total Environment, 490, 647-658.

Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., Norra, S., 2013. The effect of government policies on the temporal development of contamination characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China. In Urban environment (pp. 313-321). Springer Netherlands.

Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Fricker, M., Cen, K., Liu, X., Kaminski, U., Yu, Y., Wu, X., Norra, S., 2016. Long-term variation of black carbon and $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing, China with respect to meteorological conditions and governmental measures. Environmental Pollution, 212, 269-278.

China Meteorological Administration (CMA), 2007-2014, Sand-Dust Weather Almanac 2005- 2012, China meteorological Press, Beijing. (a series of Almanac, in Chinese)

China Meteorological Administration (CMA), 2008. Sand-dust Weather Almanac 2006. China Meteorological Press, Beijing.

Dietze, V., Fricker, M., Goltzsche, M., Schultz, E., 2006. Luftqualitätsmessungen in deutschen Kurorten-Teil 1: Methodik und Absicherung. Gefahrstoffe – Reinhaltung der Luft, 66(1-2), 45-52.

Grobéty, B., Gieré, R., Dietze, V. and Stille, P., 2010. Airborne particles in the urban environment. Elements 6, 229-234.

Guéguen, F., Stille, P., Dietze, V., Gieré, R., 2012. Chemical and isotopic properties and origin of coarse airborne particles collected by passive samplers in industrial, urban, and rural environments. Atmospheric environment, 62, 631-645.

Honda, A., Matsuda, Y., Murayama, R., Tsuji, K., Nishikawa, M., Koike, E., Yoshida, S., Ichinose, T., Takano, H., 2014. Effects of Asian sand dust particles on the respiratory and immune system. Journal of applied toxicology, 34(3), 250-257.

Kim, W., Doh, S. J., Yu, Y., 2012. Asian dust storm as conveyance media of anthropogenic pollutants. Atmospheric Environment, 49, 41-50.

Norra, S., Yu, Y., Dietze, V., Schleicher, N., Fricker, M., Kaminski, U., Chen, Y., Stüben, D. and Cen, K., 2016. Seasonal dynamics of coarse atmospheric particulate matter between 2.5 µm and 80 µm in Beijing and the impact of 2008 Olympic Games. Atmospheric Environment, 124, 109-118.

Reed, S.J.B., 2005. Electron microprobe analysis and scanning electron microscopy in geology. Cambridge University Press.

Schleicher, N., Kramar, U., Norra, S., Dietze, V., Kaminski, U., Cen, K., Yu, Y., 2010. μ-scale variations of elemental composition in individual atmospheric particles by means of synchrotron radiation based μ-XRF analysis. In: Denecke, M., Walter, C., editors. Proceedings of the 20th International Congress on X-ray Optics and Microanalysis, AIP Publishing, 1221, 172-180.

Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., 2012. Efficiency of mitigation measures to reduce particulate air pollution – a case study during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing, China. Science of the Total Environment, 427, 146-158.

Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Dietze, V., Yu, Y., Fricker, M., Kaminski, U., Chen, Y., Cen, K., 2011. The effect of mitigation measures on size distributed mass concentrations of atmospheric particles and black carbon concentrations during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing. Science of the Total Environment, 412, 185-193.

VDI, 2013. VDI 2119 Ambient Air Measurements. Sampling of Atmospheric Particles >2.5 μm on an Acceptor Surface Using the Sigma-2 Passive Sampler. Characterization by Optical Microscopy and Calcualtion of Number Settling Rate and Mass Concentration. ICS: 13.040.01. Beuth Verlag, Berlin.

Wang, S., Zhao, M., Xing, J., Wu, Y., Zhou, Y., Lei, Y., He, K., Fu, L., Hao, J., 2010. Quantifying the air pollutants emission reduction during the 2008 Olympic Games in Beijing. Environmental Science & Technology, 44, 2490-2496.

Wang, X., Westerdahl, D., Chen, L.C., Wu, Y., Hao, J., Pan, X., Guo, X., Zhang, K.M., 2009. Evaluating the air quality impacts of the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games: on-road emission factors and black carbon profiles. Atmospheric Environment, 43, 4535-4543.

Zhang, Z., Jiao, M., Bi, B., Zhao, L., Gao, Q., Guo, J. and Ren, Z., 2009. Analysis of the heavy polluting effects of sand dust weather in Beijing. Research of Environmental Sciences, 22(3), 309-314. [in Chinese, English abstract].

Zhao, X., Zhuang, G., Wang, Z., Sun, Y., Wang, Y. and Yuan, H., 2007. Variation of sources and mixing mechanism of mineral dust with pollution aerosol-revealed by the two peaks of a super dust storm in Beijing. Atmospheric research, 84(3), 265-279.

Zhou, Z. J., Wang, X. W., Niu, R. Y., 2002. Climate characteristics of sandstorm in China in recent 47 years. Journal of Applied Meteorological Science, 13(2), 193-200. [in Chinese, English abstract].

6 Synoptic conclusions

As the capital of China, Beijing, a typical megacity in Asian countries, has been suffering from severe air pollution owing to high loads of aerosol particulates. To improve air quality, series of control measures were implemented by the government. And in order to hold a 'Green' Olympic Games in 2008, the most intensive mitigation measures were put into force in Beijing. With long-term sampling and analyses of atmospheric particulates from 2005 to 2014, this dissertation aims to study the characteristics of the aerosol particulates in Beijing and the effects of the mitigation measures in improving air quality with consideration of meteorological influences.

6.1 Air quality in Beijing

The annual mean concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ from 2005 to 2014 was 65.6 µg/m³ and the annual mean of TSP from 2007 to 2014 was 227 µg/m³. They both exceeded the annual mean standards (level II) for $PM_{2.5}$ and TSP according to the Ambient Air Quality Standard (GB3095-2012) in China and were several times higher than the standards from other countries and World Health Organization (WHO) (Table 6.1). The concentrations of most elements of $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing were higher than the corresponding concentrations in other studies in European or American countries. Of the four elemental concentrations mentioned in the Ambient Air Quality Standard, only As average concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ exceeded the standard (2.5 times), based on nine-year (2005-2013) measured data. Elemental concentrations of Pb, Cd and As in Table 6.1 were measured with the $PM_{2.5}$ samples from 2005 to 2013 from the CUGB site. Since only particulate-bond mercury (HgP) was measured within this study, annual mean (from Dec. 2012 to Dec.2013) of total atmospheric Hg concentration was estimated to 12 ng/m³ according to the mean fraction 2.5% of HgP in total atmospheric Hg in urban area of China (Fu et al., 2015).

During the entire observation period, TSP concentrations did not present an obvious increasing or decreasing trend. Annual mean mass concentrations of $PM_{2.5}$ after 2008 were
lower than those before 2008 but it increased from 2011 to 2013, with the lowest annual mean concentration in 2011.

The main sources of fine particle were categorized and identified by factor analysis according to the element associations: typical anthropogenic sources (i.e. traffic and smelting), geogenic dust, agriculture sources (i.e. fertilizers), coal combustion, steel-related industry, comprehensive combustion emission and diffuse urban pollution. Temporal distributions of different sources were investigated based on the variations of factor scores.

Table 6.1 Annual mean concentrations of pollutants in this study and corresponding air quality standards from different countries and WHO.

	TSP (µg/m³)	PM _{2.5} (μg/m ³)	Pb (ng/m ³)	Cd (ng/m ³)	Hg (ng/m ³)	As (ng/m ³)
This study	227	65.6	145 ^(a)	3 ^(a)	12 ^(b)	15 ^(a)
China Standard	200 (level II)	35 (level II)	500	5	50	6
EU Standard	-	25	500	5	-	6
USA Standard	75	15 (secondary)	150	-	-	-
Australia Standard	-	8	500	-	-	-
WHO AQG	-	10	500 ^(c)	5 ^(c)	-	-

^(a) elemental concentrations measured with the $PM_{2.5}$ samples from 2005 to 2013 from the CUGB site

^(b) estimated annual mean concentration of total atmospheric Hg (from Dec. 2012 to Dec.2013)

^(c) WHO AQG for Europe (WHO, 2000)

Based on the data base collected in this dissertation, the yearly cycle of Beijing air pollution can be characterized as follows: occasional dust or sand dust storms in January or February in winter, firework-related pollution during the Chinese spring festival and the lantern festival, usually in January or February, typical dust or sand dust storms in spring, especially in March and April, biomass burning after harvest season in later summer and autumn, heating activities usually from Mid-November to the following Mid-March in addition to the pollution baseline by traffic, industry production, construction activities and residential emission throughout a whole year.

6.2 Effects evaluation of mitigation measures and meteorological conditions

Precipitation had direct scavenging effects on aerosol particles. For the long-term observation period, precipitation played a significant role in aerosol particle distribution, especially in reducing coarse particles. In the sections 2, 4 and 5, aerosol pollutants during periods with similar precipitation but different mitigation measures were investigated and the effectiveness of these measures on mitigating certain sources were reported and quantified. The slightly reduced precipitation from 2011 to 2013 might be a contributor to the slightly increased $PM_{2.5}$ and TSP concentrations.

PM_{2.5} and BC were responsible for visibility deterioration. High BC concentrations were usually associated with low wind speed of northeastern or southwestern winds. Temperature had an indirect effect on aerosol distribution, as the heating activity mainly using coal occurred with low temperature in winter and led to high aerosol load. Wind condition affected aerosol distribution by re-suspending local dust or introducing aerosol pollution from the surrounding areas. Wind from the north and the northwest with high wind velocity carrying dust triggered sand dust or dust storms, especially in spring. Year-by-year variations of temperature and wind conditions were similar from the ten-year observation and played a minor role in aerosol distribution.

With long-term sampling and analyses of atmospheric particulates from 2005 to 2014, effects of mitigation measures were evaluated according to the concentration variations of pollutants in the sections 2, 4 and 5. The year 2008 was a milestone for air quality improvement during the ten years. Concentrations of pollutants during periods before and after 2008 were used for comparison (Table 6.2). When evaluating the differences before and after 2008, the meteorological conditions should be considered as well.

Concentrations of traffic-related elements, such as Pb, Sb and Sn, varied with the strictness of traffic restriction measures. The pollution level was inversely correlated with the intensity of the measures. The introduction of license plate lottery policy for car registration since the beginning of 2011 in Beijing led to the largest annual growth during the ten years of total amount of vehicles from 2009 to 2010. This was considered as a contributor to the relatively high concentrations of traffic-related elements in 2010 compared to 2009, especially in summer time when other sources for these elements played a minor role. August 2007 had similar precipitation to August 2008. Concentrations of Sn, Sb and Pb in August 2008 were reduced by 53%, 50% and 59% respectively with the most intensive traffic restrictions, compared to concentrations in August 2007 without any restrictions.

		Data periods	Years before 2008	Years after 2008	Redu ction	Augusts Before 2008	Augusts After 2008	Redu ction
PM _{2.5} mass concentr (μg/m ³)	ration	2005- 2014	71.7	60.3	16%	54.3	47.2	13%
TSP mass concentra (µg/m ³)	tion	2008- 2014	-	226	-	-	176	-
Coarse particles mass concentration ($\mu g/m^3$)		2005- 2012	216	173	20%	130	105	19%
Toxic heavy metal	ic heavy metal Pb	2005-	165	138	16%	130	102	22%
Sb) in PM _{2.5} (ng/m ³)	Sb	2013	11.4	7.92	30%	9.80	5.92	40%
BC (µg/m³)		2005- 2013	5.44	3.75	31%	4.47	3.07	31%
HgP (pg/m ³) ^(a)		2005- 2013	300	182	39%	86.3	67.1	22%
Ga (ng/m³)		2005- 2013	4.80	3.05	37%	2.30	1.13	51%

Table 6.2 Concentrations of pollutants and variations in Beijing aerosols.

 $^{(a)}$ annual mean concentrations according to the average of $PM_{2.5}$ samples in January and August each year from 2005 to 2013 from the CUGB site

Chromium (Cr), Co and Ni were used to evaluate the influence of the relocation of the Capital Steel Company. Annual mean concentrations of Cr, Co, Ni decreased in 2010 compared to those in 2008 if only three-year measured data were analyzed. However, from the view of nine-year (2005-2013) data, the decrease in Cr, Co and Ni between 2008 and 2010 did not continue but reversed slightly between 2011 and 2013, which was attributed to the nearby relocation with the recovery of production.

BC mass accounted for 7% of PM_{2.5} mass on average. Temporal distribution of black carbon (BC) showed a distinct declining trend from 2005 to 2013, which was well correlated to the declining consumption of coal and coke. Gallium (Ga) was recommended as a tracer for heating-activities mainly using coal for the first time, due to its strong correlation with BC and coal consumption, as well as its concentration variation between the heating- and non-heating periods. From a long-term perspective, particulate mercury (HgP) concentration fell even with increasing total energy consumption and growing total vehicle number. The strong correlations between HgP and BC/Ga in winter, together with the success of energy structure transformation on reducing BC/Ga suggested the effectiveness of this transformation on HgP emission control. For BC and Ga (in PM_{2.5}), concentrations in August 2008 were reduced by 48% and 30% respectively with the most intensive mitigation measures, compared to concentrations in August 2007 with similar precipitation.

Mass concentrations of different size fractions of coarse particles (2.5-80 μ m) all showed slightly decreasing trends from 2005 to 2012. Precipitation was an important contributor for this. Most of the peaks correlated to the sand dust or dust storms. The highest peaks for mass concentrations of all size fractions were observed with the most intensive sand-dust days in spring 2006 due to global climate change caused by El Niño. The Olympic Games period displayed lower concentrations than the rest of the sampling time, demonstrating the effectiveness of mitigation measures on reducing coarse particles. The diverse size distribution patterns during different pollution days provide reference information for the enactment of mitigation measures on aerosol particles.

During the observation periods, aerosol pollution was controlled in Beijing even with increasing total energy consumption and growing total vehicle number. Pollution peaks before implementation of the corresponding measures were observed as well. Effective governmental mitigation measures for specific sources (e.g. traffic restriction measures) and macro intervention measures (e.g. energy structure transformation) are recommended to be continued and improved in order to obtain more "blue sky" days in the future. One the one hand, industry relocation is not recommended as a long-term effective measure to mitigate air pollution, but on the other hand the concurrent improved emission standards are considered promising. For both environmental sustainability and human health, aerosol pollution is a crucial issue to be mitigated in Beijing and more efforts are required for better air quality.

6.3 Estimation for effects of aerosol pollution on human health

Risk estimates for effects of long-term exposure to particulate matter on the mortality associated with a 10 μ g/m³ increase in the concentration of PM_{2.5} were 1.14 and 1.07, according to Dockery et al. (1993) and Pope et al. (1995). The average risk estimate 1.105 was used for estimation in this study. For the annual mean 65.6 μ g/m³ of PM_{2.5} concentration, 1.73 times mortality due to PM_{2.5} pollution was estimated in Beijing compared to the areas where meet the WHO standard.

The estimation method of WHO was used to assess the morbidity effects due to long-term exposure to air pollution. The effect on children bronchitis symptoms was estimated as an example. According to WHO (2000), assuming that 20% of one million population are children, a baseline prevalence of 5% among children are assumed to have bronchitis symptoms. Then 3,350 additional children were estimated to be affected per year with a 10 μ g/m³ increase in PM_{2.5} concentration above a background level of 10 μ g/m³ (WHO, 2000). Based on this estimation precondition, from 2009 to 2014, in total 335,000 children per year were assessed to be affected by bronchitis for the 20-million population in Beijing (average after 2008) due to the annual mean 60 μ g/m³ of PM_{2.5} concentration after 2008 in

Beijing. Compared to the years before 2008 (2005-2007) with a 16-million average population, 13,600 children per year were exempted from bronchitis symptoms due to 10 μ g/m³ reduction of annual PM_{2.5} concentration after 2008.

The effects of unmeasured risk factors cannot be excluded with certainty and the regional differences such as population density and health situation, should be considered in the future work.

6.4 Outlook

Because governmental mitigation measures were enforced to reduce the adverse effects of air pollution on environment and human health, this dissertation focused on sampling aerosol particles in Beijing. Non-elemental indicators such as gas pollutants were not included in this study and thus emissions from industry could not be separated from traffic-related emissions. This resulted in uncertainty when evaluating the effects of specific mitigation measures such as traffic restrictions and industry relocation. For further work, gas pollutants data and aerosol particulates data can be combined for comprehensive study on air pollution in Beijing.

Aerosol pollution in a small scale can be affected by regional synoptic conditions and even by global climate change. Within this study, sand-dust weather in Beijing could be triggered by both regional meteorological condition and global climate change. Further study about synoptic conditions can help to interpret the influence of global climate change on regional aerosol distributions.

The effects of toxic elements in aerosol particles on human health could be estimated based on the long-term observation data of pollutants within this study together with more epidemiological data. More accurate risk-estimates could be carried out for effects of long-term exposure to particulate matters on the local morbidity and mortality.

This study is a first step towards the long-term systematical research for effects of mitigation measures on aerosol pollution with consideration of meteorological influences.

For further research, an integrated aerosol-climate-human health program could enable efficient decisions on pollution mitigation measures.

References

Pope III, C. A., Thun, M. J., Namboodiri, M. M., Dockery, D. W., Evans, J. S., Speizer, F. E., Heath Jr, C. W., 1995. Particulate air pollution as a predictor of mortality in a prospective study of US adults. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 151, 669-674.

Dockery, D. W., Pope, C. A., Xu, X., Spengler, J. D., Ware, J. H., Fay, M. E., Ferris, B. G., Speizer, F. E., 1993. An association between air pollution and mortality in six US cities. New England journal of medicine, 329, 1753-1759.

Fu, X. W., Zhang, H., Yu, B., Wang, X., Lin, C. J., Feng, X. B., 2015. Observations of atmospheric mercury in China: a critical review. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 15, 9455-9476.

World Health Organization (WHO), 2000. Air quality guidelines for Europe.

Appendix

A —Full papers of first author scientific publications

A.1 The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing

Science of the Total Environment 490 (2014) 647-658

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of PM_{2.5} in Beijing



CrossMark

Yuan Chen ^{a,*}, Nina Schleicher ^a, Yizhen Chen ^b, Fahe Chai ^b, Stefan Norra ^{a,c}

^a Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131, Karlsruhe, Germany

^b Institute of Urban and Regional Atmospheric Sciences, Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences, 100012, Beijing, China

^c Institute of Geography and Geoecology, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131, Karlsruhe, Germany

HIGHLIGHTS

• The influence of governmental mitigation measures on PM2.5 was investigated.

• Source apportionment of PM_{2.5} was analyzed by principle component analysis.

· Concentrations of traffic-related elements varied with the restiveness of measures.

• Steel-related elements were reduced after relocation of the Capital Steel Company.

• Pollution peaks before implementation of the respective measures were observed.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 March 2014 Received in revised form 8 May 2014 Accepted 13 May 2014 Available online xxxx

Editor: Xuexi Tie

Keywords: Urban aerosol PM_{2.5} Chemical composition Source apportionment Temporal distribution Megacity

ABSTRACT

Beijing, the capital of China, has become one of the most air-polluted cities due to its rapid economic growth. Weekly $PM_{2.5}$ samples—collected continuously from 2007 to 2010—were used to study the contamination characteristics of atmospheric particles and effects of governmental mitigation measures especially since the 2008 Summer Olympic Games. $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentrations during the sampling period were reduced compared to the previous studies before 2005, although they were still too high in comparison with environmental standards of China and many other countries as well as WHO standards. Results of principle component analysis show that elements of primary anthropogenic origin had an obvious decline while elements mainly from the natural environment kept a relatively stable course. The governmental macro-control measures influenced both anthropogenic and geogenic sources, but they also led to some pollution peaks prior to implementation of the respective measures. Some element concentrations correlated to the restrictiveness of relative measures, especially during different traffic restrictions. The comparison with other countries and international standards shows that there is a long way to go in order to improve air quality in Beijing, and that governmental mitigation measures need to be continued and reinforced.

© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

With the rapid industrialization and motorization of the world, air pollution has become one of the greatest environmental concerns of both, the public and scientists (Schleicher et al., 2011a; Sun et al., 2004). Fine particles in particular, as in aerosols with an aerodynamic diameter smaller than 2.5 μ m (PM_{2.5}), are responsible for adverse effect on human's health, like deterioration of the pulmonary and respiratory system (e.g. Dockery and Pope, 1994; Schwartz et al., 1996). These problems cumulate worldwide in many cities, especially of the

E-mail address: yuan.chen@kit.edu (Y. Chen).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.049 0048-9697/© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. developing world, where governance is often overstrained by the economic development. Consequently, severe air pollution is reported from many megacities worldwide, such as Mexico City, Sao Paulo, Cairo, Lagos, Istanbul, Bombay, Dhaka, Shanghai, or Chongqing. Large cities in so-called developed countries, such as New York, Rome or Tokyo, are affected by air pollution problems as well. Two smog types are named after western cities: London and Los Angeles. Thus, the world's urbanization increasingly affects substance fluxes of the atmosphere and of other spheres such as the pedosphere, hydrosphere and the biosphere. The sustainable control of element and substance fluxes of the astysphere (Norra, 2009), which is the sphere of the global network of urban systems within the anthroposhere (Baccini and Brunner, 1991), is crucial for the future of the environmental conditions human beings live in. Having faced environmental issues, air pollution problems in particular, developed countries are pioneering in

^{*} Corresponding author at: Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Adenauerring 20b, Geb. 50.40, 76131, Karlsruhe, Germany. Tel.: +49 721 608 47356; fax: +49 721 608 47247.

mitigation measures against air pollution. The adaptability and transfer of those measures but also the development of local air cleaning approaches are of great importance for decision makers in the field of urban development in the developing countries.

During the last decades China, the country that comprises most megacities worldwide, increasingly developed its economy with the typical negative effects on air quality. In consequence, China is struggling with the competition between industrial development and reduction of air pollution. One of the largest cities in China is the capital Beijing, which is encountering severe air contamination that poses a huge threat to the health of its more than 19 million inhabitants (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2012). The 2008 Olympic Games in Beijing have been a landmark for developing methods for reducing air pollution in China.

To achieve abatement of air pollution for the Olympic Games, the Beijing Municipal Government took measures to control pollutant emission. These mitigation measures covered industry, traffic, construction, and afforestation (Chen et al., 2013; Schleicher et al., 2011a, 2012; Wang et al., 2009, 2010). Up to now, some of these measures such as the traffic restriction measures are still ongoing and their effects on improving air quality have been considered a hot spot of aerosol study. Therefore, this study will focus on the efficiency of the implemented measures during but also after the Olympic Games period.

Several studies reported air quality improvements during the Olympic Games in Beijing. For example, Wang and Xie (2009) estimated the on-road concentrations of PM₁₀, CO, NO₂ and O₃ before and during the Olympic Games by Operational Street Pollution Model and proved the air quality improvement. Schleicher et al. (2011a) showed that mass concentrations of particles of different size classes within the coarse mode (2.5 to 80 µm) during this period were lower than before and later, and that the coarse particles were reduced more efficiently than the fine ones. A study by Li et al. (2012) reported that pollution levels of trace elements and water-soluble ions in aerosols declined strongly during the Olympic Games. Okuda et al. (2011) compared chemical compositions of TSP and PM_{2.5} between the period during the Olympic Games and the same periods in the prior three years 2005-2007 to assess the sustainable effectiveness of the governmental mitigation measures. Schleicher et al. (2012) showed that elements predominantly from anthropogenic sources, such as S, Cu, As, Cd, or Pb were reduced by 50 to 70% during the Olympic Games, whereas elements mainly from geogenic sources, such as Fe, Rb, and Sr were reduced by only 30 to 50%.

Most of the mentioned studies assessing the success of emission reduction measures in Beijing are mainly based on selected short periods and their inter comparisons. In this study, however, mass concentration, element concentration and their correlations with the governmental mitigation policies are discussed based on long term sampling and measurement over several years before and after the Olympic Games, which can be used for evaluation of mitigation measures, for long-term aerosol studies, and for governmental policymaking. Results of this study demonstrate the success of this big experiment of reduction measures carried out by the government but also show that further improvement of Beijing's air quality still requires much effort.

2. Experimental

2.1. Study area and sampling procedure

Beijing, located at the northwestern border of the North China Plain, is surrounded clockwise by mountain ridges from the southwest to the northeast. Generally, westerly wind and the Asian monsoon that provides warm humid southeast wind in summer and cold dry northwest wind in winter dominate the large-scale wind system of this region (Okuda et al., 2008). This typical U-shape terrain surrounding Beijing City provides the possibility to trap the aerosol particles from the south and southeast in the city and can result in poor air quality under stagnant conditions with weak wind (Zhang et al., 2012). The main traffic network of Beijing is constituted by the main ring roads ($2^{nd}-6^{th}$ ring roads) with additional streets and expressways (like G1) connecting to neighboring provinces (Fig. 1).

The sampling site is set up on the roof of the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES) at a height of about 20 m. This CRAES site is located between the 5th and the 6th ring roads. A Mini-Volume Sampler at a flow rate of 200 L/h is used to collect weekly PM_{2.5} samples on quartz fiber filters (Whatman Inc., Maidstone, UK). During the Olympic Games, samples with higher time-resolution (12-hourly samples) were collected in August and September 2008. Detailed results of that intensive campaign are reported in Schleicher et al. (2012). This study analyzed the samples from Sep. 30th, 2007 to Jan. 4th, 2011. For the 171 weeks during the studied period, 158 valid weekly samples were collected, accounting for 92% of all samples. Here, higher time-resolution samples in one week during the 2008 Olympic Games were calculated as weekly mean.

2.2. Mass concentration analysis

Filters were acclimatized and stored in the laboratory for at least 48 h under the same conditions before and after sampling. They were weighed for at least three times with a microbalance (Sartorius SE 2-F, Göttingen, Germany) at a constant temperature (22 ± 3 °C) and relative humidity ($40 \pm 2\%$) before and after sampling, respectively. Accuracy control was implemented by blank filters, which were also sent to Beijing but sent back to Germany unused for analysis. The increased or decreased mass on blank filters was subtracted from the mass of loaded samples to improve the accuracy of the loaded mass. The gravimetric analysis was carried out at the Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (IMG-KIT), Germany.

2.3. Chemical element analysis

For element concentration analysis, one quarter of each filter sample was cut out, weighed and digested with concentrated HNO₃, HF and HClO₄ (Merck, suprapur) in Teflon vessels. The samples were diluted twice with HNO₃ (1%) and analyzed by a high-resolution inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (HR-ICP-MS, Axiom, VG Elemental). Blank solution and blank samples were determined to provide good analytical accuracy. All samples were measured three times and mean values were taken as analytical results. Methodological blank values of the blank samples were subtracted from analytical results of PM_{2.5} samples. Additionally, standard reference material SRM 1648 (urban particulate matter) and GXR 2 (soil sample) from the National Institute of Standards & Technology (NIST, USA) were analyzed to control analytical quality. Element concentrations of standard materials were generally within \pm 10% of the certified values. All analyses were performed at the IMG-KIT. A more detailed description of the analytical procedures and can be found in previous studies of the same project (Schleicher et al., 2011b, 2012; Yu et al., 2011).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Mass concentration evaluation

The weekly mass concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ during the period studied ranged from 22.5 µg/m³ to 226 µg/m³ with an average of 86.1 µg/m³. In this study, annual means of $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration from 2008 to 2010 were 88.7, 80.5, and 80.9 µg/m³, respectively.

Since the 1990s, more and more studies have been published about $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration in Beijing: 136 µg/m³ from one week of daily sampling in June 1999 (Bergin et al., 2001), an annual mean of 125 µg/m³ from weekly sampling in 1999–2000 (Yang et al., 2005), 102 µg/m³ from weekly sampling in 2001–2002 (Duan et al., 2006), 106 µg/m³ at Beijing Normal University site from daily



Fig. 1. Sampling site CRAES and the main traffic network of Beijing urban area, including 2nd-6th ring roads (Source of the map: OpenStreetMap).

sampling in winter and summer seasons in 2002 and 2003 (Sun et al., 2004), 104 μ g/m³ at five sites crossing the whole Beijing City in 2004 (Yu et al., 2009), 91.5 μ g/m³ at five sites in 2006 (Schleicher et al., 2010), and annual means of 86.5, 93.5 and 84.4 μ g/m³ from hourly averages from 2005 to 2007 (Zhao et al., 2009). From a time perspective, average mass concentration of PM_{2.5} was higher than 100 μ g/m³ before 2005, and dropped to around 80 μ g/m³ in 2010.

However, the $PM_{2.5}$ pollution level in Beijing is still too high compared to the World Health Organization's (WHO) annual mean threshold for $PM_{2.5}$ (10 µg/m³) (WHO, 2006) and other annual mean standards from Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in the United States of America (USA) (15 µg/m³) (EPA-USA, 2013), European Union (EU) (25 µg/m³) (EU, 2008) and Australia (8 µg/m³) (DEH-Australia, 2004). At the beginning of 2012, a new Ambient Air Quality Standard (GB3095-2012) was published by the Ministry of Environmental Protection (MEP) of China, which established a standard for $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration of 35 µg/m³ for the annual mean and of 75 µg/m³ for the 24-hour-mean (level II) (MEP-China, 2012). The annual PM_{2.5} mass concentration in this study was 2.5 times higher than this new standard. Particle concentrations that significantly exceeded standards revealed the pollution severity of fine particles in Beijing and the necessity of macro-control by the government.

3.2. Source apportionment for PM_{2.5} and variation of sources

3.2.1. Enrichment factors (EFs)

The enrichment factor of a certain element is defined as the ratio of the element concentration in the sampled particles compared to that in

the upper continental crust (ucc) of the earth. Anthropogenic pollutants
in aerosols can be assessed by means of enrichment factors (EFs). As Ti is
very stable in the process of transportation and mainly originates from

Table 1

Element concentrations (ug/g) and enrichment factors.

	Ν	Mean	Stdev	EF _{Ti} (ucc)
Al	157	23800	14300	1
Sc	158	3.50	2.43	1
Y	156	8.29	5.64	1
Ti	158	1240	747	1
Fe	158	17500	9180	1
Sr	158	225	155	2
V	158	43.5	21.4	2
Mg	153	10300	6170	2
K	158	22000	11500	2
Na	146	26300	37600	2
Со	158	11.8	11.9	3
Ca	155	37500	25500	3
Li	158	30.4	15.4	4
Mn	158	976	643	4
Ni	153	65.5	55.4	8
Cr	158	136	117	10
Р	145	6880	13300	20
Sn	158	114	138	50
Cu	158	574	433	56
Zn	158	4940	3600	168
Pb	158	1710	996	207
As	158	176	175	285
Cd	153	59.0	150	1460
Sb	152	155	106	1880

Y. Chen et al. / Science of the Total Environment 490 (2014) 647-658

the crust (Duan et al., 2006), it was selected as the reference element in this study (Eq. (1)). Here, the average values of element concentrations of all samples are compared to element concentrations in the upper crust as given by Taylor and McClennan (1985) with the exception of the concentration of P, which is taken from Yaroshevsky (2006).

$$EF_{Ti(ucc)} = (Element/Ti)_{particles}/(Element/Ti)_{ucc}$$
 (1)

(according to Zoller et al., 1974)

The average concentrations of all determined elements together with their EFs are shown in Table 1. The elements are arranged in order of their EFs and can, therefore, be more easily separated into groups with similar EFs. Generally, elements with small EFs < 5 (like Sc, Y and Ti) predominately originate from the upper continental crust while elements with relatively high EFs > 50 (like Pb, As, and Sb) dominantly originate from anthropogenic pollution.

3.2.2. Factor analysis

Factor analysis was performed to identify the main sources of fine particles using the software package STATISTICA 8.0 (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, USA). Five factors with eigenvalues larger than 1 were extracted by principle component analysis (PCA) applying varimax standardized rotation (Fig. 2). These five extracted factors accounted for 88% of the total explained variance. Factor scores of each sample were calculated to present the proportions of the factors to reveal the major aerosol sources along the time period of investigation.

Factor 1 has high factor loadings for Ti, Sc, Y, Fe, V, Al, Ca, Mg, Li, Mn and MC ($PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration) in order of decreasing factor loadings, explaining 35% of the variance (Fig. 2). Most of these elements have EFs around 1, while some elements like Ca, Li and Mn have only slightly higher EFs between 2 and 4. These elements are generally considered to be of geogenic origin. Construction activities and resuspended dust form local sources also could contribute to these elements. Moreover, the mass concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ is included in this factor, which means that the geogenic material is the largest constituent of mass in aerosol particles.

The factor scores show some variation over the time period with maximum values up to more than two (Fig. 3). These high factor scores usually come up with dust days, and the peaks correlate with sand dust storms, such as the sand dust storms in the 11th and 12th weeks in March 2008, 2009 and 2010 with extremely high $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration of 206, 226 µg/m³ (2008), 123, 143 µg/m³ (2009), and 212, 117 µg/m³ (2010), respectively (Fig. 4). Some peaks in winter occur due to sand dust storms with strong wind, for example, during the 52nd week in December 2009 with a mass concentration of 211 µg/m³ (Fig. 4).

Factor 2 is strongly correlated with Sb, Pb, Sn, As, Cs, Zn, Cu and Cd, accounting for 24% of the total variance (Fig. 2), and covers all the elements with EFs larger than 50. Cs with EF of 9 in natural environments comes from the geogenic dust and rock weathering. Its EF is much higher than EFs of elements of crustal origin which are aggregated in Factor 1, suggesting that for Cs, anthropogenic sources are more dominant than geogenic sources for PM_{2.5}. The dominating anthropogenic sources of Cs are catalyst and nuclear leakage accidents (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). Since there was no nuclear leakage accident reported during the sampling period, the catalyst usage might be the main releasing mode of Cs into aerosol. Antimony, Pb, and Zn were recommended as markers of motor vehicle emissions (Huang et al., 1994; Wongphatarakul et al., 1998). Wearing of tires and brakes also contributes to the load of Sb, Sn, Zn and Cu in aerosol particles (Cyrys et al., 2003; Sternbeck et al., 2002; Wåhlin et al., 2006). Cadmium could come from both of these two sources (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). The local pollution level of As in aerosols is predominately associated with smelters, local traffic, coal combustion, and insecticide (Hedberg et al., 2005; Wang and Mulligan, 2006). Schleicher et al. (2011b) showed that coal combustion is an important source in Beijing especially for Cd, As, and Pb concentrations. The six elements of this factor could also originate from industrial sources including metallurgical activities, incineration, and material abrasion and so on. Therefore, this factor could be interpreted to represent anthropogenic pollution, mainly traffic and industry pollution including coal combustion. However, emissions from industry could not be separated from traffic-related



Fig. 2. Factor loadings of 5 extracted factors of all elements and mass concentration (MC) (using principal component analysis, varimax standardized rotation, 119 samples).



Fig. 3. Factor scores of each of the 5 factors of every sample (5 per moving average was calculated by the formula: $ACW_{(n)} = (CW_{(n-4)} + CW_{(n-3)} + CW_{(n-2)} + CW_{(n-1)} + CW_{(n)})/5$; $ACW_{(n)}$: 5 per moving average of aerosol concentration of calendar week *n*, $CW_{(n)}$: mean aerosol concentration of week *n*).

emissions because there is no non-elemental indicator included in this Factor (Vallius et al., 2005).

Factor scores for this factor show a decreasing trend for the whole sampling period (Fig. 3), proving the declining human contamination level under pollution-controlling policies by the municipal government. Despite this trend, however, factor scores significantly increase in Factor 2 (Fig. 3) one or two weeks before the central heating, which is supplied mainly by coal combustion.

Sodium and P show high positive loadings (both 0.95) in Factor 3 (Fig. 2) and explain 10% of the total variance. Mass concentration has small factor loadings in this factor and, thus, shows only little correlation with these elements. Phosphorus is widely used in fertilizers and, thus, agricultural areas around Beijing might contribute to this element association. But chemical industry is also a possible anthropogenic source for P (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). Firework displays might be a short-term source for P (Moreno et al., 2010). Also Na is often



Fig. 4. Weekly element concentrations and PM_{2.5} mass concentration at site CRAES under different traffic restriction policies during the observation period (Sp.: spring, Su.: summer, Au.: autumn, Wi.: winter).

associated with fertilizers (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). Other sources for Na are sea spray as a natural source and waste water as an anthropogenic one (Reimann and Caritat, 1998).

There are two periods with high factor scores during the whole sampling time (Fig. 3) while other factor scores are relatively stable. One appears during the Olympic Games 2008, and the other one is found from August 2009 to February 2010. These two periods imply that there is a certain pollution source or pollution point for each period. They might come from two nearby sewage treatment plants (Reimann and Caritat, 1998), Qinghe Sewage Treatment Plant and Beixiaohe Sewage Treatment Plant which are respectively located in the west and east of the sampling site. Therefore, more detailed research is necessary to analyze impacts of these two sewage treatment plants on PM_{2.5}.

Cobalt, Ni and Cr are the dominating elements in Factor 4 (Fig. 2), and also explain 10% of the total variance. The main pathways of these three elements to the atmosphere are primarily fossil fuel (oil and coal) combustion and steel works (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). Aggregations of these elements fall into the fine particles' fraction rather than into the coarse particles' fraction and have been found to go deep into people's lungs causing respiratory tract damage (ATSDR, 1997). They can originate from other anthropogenic sources such as waste incineration, as well as geogenic sources. Due to heating activities mainly using coal in Beijing, some high factor scores with high element concentrations show up in winter while small factor scores appear in spring when the geogenic sources prevail (Fig. 3). Manganese is not included in this factor but has relatively high factor loadings which

indicate combustion sources. Therefore, this factor can be explained by anthropogenic sources from combustion and steel works.

Factor 5 is dominated by high loadings for K and Sr (Fig. 2), explaining 9% of the total variance. Their possible sources are mainly from weathering, geogenic dust and sea spray. The course of factor scores for this factor is stable over the whole sampling period (Fig. 3), meaning that the sources of these two elements are relatively settled. Potassium mainly comes from the weathering of granitic rock which is one of the main rock types in Beijing (Yu et al., 2011) and chrysanthemum stone in Western Hills of Beijing is rich in strontium (celestite, SrSO₄); therefore, the local rock weathering could be an important source for this factor.

From the end of October 2009 to the beginning of February 2010, Factor 1, Factor 2, Factor 3 and Factor 4 all present high factor scores, except for Factor 5 (Fig. 3). During this period, the sand dust or dust with strong wind mainly contributes to the high scores of Factor 1; the heating supply, industries and traffic are the dominated contributors for the high scores of the other 3 factors.

3.3. Variation of specific element concentrations and influence of governmental mitigation measures

Specific elements can serve as fingerprints for different sources of fine particles. Therefore their pollution characteristics and variation were analyzed to understand the influence of different governmental mitigation measures on different sources of PM_{2.5}. In the following, especially the traffic mitigation measures and their efficiency will be discussed.

3.3.1. Influence of traffic mitigation measures

Elements like Pb, Sb, Sn, As and Zn which were grouped in Factor 2 (Section 3.2.2) with EFs higher than 50 (Table 1), are usually used to serve as tracers for traffic sources of fine particles (Cyrys et al., 2003; Huang et al., 1994; Sternbeck et al., 2002; Wåhlin et al., 2006; Wongphatarakul et al., 1998). Fig. 4 shows weekly averages of the respective element concentrations, PM_{2.5} mass concentration and precipitation with different traffic restriction policies made by the government over the observation period. Obviously, precipitation is an important way of washing out particles and, therefore, the reduction by wet deposition and the reduction due to the mitigation measures need to be distinguished. Traffic restriction measures included: (1) improving emission standards so vehicles not meeting the European Euro I standard for exhaust emissions were banned from the roads (Wang et al., 2010), (2) odd-even restriction measure which means private vehicles could only operate on odd or even days according to the last digit of their license plates, and (3) 1/5 restriction measures on weekdays, which were implemented depending on the last digit of license plates (for example vehicles with the last digit 1 or 6 are banned from roads on Monday and vehicles with the last digit 2 or 7 are banned from roads on Tuesday).

Element concentrations started decreasing after the government improved emission standards which were implemented from July 1st, 2008 for vehicles. For all these traffic-related elements, the lowest concentrations occurred during the 29th Olympic Games in August and September 2008 when the "odd–even restriction measure" was employed, which cut down about half of the motor vehicles every day. Precipitation during this period is another reason for the strong particle reduction. However, when comparing two periods of similar precipitation, June to July 2009 with August to September 2008, element concentrations were lower in August and September 2008. This indicates that the intensive policies during the Olympic Games did play a significant role in mitigating the pollution.

After the "odd–even restriction measure" during the Olympic Games, there was a short pause without any traffic restriction measures from September 20th to October 10th, 2008 (three sampling weeks, week number 39-41/08). In comparison with the previous three weeks (week number 36-38/08 during the Olympic Games with

"odd–even restriction measure"), the average concentrations of the investigated five traffic-related elements in these three weeks ascended by 126% (Pb), 302% (Sb), 143% (Sn), 103% (As), and 13% (Zn), respectively, due to the pause with an increase of 16% of $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration (Fig. 4).

Then from October 10th, 2008 to April 10th, 2009, the "1/5 restriction measure" (including the 5th ring road) followed, which cut down around 1/5 of private cars from roads and was implemented only during weekdays to mitigate traffic jams. Compared to element concentrations during the same period from 2007 to 2008 without traffic restriction measures, $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration was only reduced by 2% while element concentrations were reduced by 27% (Pb), 50% (Sb), 25% (Sn), 28% (As), and 37% (Zn) respectively (Fig. 4). From April 10th, 2009 to the end of the observation period, the "1/5 restriction measure" was performed on weekdays but did not include the 5th ring road anymore. As the sampling site was near to the 5th ring road, this policy might have been a reason for the slightly higher concentrations of both, $PM_{2.5}$ mass and traffic-related elements Pb and Sb in 2010 than those in 2009, which increased by 1%, 11% and 8%, respectively.

In 2010, the government published a new policy which took effect in January 2011 to limit the amount of private vehicles: a lottery drawing policy for car license plates. Residents can purchase cars but need to apply for license plates via lottery. The resulting pre-2011 rush on cars with license plates in 2010 led to a sharp increase in the amount of vehicles, exceeding 4.8 million at the end of 2010 in Beijing (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2012). This might also have contributed to the relatively high Pb and Sb concentrations in 2010 compared to 2009. The same trend can be seen for As and Sn during summer time, when traffic is their major emitter and less energy has to be produced for heating purposes than during winter time. The annual mean and summer mean concentration of Zn was slightly lower in 2010 than that in 2009 since it also originates from combustion and other industrial sources including metallurgical activities, incineration, and material abrasion (Reimann and Caritat, 1998; Schleicher et al., 2011b).

Although the pollution level for some elements (Pb and Sb) was slightly higher in 2010 than in 2009, compared to the period before Olympic Games, the pollution of traffic-related elements was mitigated by the traffic restriction policies. Average concentrations of Pb, Sb, Sn, As and Zn in October, November and December in 2007 were reduced by 53%, 47%, 53%, 55% and 56% during this period in 2010.

In general, the pollution of these toxic elements varied with the strength of traffic restriction measures, and stricter measures brought in less pollution. This demonstrated the significance and effectiveness of the traffic restriction measures. However, peaks of element concentrations during winter time due to heating energy production by coal combustion are still an issue.

3.3.2. Influence of relocating project of the Capital Steel Company

The Capital Steel Company was one of the biggest steel companies in North China. Step by step, it was moved out of Beijing and relocated to the southeast of Beijing in Hebei Province near to Beijing.

Kuang et al. (2004) already documented the environmental impact of this steel plant. For metal processing industry, especially steelrelated work, it is recommended to use fingerprinting on the indicator elements Co, Ni and Cr (Kuang et al., 2004; Nath et al., 2007; Schleicher et al., 2012). These three elements were grouped in Factor 4 by factor analysis (Section 3.2.2) and were used for evaluation of the relocating project of the Capital Steel Company.

Fig. 5 shows the weekly element concentrations. Since the capacity of the Capital Steel Company was reduced gradually from 2007, pollution levels dropped since then. In 2010, the relocation project was completed and the annual means of Co, Ni and Cr concentrations in 2010 reached their minimum (Chen et al., 2013). Compared to the concentrations in 2008, the annual means of Co, Ni and Cr concentrations in 2010 were reduced by 47%, 24% and 57% respectively. However, precipitation (Fig. 4) is an assignable impact factor as well. As the



Fig. 5. Weekly concentrations of Ni, Co and Cr with PM_{2.5} mass concentration over the observation period.

concentrations during the Olympic Games with strict traffic restriction measures were not the minimum values, this means that traffic was not their main source. In conclusion, relocation significance was shown toward reducing fine particle pollution, in particular concerning elements related to combustion and steel industry. 3.3.3. Elements from predominately geogenic sources

While success was demonstrated on reducing elements from special anthropogenic sources during the sampling period, how about the elements that dominantly originate from geogenic sources? According to the findings of factor analysis (Section 3.2.2), Ti, Sc, Y, V and Mg



Fig. 6. Weekly concentrations of typical geogenic elements with PM_{2.5} mass concentration during the observation period.

with EFs around 1 (Table 1), were selected as geogenic tracers to observe the variation of geogenic sources during the whole sampling period. Fig. 6 shows that the concentration peaks of these elements usually coincided with sand dust storms or dust days in spring and winter while the low concentrations occurred in summer with precipitation (Fig. 4). With increased planting and afforestation to control local dust and sand dust storms, the number of days with sand dust or sand dust storms showed a decreasing trend since the 1950s but only on a long term time sequence (An and Liu, 2004; Zhou et al., 2002) whereas year-to-year variations were not stable. The annual means of the five elements did not decrease like the concentrations of anthropogenic elements. In the three sampling years, they stayed in a relatively stable range with average means of $131 \pm 1.69 \text{ ng/m}^3$ (Ti), $0.38 \pm 0.03 \text{ ng/m}^3$ (Sc), $0.79 \pm 0.07 \text{ ng/m}^3$ (Y), $4.44 \pm 0.18 \text{ ng/m}^3$ (V), and $969 \pm 99.3 \text{ ng/m}^3$ (Mg), respectively.

Since the government asked for suspension of construction activities during the Olympic Games, most of the construction sites were in operation day and night in order to finish certain goals before the Olympic Games. Therefore there was an increase in concentrations of geogenic elements like Mg related to construction activities in the summer shortly before the Olympic Games (week number 22–31/08) (Fig. 6), except for the days with much precipitation, which washed out aerosol particles.

In general, geogenic element concentrations did not show an obviously decreasing trend over the observation period with the mitigation measures. The suspension policy for construction activities for the Olympic Games even exacerbated the pollution situation of elements mainly from geogenic sources. Therefore, natural sources of fine particles, especially sand dust storms and local construction activities are still of major concern for the government.

3.4. The international context

To investigate the differences of aerosol pollution between Beijing and other cities and countries, studies about PM_{2.5} mass concentration and chemical element composition are summarized in Table 2. However, to find identical sampling periods and techniques for each city during previous research was not feasible due to practical considerations and differences between cities from different countries with distinct development and government backgrounds.

Compared to other studies before 2007 in Beijing (Duan et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2004), concentrations of typical geogenic elements like Mg, Al, Ca and Ti in this study increased to some extent while concentrations of typical anthropogenic elements including combustion & steel-related elements and traffic-related elements like Cr, Ni, Co, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Sb and Pb were significantly reduced. The PM_{2.5} mass concentration was temporally reduced in Beijing.

PM_{2.5} mass concentration in Beijing was higher than that in many other cities; i.e. more than 8 times higher than in Helsinki, Finland (Vallius et al., 2005). Compared to the results of over 200 different cities in the United States (Thurston et al., 2011), all element concentrations in Beijing were much higher.

Most element concentrations in Beijing were higher than the corresponding concentrations in other studies in European or American countries. Compared to these studies, concentrations of traffic-related elements, for example Sb, Pb, As, Zn, Cu and Cd in this study are much higher. For instance, Pb concentration was 346 times higher than that in Córdoba, Argentina, where daily samples were collected (López et al., 2011). It was 15 times higher compared to that in Toulouse, France (Calvo et al., 2008) where the same analytical method ICP-MS and also weekly sampling were employed, and it was 5 times the concentration in Zurich, Switzerland (Hueglin et al., 2005), which is a one of the world's financial centers and has much traffic. Antimony concentrations in PM_{2.5} mainly from traffic sources in Beijing were 25 times the concentration of that in Zurich (Hueglin et al., 2005) and 7 times of that in Sao Paulo (Degobbi et al., 2011). This data only shows a trend since the occurring concentrations also depend on the specific locations of the respective samplers.

Average concentrations of elements primarily originating from geogenic sources, such as Ti, Al, Ca, Mg and Mn, also exceeded the relative concentrations of other studies but not as much as the trafficrelated elements during the sampling periods.

Concentrations for Cr, Co and Ni related to fuel combustion and steel work, as well as vanadium were lower in this study than those of some studies of other cities in European or American countries. For example, concentrations of these 4 elements (just the available data) in Toulouse, France (Calvo et al., 2008), Izmir, Turkey (Yatkin and Bayram, 2007) and San Paulo, Brazil (Degobbi et al., 2011) were all higher than concentrations in Beijing PM_{2.5} (Table 2).

Most countries are tightening the standards for PM_{2.5}. But up until now there are no comprehensive standards for all chemical elements in aerosols or PM_{2.5} yet. The maximum (ambient) concentration of Pb in air was set to 500 ng/m³ in China (MEP-China, 2012) and Australia (DEH-Australia, 2004). Air Quality Standards in the European Union (EU, 2008) cover Ni (20 ng/m³), As (6 ng/m³), Cd (5 ng/m³) and Pb (500 ng/m³). The Chinese new Ambient Air Quality Standard (GB3095-2012) also gives reference standards for As and Cd, 6 ng/m³ and 5 ng/m³ respectively (MEP-China, 2012). According to the comparison between element concentrations in Beijing PM_{2.5} and their limits required by the government, most of the concentrations meet the standards except for As which mainly originates from combustion and traffic. In the United States of America, EPA set a much stricter criterion for lead: 150 ng/m³ (EPA-USA, 2013). If compared to this standard by EPA-USA, the average concentration in this study slightly exceeded the limit.

Conclusively, $PM_{2.5}$ was slightly polluted in the exemplarily selected cities of Europe and the United States, and a little worse in Latin America or some countries across Asia and Europe like Turkey, while $PM_{2.5}$ contamination was serious in Beijing although it is getting better on a long-term perspective.

4. Conclusions

Long-term sampling and analyses of PM_{2.5} enabled the detailed investigation of temporal distribution of mass and chemical element concentrations in PM_{2.5} in the megacity Beijing during a time when the government carried out an enormous experiment with mitigation measures to improve air quality since the successful bidding for the 29th Olympic Games. Especially in 2008, the government implemented some unique policies including traffic restrictions in order to mitigate air pollution.

PM_{2.5} mass concentration decreased compared to the previous studies. Five main sources of elements were extracted by factor analysis. Results of factor analysis show that factor scores of anthropogenic element association displayed a decreasing trend under the government intervention policies while factor scores of elements of natural origin retained a relatively stable trend over the sampling period.

Temporal variations of element concentrations correlated with different governmental intervention measures. Measures like traffic restriction, improved emission standards for industry and relocation of the Capital Steel Company all contributed to mitigation of PM_{2.5} contamination. Concentrations of traffic-related elements varied with the strength of traffic restriction measures. The pollution level was inversely correlated with the intensity of the measures. The "odd–even restriction measure" effected lowest concentrations of Pb, Sb, Sn, As and Zn. Due to the pause of the traffic restriction measures from September 20th to October 10th, 2008, their concentrations ascended by 126%, 302%, 143%, 103%, and 13%, respectively with 16% increased PM_{2.5} mass concentration. The element concentrations were reduced by 27%, 50%, 25%, 28%, and 37% respectively during the "1/5 restriction measure" (including the 5th ring road) from October 10th, 2008 to April 10th,

Ta ble 2 Average PM _{2.5} mass	concentration (ug/m^3)	³) and element concent	trations (ng/m ³) in diff	ferent cities.						
Reference	Vallius et al., 2005	Hueglin et al, 2005	Calvo et al., 2008	Yatkin and Bayram, 2007	López et al. 2011	Degobbi et al., 2011	Thurston et al., 2011	Duan et al., 2006	Sun et al., 2004	This study
Location	Helsinki, Finland	Zurich, Switzerland	Toulouse, France	Izmir, Turkey ^a	Córdoba, Argentina ⁵	Sao Paulo, Brazil	over 200 sites, U.S.	Beijing, China ^b	Beijing, China ^c	Beijing.China
N,duration	164, 24 h	79, 24 h	52, weekly	50, 24 h (weekly data used)	24 h	39, 24 h	24 h	41, weekly	40, 24 h	Weeldy
Sampling period	Nov 1998-Apr 1999	Apr 1998-Mar 1999	Mar 2004-Feb 2005	Jun 2004-May 2005 (winter & summer)	Jul 2009-Apr 2010	Apr & Jul 2008	Feb 2000-Dec 2005	Aug 2001–Sep 2002	Summer & winter in 2002, 2003	Sep 2007-Jan 2011
Analytical method	ED-XRF	ICP-MS	ICP-MS	ICP-OES	SR-XRF	ED-XRF	Several ^d	XRF	ICP-AES	ICP-MS
Mass	10.6	20.0	11.D	67.5	68.6	32.9	14.2	102		88.5
concentration										
Na		96.0		1040		1290	65.9	500	0//2	1830
Mg		17.0		104		70.5	9.0	215	270	955
VI	28.7	48.0	174	858	8.5	407			820	2400
К	93.1	223		548	198	732	68.2	2680		2220
Ca	32.3	54.0		1780	262	210	54.9	1260	1210	3410
ц	2.27		7.43		17	26.6		75	50	131
^	6.56	1.1		12.6	6.5	13	2.0		10.8	4.38
Ū			36.0	23.9	3.75	14.5			20	11.3
Mn	3.42	3.5	7.50	16.4	13.5	56.1	3.6		55	88.5
Fe	66.7	124	325	397	335	444	87.3	1180	845	1790
Co					0.65	3.13			3.72	1.21
Ni	2.9	3.1	35.2	17.6	2.9	30.4	1.7		70	5.64
Cu	1.64	6.1	11.5	39.6	8.5	75.1	3.9	50	60	49.5
Zn	16.8		16.6	180	31	198	16.2	490	450	448
As		0.5				4.14	ŭ.	60	30	15.8
Sr			0.88	2.6					20	24.4
Cd		0.3	0.25	1.35					7.45	3.75
Sb		0.6				2.24				14.9
Pb	6.79	21.0	9.70	97.8	0.45	35.5	4.7	190	210	156
ED-XRF: energy-dis trometry: ICP-AES: ^a Urban ciata. ^b Two sampling s ^c Beijing Normal ^d Different chemi	persive X-ray fluoresc inductively coupled pl ites. University, BNU site. cel analyses performe	cence spectrometry; ICI lesma atomic emission d according to local me	P-MS: inductively coup spectroscopy. easurements.	aled plasma mass spectrom	eter, ICP-OES: inducti	rehy coupled plasma-o	ptical emission spectro	meter: SR-XRF: synch	hrotron-raciation X-	ay fluorescence spec-

Appendix

656

Y. Chen et al. / Science of the Total Environment 490 (2014) 647-658

2009, compared to the concentrations during the same period from 2007 to 2008 without any traffic restriction measures.

2010 annual mean concentrations of the steel-related elements, Co, Ni and Cr, compared to the values in 2008, were reduced by 47%, 24% and 57% inter alia due to the relocation project of the Capital Steel Company. However, elements predominately from geogenic sources did not show an obviously decreasing trend like the other anthropogenic elements, which means that the geogenic part of the fine particles is not mitigated like the anthropogenic part and is not easily controlled by artificial methods. Dust and sand dust from both local and external sources are still of major concern for the government. Pollution peaks before measures, such as construction-related elements before the Olympic Games or traffic-related elements before the lottery policy for the purchase of license plates were also observed.

It is a big challenge for Beijing to reach the WHO standard for $PM_{2.5}$ in a short time due to its special geographic and meteorological conditions, as well as the variety of numerous sources and the continuous growth of industry, energy consumption and traffic fleet. It is therefore necessary to continue and intensify the macro-control measures by the government including limiting emission from anthropogenic contamination sources and mitigating geogenic sources. Both the government and the citizens have the responsibility and obligation to reduce emission of air pollutants and to obtain more "blue sky days" in the future.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all colleagues at CRAES in China for collecting the filter samples for such a long time. Special thanks are given to the technical staffs, namely Cornelia Haug and Claudia Mössner for support of laboratory analyses at the Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry (IMG), Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Karlsruhe, Germany. Furthermore, the authors express their gratitude to Alexandra Nothstein at IMG for her efforts in proof-reading.

References

- An YG, Liu XF. Characteristics of climate change of dust in Beijing Tianjin and Hebei region. J Shandong Agric Univ 2004;35(1):84–8. [in Chinese, English abstract].
- ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substances, Disease Registry). Toxicological profile for nickel. Altanta, GA, USA: Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 1997.
- Baccini P, Brunner PH. Metabolism of the anthroposphere. Berlin, Germany: Springer; 1991.
- Beijing Statistical Yearbook. Beijing Bureau of Statistics. Beijing, China: China Statistics Press; 2012.
- Bergin MH, Cass GR, Xu J, Fang C, Zeng LM, Yu T, et al. Aerosol radiative, physical, and chemical properties in Beijing during June 1999. J Geophys Res 2001;106: 17969–80.
- Calvo AI, Pont V, Liousse C, Dupre B, Mariscal A, Zouiten C, et al. Chemical composition of urban aerosols in Toulouse, France during CAPITOUL experiment. Meteorol Atmos Phys 2008;102:307–23.
- Chen Y, Schleicher N, Cen K, Chen Y, Chai F, Wang S, et al. The effect of government policies on the temporal development of contamination characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China. In: Rauch S, Morrison GM, Schleicher N, Norra S, editors. Urban environment. Proceedings of the 11th Urban Environment SymposiumHeidelberg. Germany: Springer: 2013. p. 313–21.
- SymposiumHeidelberg, Germany: Springer; 2013. p. 313–21.
 Cyrys J, Sölzel M, Heinrich J, Kreyling WG, Menzel N, Wittmaack K, et al. Elemental composition and sources of fine and ultrafine ambient particles in Erfurt, Germany. Sci Total Environ 2003;305:143–56.
- Degobbi C, Lopes FDTQS, Carvalho-Oliveira R, Muñoz JE, Saldiva PHN. Correlation of fungi and endotoxin with PM2.5 and meteorological parameters in atmosphere of Sao Paulo, Brazil. Atmos Environ 2011;45:2277–83.
- DEH-Australia (Department of the Environment and Heritage, Australia). State of the Air, Community Summary, 1991–2001. http://www.environment.gov.au/atmosphere/ airquality/publications/status/pubs/community-summary.pdf, 2004.
- Dockery DW, Pope CA. Acute respiratory effects of particulate air pollution. Annu Rev Public Health 1994;15:107–32.
- Duan FK, He KB, Ma YL, Yang FM, Yu XC, Cadle SH, et al. Concentration and chemical characteristics of PM2.5 in Beijing, China: 2001-2002. Sci Total Environ 2006; 355:264–75.

- EPA-USA (Environmental Protection Agency, the United States of America). National Ambient Air Quality Standards for Particulate Matter. http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-01-15/pdf/2012-30946.pdf, 2013.
- EU (European Union). Directive 2008/50/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 May 2008 on ambient air quality and cleaner air for Europe: 2008 [http:// eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:152:0001:0044:EN:PDF & http://ec.europa.eu/environment/air/quality/standards.htm].
- Hedberg E, Gidhagen L, Johansson C. Source contributions to PM10 and arsenic concentrations in central Chile using positive matrix factorization. Atmos Environ 2005;39: 549–61.
- Huang X, Olmez I, Aras NK, Gordon GE. Emissions of trace elements from motor vehicles: potential marker elements and source composition profile. Atmos Environ 1994;28: 1385–91.
- Hueglin C, Gehrig R, Baltensperger U, Gysel M, Monn C, Vonmont H. Chemical characterisation of PM2.5, PM10 and coarse particles at urban, near-city and rural sites in Switzerland. Atmos Environ 2005;39:637–51.
- Kuang C, Neumann T, Norra S, Stüben D. Land use related chemical composition of street sediments in Beijing. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 2004;11(2):73–83.
- Li X, Wang L, Wang Y, Wen T, Yang Y, Zhao Y, et al. Chemical composition and size distribution of airborne particulate matters in Beijing during the 2008 Olympics. Atmos Environ 2012;50:278–86.
- López ML, Ceppi S, Palancar GG, Olcese LE, Tirao G, Toselli BM. Elemental concentration and source identification of PM10 and PM2.5 by SR-XRF in Córdoba City, Argentina. Atmos Environ 2011;45:5450–7.
- MEP-China (Ministry of Environmental Protection of the People's Republic of China). Ambient air quality standard GB3095-2012. Beijing, China: China Environmental Science Press; 2012.
- Moreno T, Querol X, Alastuey A, Amato F, Pey J, Pandolfi M, et al. Effect of fireworks events on urban background trace metal aerosol concentrations: is the cocktail worth the show? J Hazard Mater 2010;183:945–50.
- Nath B, Norra S, Chatterjee D, Stüben D. Fingerprinting of land use-related chemical patterns in street sediments from Kolkata, India. Environ Forensic 2007;8: 313–28.
- Norra S. The astysphere and urban geochemistry—a new approach to integrate urban systems into the geoscientific concept of spheres and a challenging concept for modern geochemistry supporting the sustainable development of planet earth. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 2009;16(5):539–45.
 Okuda T, Katsuno M, Naoi D, Nakao S, Tanaka S, He K, et al. Trends in hazardous trace
- Okuda T, Katsuno M, Naoi D, Nakao S, Tanaka S, He K, et al. Trends in hazardous trace metal concentrations in aerosols collected in Beijing, China from 2001 to 2006. Chemosph 2008;72:917–24.
- Okuda T, Matsuura S, Yamaguchi D, Umemura T, Hanada E, Orihara H, et al. The impact of the pollution control measures for the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games on the chemical composition of aerosols. Atmos Environ 2011;45:2789–94.
- Reimann C, Caritat P. Chemical elements in the environment. Factsheets for the geochemist and environmental scientist. Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany: Springer; 1998.
- Schleicher N, Norra S, Chai F, Chen Y, Wang S, Stüben D. Seasonal trend of watersoluble ions at one TSP and five PM2.5 sampling sites in Beijing, China. Highway and urban environment, 17. Alliance for Global Sustainability Bookseries; 2010. p. 87–95.
- Schleicher N, Norra S, Dietze V, Yu Y, Fricker M, Kaminski U, et al. The effect of mitigation measures on size distributed mass concentrations of atmospheric particles and black carbon concentrations during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing. Sci Total Environ 2011a;412–3:185–93.
- Schleicher N, Norra S, Chai F, Chen Y, Wang S, Cen K, et al. Temporal variability of trace metal mobility of urban particulate matter from Beijing—a contribution to health impact assessment of aerosols. Atmos Environ 2011b;45(39):7248–65.
- Schleicher N, Norra S, Chen Y, Chai F, Wang S. Efficiency of mitigation measures to reduce particulate air pollution—a case study during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing, China. Sci Total Environ 2012;427–8:146–58.
- Schwartz J, Dockery D, Neas L. Is daily mortality associated specifically with fine particles? J Air Waste Manage Assoc 1996;46:927–39.
- Sternbeck J, Sjödin A, Andréasson K. Metal emissions from road traffic and the influence of resuspension—results from two tunnel studies. Atmos Environ 2002;36: 4735–44.
- Sun Y, Zhuang G, Wang Y, Han L, Guo J, Dan M, et al. The air-borne particulate pollution in Beijing—concentration, composition, distribution and sources. Atmos Environ 2004; 38:5991–6004.
- Taylor SR, McClennan SM. The continental crust. Its composition and evolution; an examination of the geochemical record preserved in sedimentary rocks. Oxford, United Kingdom: Blackwell Science Publisher; 1985.
- Thurston GD, Ito K, Lall R. A source apportionment of U.S. fine particulate matter air pollution. Atmos Environ 2011;45:3924–36.
- Vallius M, Janssen NAH, Heinrich J, Hoek G, Ruuskanen J, Cyrys J, et al. Sources and elemental composition of ambient PM2.5 in three European cities. Sci Total Environ 2005;337:147–62.
- Wåhlin P, Berkowicz R, Palmgren F. Characterisation of traffic generated particulate matter in Copenhagen. Atmos Environ 2006;40:2151–9.
- Wang S, Mulligan CN. Occurrence of arsenic contamination in Canada: sources, behavior and distribution. Sci Total Environ 2006;366:701–21.
- Wang T, Xie S. Assessment of traffic-related air pollution in the urban streets before and during the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games traffic control period. Atmos Environ 2009; 43:5682–90.
- Wang X, Westerdahl D, Chen LC, Wu Y, Hao J, Pan X, et al. Evaluating the air quality impacts of the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games: on-road emission factors and black carbon profiles. Atmos Environ 2009;43:4535–43.

Y. Chen et al. / Science of the Total Environment 490 (2014) 647-658

- Wang S, Zhao M, Xing J, Wu Y, Zhou Y, Lei Y, et al. Quantifying the air pollutants emission reduction during the 2008 Olympic Games in Beijing. Environ Sci Technol 2010;44: 2490–6.
- WHO (World Health Organization). WHO air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide. Global update 2005; 2006 [http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2006/WHO_SDE_PHE_OEH_06.02_eng.pdf].
 Wongphatarakul V, Friedlander SK, Pinto JP. A comparative study of PM2.5 ambient
- Wongphatarakul V, Friedlander SK, Pinto JP. A comparative study of PM2.5 ambient aerosol chemical databases. Environ Sci Technol 1998;32:3926–34.
- Yang F, Ye B, He K, Ma Y, Cadle SH, Chan T, et al. Characterization of atmospheric mineral components of PM2.5 in Beijing and Shanghai, China. Sci Total Environ 2005;343: 221–30.
- Yaroshevsky AA. Abundances of chemical elements in the Earth's crust. Geochem Int 2006;44:48–55.
- Yatkin S, Bayram A. Elemental composition and sources of particulate matter in the ambient air of a Metropolitan City. Atmos Res 2007;85:126–39.
- Yu N, Wei Y, Hu M, Zeng L, Zhang Y. Characterization and source identification of ambient organic carbon in PM2.5 in urban and suburban sites of Beijing. Acta Sci Circumst 2009;29(2):243–51. [in Chinese, English abstract].
- Yu Y, Schleicher N, Norra S, Fricker M, Dietze V, Kaminski U, et al. Dynamics and origin of PM2.5 during a three-year sampling period in Beijing, China. J Environ Monit 2011; 13:334–46.
- Zhang JP, Zhu T, Zhang QH, Li CC, Shu HL, Ying Y, et al. The impact of circulation patterns on regional transport pathways and air quality over Beijing and its surroundings. Atmos Chem Phys 2012;12:5031–53.
- Zhao X, Zhang X, Xu X, Xu J, Meng W, Pu W. Seasonal and diurnal variations of ambient PM2.5 concentration in urban and rural environments in Beijing. Atmos Environ 2009;43:2893–900.

Zhou ZJ, Wang XW, Niu RY. Climate characteristics of sandstorm in China in recent 47 years. J Appl Meteorol Sci 2002;13(12):193–200. [in Chinese, English abstract].

Zoller W, Gladney E, Duce R. Atmospheric concentrations and sources of trace metals at the South Pole. Sci New Ser 1974;183:198–200.

Yuan Chen is a PhD student from the Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry (IMG) at Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT) of Germany. She did her bachelor and master study about environmental pollution in China University of Geosciences (Beijing). Her PhD study topic is "Long term aerosol dynamics and the effects of mitigation measures on mass concentration and chemical composition of particulate aerosols in Beijing". Her expertise lies in studying aerosol pollution in Beijing and analyzing chemical compositions of aerosol samples for several years.

Nina Schleicher is a postdoctoral researcher at the Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry of the Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT). As a geochemist, she has several years of experience with air quality topics in China and published several peer-reviewed atticles. During her PhD thesis she investigated the chemical, physical and mineralogical properties of atmospheric particulate matter in the megacity Beijing. Her thesis was awarded the "Sparkassen-Umweltpreis" by the KIT and the foundation of the Sparkasse Karlsruhe Ettlingen. Currently, she is the investigator for air quality studies in Karlsruhe with focus on carbon sources and the impact of nearby construction sites.

Yizhen Chen is a professor from the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES); he specializes in long term research on detection experiments of the boundary layer, air quality simulation, atmospheric environment process and planning. Nearly ten years as a project leader and technical backbone he joined many projects including the National Basic Research Development Program of China (973 Program) and the National High Technology Research and Development Program of China (863 Program), and has published more than fifty papers in magazines both domestic and international.

Fahe Chai, vice president and professor of the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES), has wide knowledge and sufficient ability to undertake environmental science research and consultancy, especially in field of atmospheric environment. He has been very successful in the field of atmospheric environment, environmental management, environmental planning. As project manager or main research fellow, he was in charge of many national key research projects and other important projects including the National Basic Research Development Program of China (973 Program) and the National High Technology Research and Development Program of China (863 Program).

Stefan Norra is the head of the inter-institutional "Working group of Environmental Mineralogy and Environmental System Analysis" at the Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry (IMG) and the Institute of Geography and Geocology (IfGG) of the Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT). He is the speaker of the Topic Urban Systems within the KIT Center for Climate and Environment. He has established the research field Urban Geochemistry at IMG and teaches Urban Ecology at the IfGG. Moreover, he is a visiting professor at the Technische Universität Bergakademie Freiberg.

A.2 Long-term variation of black carbon and $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing, China with respect to meteorological conditions and governmental measures

Environmental Pollution 212 (2016) 269-278



Long-term variation of black carbon and $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing, China with respect to meteorological conditions and governmental measures^{*}



Yuan Chen ^{a, *}, Nina Schleicher ^a, Mathieu Fricker ^b, Kuang Cen ^c, Xiu-li Liu ^c, Uwe Kaminski ^b, Yang Yu ^c, Xue-fang Wu ^c, Stefan Norra ^{a, d, e}

^a Institute of Applied Geosciences, Working Group for Environmental Mineralogy and Environmental System Analysis, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology,

^b Air Quality Department, Research Center Human Biometeorology, German Meteorological Service, 79104, Freiburg i. Br., Germany

^c School of the Earth Sciences and Resources, China University of Geosciences, 100083, Beijing, China

^d Institute of Geography and Geoecology, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131, Karlsruhe, Germany

^e Institute of Mineralogy, Technische Universität Bergakademie Freiberg, Brennhausgasse 14, 09596, Freiberg, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 July 2015 Received in revised form 29 December 2015 Accepted 5 January 2016 Available online xxx

Keywords: Urban aerosol PM_{2.5} Black carbon Temporal distribution Megacity

ABSTRACT

Black carbon (BC) and $PM_{2.5}$ were studied for nine years from 2005 to 2013 in the Beijing urban area. The overall weekly average mass concentrations of BC and $PM_{2.5}$ were 4.3 and 66.8 µg/m³. $PM_{2.5}$ annual means of the nine years are around 2 times of the standard (GB3095-2012) in China, and are 5–7 times higher than the WHO standard. The Beijing Olympic Games in 2008 was a milestone to mitigate aerosol pollution. Temporal distribution of BC shows a distinct declining trend, and annual mean mass concentrations of $PM_{2.5}$ after 2008 were lower than those before 2008 but increased from 2011 to 2013. Wind rose plots show that high BC concentrations are usually associated with low wind speed of northeastern or southwestern winds, generally causing poor visibility. Governmental mitigation measures such as traffic restriction despite increased motor vehicle numbers and gasoline consumption and industry relocation with declining consumption of coal and coke were successful in reducing BC emissions. Annual mean of BC was reduced by 38% in 2013 compared to 2005. However, BC contamination in Beijing is still severe when compared to other urban areas around the world.

© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Black carbon (BC) is formed by incomplete combustion of fossil fuels, biofuels, and biomass. It is emitted directly into the atmosphere, mainly in the form of fine particles (PM_{2.5}) (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2012). In China in particular, it originates from the usage of coal, diesel, and biofuels (Streets et al., 2001). China is the largest contributor to BC emissions throughout the world. Around 17% of global annual emissions of BC are estimated to be from China (Chameides and Bergin, 2002).

Black carbon contributes to visibility degradation (Wolff, 1981; Zhou et al., 2012), global warming (Hansen et al., 2000; Jacobson, 2001), and climate changes (Bond et al., 2011; McConnell et al.,

E-mail address: yuan.chen@kit.edu (Y. Chen).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.01.008

2007; Menon et al., 2002; Ramanathan and Carmichael, 2008). It is the main component of visible light absorption by particulate matter. For other substances, e.g. iron oxides, the absorption of visible light can be negligible in most cases compared to BC (Heintzenberg, 1982). Diminished crop yields in China were demonstrated to relate to reduced solar radiation reaching the earth (Chameides et al., 1999). As a constituent of PM_{2.5}, BC is responsible for respiratory and cardiovascular diseases (Geng et al., 2013; Jansen et al., 2005; Janssen et al., 2011; Straif et al., 2000). However, there are limited monitoring data on BC for epidemiologic analyses (Geng et al., 2013), especially in developing countries.

Historical records of 1952 Great Smog in London showed disastrous impacts on human health and life expectancy. The main reason of coal pollution aroused increased attention to BC research in the following decades (Penner and Novakov, 1996). In previous long-term studies, BC was usually estimated based on modeling and emission factors with energy consumption data, mainly for emission inventory studies (Bond et al., 2004; Cao et al., 2006; Lu

^{76131,} Karlsruhe, Germany

^{*} This paper has been recommended for acceptance by Baoshan Xing.

^{*} Corresponding author. Institute for Applied Geosciences, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Adenauerring 20b, Geb. 50.40, 76131, Karlsruhe, Germany.

^{0269-7491/© 2016} Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

et al., 2011; Ohara et al., 2007; Streets et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2009). The emission factors were calculated by particulate matter (PM) measurements and BC/PM ratios. This results in great uncertainty in BC emissions. To the authors' knowledge, the present study is the first black carbon study with actual measurement data for such a long-term period in China, or even in Asian developing countries, which simultaneously explores the correlations between BC and meteorological factors and governmental mitigation measures. Nine years of sampling and measuring within this study can not only provide useful data with high precision for modeling and calculation, but also reference information for human health research and policy-makers.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study area and sampling procedure

Beijing, the capital of the People's Republic of China, lies on the northwest border of the North China Plain and is surrounded by the Yanshan Mountains clockwise from southwest to northeast (Fig. 1). The sampling site was located in the campus of the China University of Geosciences, Beijing (CUGB) (Fig. 1). It was in a distance of

approximately 15 m from the 4th ring road and shielded by a hedge in the north-eastern urban area of Beijing. Therefore, it cannot be regards as a traffic site but an urban site.

Weekly PM_{2.5} samples were collected on quartz fiber filters (Whatman Inc., Maidstone, UK) with Mini-Volume Samplers (Leckel, Berlin) at a height of 1.5 m. The flow rate of the samplers was set up to 200 L/h and was continuously inspected with a rotameter. To investigate the effects of the special governmental policies for the Olympic Games period, samples with higher time-resolution (24-hourly samples at the CUGB site) were collected in August and September 2008. Higher time-resolution samples in one week during 2008 Olympic Games were considered as one weekly sample. The observation period of this study comprised the sampling period from 2005 to 2013. There were 440 valid samples in total during the 459 weeks of observation time.

2.2. Mass concentration analysis

Filters were weighed before and after sample collection for mass concentration calculation. They were equilibrated for at least 48 h under identical conditions before weighing, and were then measured at least three times with a microbalance (Sartorius SE 2-



Fig. 1. dimensional topography of the surround area of Beijing and the sampling site (CUGB) in the urban area of Beijing (data sources: SRTM (Shuttle Radar Topographic Mission) 90 m Digital Elevation Data, http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org/, produced with ArcGIS 10.2 Desktop).

F, Göttingen, Germany) at a constant temperature $(22 \pm 3 \,^{\circ}C)$ and relative humidity $(40 \pm 3\%)$ before and after sampling, respectively. Standard protocols included the use of filter blanks, laboratory blanks, and externally certified standard weights for all gravimetric analyses for quality control and quality assurance purpose. Filter blanks were sent to Beijing and sent back to Germany like filter samples without being used. The increased or decreased mass on filter blanks was subtracted from the mass of loaded samples to improve the accuracy of the loaded mass. All gravimetric analyses were carried out at the Institute of Applied Geosciences, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (AGW-KIT), Germany.

2.3. Black carbon analysis

Black Carbon is usually measured with non-destructive optical techniques, which is fast and cost-effective. In this study, BC concentrations were analyzed with an optical transmission technique of Ballach et al. (2001) modified by Fricker and Schultz (2002). A standard thermal analysis method (VDI, 1999) was used to link light absorption by the filter samples to elemental carbon (EC) concentration. Quartz fiber filters were immersed in a fluid, ProTaqs Paramount (quartett GmbH, Berlin, Germany). Therefore, scattering effects at the internal interfaces in particle samples were minimized due to the similar refractive index, as is often done for microscopy purposes. Light absorption at a constant wavelength of 650 nm was measured by two spectrometers; CUGB samples from 2005 to 2012 (N = 433, in total with blank filters) were measured with a SPECORD 50 (Analytic Jena AG, Jena, Germany), and CUGB samples from 2012 to 2013 (N = 98, in total with blank filters) were measured with a SPECORD 50 PLUS (Analytic Jena AG, Jena, Germany). To compare the results of both spectrometers, twenty samples from 2012 were measured with both SPECORD 50 and SPECORD 50 PLUS. The difference of each sample was less than 5%. For each sample, five measurements were performed from

different areas within the filter. Average values were used for BC concentration calculations. Randomly selected samples (N = 76, in total) were analyzed three times for quality control. The standard deviation of this triple analysis was less than $0.2 \ \mu g/m^3$. To improve accuracy of the BC data, blank filters were also sent to Beijing and sent back to Germany unused for BC analysis. The analysis results of blank filters were subtracted from the results of loaded filters.

2.4. Meteorological data

Meteorological data were obtained from the German Meteorological Service (DWD), Offenbach, Germany. The data were collected from a meteorological station in Beijing registered at the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) with the code 54511.

3. Results

The overall weekly average mass concentration of PM_{2.5} from 2005 to 2013 was 66.8 μ g/m³, the weekly minimum was 13.1 μ g/m³, and the weekly maximum was 275.6 μ g/m³ (Fig. 2). The weekly average mass concentration of BC in PM_{2.5} ranged from 1.0 to 12.9 μ g/m³, with an average of 4.3 μ g/m³ during the corresponding period (Fig. 2). Black carbon mass accounted for 7.0% of the PM_{2.5} mass on average, varying between 1.5% and 15.8%.

During the nine-year period of investigation, the average $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentrations were 69.2 µg/m³ in spring, 57.4 µg/m³ in summer, 62.0 µg/m³ in autumn and 76.1 µg/m³ in winter, while BC mass concentrations were 3.8, 3.4, 5.0 and 5.1 µg/m³, respectively (Fig. 3). Generally, relatively high $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentrations occurred in spring and winter, mainly due to sand dust storms and heating activities with stagnant air condition, respectively (Fig. 3).

which was also reported by previous studies (Chen et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2011). Although PM_{2.5} mass concentrations were high in spring, BC mass concentrations were low due to inactive sources. Relatively high BC concentrations occurred in late autumn and winter mainly due to heating activities (Figs. 2 and 3). Domestic heating in Beijing usually starts in Mid-November and ends in the following Mid-March. During this period, high concentrations of fine particles and BC were observed every year (Fig. 2). Average concentrations of PM_{2.5} and BC during the heating period were 77.2 and 5.2 μ g/m³, while they were 61.4 and 3.9 μ g/m³ during the nonheating period. Most rainfall occurred during summer (Fig. 2). This is an important mechanism that washes out particles leading to low PM_{2.5} and BC concentrations. Therefore, PM_{2.5} and BC concentration were generally low in summer. However, PM2.5 mass concentration was very high in summer in 2008, with high concentrations in June (87.1 μ g/m³) and July (116.4 μ g/m³) and a relatively low concentration in August (58.2 μ g/m³). Meanwhile, BC showed low concentration during the whole summer (average 2.7 μ g/m³). Generally, the standard deviations of both PM_{2.5} and BC concentrations were relatively lower in summer than those in other seasons, due to the relatively stable sources. However, the standard deviation of PM_{2.5} in summer in 2008 presents the highest during all seasons (Fig. 3). According to the sampling record, there was road reconstruction activity near the sampling site during that time. To obtain better air quality for the Olympic Games, the government asked for suspension of construction activities beginning from August. Therefore, lots of construction companies intensified their activities before August, especially during June and July. Consequently, the intensive construction activities near the sampling site might be the main reason for the abnormally high concentration of PM_{2.5} in June and July.

4. Discussion

4.1. Assessment of time variation

Fig. 4 shows the yearly variation of average BC and PM_{2.5} mass concentration from 2005 to 2013. The year 2008 is a critical milestone for air quality improvement in Beijing. To achieve "Green" Beijing Olympic Games in 2008, many governmental mitigation measures were put into force step by step to improve air quality, including restriction measures on traffic and construction, industry relocation and afforestation to prevent desertification and sand dust erosion (Chen et al., 2013, 2014; Schleicher et al., 2011, 2012; Wang et al., 2009, 2010). Annual means of PM_{2.5} mass concentrations after 2008 were lower than those before 2008. The lowest annual mean concentration occurred in 2011, and then it increased from 2011 to 2013 (Fig. 4-a). BC shows an obvious decreasing trend during the observation period, especially from 2007 to 2008 (Fig. 4a). Annual mean of BC was reduced by 38% in 2013 compared to 2005. Annual mean reduction of BC mass concentration from 2005 to 2013 was 2.1 μ g/m³. The relatively large standard deviation of PM_{2.5} in 2008 resulted from the unique anthropogenic intervention during this year, which was described in Section 3. The yearly medians, the 1st quartile, the 3rd quartile, minimum and maximum can be found in Fig. 4-b.

According to the Ambient Air Quality Standard (GB3095-2012) in China, the threshold for annual mean of PM_{2.5} mass concentration is 35 μ g/m³ (level II). PM_{2.5} annual means of the nine years within this study (Fig. 4) all exceed this standard, and they are around 2 times of it. They are 5–7 times higher than the World Health Organization's (WHO) annual mean threshold for PM_{2.5} (10 μ g/m³). However, there is no standard for BC from WHO and China at the present time.



Y. Chen et al. / Environmental Pollution 212 (2016) 269-278

Fig. 2. weekly variation of precipitation (Preci.), BC and PM_{2.5} average mass concentration (in µg/m³) in Beijing urban area from 2005 to 2013.



Fig. 3. seasonal variation of BC and $PM_{2,5}$ average mass concentrations (in $\mu g/m^3)$ in Beijing urban area from 2005 to 2013. The whiskers represent the standard deviation.

4.2. Influence of meteorological conditions

Pearson correlation coefficients (r) between BC mass concentration and $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration and various meteorological

factors were calculated separately for the whole observation period, the heating period, and the non-heating period. In Table 1, PM_{2.5} mass concentration (MC) was positively correlated to BC concentration. BC showed negative correlation with all the meteorological factors, precipitation (Preci.), wind speed (WS), wind direction (WD), temperature (Temp.) and visibility (Vis.) during the whole nine-year period of investigation. As discussed in Section 3, precipitation is an important mechanism of washing out particles as well as black carbon. High speed wind as well as wind from the northwest and north facilitated the diffusion of aerosol particles (Chen et al., 2010) and led to less particle and BC pollution, especially during the heating period. Temperature had an indirect effect on BC concentration because when temperatures were low in winter, heating systems which mainly ran on coal combustion led to more BC emission. High BC (>6 μ g/m³) and PM_{2.5} (>100 μ g/m³) mass concentrations usually occurred together with relatively low visibility (<20 km) during the heating period (Fig. 5). And on some hazy days, for example at the end of October 2011, the high BC concentration with poor visibility even affected people's commuting. However, BC concentrations below 6 µg/m³ were not explicitly linked to low visibility and, therefore other causalities must play a role as well.

Wind rose plots were used to study the influence of wind direction (WD) on $PM_{2.5}$ (Fig. 6) and BC concentrations (Fig. 7). In this study, the samples were collected weekly. During a week, wind direction usually changed several times and the weekly average wind direction did not reflect the real wind direction at every point in time. Therefore, we used 3-hourly meteorological data and the weekly mean concentration for each of the 3-h in a week to interpret the correlation. Wind directions: North (N), NE (Northeast), E (east), SE (southeast), S (south), SW (southwest), W (west)

Y. Chen et al. / Environmental Pollution 212 (2016) 269-278



Fig. 4. yearly variation of BC and PM_{2.5} mass concentrations (in μg/m³) in Beijing urban area from 2005 to 2013. Fig 4-a shows the yearly average concentrations, the whiskers represent the standard deviation. Fig 4-b shows the median with the line in the box, the lower and upper line of the box represent the 1st quartile and the 3rd quartile, respectively, the lower and upper whiskers represent minimum and maximum respectively for each year.

Table 1								
Pearson	correlation	coefficients	(r) between	average	BC and	$PM_{2.5}$	mass	concen
tration (MC) and me	eteorological	factors from	2005 to	2013			

r (BC)	Whole period	Heating period	Non-heating period
MC	0.61	0.64	0.54
Preci.	-0.27	-0.09	-0.25
WS	-0.31	-0.50	-0.23
WD	-0.22	-0.44	-0.18
Temp.	-0.32	0.13	-0.22
Vis.	-0.32	-0.60	-0.18

from N–E and SW-W; generally accompanied by poor visibility and low wind speed which is a disadvantage for pollutants diffusion. Open biomass burning from the North China Plain was considered to be an important source of BC (Dan et al., 2004; Duan et al., 2004; Guinot et al., 2007; Ni et al., 2014), even though its major emission product was organic carbon (OC). It is suggested to discontinue open biomass burning in the area around Beijing. However, most farmers still burn crop stalks directly on the fields after harvest. This is one of the contributors of high BC concentrations in autumn



Fig. 5. correlation between BC/PM_{2.5} and visibility during the heating period.

and NW (northwest). Wind direction range was described clockwise, for example, S–W indicates wind range from S to W clockwise. The main wind directions were from NE and SW (Figs. 6 and 7). In spring and winter, wind from NW and N occurred more frequently than in summer and autumn.

In addition to the main wind directions, in spring, high PM_{2.5} concentrations were transported to Beijing with wind from E and NW-N with high wind speed, accompanied by sand dust or sand dust storms, low BC concentration and poor visibility. Low PM_{2.5} concentrations also coincided with high-speed NW winds not carrying sand dust, which dispersed the aerosol in the city. In summer, relatively high PM_{2.5} concentrations coincided with winds from NE and SE–SW usually along with high BC concentrations. In these directions there are the primary industry areas of North China. In autumn, high BC concentrations also coincided with wind

in Beijing. In winter, high BC concentrations were dominantly associated with the main wind directions from N–E and S–W. Low BC concentrations mainly came from S–W as well as N. Low concentrations from N were usually associated with good visibility and high wind speed, which helped aerosol pollutant diffusion. High PM_{2.5} concentrations mainly coincided with the wind from N–E and S–W. The air masses with low speed reaching Beijing from SW in particular caused poor visibility.

4.3. Assessment of governmental mitigation measures

Details of governmental mitigation measures to improve air quality for "Green" Olympic Games were described in the previous study (Chen et al., 2014). Some mitigation measures are effective long-term, such as the relocation measure of the Capital Steel

Y. Chen et al. / Environmental Pollution 212 (2016) 269-278



Fig. 6. weekly average $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentrations with wind direction during four seasons. The scales display the percentage frequencies of wind directions. The legends display $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentrations (in $\mu g/m^3$).



Fig. 7. weekly average BC mass concentrations with wind direction during four seasons. The scales display the percentage frequencies of wind directions. The legends display BC mass concentrations (in µg/m³).

Company; some mitigation measures are still under implementation in Beijing, for example the traffic restriction measures with lower strength after the Olympic Games. And some measures like construction limitation during the Olympic Games ended after the Olympic Games. The intensive mitigation measures during the Olympic Games, covering i.e. traffic, factories and construction, resulted in the least anthropogenic chemical pollution (Chen et al., 2014). The unique traffic mitigation measures and industry relocation projects have been research hot points for scientists and governmental policy

makers. Within this study, BC was used as a tracer for the impact of combustion processes from industry and traffic during the period with governmental mitigation measures in Beijing.

The intensity of traffic restrictions varied during different periods (Chen et al., 2014). In August 2008 (Aug-2008), during the Olympic Games held in Beijing, all mitigation measures were put into force rigorously. The "odd-even restriction measure" according to which the last digit of the license plate (odd or even number) is used to allow driving on only odd or even days, respectively, cut down about half of the motor vehicles every day during the Olympic Games. The average BC concentration in Aug-2008 was, therefore, the lowest during the nine Augusts along the observation period although the precipitation was not the most and PM_{2.5} concentration was not the lowest (Fig. 8). It was much less in comparison with BC in Aug-2007 and Aug-2013 with similar precipitation, implying that precipitation was not the main reason for the difference. BC concentration in Aug-2008 was only 45% of BC in Aug-2005. However, the average BC concentration in Aug-2009 became much higher again, but still lower than years before the Olympic Games. In the meantime, the total amount of motor vehicles kept rising in Beijing, from 2.58 million in 2005 (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2006) to 5.44 million in 2013 (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2014). As the dominant energy source of motor vehicles, yearly gasoline consumption correspondingly increased from 2.35 million tons to 4.16 million tons from 2005 to 2012 (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2014). BC concentration in Aug-2013 was reduced by 43% in comparison with BC concentration in Aug-2005. On the whole, BC concentrations decreased under the governmental mitigation measures even with increased motor vehicle number and gasoline consumption, which documented the efficiency of the traffic restriction measures by the municipal government.

The relocation project of the Capital Steel Company, one of the biggest steel companies in North China, started 2005 (Nr. 5 ironsmelting blast furnace shut down) and was completed in 2010 (all smelting and hot-rolling capability shut down). It was moved out of Beijing City and relocated to the southeast of Beijing in Hebei Province near Beijing. Previous studies (Chen et al., 2013, 2014) demonstrated the effectiveness of this relocation project in reducing steel-related elements in PM_{2.5}.

The raw material for smelting iron and steel in blast furnaces is coal. In China, including Beijing, coal is the major source of energy, accounting for 70% of the total energy consumption on average from 2005 to 2013 (China Statistical Yearbook, 2013). Total energy



Fig. 8. average BC and $PM_{2.5}$ mass concentration (in μ g/m³) with precipitation (mm) in August every year during the observation period.

consumption in Beijing accounted for 55.2 and 73.5 million tons of Standard Coal Equivalent (SCE) in 2005 and 2013, respectively. Although total energy consumption increased, coal consumption and its share in total energy consumption decreased from 2005 to 2013 (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2014). Coal consumption reduced gradually from 30.7 million tons SCE in 2005 to 22.7 million tons SCE in 2012 (Figs. 9-d) (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2014). Coke consumption dropped from 3.97 to 0.32 million tons SCE, respectively (Figs. 9-d). In 2011 it dramatically fell to 0.33 million tons SCE from 2.20 million tons SCE in 2010 (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2014). Correspondingly, BC concentration exhibited the largest annual decline from 2010 to 2011 during the observation period, with the exception of the special Olympic year 2008 (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2014). Pearson correlation coefficients (r) between annual mean BC concentration and coal and coke consumption were 0.962 and 0.944. The relocation of the Capital Steel Company was one of the major contributors to reduction of coal and especially coke consumption. And the improved heating system is conductive to reduce aerosol particulates (Wang et al., 2010), which could also contribute to BC emission decline. In this study, declining BC concentrations and their good correlation to coal and coke consumption (Fig. 9) revealed the efficiency of moving out large-scale industries of Beijing in mitigating pollution. It also demonstrated the success of governmental policies in improving air quality and abating BC emission by transforming the energy consumption structure.

Although coal has been gradually being replaced by natural gas and other relatively clean energy sources in urban areas of Beijing since 1999 (Beijing Environmental Protection Bureau, 2012), the energy consumption in suburban and rural areas of Beijing are still dominated by coal (Zhao et al., 2013). This should be improved in the future energy transformation to mitigate air pollution.

4.4. Comparison with other urban areas

In order to get a better understanding of the BC contamination situation in Beijing, in this study, study cases from previous research in Beijing and other cities all over the world were selected for BC comparison (Table 2). In some studies, elemental carbon (EC) was measured by thermal methods, and in other studies, BC was determined by optical methods as in this study. Essentially they are identical forms of carbon and show comparability for scientific research (Hitzenberger et al., 2006). Due to the various analytical techniques used by different researchers, caution must be exercised when comparing BC concentrations (Wolff, 1981). Different measurement methods produced different results even at the same sampling site (Kanaya et al., 2008). And the wave-length of the light adopted in the optical measurements was also one of the reasons for uncertainty when surveying BC. These influence factors should be considered when comparing different studies.

In spite of progressing energy consumption and a growing vehicle fleet, carbon concentrations followed a decreasing trend during the last two decades in comparison to previous studies about BC in Beijing (Chen et al., 1994; He et al., 2001; Lou et al., 2007; Schleicher et al., 2013; Song et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2005). Schleicher et al. (2013) measured BC concentrations at 4 sites using the same sampling and measurement methods as this study in Beijing. Compared to their results, BC displayed a reduction trend during the last several years of this study. Xi'an, the capital of Shanxi province, which is a major coal-producing area in China, shows much higher BC concentrations in the Beijing urban area were still higher than that in Hefei (Zhang et al., 2015), the capital of Anhui province, and Shanghai (Feng et al., 2014), a city which is comparable to Beijing with regard to traffic, population and economy. In

Y. Chen et al. / Environmental Pollution 212 (2016) 269-278



Fig. 9. the correlation between coal and coke consumption and BC emission.

 Table 2

 BC mass concentrations ($\mu g/m^3$) in different cities (spring (sp.), summer (su.), autumn (au.), and winter (wi.)).

City/Area, Country	Size	Туре	Time period	Remark	Concentrations	References
Beijing, China	PM _{2.5}	BC	02/2005-12/2013	CUGB site	4.3	This study
					sp.: 3.8, su.: 3.4, au.: 5.0, wi.: 5.1	
Beijing, China	PM _{2.5}	BC	09/2005-08/2007	4 sites	6.01	Schleicher et al., 2013
Beijing, China	TSP	BC	2009	urban site	su.: 8.1	Song et al., 2013
					wi.: 16.1	
Beijing, China		BC	07/2003-01/2004	urban site	su.: 8.80 ± 2.59	Lou et al., 2007
					wi.: 11.40 ± 8.18	
Beijing, China		BC	every late autumn 1996—2004	urban site	20.0	Wang et al., 2005
Beijing, China	PM _{2.5}	EC	07/1999-09/2000	2 sites	9.4	He et al., 2001
Beijing, China	PM _{2.5}	EC	05/1989-05/1990	urban site (west)	18.6	Chen et al., 1994
Xi'an, China	PM _{2.5}	BC	09/2003-08/2005	urban site	14.7 ± 9.5	Cao et al., 2009
Hefei, China		BC	06/2012-05/2013	urban site	3.5 ± 2.5	Zhang et al., 2015
Shanghai, China	PM _{2.5}	BC	01/2010-12/2011	urban site	3.55 (average of 2 years)	Feng et al., 2014
Pearl River Delta Region, China	PM _{2.5}	EC	01-02/2002	8 sites	6.1 ± 4.0	Cao et al., 2003
Hong Kong, China	PM _{2.5}	EC	11/2000-02/2001 & 06-08/2001	urban site	wi. 6.4 ± 1.2	Ho et al., 2006
					su. 5.9 ± 0.3	
Seoul, Korea	PM _{2.5}	EC	03/2003-02/2005	urban site	4.1 ± 2.6	Kim et al., 2007
Tokyo, Japan	PM _{2.5}	BC	2003&2010	urban site	2.6&0.5 (annual mean)	Kondo et al., 2012
Pune, India		BC	01/2005-12/2005	urban site	4.1	Safai et al., 2007
Granada, Spain		BC	12/2005-11/2008	urban site	3.0 ± 1.5	Lyamani et al., 2011
Helsinki, Finland		BC	11/1996-06/1997	urban site	1.38	Pakkanen et al., 2000
Zürich, Switzerland		BC	01/1998-03/1999	urban site	1.66	Putaud et al., 2003
Fresno, USA		BC	01/2000-12/2000	urban site	1.28 ± 1.06	Watson and Chow, 2002

the Pearl River Delta Region including Hong Kong, as one of main hubs of China's economic growth, BC pollution was severe as well (Cao et al., 2003; Ho et al., 2006). In comparison to the other two capital cities in Asian countries, Seoul in Korea and Tokyo in Japan, BC in Beijing was remarkable (Kim et al., 2007; Kondo et al., 2012). The annual mean of BC in 2005 in Beijing within this study was $5.5 \ \mu$ g/m³. That was higher than BC in Pune, India, during that period (Safai et al., 2007). It was also up to 3-fold higher compared to studies from some European and American cities even one decade ago (Lyamani et al., 2011; Pakkanen et al., 2000; Putaud et al., 2003; Watson and Chow, 2002).

In general, BC concentration was reduced depending on the intensity of governmental mitigation measures as described section

4.3. However, compared to other urban areas around the world, Beijing is still suffering from severe BC contamination.

5. Conclusions

This study presented the first clear evidence of a significant reduction in BC emissions in Beijing during 21st century from longterm measurement. The Chinese government has been adopting a wide variety of intervention measures to reduce emissions of air pollutants and the continuous abatement of BC mass concentration during the investigated nine years from 2005 to 2013 documented the effectiveness of these measures in reducing BC emissions. The "Green" Beijing Olympic Games in 2008 became a milestone in Y. Chen et al. / Environmental Pollution 212 (2016) 269-278

reducing BC emissions.

BC mass accounted for 7.0% of $PM_{2.5}$ mass on average. It showed a distinct declining trend during the nine years. Annual mean mass concentrations of PM2.5 after 2008 were lower than those before 2008 but it increased from 2011 to 2013, with the lowest annual mean concentration in 2011. PM_{2.5} annual means of the nine years are around 2 times of the corresponding standard in China, and are 5-7 times higher than the WHO standard. Annual mean of BC was reduced by 38% in 2013 compared to 2005. Annual mean reduction from 2005 to 2013 was 2.1 μ g/m³.

High PM_{2.5} concentrations occurred in spring and winter due to heating, sand-dust storm and sand dust, while high BC concentrations occurred in autumn and winter due to open biomass burning, heating and other combustion sources. Average concentrations of PM_{2.5} and BC during the heating period were much higher than during the non-heating period.

High BC concentrations were usually associated with relatively poor visibility, especially during some hazy-day events. Wind rose plots showed that high BC concentrations were usually associated with wind from N-E and S-W clockwise, generally with poor visibility and low wind speed.

Assessment of governmental mitigation measures, such as traffic restriction measures and industry relocation, indicated the effectiveness in reducing BC emission. Under rigorous governmental abatement policies during the Olympic Games (August 2008), BC displayed the lowest monthly concentration during the nine-year investigation period. BC in August 2013 was reduced by 43% compared to BC in August 2005 even with increased motor vehicle number and gasoline consumption.

The relocation of the Capital Steel Company was considered an important contributor for decreasing BC emission, which was well correlated to the declining consumption of coal and coke, demonstrating the success of the transformation of energy structure to improve air quality.

However, compared to other urban areas around the world, BC contamination in Beijing is still severe, the control of emission sources and improvement of energy structure is still required to be reinforced in the future.

The special interplay of energy structure and industrial growth with environmental mitigation measures in China was observed within this study. It provides significant measurement data and evaluation information not only for scientists but also for policymakers.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all colleagues at CUGB in China for collecting the filter samples over the entire time span. The first author would like to express her gratitude to the China Scholarship Council (CSC) for supporting her studies in Germany. This work was supported by the Institute for Applied Geosciences (AGW), Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Germany, and the German Meteorological Service (DWD) in Freiburg, Germany. Special thanks are given to the Graduate School for Climate and Environment (GRACE) at KIT for funding support for experiments. Furthermore, the authors express their gratitude to Alexandra Nothstein at AGW for her efforts in proof-reading.

References

- Ballach, J., Hitzenberger, R., Schultz, E., Jeaschke, W., 2001. Development of an improved optical transmission technique for black carbon (BC) analysis. Atmos Environ, 35, 2089-2100.
- Beijing Environmental Protection Bureau (BEPB), 2012. Report on the State of the Environment in Beijing (1994-2011). http://www.bjepb.gov.cn/portal0/tab181/. Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2006. Beijing Bureau of Statistics. China Statistics Press,

Beijing China

- Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2014. Beijing Bureau of Statistics. China Statistics Press, Beijing, China.
- Bond, T.C., Streets, D.G., Yarber, K.F., Nelson, S.M., Woo, J.-H., Klimont, Z., 2004. A technology-based global inventory of black and organic carbon emissions from combustion. J. Geophys. Res.-Atmos. 109, D14203.
- Bond, T.C., Zarzycki, C., Flanner, M.G., Koch, D.M., 2011. Quantifying immediate radiative forcing by black carbon and organic matter with the specific forcing pulse. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 11, 1505-1525.
- Cao, G., Zhang, X., Zheng, F., 2006. Inventory of black carbon and organic carbon
- emissions from China. Atmos. Environ. 40, 6516–6527. Cao, J.J., Lee, S.C., Ho, K.F., Zhang, X.Y., Zou, S.C., Fung, K., Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G., 2003. Characteristics of carbonaceous aerosol in Pearl River Delta Region, China
- during 2001 winter period. Atmos. Environ. 37, 1451–1460. Cao, J.J., Zhu, C.S., Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G., Han, Y.M., Wang, G.H., Shen, Z.X., An, Z.S., 2009. Black carbon relationships with emissions and meteorology in Xi'an, China. Atmos. Res. 94, 194-202
- Chameides, W.L., Bergin, M., 2002. Soot takes center stage. Science 297, 2214–2215. Chameides, W.L., Yu, H., Liu, S.C., Bergin, M., Zhou, X., Mearns, L., Wang, G., Kiang, S.C., Saylor, R.D., Luo, C., Huang, Y., Steiner, A., Giorgi, F., 1999. Case study
- of the effects of atmospheric aerosols and regional haze on agriculture: an opportunity to enhance crop yields in China through emission controls? P. Natl. A. Sci. 96, 13626–13633.
- Chen, Y., Cen, K., Norra, S., Schleicher, N., Yu, Y., 2010. Study on pollution characteristics of PM_{2.5} in the aerosol, tracing and tracking atmospheric particulates in Beijing city. Geoscience 24, 345–354 (In Chinese, English abstract).
- Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Norra, S., 2014. The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of PM_{2.5} iing, Sci. Total Environ, 490, 647-658.
- Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., Norra, S., 2013. The effect of government policies on the temporal development of contamination characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China. In: Rauch, S., Morrison, G.M., Schleicher, N., Norra, S. (Eds.), Urban Environment, Proceedings of the 11th Urban Environment Symposium, 2013. Springer, Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 313–321. Chen, Z., Ge, S., Zhang, J., 1994. Measurement and analysis for atmospheric aerosol
- particulates in Beijing. Res. Environ. Sci. 7, 1-9 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- China Statistical Yearbook, 2013. National Bureau of Statistics. China Statistics Press, Beijing, China.
- Dan, M., Zhuang, G., Li, X., Tao, H., Zhuang, Y., 2004. The characteristics of carbonaceous species and their sources in PM2.5 in Beijing. Atmos. Environ. 38, 3443-3452.
- Duan, F., Liu, X., Yu, T., Cachier, H., 2004. Identification and estimate of biomass burning run run in contribution to the urban aerosol organic carbon concentrations in Beijing. Atmos. Environ. 38, 1275–1282.
 Feng, J., Zhong, M., Xu, B., Du, Y., Wu, M., Wang, H., Chen, C., 2014. Concentrations,
- easonal and diurnal variations of black carbon in PM2.5 in Shanghai, China. Atmos. Res. 147–148, 1–9.
- Fricker, M., Schultz, E., 2002. Black carbon measurement by the oil immersion technique under low polluted, rural conditions. Gefahrst. Reinhalt. Luft 62, 385–390 (in German with English abstract).
- Geng, Fh. Hua, L. Mu, Z., Peng, L., Xu, Xh, Chen, Ri, Kan, Hd, 2013, Differentiating the associations of black carbon and fine particle with daily mortality in a Chinese city. Environ. Res. 120, 27-32.
- Guinot, B., Cachier, H., Sciare, J., Tong, Y., Xin, W., Jianhua, Y., 2007. Beijing aerosol: atmospheric interactions and new trends. J. Geophys. Res.-Atmos. 112, D14314. Hansen, J., Sato, M., Ruedy, R., Lacis, A., Oinas, V., 2000. Global warming in the
- twenty-first century: an alternative scenario. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 9875 - 9880
- He, K., Yang, F., Ma, Y., Zhang, Q., Yao, X., Chan, C., Cadle, S., Chan, T., Mulawa, P., 2001. The characteristics of PM_{2.5} in Beijing, China. Atmos. Environ. 4959-4970
- Heintzenberg, J., 1982. Size-segregated measurements of particulate elemental carbon and aerosol light absorption at remote artic locations. Atmos. Environ. 16. 2461-2470.
- Hitzenberger, R., Petzold, A., Bauer, H., Ctyroky, P., Pouresmaeil, P., Laskus, L., Puxbaum, H., 2006. Intercomparison of thermal and optical measurement methods for elemental carbon and black carbon at an urban location. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 6377-6383.
- Ho, K.F., Lee, S.C., Cao, J.J., Li, Y.S., Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G., Fung, K., 2006. Variability of organic and elemental carbon, water soluble organic carbon, and isotopes in Hong Kong. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 6, 4569-4576.
- Jacobson, M., 2001. Strong radiative heating due to the mixing state of black carbon in atmospheric aerosols. Nature 409, 695-697.
- Jansen, K.L., Larson, T.V., Koenig, J.Q., Mar, T.F., Fields, C., Stewart, J., Lippmann, M., 2005. Associations between health effects and particulate matter and black carbon in subjects with respiratory disease. Environ. Health Persp 113, 1741-1746
- Janssen, N.A., Hoek, G., Simic-Lawson, M., Fischer, P., van Bree, L., ten Brink, H., Keuken, M., Atkinson, R.W., Anderson, H.R., Brunekreef, B., Cassee, F.R., 2011. Black carbon as an additional indicator of the adverse health effects of airborne particles compared with PM10 and PM_{2.5}. Environ. Health Persp 119, 1691-1699.
- Kanaya, Y., Komazaki, Y., Pochanart, P., Liu, Y., Akimoto, H., Gao, J., Wang, T.,

Y. Chen et al. / Environmental Pollution 212 (2016) 269-278

Wang, Z., 2008, Mass concentrations of black carbon measured by four instruments in the middle of Central East China in June 2006. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 7637-7649

- Kim, H.-S., Huh, J.-B., Hopke, P.K., Holsen, T.M., Yi, S.-M., 2007. Characteristics of the major chemical constituents of PM₂₅ and smog events in Seoul, Korea in 2003 and 2004. Atmos. Environ. 41, 6762–6770.
- Kondo, Y., Ram, K., Takegawa, N., Sahu, L., Morino, Y., Liu, X., Ohara, T., 2012. Reduction of black carbon aerosols in Tokyo: comparison of real-time observations with emission estimates. Atmos. Environ. 54, 242–249.
- Lou, S., Mao, J., Wang, M., 2007. Observation of black carbon aerosol in Beijing, 2003.
- Front. Environ. Sci. Engin. China 1, 345–349.
 Lu, Z., Zhang, Q., Streets, D.G., 2011. Sulfur dioxide and primary carbonaceous aerosol emissions in China and India, 1996 2010. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 11, 9839-9864.
- Lyamani, H., Olmo, F.J., Foyo, I., Alados-Arboledas, L., 2011. Black carbon aerosols over an urban area in south-eastern Spain: changes detected after the 2008 economic crisis. Atmos. Environ. 45, 6423–6432.
- McConnell, J.R., Edwards, R., Kok, G.L., Flanner, M.G., Zender, C.S., Saltzman, E.S., Banta, J.R., Pasteris, D.R., Carter, M.M., Kahl, J.D.W., 2007. 20th-century industrial black carbon emissions altered arctic climate forcing. Science 317, 1381-1384.
- Menon, S., Hansen, J., Nazarenko, L., Luo, Y., 2002. Climate effects of black carbon aerosols in China and India. Science 297, 2250–2253.
 Ni, M., Huang, J., Lu, S., Li, X., Yan, J., Cen, K., 2014. A review on black carbon emissions, worldwide and in China. Chemosphere 107, 83–93.
 Ohara, T., Akimoto, H., Kurokawa, J., Horti, N., Yamaji, K., Yan, X., Hayasaka, T., 2007.
- An Asian emission inventory of anthropogenic emission sources for the period 1980 – 2020. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 7, 4419–4444. Pakkanen, T.A., Kerminen, V.-M., Ojanen, C.H., Hillamo, R.E., Aarnio,
- Koskentalo, T., 2000. Atmospheric black carbon in Helsinki. Atmos. Environ. 34, 1497-1506.
- Penner, J.E., Novakov, T., 1996. Carbonaceous particles in the atmosphere: a historical perspective to the fifth international conference on carbonaceous par-ticles in the atmosphere. J. Geophys. Res.-Atmos. D101, 19373–19378.
- Putaud, J.P., Van Dingenen, R., Baltensperger, U., Brüggemann, E., Charron, A., Facchini, M.C., Decesari, S., et al., 2003. A European Aerosol Phenomenology: Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Particulate Matter at Kerbside, Urban, Rural and Background Sites in Europe. Rep. EUR 20411 EN. European Commission, Brussels. Available at: http://ccu.ei.jrc.it/ccu.
- Ramanathan, V., Carmichael, G., 2008. Global and regional climate changes due to black carbon. Nat. Geosci. 1, 221–227.
- Safai, P.D., Kewat, S., Praveen, P.S., Rao, P.S.P., Momin, G.A., Ali, K., Devara, P.C.S. 2007. Seasonal variation of black carbon aerosols over a tropical urban city of Pune, India. Atmos. Environ. 41, 2699–2709. Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., 2012. Efficiency of mitigation
- measures to reduce particulate air pollution—a case study during the olympic summer games 2008 in Beijing, China. Sci. Total Environ. 427, 146–158. Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Dietze, V., Yu, Y., Fricker, M., Kaminski, U., Chen, Y., Cen, K.,
- 2011. The effect of mitigation measures on size distributed mass concentrations

of atmospheric particles and black carbon concentrations during the Olympic summer games 2008 in Beijing. Sci. Total Environ. 412, 185–193.

- Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Fricker, M., Kaminski, U., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., Yu, Y., Cen, K., 2013. Spatio-temporal variations of black carbon concentrations in the megacity Beijing. Environ. Pollut. 182, 392–401.Song, S., Wu, Y., Xu, J., Ohara, T., Hasegawa, S., Li, J., Yang, L., Hao, J., 2013. Black
- carbon at a roadside site in Beijing: temporal variations and relationships with carbon monoxide and particle number size distribution. Atmos. Environ, 77. 213-221.
- Straif, K., Keil, U., Taeger, D., Holthenrich, D., Sun, Y., Bungers, M., Weiland, S.K., 2000. Exposure to nitrosamines, carbon black, asbestos, and talc and mortality from stomach, lung, and laryngeal cancer in a cohort of rubber workers. Am. J. Epidemiol. 152, 297-306.
- Streets, D.G., Gupta, S., Waldhoff, S.T., Wang, M.Q., Bond, T.C., Yiyun, B., 2001. Black carbon emissions in China, Atmos, Environ, 35, 4281-4296
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 2012. Report to Congress on Black Carbon. http://www.epa.gov/blackcarbon/2012report/fullreport.pdf.
- Wang, G., Bai, J., Kong, Q., Emilenko, A., 2005. Black carbo particles in the urban atmosphere in Beijing. Adv. Atmos. Sci. 22, 640–646.
- Wang, S., Zhao, M., Xing, J., Wu, Y., Zhou, Y., Lei, Y., He, K., Fu, L., Hao, J., 2010. Quantifying the air pollutants emission reduction during the 2008 Olympic games in Beijing. Env. Sci. Technol. 44, 2490-2496.
- Wang, X., Westerdahl, D., Chen, L.C., Wu, Y., Hao, J., Pan, X., Guo, X., Zhang, K.M., 2009. Evaluating the air quality impacts of the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games on-road emission factors and black carbon profiles. Atmos. Environ. 43, 4535-4543.
- Watson, J.G., Chow, J.C., 2002. Comparison and evaluation of in situ and filter carbon measurements at the Fresno Supersite. J. Geophys. Res.-Atmos 107, 3-15. ICC 3-1-ICC
- Wolff, G.T., 1981a. Particulate elemental carbon in the atmosphere. JAPCA. J. Air Waste. Ma 31, 935-939.
- Wolff, G.T., 1981b. Particulate elemental carbon in the atmosphere. JAPCA. J. Air Waste. Ma 31, 935–938.
- , Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Fricker, M., Dietze, V., Kaminski, U., Cen, K., Stüben, D., 2011. Dynamics and origin of PM_{2.5} during a three-year sampling period in Beijing, China. J. Environ. Monit. 13, 334–346.
- Zhang, Q., Streets, D.G., Carmichael, G.R., He, K.B., Huo, H., Kannari, A., Klimont, Z., Park, I.S., Reddy, S., Fu, J.S., Chen, D., Duan, L., Lei, Y., Wang, L.T., Yao, Z.L., 2009. Asian emissions in 2006 for the NASA INTEX-B mission. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 9, 5131-5153.
- Zhang, X., Rao, R., Huang, Y., Mao, M., Berg, M.J., Sun, W., 2015. Black carbon aerosols in urban central China. J. Quant. Spectrosc. Radiat. Transf. 150, 3–11. Zhao, P., Dong, F., Yang, Y., He, D., Zhao, X., Zhang, W., Yao, Q., Liu, H., 2013. Char-
- acteristics of carbonaceous aerosol in the region of Beijing, Tianjin, and Hebei,
- China. Atmos. Environ. 71, 389–398.
 Zhou, J., Zhang, R., Cao, J., Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G., 2012. Carbonaceous and ionic components of atmospheric fine particles in Beijing and their impact on atmospheric visibility. Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 12, 492-502.

A.3 Evaluation of impact factors on PM_{2.5} based on long-term chemical components analyses in the megacity Beijing, China

Chemosphere 155 (2016) 234-242



Evaluation of impact factors on PM_{2.5} based on long-term chemical components analyses in the megacity Beijing, China



Yuan Chen ^{a, *}, Nina Schleicher ^a, Kuang Cen ^b, Xiuli Liu ^b, Yang Yu ^b, Volker Zibat ^c, Volker Dietze ^d, Mathieu Fricker ^d, Uwe Kaminski ^d, Yizhen Chen ^e, Fahe Chai ^e, Stefan Norra ^{a, f, g}

^a Institute of Applied Geosciences, Working Group for Environmental Mineralogy and Environmental System Analysis, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany

^c Laboratory for Electron Microscopy, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany

^d Air Quality Department, Research Center Human Biometeorology, German Meteorological Service, 79104 Freiburg i. Br., Germany

¹ Institute of Urban and Regional Atmospheric Sciences, Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences, 10012 Beijing, China

^f Institute of Geography and Geoecology, Working Group for Environmental Mineralogy and Environmental System Analysis, Karlsruhe Institute of

Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany

^g Institute of Mineralogy, Technische Universität Bergakademie Freiberg, Brennhausgasse 14, 09599 Freiberg, Germany

HIGHLIGHTS

• Chemical components of aerosol particulates were analyzed in Beijing for nine years.

• Different sources of PM_{2.5} were defined by principle component analysis.

• The influences of mitigation measures on air quality were quantified and evaluated.

• For the first time, gallium (Ga) was used as a tracer for coal combustion in China.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 January 2016 Received in revised form 12 April 2016 Accepted 13 April 2016

Handling Editor: Ralf Ebinghaus

Keywords: Urban aerosol PM_{2.5} Chemical compositions Gallium Mitigation measures Megacity

ABSTRACT

Nine years of sampling and analyses of fine particles (PM_{2.5}) were performed in Beijing from 2005 to 2013. Twenty-seven chemical elements and black carbon (BC) in PM_{2.5} were analyzed in order to study chemical characteristics and temporal distribution of Beijing aerosols. Principle component analysis defined different types of elemental sources, based on which, the influences of a variety of anthropogenic activities including governmental intervention measures and natural sources on air quality were evaluated. For the first time, Ga is used as a tracer element for heating activities mainly using coal in Beijing, due to its correlation with BC and coal combustion, as well as its concentration variation between the heating- and non-heating periods. The traffic restrictions effectively reduced emissions of relevant heavy metals such as As, Cd, Sn and Sb. The expected long-term effectiveness of the steel smelters relocation was not observed due to the nearby relocation with increased capacity. Firework display during every Chinese spring festival season and special events such as the Olympic Games resulted in several times higher concentrations of K, Sr and Ba than other days and thus they were proposed as tracers for firework display. The impacts of all these factors were quantified and evaluated. Sand dust or dust storms induced higher concentrations of geogenic elements in PM2.5 compared to non-dust days. Sustainable mitigation measures, such as traffic restrictions, are necessary to be continued and improved to obtain more "blue sky" days in the future.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{O}}$ 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

* Corresponding author. Institute for Applied Geosciences, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Adenauerring 20b, Geb. 50.40, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany. *E-mail address:* vuan.chen@kit.edu (Y. Chen).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.04.052 0045-6535/© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. Beijing, the capital of the People's Republic of China, is the country's economic, cultural and political center. It is a typical Asian

^b School of the Earth Sciences and Resources, China University of Geosciences, 100083 Beijing, China

megacity with a population of more than 21 million (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2015). However, rapid industrialization and urbanization is accompanied by air pollution, especially in the urban area. It has become one of the greatest environmental concerns of both the public and scientists in the 21st century. Aerosol particles occur over a wide range of size from nanometer scale to micrometer scale. Fine particles, such as those finer as 2.5 μ m (PM_{2.5}), have adverse impacts on human health since they can be inhaled deep into the lungs and even reach the alveolus, where the smallest particles can pass the blood barrier (e.g. Dockery and Pope, 1994; Schwartz et al., 1996). Thus PM_{2.5} is made responsible for a wide variety of diseases, especially of the respiratory tract and the cardiovascular system. The global burden of disease (GBD) due to urban air pollution occurs dominantly in developing countries; developing Asia is estimated to contribute approximately twothirds of the global burden (Cohen et al., 2005). In China, the GBD estimates 1.2 million premature deaths; in Beijing City mortality due to PM_{2.5} is about 22,000-30,0000 persons per year (Zheng et al., 2015). The impacts of air pollution on human health are the predominant driver toward implementing air quality regulations.

Previous studies have investigated chemical constituents and their variations of aerosol particles in Beijing. For some examples, daily observations of hazardous trace metal concentrations in aerosols were conducted to describe their temporal distributions from 2001 to 2006 (Okuda et al., 2008). Crustal elements did not show clear increases while hazardous trace metals, such as Cd and Pb concentrations increased remarkably (Okuda et al., 2008). PM_{2.5} and total suspended particulate (TSP) were studied in spring by a 4-year campaign (2001–2004) in order to understand the variation of characteristics and formation mechanisms of aerosols on dust, haze, and clear days in Beijing (Wang et al., 2006).

Beijing hosted the Olympic Summer Games (8th-24th in August) and the Paralympic Games (6th-17th in September) in 2008. The corresponding week numbers are calendar week (CW) 32/08 to CW34/08 and CW36/08 to CW38/08, respectively. These two periods together are called the Olympic Games period in this study. To improve air quality during the Games, the Beijing municipal government enforced a series of mitigation measures including traffic restriction, industry relocation and construction limitation (Chen et al., 2013, 2014). Previous studies documented the effectiveness of these actions during the Olympic Games in mitigating air pollution, covering reduced PM_{2.5}, PM₁₀, TSP, CO, NO₂, O₃, trace elements and water-soluble ions (Wang and Xie, 2009; Okuda et al., 2011; Schleicher et al., 2011b; Li et al., 2012). However, very few publications represented long-term effects of these measures. Besides these specific measures on particular sources, the government enacted macro policies to mitigate pollution. For instance, energy structure transformation has been in progress in all of China, and particularly in Beijing, to improve air quality by increasing clean energy and reducing coal consumption (Chen et al., 2016).

In this study, twenty-seven chemical elements in $PM_{2.5}$ were analyzed to detect chemical pollution, its sources and its long-term variation to assess the mitigation measures. Nine years of sampling and measurements provided referential data for not only air studies but also pathological research and policy-making.

2. Sampling and methods

2.1. Study area and samples collection

Weekly $PM_{2.5}$ samples were collected at two sampling sites: one is installed near the main entrance of the China University of Geosciences, Beijing (CUGB) at a height of 1.5 m, and the other one is set up on the roof of the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES) at a height of about 20 m. The former was located near the 4th ring road in the urban area and the latter was located between the 5th ring road and the 6th ring road (Fig. 1). Samples were collected on quartz fiber filters (Whatman Inc., Maidstone, UK) with Mini-Volume Samplers (Leckel, Berlin). PM_{2.5} particles are isolated by the jet impactor with a size selective inlet. The flow rate of the samplers was set up to 200 L/h and was continuously inspected with a rotameter.

To investigate the effects of the special governmental policies for the Olympic Games period, samples with higher time-resolution (12-hourly samples at the CRAES site and 24-hourly samples at the CUGB site) were collected in August and September 2008 (Schleicher et al., 2011b, 2012). Higher time-resolution samples in one week during Olympic Games were considered as one weekly sample. The observation period of this study comprises the sampling period from 2005 to 2013 at the CUGB site and the period from 2007 to 2010 at the CRAES site. There are 440 valid samples from CUGB and 158 valid samples from CRAES.

The aerosol samples analyzed in this study are mainly from the CUGB site. $PM_{2.5}$ samples of the CRAES site were studied with same methods and were published in Chen et al. (2014). The former results of the CRAES site were used for comparison with the data from the CUGB site throughout this study.

2.2. Mass concentration analysis

Filters were equilibrated for at least 48 h at a constant temperature $(22 \pm 3 \,^{\circ}C)$ and relative humidity $(40 \pm 3\%)$ and then were weighed at least three times for mass concentration calculation before and after sample collection with a microbalance (Sartorius SE 2-F, Göttingen, Germany). Filter blanks, laboratory blanks and externally certified standard weights were used for all gravimetric analyses for quality assurance. A more detailed description of weighing procedures can be found in previous studies of the same project (Chen et al., 2013, 2014). All gravimetric analyses were performed at the Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, which recently became a part of the Institute of Applied Geosciences, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (AGW-KIT), Germany.

2.3. Chemical analysis

One quarter of each filter sample was used for element concentration analysis. The filter quarters were digested with concentrated HNO₃, HF and HClO₄ (Merck, suprapur) in Teflon vessels. Twice-diluted samples with HNO₃ (1%) were analyzed by a high-resolution inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (HR-ICP-MS, Axiom, VG Elemental). Standard protocols included measurements of filter samples, filter blanks, laboratory blanks, and externally certified reference materials for analytical accuracy control. All samples were measured in triplicates and mean values were used as analytical results. Methodological blank values of the filter blanks were subtracted from analytical results of PM_{2.5} filter samples. Element concentrations of certified reference materials, SRM 1648 (urban particulate matter) and GXR 2 (soil sample) from the National Institute of Standards & Technology (NIST, USA), were generally within $\pm 10\%$ of the certified values. All analyses were performed at the AGW-KIT. A more detailed description of the analytical procedures and can be found in previous studies of the same project (Schleicher et al., 2011a, 2012).

Black carbon (BC) was measured with a SPECORD 50 and a SPECORD 50 PLUS (Analytic Jena AG, Jena, Germany) by the optical transmission technique. A standard thermal analysis method (VDI, 1999) was used to link light absorption by the filter samples to elemental carbon concentrations, detailed information about the method was published in Chen et al. (2016).

Y. Chen et al. / Chemosphere 155 (2016) 234-242



Fig. 1. Sampling sites and the main traffic network of the Beijing urban area, including 2nd–6th ring roads. (Source of the map: OpenStreetMap.)

2.4. Meteorological data

Meteorological data were obtained from the German Meteorological Service (DWD). The 3-hourly parameters including precipitation, temperature, visibility, wind direction and wind speed were collected from a meteorological station in Beijing registered at the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) with the code 54511. As weekly samples were analyzed in this study, average of 3-hourly data in each week was used in the following sections. Wind direction usually changed time after time and the weekly average wind direction did not reflect the real wind direction at every point in time. Therefore, it was only considered when discussing a certain time period.

3. Results

The average concentrations of all determined elements at the CUGB site are shown in Table 1 in order of increasing enrichment factors (EFs). Year-by-year data for the chemical composition of PM_{2.5} from 2005 to 2013 can be found in supplementary materials (Table S1). EFs were calculated to distinguish between elements originating from natural sources or anthropogenic sources, to thus estimate the level of anthropogenic pollution. The enrichment factor for each element (X) in the fine particles (ptc), relative to the upper crust (ucc), can be calculated using the ratio between that element's concentration C_X and the concentration of the reference element titanium C_{Ti} (Eq. (1)).

Table 1 Element concentrations ($\mu g/g)$ and enrichment factors (EFs).

	CUGB site, this study				CRAES site (Chen et al., 2014)			
	N	Mean	Stdev	EFs(ucc)	N	Mean	Stdev	EFs(ucc)
Al	395	15,700	17,100	1	157	23,800	14,300	1
Sc	402	2.8	2.4	1	158	3.5	2.43	1
Ti	417	985	667	1	158	1240	747	1
Y	294	7.6	7.1	1	156	8.3	5.64	1
Fe	417	17,300	8500	2	158	17,500	9180	1
Mg	373	7120	11,100	2	153	10,300	6170	2
Sr	417	191	243	2	158	225	155	2
Na	366	19,500	66,600	2	146	26,300	37,600	2
V	396	50.9	29.7	3	158	43.5	21.4	2
Κ	417	24,500	13,900	3	158	22,000	11,500	2
Ca	372	31,800	41,700	3	155	37,500	25,500	3
Rb	417	124	55.5	3				
Со	417	14.9	21.9	5	158	11.8	11.9	3
Mn	417	1040	456	5	158	976	643	4
Ba	406	1190	3210	7				
Ga	396	59.4	43.3	11				
Cs	417	18.3	9.7	15				
Cr	350	183	170	16	158	136	117	10
Р	276	7390	35,100	24	145	6880	13,300	20
Ni	347	181	250	28	153	65.5	55.4	8
Cu	417	594	266	72	158	574	433	56
Sn	377	147	81.8	81	158	114	138	50
Zn	416	5360	3600	230	158	4940	3600	168
Pb	417	2340	882	357	158	1710	996	207
As	417	243	147	493	158	176	175	285
Cd	417	43.5	20.3	1350	153	59.0	150	1460
Sb	417	151	62.6	2300	152	155	106	1880

Element concentrations in the upper crust were published by

Taylor and McLennan (1985), except for the concentration of P, which is obtained from Yaroshevsky (2006).

Generally, elements with small EFs <5, such as Al Sc, Y and V, are likely associated with a source largely derived from the upper continental crustal material, while elements with relatively high EFs >50, such as Cd, Sb, As and Pb, predominantly originate from anthropogenic pollution. This method was also used in Chen et al. (2014) for CRAES PM_{2.5} samples. The elements with both small EFs (<5) and high EFs (>50) in the current work are identical with the results of Chen et al. (2014) (Table 1).

There are no comprehensive standards for all chemical elements in aerosols or $PM_{2.5}$ yet. The Chinese Ambient Air Quality Standard (GB3095-2012) provides reference standards for As (6 ng/m³) Cd (5 ng/m³) and Pb (500 ng/m³) (MEP-China, 2012). Based on the chemical analyses of CUGB $PM_{2.5}$ samples (N = 417), their weekly average concentrations are 15 ng/m³, 3 ng/m³ and 145 ng/m³, respectively. Arsenic concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ reached 2.5 times of the ambient air quality standard. Inhalable As-containing particles have a direct inverse influence on health via respiration (Álvarez et al., 2004). Epidemiological studies have demonstrated the association between long-term exposure to inorganic As and increased the risk of lung and skin cancers (Bates et al., 1992; Chiou et al., 1995).

4. Discussion

4.1. Source appointment of fine particles by factor analysis

To investigate aerosol sources, factor analysis of CUGB PM_{2.5} samples was conducted with the software package STATISTICA 8.0 (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, USA) for the concentrations of 27 elements, PM_{2.5} mass concentrations, BC mass concentrations and the meteorological parameters. Seven factors with eigenvalues larger than 1 were extracted by principle component analysis (PCA) applying varimax standardized rotation, accounting for 77% of the explained variance (Expl. Var.). The factor loadings are listed in Table 2.

Cadmium, As, Sn, Pb, Zn, Cu, Cs and Sb show high positive loadings in **Factor 1** (Table 2) and account for 14% of the variance. They had high EFs up to 2300 (Table 1). Their typical anthropogenic sources are coal combustion and traffic (Huang et al., 1994; Reimann and Caritat, 1998; Wongphatarakul et al., 1998; Sternbeck et al., 2002; Cyrys et al., 2003; Wåhlin et al., 2006). Smelting (Cd, As, Pb, Zn, Cu and Sb), sewage sludge (As, Sn, Pb, Zn, Cu and Sb) and waste incineration (Sn and Pb) are also important pathways to atmospheric environment for them (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). These eight elements were associated in CRAES PM_{2.5} samples as well and were interpreted to represent anthropogenic pollution, primarily traffic and industry pollution including coal combustion (Chen et al., 2014).

Factor 2 comprises several elements with high positive loadings (Table 2) and accounts for 18% of the variance. These elements are Sc, Ti, Fe, Al, V, Y, Mn and Rb. They are typical geogenic elements with EFs close to 1 and smaller than 5 (Table 1). Wind speed also has high positive loading in this factor. High speed wind from the north or the northwest accompanying by sand dust or sand dust storms can transport high PM_{2.5} concentrations to Beijing (Chen et al., 2016). Sand dust days are always along with high factor scores, for example sand dust or dust days in the 12th weeks in March 2008, 2009 and 2010. High factor scores in the factor which represented geogenic sources were also observed at the CRAES site during the same weeks (Chen et al., 2014). Consequently, factor 2 can be interpreted to represent primarily geogenic influences.

Sodium, P, Mg and Ca show high positive loadings in Factor 3 (Table 2) with low EFs (<10) except P with EF 24 (Table 1),

accounting for 11% of the variance. The common sources of those elements are fertilizers. Thus, agricultural areas in and around Beijing might be a major contributor to this element association. They can also originate from geogenic dust and construction activities. The factor scores curve was stable over the whole time span with only one extremely high peak during the Olympic Games and a small peak during the 60th anniversary of the founding of the People's Republic of China. Sodium and P can be transported to the atmosphere due to waste waters treatment (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). In a previous study of $PM_{2.5}$ source apportionment at the CRAES site, there were two peaks of factor scores of Na and P as well (Chen et al., 2014), which corresponded to the two peaks of this study. Two sewage treatment plants nearby were considered to be possible contributors. Barium also shows relative high loading in this factor (Table 2). Barium (Wang et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2012) and P (Moreno et al., 2010) can originate from the firework displays. Consequently, firework displays during these two periods can be contributors to the peaks of factor scores.

Only Ga, with EF 11, has high positive loadings in Factor 4 (Table 2). Furthermore, with a lower loading relative to Ga (Table 2), BC is also included in this factor. As illustrated in Fig. 2, Ga is well correlated with BC (Spearman correlation coefficient of 0.71, N = 396), especially during the heating period (usually from Mid-November to the following Mid-March) where the EF of Ga is 20. Negative loadings for precipitation and temperature were observed. They were reversely correlated to Ga and BC. Generally, low Ga and BC concentrations correlated with more rainfall and higher temperature in summer, while high Ga and BC concentrations correlated with less rainfall and low temperature in winter. The main common source for Ga and BC is coal combustion (Reimann and Caritat, 1998; Streets et al., 2001). Factor scores were much higher in winter than in other seasons, especially during the heating period. Gallium is enriched in coal geogenically and emitted into the aerosols in fly ash from coal combustion (Fang and Gesser, 1996; Dai et al., 2012; Mastalerz and Drobniak, 2012). The Ga content in Chinese coals and world coals is 6.55 μ g/g (Dai et al., 2012) and 5.8 µg/g (Ketris and Yudovich, 2009). Ga-rich coal deposits (>30 μ g/g) were suggested to be potential resources for Ga recovery as a by-product of coal combustion (Dai et al., 2012). BC can result from incomplete combustion of various fossil fuels, biofuels and biomass, while coal combustion is the primary anthropogenic source for Ga except Al-Mn-Cr-Fe production. Additionally, Ga displays seasonality connected to the heating activities mainly using coal. Therefore, Ga was used as a tracer for residential heating activities in Beijing in the following study in Section 4.2.2. Cadmium and As can also be released by coal combustion as described in the beginning of this section (discussion about Factor 1), however, they don't show high factor loadings in this Factor. This might be attributed to their multiple sources such as traffic and industry (e.g., smelting) over the whole year, which did not present seasonal variety like Ga and BC.

Cobalt, Ni and Cr are the dominating elements in **Factor 5** (Table 2) with EFs of 5, 28 and 16, respectively (Table 1). Their common anthropogenic sources include steel works, smelters and fuel combustion. They were recommended as fingerprint for metal processing industry, especially for steel works (Kuang et al., 2004; Nath et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2014). Cobalt and Ni also indicate emissions from crude oil processing in refineries (Norra and Stüben, 2004; Speight, 2014). Yanshan Refinery of China Petroleum & Chemical (Sinopec) is located in the suburb of Beijing. Its capacity reached up to 10 million tons with production of Euro IV standard oil product in 2007. As the first 10-million-ton refining base in China, it accounts for around two thirds of the gasoline market in Beijing. (source: Sinopec official webpage). Consequently, oil refining was regarded as one source of this factor. Waste
Y. Chen et al. / Chemosphere 155 (2016) 234-242

 Table 2

 Factor loadings of seven extracted factors of elements, mass concentrations (MC), BC and meteorological parameters such as wind speed (WS), temperature (Temp.), visibility (Vis.) and precipitation (Preci.) for PM2.5 samples by principal component analysis, varimax standardized rotation, together with explained variance (Expl. Var.). High loadings

	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4	Factor 5	Factor 6	Factor 7
Cd	0.88	0.06	0.08	-0.07	-0.13	0.04	0.04
As	0.79	0.02	0.09	0.10	-0.01	0.01	-0.01
Sn	0.75	0.15	-0.01	-0.14	0.13	0.07	0.10
Pb	0.70	-0.07	-0.03	0.02	0.12	0.02	0.51
Zn	0.58	0.13	0.49	-0.21	0.14	-0.06	0.33
Cu	0.55	0.11	0.10	0.16	0.41	0.07	0.51
Cs	0.52	0.44	0.27	-0.06	0.14	-0.07	0.52
Sb	0.52	0.00	-0.02	0.32	0.31	-0.12	-0.44
Sc	-0.13	0.94	-0.02	0.07	-0.07	0.05	-0.01
Ti	-0.14	0.92	0.04	0.13	0.05	0.10	-0.08
Fe	0.15	0.90	0.14	0.03	0.24	0.06	0.13
Al	0.13	0.82	0.34	-0.01	0.15	-0.03	0.32
V	0.14	0.76	0.09	-0.09	0.12	-0.04	0.30
Y	0.20	0.64	0.24	-0.06	-0.07	0.18	-0.13
Mn	0.32	0.60	0.10	0.28	0.30	0.23	0.21
Rb	0.44	0.58	0.11	-0.03	0.10	-0.11	0.48
Na	0.00	0.07	0.93	0.01	0.17	0.05	0.04
Р	0.20	0.05	0.86	-0.15	-0.01	-0.02	0.19
Mg	-0.10	0.46	0.74	0.03	0.03	0.14	0.03
Ва	0.25	0.22	0.61	-0.02	0.09	-0.06	0.65
Ca	0.11	0.42	0.58	0.04	0.55	0.07	0.00
Ga	0.11	0.11	0.04	0.80	0.25	-0.09	0.20
BC	-0.03	0.05	-0.15	0.39	-0.16	-0.77	-0.13
Preci.	-0.03	-0.08	0.07	-0.64	0.42	-0.07	0.02
Temp.	0.17	0.05	0.10	-0.89	-0.01	0.02	-0.07
Co	0.08	0.18	-0.01	-0.07	0.87	-0.08	0.02
Ni	-0.07	0.08	0.07	0.11	0.83	0.08	0.04
Cr	0.25	0.00	0.32	-0.10	0.55	0.04	0.15
Vis.	-0.08	0.29	0.05	0.21	-0.14	0.81	0.02
WS	-0.12	0.42	-0.17	0.10	-0.17	0.62	-0.08
MC	-0.40	0.14	-0.07	0.11	-0.26	-0.70	-0.03
K	0.10	0.03	-0.01	0.08	-0.03	0.04	0.82
Sr	0.03	0.21	0.32	0.25	0.16	0.10	0.79
Expl. Var. (%)	14	18	11	8	9	7	11



Fig. 2. Correlation between Ga and BC during the heating period (R_1^2) and the non-heating period $(R_2^2).$

incineration was a contributor of Ni and Cr as well (Nriagu and Pacyna, 1988; Reimann and Caritat, 1998). Copper shows relatively high loadings in this factor which can also originate from steel work and smelters (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). Therefore, this element association was interpreted as industry origins represented by steel works. More than half of the high factor scores (larger than 1) occurred in August and September with wind from the southwest and the northeast.

Factor 6 has high positive loadings for visibility and wind speed and negative loadings for fine particles and BC mass concentrations (Table 2). The high factor scores (larger than 1) mostly occurred in spring and winter, few in autumn and none in summer, which indicated not only that precipitation effects aerosol pollution, but also that wind speed has an impact on it as well. In spring and winter, low concentrations of $PM_{2.5}$ and BC from the north and the northwest were usually associated with good visibility and high wind speed, which helped aerosol pollutant diffusion during normal days without sand dust or dust storms (Chen et al., 2016). Wind direction also played a significant role in aerosol dispersion. Long-term study of BC and $PM_{2.5}$ with respect to meteorological conditions refers to Chen et al. (2016).

Potassium, Sr and Ba are included in **Factor 7**. Cesium, Cu and Pb also show relative high factor loadings in this factor (Table 2). Firework displays were short-term contributor for K, Sr, Ba, Cu and Pb in the atmosphere during the Chinese spring festival and lantern festival (Huang et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2007). The influence of fireworks will be discussed in Section 4.2.4. Construction materials were also interpreted as possible sources for Sr and Ba (Norra et al., 2008). In general, this factor was interpreted as diffuse urban pollution.

4.2. Evaluation of influences of anthropogenic impact factors

4.2.1. Evaluation of the traffic restriction measures

Based on the source apportionment, As, Cd, Sn and Sb, which were assembled in factor 1 and show very low factor loadings in other factors, were chosen to represent traffic-related elements. Former studies by Wang et al. (2010) and by Chen et al. (2014) with CRAES data demonstrated the effectiveness of different traffic mitigation measures during different periods. The odd-even traffic restriction measure during the Olympic Games period cut down about half of the motor vehicles every day. After the Olympic Games period, lower intensity traffic measures, e.g. 1/5 restriction measures on weekdays, reduced by around 20% of the civil vehicles on the roadways.

Within this study, average concentrations of three elements of nine consecutive Augusts (from 2005 to 2013) were calculated. Cadmium, Sn and Sb in August 2008 show the lowest concentrations among the nine Augusts (Fig. 3). Arsenic concentrations in August 2012 and 2013 were lower than the concentrations in August 2008. This might have resulted from the decreasing of other sources of As such as coal combustion.

Due to the scavenging effect of precipitation, periods with similar precipitation were selected for comparison study. August 2007 had similar precipitation to August 2008. Concentrations of As, Cd, Sn and Sb in August 2008 were reduced by 31%, 45%, 53% and 50% respectively with the most intensive traffic restrictions, compared to concentrations in August 2007 without any restrictions. August 2010 and 2011 had more precipitation than August in 2008. However, compared to concentrations in August 2008, concentrations of As, Cd, Sn and Sb increased by 108%, 117%, 71% and 49% in 2010 and increased by 131%, 260%, 149% and 11% in 2011, respectively, due to the lower intensity of traffic restriction measures. Precipitation in 2012 and 2013 was less than that in 2008. Element concentrations of Cd, Sn and Sb in 2012 and 2013 were slightly higher than those in 2008. Compared to 2008, both less precipitation and restriction measures with lower intensity can be contributors to increased element concentrations in 2012 and 2013.

In general, the concentrations after 2008 with traffic restriction measures were much lower compared to those before 2008 without any traffic restrictions (Fig. 3). The Olympic Games in 2008 became a milestone for the evaluation of the traffic restriction measures.

4.2.2. Evaluation of the influence of heating activities

Weekly mean concentration of Ga during the nine years was $59.4 \pm 43.3 \ \mu g/g \ (\mu g \ (Ga) \ per \ g \ (particles))$ and was calculated to $3.9 \pm 3.3 \ ng/m^3 \ (ng \ (Ga) \ per \ m^3 \ (air volume))$. Nine distinct peaks in total were observed over the whole sampling time span.

Eight noticeable peaks displayed during every heating period (HP) (Fig. 4). Weekly Ga mean concentrations were $108 \pm 37.9 \,\mu g/g$ ($7.5 \pm 3.1 \,ng/m^3$) and $34.8 \pm 19.1 \,\mu g/g$ ($2.1 \pm 1.9 \,ng/m^3$) during the heating period (HP) and the non-heating period (NHP). Weekly



Fig. 3. Elemental concentrations of As, Cd, Sn and Sb in August from 2005 to 2013.

mean during HP was more than 3 times to the weekly mean during NHP. At the end of the sampling time, in November 2013 when the heating systems started to run, Ga concentrations started to increase as well. Gallium concentrations displayed decreasing trends during both HPs and NHPs from 2005 to 2013 (Fig. 4, Fig. S1).

Each year, coal consumption in Beijing declined under the energy transformation policy. It decreased gradually from 30.7 million tons SCE (Standard Coal Equivalent) in 2005 to 20.2 million tons SCE in 2013 (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2015). BC in Beijing aerosol was demonstrated to correlate well with the declining consumption of coal and coke (Chen et al., 2016). In this study, Ga was positively related to coal consumption as well (Fig. S2). Weekly mean Ga concentration during NHP in 2013 was only 55.3% of the weekly mean during NHP in 2006. And the weekly mean during HP (2012–2013) was only 47.7% of the weekly mean during HP (2005-2006). According to Beijing Statistical Yearbook (2015), the year 2008 was a turning point for energy structure transform in Beijing for a 'Green' Olympic Games. Gallium average concentration during NHPs after 2008 was less than half compared to that before 2008 (Fig. S1). When compare all the HPs from 2005 to 2013, the reduction can be observed since HP-08/09 (the heating period from Nov. 2008 to Mar. 2009). The sharp reduction from HP-09/10 to HP-10/11 (Fig. S1) might be associated with the conspicuous decrease of coal consumption from 2010 to 2011 (from 26.4 to 23.7 million tons SCE) (Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2015). This also demonstrated the success of the energy structure transform in controlling pollutants emissions.

The other peak occurred from CW37/08 to CW 41/08, directly after the Paralympic Games (6th–17th of September, 2008) (Fig. 4). Many heavy element concentrations in aerosol particles increased dramatically in the meantime (Chen et al., 2014). After the Paralympic Games, most of the compulsory mitigation measures ceased; industries and factories restarted and recovered their capacities immediately, which led to more energy consumption, especially coal combustion. That might be the reason for this peak.

On the basis of nine-year data, Ga correlated well with BC, especially during the heating period, and displayed a strong variation between heating- and non-heating periods. It also correlated well with coal combustion in Beijing. Accordingly, this study is the first to use Ga as a tracer element for heating activities mainly due to coal combustion in Beijing.

4.2.3. Evaluation of the relocation of the Capital Steel Company

In 2005, the Capital Steel Company began its relocation to Caofeidian, which is around 225 km to the southeast of the former location in Beijing. Its activity in Beijing ceased at the end of 2010. It went into operation in the middle of 2010, and has gradually recovered capacity in Caofeidian.

At the CRAES site, annual mean concentrations of Cr, Co, Ni and in 2010 were reduced by 57%, 47% and 24%, respectively, when compared to the concentrations in 2008 (Chen et al., 2014). The short-term effectiveness of the relocation of the Capital Steel Company was documented (Chen et al., 2014). Within this study, if only the data from 2008 to 2010 were considered, they were reduced by 23%, 34% and 2.0%. However, from the view of nine-year measured data, the decrease in Cr, Co and Ni between 2008 and 2010 in Chen et al. (2014) was not continued but slightly reversed between 2011 and 2013 in this study (Fig. S3). This is attributed to the nearby relocation with the recovery of production. The concentration of Cr in 2008 was much higher than the previous two years (2006 and 2007) and following three years (2009, 2010 and 2011). It rose up again after 2011, and it was even higher in 2012 and 2013 than in 2008. The concentration of Co remained relatively stable during these years. Nickel in 2013 was reduced by more than half compared to 2006 and its highest concentration occurred in

Y. Chen et al. / Chemosphere 155 (2016) 234-242



Fig. 4. Weekly average Ga concentrations from 2005 to 2013, HP: the heating period, NHP: the non-heating period.

2009.

4.2.4. Evaluation of short-term impacts of firework displays

Firework display is officially permitted since 2006 by the municipal government in the Beijing urban area (Wang et al., 2007). It is only allowed during some special events like Olympic Games and festivals like the Chinese spring festival. Within this study, the sampling period covered nine Chinese spring festivals and nine lantern festivals (together called the spring festival season), which are in the first three weeks of every year, according to the Chinese lunar calendar, usually in January or February.

Factor 7 was interpreted to characterize firework display in Section 4.1. There are in total nine significant peaks of the factor scores during the observation of nine years (Fig. 5). Seven peaks are in correspondence with seven Chinese spring festival seasons from 2007 to 2013 (P1 to P7 in Fig. 5). The highest factor score 6.3 appeared during the 2008 Olympic Games (P8 in Fig. 5). The remaining one occurred in July 2007 (P9 in Fig. 5), probably as a result of a local firework display close to the sampling site. There is only a small peak (P0 in Fig. 5) during the spring festival season in 2005. This might be due to the official banning of fireworks at that time. Only small amounts of residents in rural areas used fireworks. Aerosol samples were not available during the 2006 spring festival season due to the absence of sampling activity at the CUGB site. Wang et al. (2007) reported that concentrations of K, Sr and Ba were 22, 17 and 82 times higher on the lantern festival night with fireworks in 2006 compared to other days in Beijing. The average concentrations of K, Sr and Ba during the spring festival season were 3, 6 and 5-times higher than the averages during the other days in this study.

Schleicher et al. (2012) found out that the concentrations of K, Sr and Ba at the opening ceremony on 8th August 2008 were 3-times higher compared to the average concentration of the previous fourteen days in TSP samples at the CRAES site. The 2008 Olympic Summer Games started from the second half of CW32/08 to CW34/ 08. This three-week average was taken to represent the air situation during this event. The weekly average concentrations of K, Sr and Ba were 16,300, 440 and 4160 ppm, respectively. They are respectively 2, 4 and 2-times higher in comparison with the average concentrations of the previous 3 weeks.

On average, K concentration during the 2008 Olympic Games was similar to the average during the same three weeks throughout the other eight years, which might result from its various sources, while Sr and Ba were 4 times higher. Therefore, when long-term average concentrations were studied, Sr and Ba were recommended as tracers for studying the impacts of firework display.

4.3. Evaluation of the influence of sand dust or dust storms

The provenances of sand dust or dust storms in Beijing are primarily the deserts, Gobi and sandy lands in/to the north and northwest of China. They are in arid and semiarid regions, which cover 13.6% of China's area (Zhu et al., 1986). Sand dust or dust storms usually occur in spring and sometimes in winter with high wind velocity. They can trigger visibility deterioration which interrupted transportation and aviation and even affected residents' commute (Zhao et al., 2007; Akhlaq et al., 2012; Cao et al., 2014).

Sand dust or dust storms dominantly contribute to coarse particles rather than fine particles (Zhang et al., 2009). Mass



Fig. 5. Factor scores of Factor 7 (K, Sr and Ba) from 2005 to 2013.

concentrations of total suspended particles (TSP) can reach up to 30 times those on normal days (Zhuang et al., 2001). Within this study, aerosol samples were taken every week, so the average elemental concentrations were not much higher compared to those on individual dust days. Over the observed nine years, the average weekly mass concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ during typical sand dust and dust days was 124 µg/m³; it was close to 2 times of the weekly mean, 63 µg/m³, during other normal days.

In Section 4.1, Factor 2 is comprised of elements which primarily originate from geogenic sources. Scandium, Ti, Fe, Al and Y with EFs smaller than 3 were selected to evaluate sand dust or dust storms. During typical sand dust and dust days, the concentrations (in $\mu g/m^3$) were 0.56, 3.81, 2.85, 4.03 and 1.33 times of the mean values on normal days, respectively.

5. Conclusions

Long term sampling and analyses in this study defined the detailed chemical characteristics of PM_{2.5} and displayed temporal variations of aerosol pollution in the Beijing urban area, based on which, the impacts of a variety of governmental mitigation measures and natural sources on aerosol pollution were evaluated. The Olympic Games in 2008 offered a unique influence with rigorous mitigation measures on air quality. Most of anthropogenic elements displayed the lowest concentrations during the Olympic Games period. However, certain pollution sources, such as fireworks, also resulted in heavy contamination of relevant elements like Sr, and Ba in aerosols.

Aside from meteorological influences, seven types of sources of atmospheric particles were defined according to the element association by principal component analysis: typical anthropogenic sources like traffic and smelting, geogenic dust, fertilizers, coal combustion, steel works and chemical industry, comprehensive combustion emission and diffuse urban pollution. The element analyses with the related governmental mitigations proved the effectiveness of corresponding measures. For example, under the most intense traffic restrictions, average concentrations of trafficrelated elements such as Cd, Sn and Sb in August 2008 showed the lowest concentrations among the nine Augusts. Steel-related elements such as Cr, Co and Ni did not continue to decrease on the long term which is attributed to the nearby relocation with the recovery of production.

Gallium displayed significant variation between heating- and non-heating periods and is used as a tracer element for heating activities mainly due to coal combustion in Beijing for the first time. Firework displays resulted in heavy pollution with high concentrations of Sr and Ba during the Chinese spring festivals and the lantern festivals since 2006 when they were legally permitted in the urban area. Dust or sand dust storms produced high particle concentrations.

Based on the data of this study, effective governmental mitigation measures (e.g. traffic restriction measures) and energy structure transformation (e.g. replacement of coal by gas) were recommend to be continued and improved in order to obtain more "blue sky" days in the future.

Acknowledgments

Part of this study was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) under grant STU 169/32-1,2. The authors thank all colleagues at CUGB and CRAES in China for collecting the filter samples over the entire time span. The first author would like to express her gratitude to the China Scholarship Council (CSC) and the Graduate School for Climate and Environment (GRACE) at Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Germany for supporting her studies in Germany. This work was also supported by the Institute for Applied Geosciences (AGW) at KIT and the German Meteorological Service (DWD) in Freiburg, Germany. Special thanks are given to the technical staffs, namely Cornelia Haug and Claudia Mössner for support of laboratory analyses at AGW-KIT. Furthermore, the authors express their gratitude to Alexandra Nothstein at AGW for her efforts in proof-reading.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data related to this article can be found at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.04.052.

References

- Akhlaq, M., Sheltami, T.R., Mouftah, H.T., 2012. A review of techniques and technologies for sand and dust storm detection. Rev. Environ. Sci. Biotechnol. 11, 305–322.
- Álvarez, F.F., Rodriguez, M.T., Espinosa, A.J.F., Dabán, A.G., 2004. Physical speciation of arsenic, mercury, lead, cadmium and nickel in inhalable atmospheric particles. Anal. Chim. Acta 524, 33–40.
- Bates, M.N., Smith, A.H., Hopenhayn-Rich, C., 1992. Arsenic ingestion and internal cancers: a review. Am. J. Epidemiol. 135, 462–476.
- Beijing Statistical Yearbook, 2015. Beijing Bureau of Statistics. China Statistics Press, Beijing.
- Cao, C., Zheng, S., Singh, R.P., 2014. Characteristics of aerosol optical properties and meteorological parameters during three major dust events (2005–2010) over Beijing, China. Atmos. Res. 150, 129–142.
- Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Cen, K., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., Norra, S., 2013. The effect of government policies on the temporal development of contamination characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China. In: Rauch, S., Morrison, G.M., Schleicher, N., Norra, S. (Eds.), Urban Environment. Proceedings of the 11th Urban Environment Symposium. Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 313–321.
- Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Norra, S., 2014. The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of PM_{2.5} in Beijing. Sci. Total Environ. 490, 647–658.
- Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Fricker, M., Cen, K., Liu, X., Kaminski, U., Yu, Y., Wu, X., Norra, S., 2016. Long-term variation of black carbon and PM_{2.5} in Beijing, China with respect to meteorological conditions and governmental measures. Environ. Pollut. 212, 269–278.
- Chiou, H.Y., Huesh, Y.M., Liaw, K.F., Horng, S.F., Chiang, M.H., Pu, Y.S., Lin, J.S., Huang, C.H., Chen, C.J., 1995. Incidence of internal cancers and ingested inorganic As: a seven-year follow-up study in Taiwan. Cancer Res. 55, 1296–1300.
- Cohen, A.J., Ross Anderson, H., Ostro, B., Pandey, K.D., Krzyzanowski, M., Künzli, N., Gutschmidt, K., Pope, A., Romieu, I., Samet, J.M., Smith, K., 2005. The global burden of disease due to outdoor air pollution. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health Part A 68, 1301–1307.
- Cyrys, J., Sölzel, M., Heinrich, J., Kreyling, W.G., Menzel, N., Wittmaack, K., Tuch, T., Wichmann, H.E., 2003. Elemental composition and sources of fine and ultrafine ambient particles in Erfurt, Germany. Sci. Total Environ. 305, 143–156.
- Dai, S., Ren, D., Chou, C.L., Finkelman, R.B., Seredin, V.V., Zhou, Y., 2012. Geochemistry of trace elements in Chinese coals: a review of abundances, genetic types, impacts on human health, and industrial utilization. Int. J. Coal Geol. 94, 3–21.
- Dockery, D.W., Pope, C.A., 1994. Acute respiratory effects of particulate air pollution. Annu. Rev. Public Health 15, 107–132.
- Fang, Z., Gesser, H.D., 1996. Recovery of gallium from coal fly ash. Hydrometallurgy 41, 187–200.
- Huang, K., Zhuang, G., Lin, Y., Wang, Q., Fu, J.S., Zhang, R., Li, J., Deng, C., Fu, Q., 2012. Impact of anthropogenic emission on air quality over a megacity – revealed from an intensive atmospheric campaign during the Chinese Spring Festival. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 12, 11631–11645.
- Huang, X., Olmez, I., Åras, N.K., Gordon, G.E., 1994. Emissions of trace elements from motor vehicles: potential marker elements and source composition profile. Atmos. Environ. 28, 1385–1391.
- Ketris, M.P., Yudovich, Y.E., 2009. Estimations of Clarkes for Carbonaceous biolithes: world averages for trace element contents in black shales and coals. Int. J. Coal Geol. 78, 135–148.
- Kuang, C., Neumann, T., Norra, S., Stüben, D., 2004. Land use-related chemical composition of street sediments in Beijing. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 11, 73–83.
 Li, X., Wang, L., Wang, Y., Wen, T., Yang, Y., Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., 2012. Chemical
- Li, X., Wang, L., Wang, Y., Wen, T., Yang, Y., Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., 2012. Chemical composition and size distribution of airborne particulate matters in Beijing during the 2008 Olympics. Atmos. Environ. 50, 278–286.
- Mastalerz, M., Drobniak, A., 2012. Gallium and germanium in selected Indiana coals. Int. J. Coal Geol. 94, 302–313.
- MEP-China (Ministry of Environmental Protection of the People's Republic of China), 2012. Ambient Air Quality Standard GB3095-2012. China Environmental Science Press, Beijing.
- Moreno, T., Querol, X., Alastuey, A., Amato, F., Pey, J., Pandolfi, M., Kuenzli, N., Bouso, L., Rivera, M., Gibbons, W., 2010. Effect of fireworks events on urban background trace metal aerosol concentrations: is the cocktail worth the show?

Y. Chen et al. / Chemosphere 155 (2016) 234-242

I Hazard Mater 183 945–949

- Nath, B., Norra, S., Chatterjee, D., Stüben, D., 2007. Fingerprinting of land use-related chemical patterns in street sediments from Kolkata, India. Environ. Forensics 8, 313 - 328.
- Norra, S., Stüben, D., 2004. Trace element patterns and seasonal variability of dust precipitation in a low polluted city - the example of Karlsruhe/Germany. Environ. Monit. Assess. 93, 203–228.
- Norra, S., Fier, N., Li, F., Chu, X., Xie, X., Stüben, D., 2008. The influence of different land uses on mineralogical and chemical composition and horizonation of urban soil profiles in Qingdao, China. J. Soils Sediment 8, 4—16.
- Nriagu, J.O., Pacyna, J.M., 1988. Quantitative assessment of worldwide contamina-tion of air, water and soils by trace metals. Nature 333, 134–139. Okuda, T., Katsuno, M., Naoi, D., Nakao, S., Tanaka, S., He, K., Ma, Y., Lei, Y., Jia, Y.,
- Okuda, T., Katsuno, M., Nadi, D., Nakad, S., Taliaka, S., He, K., Ma, Y., Lei, T., Jia, Y., 2008. Trends in hazardous trace metal concentrations in aerosols collected in Beijing, China from 2001 to 2006. Chemosph 72, 917–924.
 Okuda, T., Matsuura, S., Yamaguchi, D., Umemura, T., Hanada, E., Orihara, H., Tanaka, S., He, K., Ma, Y., Cheng, Y., Liang, L., 2011. The impact of the pollution control measures for the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games on the chemical composition of aerosols. Atmos. Environ. 45, 2789–2794.
- Reimann, C., Caritat, P., 1998. Chemical elements. In: The Environment: Factsheets
- for the Geochemist and Environmental Scientist. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chai, F., Chen, Y., Wang, S., Cen, K., Yu, Y., Stüben, D., 2011a. Temporal variability of trace metal mobility of urban particulate matter from Beijing - a contribution to health impact assessment of aerosols. Atmos. Environ. 45, 7248–7265.
- Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., 2012. Efficiency of mitigation measures to reduce particulate air pollution a case study during the Olympic
- Summer Games 2008 in Beijing, China. Sci. Total Environ. 427, 146–158. Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Dietze, V., Yu, Y., Fricker, M., Kaminski, U., Chen, Y., Cen, K., 2011b. The effect of mitigation measures on size distributed mass concentrations of atmospheric particles and black carbon concentrations during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing, Sci. Total Environ. 412–413, 185–193. Schwartz, J., Dockery, D., Neas, L., 1996. Is daily mortality associated specifically with
- fine particles? J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc. 46, 927-939. Sinopec official webpage, http://english.sinopec.com/about_sinopec/subsidiaries/ refineries_petrochemicals/20080326/3034.shtml.
- Speight, J.G., 2014. The Chemistry and Technology of Petroleum. CRC press.
- Sternbeck, J., Sjödin, A., Andréasson, K., 2002. Metal emissions from road traffic and the influence of resuspension-results from two tunnel studies. Atmos. Environ.

36 4735-4744

- Streets, D.G., Gupta, S., Waldhoff, S.T., Wang, M.Q., Bond, T.C., Yiyun, B., 2001. Black carbon emissions in China. Atmos. Environ. 35, 4281-4296.
- Taylor, S.R., McLennan, S.M., 1985. The Continental Crust: its Composition and Evolution. Blackwell Science, Oxford.
- Wåhlin, P., Berkowicz, R., Palmgren, F., 2006. Characterisation of traffic generated
- particulate matter in Copenhagen. Atmos. Environ. 40, 2151–2159. Wang, S., Zhao, M., Xing, J., Wu, Y., Zhou, Y., Lei, Y., He, K., Fu, L., Hao, J., 2010. Quantifying the air pollutants emission reduction during the 2008 Olympic Games in Beijing. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 2490-2496.
- Wang, T., Xie, S., 2009. Assessment of traffic-related air pollution in the urban streets before and during the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games traffic control period. Atmos. Environ. 43, 5682–5690.
 Wang, Y., Zhuang, G., Sun, Y., An, Z., 2006. The variation of characteristics and formation mechanisms of aerosols in dust, haze, and clear days in Beijing. Atmos. Environ. 40, 6750. 6750.
- Atmos. Environ. 40, 6579-6591.
- Wang, Y., Zhuang, G., Xu, C., An, Z., 2007. The air pollution caused by the burning of fireworks during the lantern festival in Beijing. Atmos. Environ. 41, 417–431. Wongphatarakul, V., Friedlander, S.K., Pinto, J.P., 1998. A comparative study of PM_{2.5}
- ambient aerosol chemical databases. Environ. Sci. Technol. 32, 3926-3934.
- Yaroshevsky, A.A., 2006. Abundances of chemical elements in the Earth's Crust. Geochem. Int. 44, 48–55. Zhang, Z., Jiao, M., Bi, B., Zhao, L., Gao, Q., Guo, J., Ren, Z., 2009. Analysis of the heavy
- polluting effects of sand dust weather in Beijing. Res. Environ. Sci. 22, 309-314 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Zhao, X., Zhuang, G., Wang, Z., Sun, Y., Wang, Y., Yuan, H., 2007. Variation of sources and mixing mechanism of mineral dust with pollution aerosol-revealed by the two peaks of a super dust storm in Beijing. Atmos. Res. 84, 265-279.
- Zheng, S., Pozzer, A., Cao, C.X., Lelieveld, J., 2015. Long-term (2001–2012) concentrations of fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}) and the impact on human health in Beijing, China. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 15, 5715–5725.
- Zhu, Z., Liu, S., Di, X.M., 1986. Deserts in China. Institute of Desert Research, Academia Sinica, Lanzhou.
- Zhuang, G.S., Guo, J.H., Yuan, H., Zhao, C.Y., 2001. The compositions, sources, and size distribution of the dust storm from China in spring 2000 and its impact on the global environment. China Sci. Bull. 46, 895–900.
- Zoller, W.H., Gladney, E.S., Duce, R.A., 1974. Atmospheric concentrations and sources of trace metals at the South Pole. Science 183, 198-200.

A.4 The effect of government policies on the temporal development of contamination characteristics within the aerosol distribution in Beijing, China

The Effect of Government Policies on the Temporal Development of Contamination Characteristics Within the Aerosol Distribution in Beijing, China

Yuan Chen, Nina Schleicher, Yizhen Chen, Fahe Chai, Shulan Wang and Stefan Norra

Abstract To host Green Olympic Games, the Beijing municipal government took comprehensive measures to improve air quality in 2008, which partly are still in force in 2012. The aim of this study is to investigate the temporal distribution of aerosol contamination characteristics and their variations under different government intervention policies. $PM_{2.5}$ samples were collected continuously from 2007 to 2010 in the north of Beijing City. Element concentrations were analyzed by HR-ICP-MS. Results showed that concentrations of traffic-related elements such as Sn, Sb and Pb varied with the strength of traffic restrictions. Elements like Cr, Co and Ni, which are correlated with industries, were reduced under special policies like the relocation of Capital Steel Company. In general, the improving air quality demonstrates the success of government intervention policies although still the concentrations are too high if compared to international threshold values.

Introduction

Atmospheric aerosol pollution has increased dramatically since the preindustrial period [5, 12] and has become one crucial part of air environment study. Atmospheric particulate aerosols play a significant role in the climate change [3, 4, 11] and could have deleterious influence on human health [1, 7, 9, 19].

Y. Chen (⊠) · N. Schleicher · S. Norra Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany e-mail: yuan.chen@kit.edu

N. Schleicher · S. Norra Institute of Geography and Geoecology, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany e-mail: yuan.chen@kit.edu

Y. Chen · F. Chai · S. Wang Institute of Urban and Regional Atmospheric Sciences, Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences, 100012 Beijing, China

S. Rauch et al. (eds.), *Urban Environment*, DOI 10.1007/978-94-007-7756-9_27, 313 © Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht 2013

Y. Chen et al.

Particles with an aerodynamic diameter smaller than 2.5 μ m (PM_{2.5}), which can be inhaled into the lung with toxic materials and hence affect human health, have been one of the most concerns of the scientist and the public.

In Beijing, the capital of China, approximately 20 million people [2] are living and suffering from aerosol pollution. In late October 2011, for example, hazy days lasted for more than one week in Beijing and, as a consequence, the chief culprit $PM_{2.5}$ was identified and became one of the topics of people's daily life. Based on the public's voice, the Chinese government drafted a standard for $PM_{2.5}$ concentration with an annual mean limit value 35 and 75 µg/m³ for 24 h mean (level II) [14]. This threshold values is scheduled to be implemented in 2016.

In preparation for 2008 Beijing Olympic Games, the Beijing Municipal Government took a series of emission control measures to improve the air quality and protect the air environment. The main ones consisted of relocating heavy polluters (e.g., the Capital Steel Company), improving emission standards for power plants and heating factories, afforestation outside and inside Beijing City and controlling traffic. Up to now, numerous of studies show that these measures have been operated successfully and had a positive effect on aerosol reduction [13, 17, 18, 22].

However, most of these investigations focused on the period of the 2008 Olympic Games and compared it with the situation before or a short period after the Olympics. To the authors' knowledge, only few articles about longtime comprehensive study around this event were published.

In this study, systematic sampling and measurement for more than 3 years was implemented so the influence of the government policies on fine particle reduction and the variation of chemical composition can be observed over a long time sequence in Beijing urban area. This study discusses mass concentration, temporal distribution of elements and correlations between element pollution levels and government mitigation policies. Results shown in this study are an example of the profound insights on the characteristics of the fine particles and the effects of government intervention policies on them.

Experimental

Sampling

The sampling site is located in the north of Beijing City, between the 5th ring road and 6th ring road, and is set up on the roof of the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES) at a height of about 20 m (Fig. 1). From Sep. 30th 2007 to Jan. 4th 2011, PM_{2.5} weekly samples were collected continuously on quartz fiber filters (Whatman Inc., Maidstone, UK) with an active Mini-Volume Sampler (Leckel, Berlin) at a flow rate of 200 L/h. During 2008 Olympic Games, in August and September, intensive sampling was implemented with a higher time-resolution

G45 Beijing Capital International Airport + CRAES 6th 5t G1.02 31 2nd 1.08 G106 km 0 2 4 8

The Effect of Government Policies on the Temporal Development ...

Fig. 1 Sampling site (CRAES) and the main traffic network of Beijing urban area, including 2nd–6th ring roads (Data source: OpenStreetMap)

of 12 h intervals to show more details about the fine particles reduction [18]. Here we calculated the weekly concentrations from these 12-hourly samples for a whole week in order to get the corresponding weekly average. For the 171 weeks during the sampling time, we obtained 158 valid weekly samples (14 of the 12-hourly samples in one week during 2008 Olympic Games were considered as one weekly sample), accounting for 92.4% of all samples.

Mass Concentration Analysis

Mass concentrations were calculated by gravimetric analysis of filters carried out with a microbalance (Sartorius SE 2-F, Göttingen, Germany) for three times after at least 48 h equilibration in constant temperature $(22\pm3\%)$ and humidity $(40\pm2\%)$ at the Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (IMG-KIT), Germany. Accuracy control was implemented by blank filters which were also sent to Beijing but not used and sent back to Germany for analysis.

Y. Chen et al.

Chemical Analysis

Element concentrations were determined by a high-resolution inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (HR-ICP-MS, Axiom, VG Elemental). One quarter of each filter was cut down to digest for ICP- MS analyses. Details of digestion of samples can be found in previous studies of the same project [16, 24]. Standard reference material SRM 1648 (urban particulate matter) and GXR 2 (soil sample) from NIST (National Institute of Standards & Technology, USA) were additionally analyzed to control analytical quality. Element concentrations of standard material were usually within $\pm 10\%$ of the certified values. Methodological blank values of the blank samples were determined and subtracted from analytical results of PM_{2.5} samples. All analysis was performed at the IMG-KIT.

Results and Discussion

Mass Concentration and Meteorological Condition

The weekly mass concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ during the whole sampling period (Fig. 2) ranged from 22.5 to 226 µg/m³, and the average concentration in the whole period was 86.1 µg/m³, which was 5.7 times to the USA standard (15 µg/m³) and about 2.5 times to the drafted annual limit value (35 µg/m³) in China. This was a slightly higher than the average particle concentration (65.6 µg/m³) reported by Yu et al. [24] for a different site in the North-West of Beijing City. Particle concentrations that exceeded standards revealed the pollution severity of fine particles in Beijing and the necessity of macro-control by government.

In general, PM_{2.5} pollution level began to decrease since 2008 when government strengthened the enforcement of measures, such as the traffic restriction measures, afforestation and greening and improving emissions standards.

During the heating season from November 15th to March 15th in the second year, average mass concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ (104.4 µg/m³) was higher than that during non-heating period (74.3 µg/m³) (Fig. 2). Seasonal pattern showed that spring and winter usually had higher concentrations than summer and autumn mainly due to sand dust storms and the heating activities respectively (Fig. 3), which was also reported by previous studies [6, 16, 24].

The statistic correlation between particle concentration and meteorology has already revealed the precipitation had a direct and rapid influence on reducing particle concentration [6]. In this study the particle concentration obviously showed a negative correlation with precipitation. Thus, wet deposition was the principal way of washing out particles in aerosol (Fig. 2).



The Effect of Government Policies on the Temporal Development ...

Fig. 2 $PM_{2.5}$ weekly mass concentration from 2007 to 2010 with precipitation



317



Fig. 4 Concentration of traffic-related elements under different traffic restriction measures

Effects of Government Intervention Polices on Contamination Characteristics of Chemical Element Composition

Influence evaluation of Traffic Restriction Measures on PM_{2.5}

In previous studies [8, 10, 20, 21, 23], Sb, Pb, Sn and Cu were recommended for markers of motor vehicle emissions. Their concentrations varied with the strength of traffic restriction policies according to the last number of license plates (Fig. 4). During the Olympic Games, the government implemented "odd-even restriction" policy which reduced around half of the vehicles on roads and brought the lowest element concentrations for the whole sampling period. After a short pause (October 2008) of intervention policies with obvious increasing concentrations (Fig. 4), 1/5 restriction police (including 5th ring road) was put into force on weekdays. This cut down around 1/5 of total number of vehicles running on roads.

From April 2009 and still in effect at the end of 2012, 1/5 restriction police (not including 5th ring road) is under way on weekdays. Since the sampling site (CRAES) is near to the 5th ring road, this policy could be one reason of increasing



The Effect of Government Policies on the Temporal Development ...

Fig. 5 Annual concentration variation of steelwork-related elements in PM_{2.5}

element concentrations in 2010 compared with concentrations in 2009. In January 2011 a lottery drawing for car license plates in Beijing started and lots of people purchased cars in 2010, which led to a sharp increase in the amount of vehicles exceeding 4.8 million at the end of 2010 in Beijing [2]. This government intervention policy also contributes to the elevation of traffic-related element concentrations in 2010 before its execution. But the contamination level in 2010 was still lower compared to the period before Olympic Games (Fig. 4).

Influence Evaluation of Policies on Capital Steel Company on PM, 5

Among the government policies to control industry emissions, the relocating project of Capital Steel Company (moving it out of Beijing and relocating in Hebei Province which is near to Beijing) was the biggest one and of most influence. At the beginning of 2008, Capital Steel Company shut down its capacity step by step and its relocation program was finally finished in 2010. According to Reimann and Caritat [15], Co, Ni and Cr had common anthropogenic sources released to the atmosphere, primarily from fossil fuel (oil and coal) combustion and steel works, and, therefore, they were taken for evaluation of these policies within this study. Figure 5 shows that the element contamination level declined since 2008 and had in 2010 the minimum concentrations within the three years, which stated the effectiveness of the relocation project on reducing relevant toxic elements in PM_{2.5}.

Conclusions

 $PM_{2.5}$ pollution level began to decrease since 2008 when government strengthened the enforcement of measures. After the Olympic Games the concentrations increased again but remained lower than prior to the control measures. Decreasing concentrations of elements, such as Sn, Sb, Cu and Pb, demonstrated the effectiveness of

101

Y. Chen et al.

traffic restriction measures of government on controlling relevant compositions in $PM_{2.5}$. Reducing concentrations of Cr, Co and Ni proved the success of policies on controlling emissions, especially the relocation project of Capital Steel Company. Since some of the government intervention polices are not in effect anymore but some are still in force, it is necessary to continue this study on the effects of government policies on the temporal development of contamination characteristics of chemical compositions of $PM_{2.5}$ in Beijing City.

References

- Ackermann-Liebrich U, Leuenberger P, Schwartz J, Schindler C, Monn C, Bolognini G, et al (1997) Study on Air Pollution and Lung Diseases in Adults (SAPALDIA) Team (1997) Lung function and long term exposure to air pollutants in Switzerland. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 155:122–129
- 2. Beijing Bureau of Statistics (2012) Beijing statistical yearbook. China Statistics Press, Beijing
- Bergstrom RW, Pilewskie P, Russell PB, Redemann J, Bond TC, Quinn PK, Sierau B (2007) Spectral absorption properties of atmospheric aerosols. Atmos Chem Phy 7:5937–5943
- 4. Buseck PR, Adachi K (2008) Nanoparticles in the atmosphere. Elements 4:389–394
- Calvo AI, Pont V, Liousse C, Dupree B, Mariscal A, Zouiten C, Gardrat E, Castera P, Lacaux CG, Castro A, Fraile R (2008) Chemical composition of urban aerosols in Toulouse, France during CAPITOUL experiment. Meteorol Atmos Phys 102:307–323
- Chen Y, Cen K, Norra S, Schleicher N, Yu Y (2010) Study on pollution characteristics of PM_{2.5} in the aerosol, tracing and tracking atmospheric particulates in Beijing City. Geoscience 24:345–354. (In Chinese, English abstract)
- 7. Clancy L, Goodman P, Sinclair H, Dockery DW (2002) Effect of air-pollution control on death rates in Dublin, Ireland: an intervention study. Lancet 360:1210–1214
- Cyrys J, Sölzel M, Heinrich J, Kreyling WG, Menzel N, Wittmaack K, Tuch T, Wichmann H-Erich (2003) Elemental composition and sources of fine and ultrafine ambient particles in Erfurt, Germany. Sci Total Environ 305:143–156
- 9. Goldberg MS, Burnett RT, Yale JF, Valois MF, Brook JR (2006) Associations between ambient air pollution and daily mortality among persons with diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Environ Res 100:255–267
- Huang X, Olmez I, Aras NK, Gordon GE (1994) Emissions of trace elements from motor vehicles: potential marker elements and source composition profile. Atmos Environ 28:1385– 1391
- 11. IPCC (2001) In: Houghton JT, Ding Y, Griggs DJ, Noguer M, van der Linden PJ, Dai X, Maskell K, Johnson CA (eds) Climate change: the scientific basis. Contribution of working group I to the third assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, New York, NY, USA, 881
- 12. Legrand M, Mayewski P (1997) Glaciochemistry of polar ice cores: a review. Rev Geophys 35:219–243
- Ma WL, Sun DZ, Shen WG, Yang M, Qi H, Liu LY, Shen JM, Li YF (2011) Atmospheric concentrations, sources and gas-particle partitioning of PAHs in Beijing after the 29th Olympic Games. Environ Pollut 159:1794–1801
- 14. Ministry of Environmental Protection (MEP) of the People's Republic of China (2012) Ambient air quality standard GB3095-2012. China Environmental Science Press, Beijing
- 15. Reimann C, Caritat P (1998) Chemical elements in the environment-factsheets for the geochemist and environmental scientist. Springer, Berlin, pp 92–229

The Effect of Government Policies on the Temporal Development ...

- Schleicher N, Norra S, Chai F, Chen Y, Wang S, Stüben D (2010) Anthropogenic versus geogeni contribution to total suspended atmospheric particulate matter and its variations during a two-year sampling period in Beijing. China J Environ Monit 12:434–441
- Schleicher N, Schleicher N, Norra S, Dietze V, Yu Y, Fricker M, Kaminski U, Chen Y, Cen K (2011) The effect of mitigation measures on size distributed mass concentrations of atmospheric particles and black carbon concentrations during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing. Sci Total Environ 412–413, 185–193
- Schleicher N, Norra S, Chen Y, Chai F, Wang S (2012) Efficiency of mitigation measures to reduce particulate air pollution—a case study during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing, China. Sci Total Environ 146–158
- Schwartz J, Dockery DW (1992) Increased mortality in Philadelphia associated with daily air pollution concentrations. Am Rev Respir Dis 145:600–604
- Sternbeck J, Sjödin A, Andréasson K (2002) Metal emissions from road traffic and the influence of resuspension-results from two tunnel studies. Atmos Environ 36:4735–4744
- 21. Wåhlin P, Berkowicz R, Palmgren F (2006) Characterisation of traffic generated particulate matter in Copenhagen. Atmos Environ 40:2151–2159
- Wang X, Westerdahl D, Chen LC, Wu Y, Hao J, Pan X, Guo X, Zhang KM (2009) Evaluating the air quality impacts of the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games: on-road emission factors and black carbon profiles. Atmos Environ 43:4535–4543
- Wongphatarakul V, Friedlander SK, Pinto JP (1998) A comparative study of PM_{2.5} ambientaerosol chemical databases. Environ Sci Technol 32:3926–3934
- Yu Y, Schleicher N, Norra S, Fricker M, Dietze V, Kaminski U, Cen K, Stüben D (2011) Dynamics and origin of PM_{2.5} during a three-year sampling period in Beijing, China. J Environ Monit 13:334–346

B —Full papers of co-authored scientific publications

B.1 Atmospheric particulate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Efficiency of mitigation measures and assessment of health effects

Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 396-403



Atmospheric particulate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Efficiency of mitigation measures and assessment of health effects



N.J. Schleicher ^{a, *}, J. Schäfer ^b, Y. Chen ^a, G. Blanc ^b, Y. Chen ^c, F. Chai ^c, K. Cen ^d, S. Norra ^{a, e, f}

^a Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Adenauerring 20b, 76131, Karlsruhe, Germany

^b Université de Bordeaux, UMR 5805 EPOC, 33615, Pessac Cedex, France

^c Institute of Urban & Regional Atmospheric Environmental Research, China Research Academy of Environmental Sciences, Beijing, 100012, China

- ^d Department of Earth Sciences and Resources, China University of Geosciences, Beijing, 100083, China
- ^e Institute of Geography and Geoecology, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Kaiserstr. 12, 76128, Karlsruhe, Germany
- ^f Institute of Mineralogy, Technische Universität Bergakademie Freiberg, Brennhausgasse 14, 09596, Freiberg, Germany

HIGHLIGHTS

• Study of particulate mercury (HgP) in aerosols from 2005 to 2013 in summer and winter.

- Evaluation of short- & long-term success of mitigation measures during Olympic Games.
- HgP in Aug-08 decreased by 65% compared to previous years due to implemented measures.
- Decrease in winter indicated slight long-term improvement of HgP pollution in Beijing.
- But still high HgP levels regarding adverse health effects even after the reductions.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 31 January 2015 Received in revised form 12 September 2015 Accepted 15 September 2015 Available online 25 September 2015

Keywords: Hg Particle-bound mercury Urban aerosols Adverse health effects Emission control measures Olympic Games

ABSTRACT

Atmospheric particulate mercury (HgP) was studied before, during, and after the Olympic Summer Games in Beijing, China, in August 2008 in order to investigate the efficiency of the emission control measures implemented by the Chinese Government. These source control measures comprised traffic reductions, increase in public transportation, planting of vegetation, establishment of parks, building freeze at construction sites, cleaner production techniques for industries and industry closures in Beijing and also in the surrounding areas. Strictest measures including the "odd-even ban" to halve the vehicle volume were enforced from the 20th of July to the 20th of September 2008. The Olympic period provided the unique opportunity to investigate the efficiency of these comprehensive actions implemented in order to reduce air pollution on a large scale. Therefore, the sampling period covered summer (August, September) and winter (December and January) samples over several years from December 2005 to September 2013. Average HgP concentrations in total suspended particulates (TSP) sampled in August 2008 were 81 \pm 39 pg/m³ while TSP mass concentrations were 93 \pm 49 μ g/m³. This equals a reduction by about 63% for TSP mass and 65% for HgP, respectively, compared to the previous two years demonstrating the short-term success of the measures. However, after the Olympic Games, HgP concentrations increased again to pre-Olympic levels in August 2009 while values in August 2010 decreased again by 30%. Moreover, winter samples, which were 2- to 11-fold higher than corresponding August values, showed decreasing concentrations over the years indicating a long-term improvement of HgP pollution in Beijing. However, regarding adverse health effects, comparisons with soil guideline values and studies from other cities highlighted that HgP concentrations in TSP remained high in Beijing despite respective control measures. Consequently, future mitigation measures need to be tailored more specifically to further reduce HgP concentrations in Beijing.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: nina.j.schleicher@gmail.com (N.J. Schleicher).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.09.040 1352-2310/© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Mercury transport in the atmosphere occurs predominantly as gas (volatilized Hg) but also adsorbed on particulate matter/aerosols (Fang et al., 2011) and its distribution covers the global hemisphere scale. The atmospheric residence time of gaseous elemental mercury (GEM) is at least a few months or even one to two years and, thus, it is much greater than for reactive gaseous mercury (RGM) with a few hours or days and for particulate mercury (HgP) with a residence time of a few weeks (e.g. Lindqvist and Rodhe, 1985; Schroeder and Munthe, 1998). Consequently, GEM can be transported over long distances, whereas HgP and RGM reflect more local and regional sources (e.g. Wängberg et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2006; Xiu et al., 2009). While HgP may constitute, in general, a small percentage by mass of total atmospheric mercury, it can be a very important form of atmospheric Hg under certain conditions, and play a strong role in the deposition of mercury to terrestrial and aquatic cosystems (Lu and Schroeder, 1999). Most researchers agree that HgP is critical in understanding the mercury cycle in the environment (Fang et al., 2001). In China, HgP normally constitutes a high proportion of urban airborne Hg, which during episodes may approach 10% (Fu et al., 2012). Streets et al. (2009) examined the effect of possible future scenarios (projections for 2050) on relative emissions of the different species of Hg. The authors concluded that there would be a relative trend toward reduced long-range transport and enhanced local deposition of Hg. Studies focusing on PHg will therefore gain further importance in future.

Globally, artisanal and small-scale gold mining and coal burning are the major sources of anthropogenic mercury emissions to air (UNEP, 2013). China accounts for three-quarters of East and Southeast Asian anthropogenic Hg emissions, or about one third of the global total (UNEP, 2013). Streets et al. (2005) provide an inventory of Hg emissions from anthropogenic sources in China and estimated that in 1999 45% of the Hg came from non-ferrous metals smelting, 38% from coal combustion, and 17% from miscellaneous activities, of which battery and fluorescent lamp production and cement production were the largest. Particulate mercury emissions are high in China due to heavy burning of coal in residential and small industrial settings without PM controls (Streets et al., 2005). Streets et al. (2009) predict a further increase in Hg emission for the future with Asia as the main driving force. Sources for HgP are abundant in a Chinese megacity like Beijing. Coal combustion for industrial and residential use as well as coal-fired power plants constitutes a major source. Coal still is the dominant energy source in China, covering about 70% of the total energy consumption, which accounted for 2.6 billion tons Standard Coal Equivalent (SCE) in 2007 (National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2009). In Beijing, coal consumption reached almost 30 million tons of SCE in 2007 (Beijing Municipal Bureau of Statistics, 2009). Other potential sources are non-ferrous metal smelting, cement production, Hg mining, biofuel and biomass combustion (Fu et al. 2012). The manufacture of cement contributed about 10% (190 t) to the total global emissions of mercury to air from anthropogenic sources in 2005 and China, as the main contributor, was responsible for 45% of total emissions from cement manufacturing (UNEP, 2010). Mercury emissions from Zn production were estimated to be 80.7-104.2 t per year in China from 2002 to 2006 (Li et al., 2010). Also municipal solid waste incineration is a potential Hg source, which plays an important role in China (Chen et al., 2013).

The main focus of this study lies on the Olympic Summer Games in August 2008 in Beijing with its strictly enforced mitigation measures. The Olympic period (8th–24th of August 2008) provided the unique opportunity to investigate the efficiency of these comprehensive actions implemented in order to reduce air pollution on a large scale. The emission control measures comprised traffic reductions, increase and improvements in public transportation, planting of vegetation, establishment of parks, building freeze at construction sites, cleaner production techniques for industries and industry closures in Beijing and also in the surrounding areas (Fang et al., 2009; Schleicher et al., 2012). Strictest measures including the "odd-even ban" to halve the vehicle volume was enforced from the 20th of July to the 20th of September 2008. Several studies investigated the efficiency of the governmental control measures on precursor gases (Sun et al., 2011), black carbon (BC) (Wang et al., 2009a; Okuda et al., 2011; Schleicher et al., 2011a), and also metal concentrations (Schleicher et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2014). All these studies reported that mitigation measures were successful in improving air quality but had different effects on distinct air pollutants. For example, Schleicher et al. (2011a) showed that mass concentrations of particles of different size classes within the coarse mode $(2.5-80 \mu m)$ during this period decreased, and that the coarser particles were reduced more efficiently than the finer ones. Another study by Schleicher et al. (2012) reported a reduction by 50-70% for elements predominantly from anthropogenic sources, such as S, Cu, As, Cd, or Pb, whereas elements mainly from geogenic sources, such as Fe, Rb, and Sr were reduced by only 30-50% during the Olympic Games. Chen et al. (2014) showed that concentrations of traffic-related elements, such as Pb, Sb, Sn, and Zn, varied with the strength of traffic restriction measures.

To the authors' knowledge, no study investigated how control measures affected HgP concentrations during the Olympic Games in Beijing. Wang et al. (2013) studied the effect of the shutdown of a large coal-fired power plant located in Rochester, New York, USA, on ambient mercury species. The authors reported a decrease of 25% for GEM, 74% for RGM, and 50% for HgP after its closedown for four months. However, it is of special interest to evaluate to what extent the comprehensive set of control measures during the Olympic Games, which was designed to reduce particulate air pollution but not HgP concentrations specifically, affected HgP pollution levels in Beijing. Therefore, the data set presented here includes weekly TSP samples of each August from 2006 to 2010 in order to gain detailed knowledge about HgP concentrations before, during, and after the Olympic Games period and, thus, to examine the efficiency of mitigation measures under realistic conditions. In August 2008, TSP samples were collected with a higher timeresolution of 24 h in order to assess day-to-day differences. Additionally, September samples until 2013 were analyzed in order to investigate the longer development after the Olympic Games. Furthermore, winter samples (December, January) from various years before and after the Olympic Games (winter 2005/2006 to 2010/2011) are included since HgP concentrations in Beijing are highest during winter season (Wang et al., 2006; Schleicher et al., 2015). With this comprehensive approach it was possible to estimate the short- and long-term effects of the emission control measures on HgP concentrations and to assess the health benefits for the affected population.

2. Methodology

2.1. Sampling

The sampling site, labeled as CRAES, is located in the north of the inner city of Beijing close to the Central Olympic District (COD, Fig. 1). The site is placed on the roof of the Chinese Research Academy of Environmental Sciences (CRAES) at a height of about 20 m. At this site, weekly TSP samples were collected continuously since October 2007. Weekly samples represent filters that were collected over the complete 168 h, i.e. integrating the whole period. In August 2008, sampling was carried out with a higher time-

N.J. Schleicher et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 396-403



Fig. 1. City map of Beijing (www.openstreetmap.org; [®] OpenStreetMap contributors) with the location of the two sampling sites (site C and site CRAES), the central Tiananmen Square, and the Central Olympic District (COD) with the stadium.

resolution of 24-h. All samples were collected actively with a TSP-Sampler (Leckel, Berlin, Germany) at a flow-rate of 1 m^3/h on quartz fiber filters (Whatman, Maidstone, UK). Previous to October 2007, weekly TSP samples were already collected with the same instrument at another site in Beijing (site C) for two years from September 2005 to August 2007. Some samples of site C were additionally included in this study for comparison.

Collecting HgP by pulling air through a filter and defining the trapped portion operationally as HgP is a widely used method (Lynam and Keeler, 2002). Nevertheless, it has to be kept in mind that uncertainties and positive as well as negative artifacts with the method are known (Lynam and Keeler, 2002, 2005; Pandey et al., 2011). Measured HgP concentrations will vary depending on the chemistry of the aerosol, the atmosphere, and GOM chemistry along with physical conditions of the atmosphere, such as temperature and relative humidity (Gustin et al., 2015). A known bias associated with filter-based methods is interaction between particles adsorbed on the filter and gaseous Hg species in the air stream (Pandey et al., 2011). Positive artifacts from RGM uptake were observed in several studies (e.g. Landis et al., 2002; Talbot et al., 2011). Conversely, during long sampling times, as air is being continuously pulled through the filter, evaporation of water or desorption of weakly bound species may lead to losses of Hg from the filter (Lynam and Keeler, 2002). Brown et al. (2015) report HgP data from 10-year time series during Hg monitoring in the UK and conclude that while absolute values obtained must be treated with caution due the mentioned artifacts, the trend analyses were not affected due to their consistent approach over the years and that the artifacts are expected to be small compared to the uncertainties of the overall measurement. In our case, sampling artifacts cannot be excluded but are minimized since i) all samples were collected identically, ii) field blanks were analyzed, and iii) the same time periods (summer and winter months, respectively) from different years were compared so that influencing factors like temperature and humidity can also be neglected.

2.2. Analytical procedure

Mass concentrations were determined gravimetrically with a microbalance (readability: 0.1 μ g, Satorius SE 2-F, Göttingen, Germany). Filters were weighed for three times at room conditions at a constant humidity of 42 \pm 3% relative humidity. August samples from five successive years (2006–2010), as well as winter samples (December 2005 to 2010 as well as January 2006 to 2011) were chosen for HgP analysis. Additionally, September samples from 2009 to 2013 are included.

Total particulate mercury (HgP) was analyzed by cold vapor atomic absorption spectrometry (CVAAS) after calcination in an O₂ stream and amalgamation on an Au trap using a Direct Mercury Analyzer (DMA-80, Milestone, Italy). External calibration of the system was performed by analyzing a range of solutions prepared from a HgCl₂ stock solution, followed by the analysis of Certified Reference Materials (CRM: CRM 320, PACS-1, SL-1), providing results that were consistently within the certified concentration intervals. For HgP analysis, two circular filter punches (diameter: 5 mm) of TSP filter samples were used. These dry filter punches were placed in the metal sample boats and analyzed without any further preparation.

An additional CRM (LKSD-4, lake sediment, Lynch, 1990) with a certified concentration of 190 ng/g Hg, was used for quality control repeatedly throughout the measurements. The accuracy of the measurements of this CRM (N = 154) was 92.1% with a precision of 3.7% (relative standard deviation, 1*RSD). Results were therefore corrected with a factor of 1.088 (calculated as the certified

concentration of CRM LKSD-4 divided by the average measured concentration of 174.6 ng/g). Blank filters were treated like loaded filters and also analyzed for HgP. These blank values were in the same range as measurements of metal boats without any sample (11 pg HgP, N = 35). Thus, the detection limit calculated as AVG_{blank} + 3* σ of method blanks was 41 pg HgP. Moreover, some filters were analyzed as triplicates. The average 1* σ for these triplicates was 22 pg/m³ (N = 7).

3. Results

Particulate Hg concentrations in August 2008 at site CRAES (Fig. 1) ranged from 37 to 224 pg/m^3 with an average value of $81 \pm 39 \text{ pg/m}^3$ (N = 30, daily samples). During the Olympic Games from the 8th to 24th of August, HgP concentrations were slightly lower (69 \pm 27 pg/m³). Average HgP concentrations during Augusts of the previous 2 years at site C (Fig. 1) were $242 \pm 85 \text{ pg/m}^3$ for 2006 (N = 4, weekly samples) and $217 \pm 76 \text{ pg/m}^3$ for 2007 (N = 4, weeklysamples), respectively. In August 2009 average HgP concentrations at site CRAES were similar to the pre-Olympics level with $227 \pm 20 \text{ pg/m}^3$ (N = 4, weekly samples) whereas in August 2010 lower concentrations of 157 \pm 31 pg/m³ (N = 4, weekly samples) were measured. September HgP concentrations were similar to August values (Fig. 3). From 2009 to 2011, September concentrations increased from 160 to 190 and then to almost 250 pg/m³ and then decreased again to 180 pg/m^3 in 2012 and then to 130 pg/m^3 in 2013. December and January concentrations were significantly higher than respective August values before and also after the Olympic Games (p = 0.0023; Mann–Whitney U-test). Mercury concentrations for the respective years are listed in Table 1. Highest HgP concentrations during winter were measured in December 2006 and January 2007. In the years following the Olympic Games HgP values for December are monotonically decreasing, and a comparable decrease is also seen for January. Moreover, confidence intervals for 2007 and 2010 are not overlapping for December or for January, and hence the reduction of TSP values can be regarded as statistically significant between 2007 and 2010.

4. Discussion

4.1. Mercury concentrations during the Olympic Games

Some authors, e.g. Wang et al. (2009b) and Schleicher et al.

Table 1

Particulate mercury (HgP) concentrations (average \pm single standard deviation) in TSP samples at the two sampling sites in Beijing (site C from Dec-05 to Aug-07 and site CRAES from Dec-07 to Jan-11); (A) concentrations in ng/m³, (B) concentrations in ng/g.

A (ng/m ³)	Jan	Aug	Dec
2005	_	_	0.728 ± 0.301
2006	1.105 ± 0.337	0.242 ± 0.085	1.805 ± 0.474
2007	1.172 ± 0.296	0.217 ± 0.076	0.869 ± 0.250
2008	0.645 ± 0.186	0.081 ± 0.039	0.831 ± 0.167
2009	0.357 ± 0.141	0.227 ± 0.020	0.545 ± 0.240
2010	0.404 ± 0.092	0.157 ± 0.031	0.283 ± 0.192
2011	0.215 ± 0.071	-	-
B (ng/g)	Jan	Aug	Dec
B (ng/g) 2005	Jan	Aug	Dec 2150 ± 482
B (ng/g) 2005 2006	Jan 	Aug - 955 ± 325	Dec 2150 ± 482 3120 ± 654
B (ng/g) 2005 2006 2007	Jan — 2620 ± 452 2650 ± 756	Aug - 955 ± 325 841 ± 246	Dec 2150 ± 482 3120 ± 654 2480 ± 464
B (ng/g) 2005 2006 2007 2008	Jan 	Aug - 955 ± 325 841 ± 246 972 ± 408	Dec 2150 ± 482 3120 ± 654 2480 ± 464 2790 ± 299
B (ng/g) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009	Jan 	Aug 955 ± 325 841 ± 246 972 ± 408 1380 ± 199	$\begin{array}{c} \hline \\ 2150 \pm 482 \\ 3120 \pm 654 \\ 2480 \pm 464 \\ 2790 \pm 299 \\ 1730 \pm 165 \end{array}$
B (ng/g) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Jan} \\ - \\ 2620 \pm 452 \\ 2650 \pm 756 \\ 1860 \pm 482 \\ 1870 \pm 768 \\ 2070 \pm 794 \end{array}$	Aug - 955 ± 325 841 ± 246 972 ± 408 1380 ± 199 981 ± 172	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Dec} \\ 2150 \pm 482 \\ 3120 \pm 654 \\ 2480 \pm 464 \\ 2790 \pm 299 \\ 1730 \pm 165 \\ 973 \pm 559 \end{array}$

399

(2011a, 2012), reported that meteorological conditions, especially rainfall, were responsible for parts of the strong particle reductions a few days after the Olympic Games started. In order to investigate this influence on HgP concentrations, daily HgP together with TSP mass concentrations as well as precipitation in August 2008 are shown in Fig. 2. Particulate mercury concentrations peaked on August 5th, three days previous to the opening day of the Olympic Games on the 8th of August. Concentrations decreased again on the following day, three days before the precipitation started and four days before overall TSP mass concentrations decreased (Fig. 2). Wet-deposition further reduced HgP concentration. However, the observation that HgP concentrations decreased prior to precipitation events unlike TSP mass suggests that wet deposition was not the only reason for HgP reductions.

During the Olympic Games, HgP concentrations remained below 100 pg/m³, except for two days (13th and 19th of August, Fig. 2). On August 13th, TSP mass concentrations were high with almost 140 μ g/m³ (Fig. 2). On August 19th, HgP concentrations were only slightly elevated with 105 pg/m³. Generally, HgP concentrations showed a different course compared to other elements during the Olympic Games period (see Schleicher et al., 2012 for detailed information about other elements), which is reflected by low correlation factors. Between the 8th and the 24th of August, significant correlations were found only with Cr (Pearson r = 0.55) and to a lower degree with Mn (r = 0.35) and Fe (r = 0.31). Common sources for this element association are geogenic dust on the one hand and steel works, as an anthropogenic source, on the other hand (Reimann and Caritat, 1998). Waste incineration and sewage sludge is a further source for Cr as well as HgP (Reimann and Caritat, 1998).

4.2. Evaluating the efficiency of the implemented mitigation measures

It is important to keep in mind that only HgP was investigated within this study but GEM and RGM were not considered. Besides being directly emitted from the source, HgP can also be formed through gas-to-particle partitioning (Seigneur et al., 1998; Rutter and Schauer, 2007a,b; Kim et al., 2012). Therefore, a possible speciation shift between the gas and particle phase needs to be taken into account when discussing the efficiency of emission control measures on HgP concentrations. Rutter and Schauer (2007a) found that gas-particle-partitioning coefficients for reactive Hg (RM, including RGM and HgP) in dry urban and laboratory aerosol were found to strongly depend on ambient temperature. Moreover, the authors were the first to demonstrate that gasparticle partitioning of RM varies with particle composition in synthetic atmospheric aerosol (Rutter and Schauer, 2007b). Amos et al. (2012) found that elevated HgP was mostly associated with high aerosol loads. In the following we will compare samples of the same months (summer and winter, respectively) before and after the Olympic Games since HgP concentrations in Beijing show a strong seasonal variation within each year (Wang et al., 2006; Schleicher et al., 2015) and that the influence of meteorological conditions can be neglected and, thus, also the effect of gas-particle partitioning should only play a minor role.

4.2.1. Comparison of summer samples from various years

Fig. 3a displays monthly summer (August, September) HgP concentrations from 2006 to 2013. For this comparison, it is important to highlight that the sampling site during the years 2006 and 2007 was different (site C, Fig. 1). However, a previous study from Beijing showed that HgP concentrations were clearly higher in the inner city within the 3rd ring road but quite similar at three other sampling sites outside this inner circle (Schleicher et al., 2015) and, therefore, no large difference between the two sites is

N.J. Schleicher et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 396-403



Fig. 2. Daily HgP and TSP mass concentrations as well as precipitation in August 2008 at site CRAES.

expected. Nevertheless, the limitations of using two different sampling sites to describe year-to-year variations need to be kept in mind. On average, HgP in August 2008 was reduced by about 65% compared to Augusts of the previous two years. This observation indicates that the implemented mitigation measures during the Olympic Games successfully reduced HgP concentrations. However, after the Olympic Games, in August 2009, HgP increased again to pre-Olympic levels. In August 2010, concentrations were 30% lower compared to August 2009 but still almost 50% higher than in August 2008. September concentrations increased after the Olympic Games from 2009 to 2011 and decreased in the successive two years again. Consequently, no long-term effect from the mitigation measures can be observed for summer months.

While the volume-related HgP concentrations expressed in pg/ m^3 showed a clear minimum for August 08, the comparison is different when HgP values expressed in mass related values in ng/g were taken into account (Fig. 3b). It is remarkable that HgP concentrations expressed in ng/g remain on a similar level for all years with slightly higher values in August 2009. This observation indicates that overall TSP concentrations were strongly reduced in August 2008 whereas HgP concentrations were not reduced as much as it was the case for other components. Consequently, the efficiency of the implemented mitigation measures was not as high for HgP than for overall mass concentrations and most other elements. Since coal combustion is the major source for HgP in Beijing (Schleicher et al., 2015) the mitigation measures that were most

effective for HgP reductions during the Olympics were probably the relocation of many factories, especially those that used a lot of coal, to other provinces and the fact that 19 major pollutant industries around Beijing were ordered to cut 2008 emissions by 30% (Stone, 2008). On the contrary, other measures, like the traffic restrictions, which were a success for reducing other element concentrations such as Cu, Zn, Sn, Sb, and Pb (Schleicher et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2014), did not affect HgP concentrations strongly.

4.2.2. Comparison of winter samples from various years

In Beijing, air quality is better during summer months due to wet deposition and the lack of certain sources, such as coal combustion for heating purposes (He et al., 2001; Schleicher et al., 2010a,b, 2011b). Schleicher et al. (2015) reported HgP concentrations in Beijing were up to 15-fold higher during winter compared to summer months. Therefore, not only the concentrations during August, but also during winter months (December, January) for the years before and after the Olympic Games were compared (Fig. 4). For both, December and January, HgP concentrations were highest in winter 2006/2007 and then decreased almost continuously till winter 2010/2011.

Compared to pre-Olympic December (2007), a decrease of 5, 60 and 200% was observed for the successive years (2008–2010), respectively. Reductions for January were quite similar with 81, 60, and 200% for January 2009 to 2011, respectively, with the only difference that the decrease was already higher in the first winter



Fig. 3. Average HgP concentrations at site C (Aug-06, Sep-06 and Aug-07) and site CRAES (Aug-08 to Aug-10 and Sep-09 to Sep-13).

N.J. Schleicher et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 396-403



Fig. 4. Average HgP concentrations at site C (winter-05/06 and winter-06/07) and site CRAES (winter-07/08 to winter-10/11).

after the Olympic Games. The decreasing HgP concentrations in wintertime indicate a general improvement of HgP pollution in Beijing not only during the Olympic Games but also in the longterm view. Long-term emission control measures, which might contribute to this reduction, comprise further traffic restrictions (Chen et al., 2014), cleaner production techniques for industries (Fang et al., 2009), the permanent relocation of heavily polluting enterprises including the Capital Iron and Steel Company and the Yanshan Petrochemical Plant (Yang et al., 2010), afforestation, and an increase and enhancement of public transport (Fang et al., 2009). Nevertheless, this decreasing trend in Beijing is surprising since several studies have pointed out that Hg emissions from various anthropogenic sources were increasing over recent years in most regions in China (e.g. Zhang et al., 2015; Cheng et al., 2015; Tian et al., 2012, 2010; Li et al., 2010) and the HgP levels in ambient air in Beijing may be also influenced by regional Hg emissions in addition to local sources. The present study indicates a strong dominance of local HgP sources that could be tackled by local pollution control measures. For example, Tian et al. (2014) showed the co-benefit of installing removal devices into Chinese coal-fired power plants also on Hg emissions. The authors reported a peak of Hg emissions from coal-fired power plants in 2006 and a decrease by 4% during the following years until 2010. Zhao et al. (2015) reported that Hg emissions were decreasing in the three Chinese regions with highest population density and economic activity, including the Jing-Jin-Ji region with Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei, as well as the Yangtze River Delta region, and the Pearl River Delta Region. This decrease of Hg emissions was contrary to the observed trends in other regions in China. Consequently, Beijing might be one of the cities in China with further decreasing Hg (including HgP) concentrations in the near future. However, winter and summer didn't show a uniform picture in our study and the sampling period is still not long enough to clearly observe long-term trends. Therefore, continuous monitoring of HgP together with gaseous Hg in Beijing is urgently needed.

4.3. Assessment of health effects

Inhalation and non-dietary ingestion can be considered as the two relevant exposure routes for HgP in aerosols. Contrary to dietary exposure, which can be controlled by limiting the intake of certain types of food, it is almost impossible to limit the duration and strength of exposure to airborne particles. Inhalation is the dominant process but also mouth breathing and swallowing of larger particles play a role especially during physical exercise, while speaking or if the nasal airways are obstructed (Bowes and Swift, 1989). Ingestion of dust was found to constitute a relatively minor pathway of Guangzhou residents' exposure to Hg (Huang et al., 2012). The values used by the authors in the respective calculations are comparable to those from our study in Beijing and, therefore, a similar outcome can be assumed. However, especially young children are vulnerable to ingestion of soil and dust through handto-mouth or object-to-mouth behavior (Moya et al., 2004). The amount ingested varies with the child's behavior, and daily ingestion rates have been calculated to be between 39 and 270 mg day⁻¹ (Ljung et al., 2007). We did not measure solid partitioning of Hg in particles or soils. However, typical values obtained from chemical selective extractions (H₂O₂ or HCl 1 M) suggest that in river Suspended Particulate Matter (SPM) and sediments (both derived from soil erosion) typical "potentially bioavailable" Hg fractions (extracted by HCl 1 M; Sutherland and Tack, 2008) are in the range of 60–80% and mainly associated with organic matter or sulphides (Castelle et al., 2007; Sahuquillo et al., 2003). Accordingly, we would expect the major part of Hg in soils from the study area to be "potentially bioavailable".

Guideline values for HgP concentrations exist for soils, but not for HgP in the atmosphere. Nonetheless it is instructive to compare HgP concentrations in TSP samples from Beijing with these guideline values, since direct connections between contaminated soils and particles can be imagined. On the one hand, a possible health hazard of contaminated soils leading to non-dietary exposure is the release of particles with high HgP values into the ambient air, and on the other hand, airborne particles with high HgP values may be deposited on the ground causing its contamination. We expect that the limit values for soil possess a similar order of magnitude and are therefore helpful for assessing the health effects of atmospheric particles as well. Average August HgP concentrations were 955, 841, 972, 1380, and 981 ng/g for the years 2006–2010, respectively. These summer values from Beijing are in the same magnitude as the soil guideline value of 1000 ng/g Hg for residential areas in the UK (DEFRA and Environment Agency, 2009) or the Chinese Grade II guideline value (Chen et al., 2010) of equally 1000 ng/g. Compared to the national background value for soil in China of 38 ng/g (Wang et al., 2007), the HgP values in August TSP samples were 22- to 36-fold higher and still about 3 times the maximum permissible concentration of potential toxic elements for agricultural soils in China of 300 ng/g for Hg (Liu et al., 2012). Higher winter values with average HgP concentrations of 2240 \pm 846 for December 2005 to 2010 and 2110 \pm 663 ng/g for January 2006 to 2011 are in the range of the guideline value for commercial areas in UK of 2600 ng/g (DEFRA and Environment Agency, 2009) and the USEPA soil ingestion screening level for Hg of 2300 ng/g.

Compared to August 2007 and 2006, particulate mercury concentrations during the Olympic Games in August 2008 were reduced by 160 and 140 ng/m³. These amounts of reduction are certainly not negligible, as they are of the same order of magnitude as the overall HgP concentrations at locations such as such as Taichung, Taiwan ($70 \pm 40 \text{ pg/m}^3$, Fang et al., 2010), or Changchun City, China, during the non-heating period (145 pg/m³, Fang et al., 2001). As discussed in Section 4.2.2, winter HgP concentrations decreased after the Olympic Games during the three successive years.

401

Compared to December 2007, HgP concentrations in December 2008, 2009, and 2010 were reduced by a total amount of 40, 320, and 590 pg/m³. A similar reduction of 290 (January 2009), 240 (January 2010), and 430 (January 2011) pg/m³ was observed during the same time period for January. Again, these reduction amounts are similar to concentrations at higher polluted cities such as Shanghai (560 \pm 220 and 330 \pm 90 pg/m³, respectively at two different sites, Xiu et al., 2009) or Changchun City during the heating period (461 pg/m³, Fang et al., 2001). The reduction of HgP during the Olympic Games shows the potential of mitigation measures, but the comparison with other cities also highlights that the concentration of HgP remains high despite respective pollution control measures.

Generally, this study showed that the burden of HgP pollution for the environment and the inhabitants of Beijing was still high and that further monitoring and emission reductions are necessary. Future mitigation measures need to be tailored more specifically to further reduce HgP concentrations in Beijing, which would necessarily include a reduction in coal combustion. The switching to natural gas for domestic heating purposes, which was started in preparation of the Olympic Games (Wang et al., 2010), will probably not be sufficient because of a high and increasing industrial usage of coal. Until now, China relies heavily on its coal supply, although natural gas consumption has been growing quickly in recent years (Lin et al., 2010). Given the low proportion of natural gas and high proportion of coal in China's energy resource reserves, using natural gas as fuel has always been a controversial topic since it was argued that i) natural gas should be used as a raw material for the chemical industry; and ii), clean-coal technology is the most costeffective method of improving air quality (Mao et al., 2005). The proportions of coal, oil, and natural gas consumption in China in 2006 were 73%, 24%, and 3%, respectively (Lin et al., 2010) and it is likely that coal combustion will remain on high levels in China for the next decades (Streets et al., 2009). Furthermore, even with enhanced production techniques in many enterprises since the Olympic Games it is necessary to thoroughly investigate industrial Hg emissions in Beijing and include the most pollutant ones in any future urban planning efforts.

5. Conclusions

This study showed that average HgP concentrations of $81 \pm 39 \text{ pg/m}^3$ in August 2008, the Olympic Games period with strictly enforced mitigation measures in Beijing and the surrounding areas, were about 65% lower compared to the same months during the previous years. It was further shown that wet deposition didn't have a strong influence on HgP reductions unlike on the decrease of overall particulate mass concentrations during the Olympics. Consequently, the emission control measures, especially the reduction of coal combustion emissions, were successful in reducing HgP concentrations in the short term. However, it was also shown that the measures were not as successful for HgP concentrations as for many other elements from anthropogenic sources.

After the Olympic Games period, HgP concentrations increased again to pre-Olympic values in August 2009. Then values decreased again in the following year (August 2010) by 30%, but were still almost 50% higher than in August 2008. Winter concentrations (December and January), which were 2- to 11-fold higher than corresponding August values, continuously decreased over the studied years. Consequently, the decreasing winter values indicate a slight improvement also in the long-term view. In order to assess the development of HgP concentrations for a longer period, further measurements and a close monitoring in Beijing during the successive years would be desirable. Regarding health effects, comparisons with soil guidline values and concentrations in other cities showed that the burden for the environment and inhabitants in Beijing was still high. The reduction amount of HgP during the Olympic Games showed the potential of mitigation measures, but long-term improvements are needed. Therefore, future urban planning and new mitigation measures need to be tailored more specifically to further reduce HgP concentrations in Beijing.

Acknowledgments

Part of this study was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) under grant STU 169/32-1,2. Mercury concentrations were analysed at the laboratory EPOC, Université de Bordeaux, France. The authors gratefully acknowledge Mrs. Cécile Bossy for her support with HgP measurements, the Région Aquitaine, FEDER Aquitaine. All other laboratory analyses were performed at the Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry (IMG), Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Germany. The authors want to thank the technical staff at EPOC and IMG, respectively, for their support as well as the Chinese colleagues at CRAES for collecting the filter samples.

References

- Amos, H.M., Jacob, D.J., Holmes, C.D., Fisher, J.A., Wang, Q., Yantosca, R.M., Corbitt, E.S., Galarneau, E., Rutter, A.P., Gustin, M.S., Steffen, A., Schauer, J.J., Graydon, J.A., St. Louis, V.L., Talbot, R.W., Edgerton, E.S., Zhang, Y., Sunderland, E.M., 2012. Gas-particle partitioning of atmospheric Hg(II) and its effect on global mercury deposition. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 12, 591–603.
- Beijing Municipal Bureau of Statistics, 2009. Beijing Statistical Yearbook 2008. China Statistics Press. Online accessible at. www.bjstats.gov.cn.
 Bowes, S.M., Swift, D.L., 1989. Deposition of inhaled particles in the oral airway
- Bowes, S.M., Swift, D.L., 1989. Deposition of inhaled particles in the oral airway during oronasal breathing. Aerosol Sci. Technol. 11, 157–167.
- Brown, R.J.C., Goddard, S.L., Butterfield, D.M., Brown, A.S., Robins, C., Mustoe, C.L., McGhee, E.A., 2015. Ten years of mercury measurement at urban and industrial air quality monitoring stations in the UK. Atmos. Environ. 109, 1–8.
- Castelle, S., Schäfer, J., Blanc, G., Audry, S., Etcheber, H., Lissalde, J.-P., 2007. 50-year record and solid state speciation of mercury in natural and contaminated reservoir sediment. Appl. Geochem. 22, 1359–1370.
- Chen, X., Xia, X., Wu, S., Wang, F., Guo, X., 2010. Mercury in urban soils with various types of land use in Beijing, China. Environ. Pollut. 158, 48–54.Chen, L., Liu, M., Fan, R., Ma, S., Xu, Z., Ren, M., He, Q., 2013. Mercury speciation and
- Chen, L, Liu, M., Fan, R., Ma, S., Xu, Z., Ren, M., He, Q., 2013. Mercury speciation and emission from municipal solid waste incinerators in the Pearl River Delta, South China. Sci. Total Environ. 447, 396–402.
- Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Norra, S., 2014. The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of PM2.5 in Beijing. Sci. Total Environ. 490, 647–658.
- Cheng, K., Wang, Y., Tian, H., Gao, X., Zhang, Y., Wu, X., Zhu, C., Gao, J., 2015. Atmospheric emission characteristics and control policies of five precedentcontrolled toxic heavy metals from anthropogenic sources in China. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 1206–1214.
- DEFRA (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs) and Environment Agency, 2009. Soil Guideline Values for Mercury in Soil. Science Report SC050021. Almondsbury, Bristol, UK.
- Fang, F., Wang, Q., Li, J., 2001. Atmospheric particulate mercury concentration and its dry deposition flux in Changchun City, China. Sci. Total Environ. 281, 229–236.
- Fang, M., Chan, C.K., Yao, X., 2009. Managing air quality in a rapidly developing nation: China. Atmos. Environ. 43, 79–86.
 Fang, G.-C., Lo, C.-T., Liu, C.-K., 2010. Seasonal variations (autumn, winter, and
- Fang, G.-C., Lo, C.-T., Liu, C.-K., 2010. Seasonal variations (autumn, winter, and spring) of atmospheric particulate and particulate-bound mercury Hg(p) at a suburban/coastal area. Environ. Forensics 11, 300–308.
- Fang, G.-C., Huang, W.-J., Chen, J.-C., Huang, J.-H., Huang, Y.-L., 2011. Study of ambient air particle-bound As(p) and Hg(p) in dry deposition, total suspended particulates (TSP) and seasonal variations in Central Taiwan. Environ. Forensics 12, 7–13.
- Fu, X., Feng, X., Sommar, J., Wang, S., 2012. A review of studies on atmospheric mercury in China. Sci. Total Environ. 421–422, 73–81.
- Gustin, M.S., Amos, H.M., Huang, J., Miller, M.B., Heidecorn, K., 2015. Measuring and modeling mercury in the atmosphere: a critical review. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 15, 5697–5713.
- He, K., Yang, F., Ma, Y., Zhang, Q., Yao, X., Chan, C.K., Cadle, S., Chan, T., Mulawa, P., 2001. The characteristics of PM2.5 in Beijing, China. Atmos. Environ. 35, 4959–4970.
- Huang, M., Wang, W., Leung, H., Chan, C.Y., Liu, W.K., Wong, M.H., Cheung, K.C., 2012. Mercury levels in road dust and household TSP/PM2.5 related to

N.J. Schleicher et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 396-403

concentrations in hair in Guangzhou, China, Ecotoxicol, Environ, Saf. 81, 27–35. Kim, P.R., Han, Y.J., Holsen, T.M., Yi, S.M., 2012. Atmospheric particulate mercury: concentrations and size distributions. Atmos. Environ. 61, 94-102.

- Landis, M.S., Stevens, R.K., Schaedlich, F., Prestbo, E.M., 2002. Development and characterization of an annular denuder methodology for the measurement of divalent inorganic reactive gaseous mercury in ambient air. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36, 3000–3009.
- Li, G., Feng, X., Li, Z., Qiu, G., Shang, L., Liang, P., Wang, D., Yang, Y., 2010. Mercury emission to atmosphere from primary Zn production in China. Sci. Total Environ. 408, 4607–4612.
- Lin, W., Zhang, N., Gu, A., 2010. LNG (liquefied natural gas): a necessary part in China's future energy infrastructure. Energy 35, 4383–4391. Lindqvist, O., Rodhe, H., 1985. Atmospheric mercury – a review. Tellus 37B,
- 136 159
- Liu, O., Liu, Y., Zhang, M., 2012. Mercury and cadmium contamination in traffic soil of Beijing, China. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 88, 154-157.
- Ljung, K., Oomen, A., Duits, M., Selinus, O., Berglund, M., 2007. Bioaccessibility of
- metals in urban playground soils. J. Environ. Sci. Health 42, 1241–1250. Lu, J.Y., Schroeder, W.H., 1999. Sampling and determination of particulate mercury in ambient air: a review. Water, Air, Soil Pollut. 112, 279–295.
- Lynam, M.M., Keeler, G.J., 2002. Comparison of methods for particulate phase mercury analysis: sampling and analysis. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 374, 1009-1014.
- Lynam, M.M., Keeler, G.J., 2005. Artifacts associated with the measurement of particulate mercury in an urban environment: the influence of elevated ozone concentrations. Atmos. Environ. 39, 3081–3088.
- Lynch, J., 1990. Provisional elemental values for eight new geochemical lake sediment and stream sediment reference materials LKSD-1, LKSD-2, LKSD-3, LKSD-4, STSD-1, STSD-2, STSD-3 and STSD-4. Geostand. Newsl 14, 153-167.
- Mao, X., Guo, X., Chang, Y., Peng, Y., 2005. Improving air quality in large cities by substituting natural gas for coal in China: changing idea and incentive policy implications. Energy Policy 33, 307-318.
- Moya, J., Bearer, C.F., Etzel, R.A., 2004. Children's behavior and physiology and how it affects exposure to environmental contaminants. Pediatrics 113, 996–1006.
- National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2009. Statistical Yearbook 2008 accessible at. http://www.stats.gov.cn/english/statisticaldata/yearlydata/ Okuda, T., Matsuura, S., Yamaguchi, D., Umemura, T., Hanada, E., Orihara, H.,
- Tanaka, S., He, K., Ma, Y., Cheng, Y., Liang, L., 2011. The impact of the pollution Control measures for the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games on the chemical composition of aerosols. Atmos. Environ. 45, 2789–2794.
 Pandey, S.K., Kim, K.H., Brown, R.J.C., 2011. Measurement techniques for mercury species in ambient air. Trends Anal. Chem. 30, 899–917.
- Reimann, C., Caritat, P., 1998. Chemical Elements in the Environment. Factsheets for the Geochemist and Environmental Scientist, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 398 DD
- Rutter, A.P., Schauer, J.J., 2007a. The effect of temperature on the gas-particle partitioning of reactive mercury in atmospheric aerosols. Atmos. Environ. 41, 8647-8657
- Rutter, A.P., Schauer, J.J., 2007b. The impact of aerosol composition on the particle to gas partitioning of reactive mercury. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 3934–3939. Sahuquillo, A., Rauret, G., Bianchi, M., Rehnert, A., Muntau, H., 2003. Mercury
- determination in solid phases from application of the modified BCR-sequential extraction procedure: a valuable tool for assessing its mobility in sediments. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 375, 578–583.
- Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chai, F., Chen, Y., Wang, S., Stüben, D., 2010a. Anthropogenic versus geogenic contribution to total suspended atmospheric particulate matter and its variations during a two-year sampling period in Beijing, China. J. Environ. Monit. 12, 434-441.
- Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chai, F., Chen, Y., Wang, S., Stüben, D., 2010b. Seasonal trend of water-soluble ions at one TSP and five PM2.5 sampling sites in Beijing, China. In: Rauch, S., Morrison, G.M., Monzó, A. (Eds.), Highway and Urban Environment, Alliance for Global Sustainability Bookseries, vol. 17. Springer Science+-Business Media B.V, pp. 87–95.
- Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Dietze, V., Yu, Y., Fricker, M., Kaminski, U., Chen, Y., Cen, K., 2011a. The effect of mitigation measures on size distributed mass concentrations of atmospheric particles and black carbon concentrations during the
- Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing, Sci. Total Environ. 412–413, 185–193. Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chai, F., Chen, Y., Wang, S., Cen, K., Yu, Y., Stüben, D., 2011b. Temporal variability of trace metal mobility of urban particulate matter from Beijing - a contribution to health impact assessment of aerosols. Atmos. Environ 45 7248-7265
- Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., 2012. Efficiency of mitigation measures to reduce particulate air pollution – a case study during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing, China. Sci. Total Environ. 427-428, 146-158.

- Schleicher, N., Schäfer, J., Blanc, G., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Cen, K., Norra, S., 2015. At-mospheric particulate mercury in the megacity Beijing: Spatio-temporal variations and source apportionment. Atmos. Environ. 109, 251–261.
- Schroeder, W.H., Munthe, J., 1998. Atmospheric mercury an overview. Atmos. Environ. 32, 809-822.
- Seigneur, C., Abeck, H., Chia, G., Reinhard, M., Bloom, N.S., Prestbo, E., Saxena, P., 1998. Mercury adsorption to elemental carbon (soot) particles and atmospheric particulate matter. Atmos. Environ. 32, 2649-2657.
- Stone, R., 2008. Beijing's marathon run to clean foul air nears finish line. Science 321, 636–637.
- Streets, D.G., Hao, J., Wu, Y., Jiang, J., Chan, M., Tian, H., Feng, X., 2005. Anthropogenic mercury emissions in China. Atmos Environ. 39, 7789–7806. Streets, D.G., Zhang, Q., Wu, Y., 2009. Projections of global mercury emissions in
- 2050. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 2983-2988.
- Sun, Y., Wang, L., Wang, Y., Quan, L., Zirui, L., 2011. In situ measurements of SO₂, NO_x
- Sutherland, R.A., Tack, F.M.G., 2008. Extraction of labile metals from solid media by dilute hydrochloric acid. Environ. Monit. Assess. 138, 119–130.
- Talbot, R., Mao, H., Feddersen, D., Smith, M., Kim, S.Y., Sive, B., Haase, K., Ambrose, J., Zhou, Y., Russo, R., 2011. Comparison of particulate mercury measured with manual and automated methods. Atmosphere 2, 1-20.
- Tian, H.Z., Wang, Y., Xue, Z.G., Cheng, K., Qu, Y.P., Chai, F.H., Hao, J.M., 2010. Trend and characteristics of atmospheric emissions of Hg, As, and Se from coal combustion in China, 1980–2007. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 10, 11905–11919. Tian, H., Gao, J., Lu, L., Zhao, D., Cheng, K., Qiu, P., 2012. Temporal trends and spatial
- variation characteristics of hazardous air pollutant emission inventory from municipal solid waste incineration in China. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 10364-10371.
- Tian, H., Liu, K., Zhou, J., Lu, L., Hao, J., Qiu, P., Gao, J., Zhu, C., Wang, K., Hua, S., 2014. Atmospheric emission inventory of hazardous trace elements from China's coal-fired power plants – temporal trends and spatial variation characteristics. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 3575–3582.
- UNEP, 2010. Study on Mercury Sources and Emissions, and Analysis of Cost and Effectiveness of Control Measures; "UNEP Paragraph 29 Study". United Nations Environment Programme. Division of Technology, Industry and Economics (DTIE), Chemicals Branch, Geneva, Switzerland.
- UNEP, 2013. Global Mercury Assessment 2013: Sources, Emissions, Releases and Environmental Transport. UNEP Chemicals Branch, Geneva, Switzerland. Wang, Z., Zhang, X., Chen, Z., Zhang, Y., 2006. Mercury concentrations in size-
- fractionated airborne particles at urban and suburban sites in Beijing, China. Atmos. Environ. 40, 2194-2201.
- Wang, S., Feng, X., Qiu, G., Shang, L., Li, P., Wei, Z., 2007. Mercury concentrations and air/soil fluxes in Wuchuan mercury mining district, Guizhou province, China. Atmos. Environ. 41, 5984–5993.
- Wang, M., Zhu, T., Zheng, J., Zhang, R.Y., Zhang, S.Q., Xie, X.X., Han, Y.Q., Li, Y., 2009a. Use of a mobile laboratory to evaluate changes in on-road air pollutants during the Beijing 2008 Summer Olympics. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 9, 8247-8263
- Wang, Y., Hao, J., McElroy, M.B., Munger, J.W., Ma, H., Chen, D., Nielsen, C.P., 2009b. Ozone air quality during the 2008 Beijing Olympics: effectiveness of emission restrictions. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 9, 5237–5251.
- Wang, S., Zhao, M., Xing, J., Wu, Y., Zhou, Y., Lei, Y., He, K., Fu, L., Hao, J., 2010. Quantifying the air pollutants emission reduction during the 2008 Olympic Games in Beijing. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 2490–2496.
- Wang, Y., Huang, J., Hopke, P.K., Rattigan, O.V., Chalupa, D.C., Utell, M.J., Holsen, T.M., 2013. Effect of the shutdown of a large coal-fired power plant on ambient mercury species. Chemosphere 92, 360–367. Wängberg, I., Munthe, J., Ebinghaus, R., Gårdfeldt, K., Iverfeldt, Å., Sommar, J., 2003.
- Distribution of TPM in Northern Europe. Sci. Total Environ. 304, 53–59. Xiu, G., Cai, J., Zhang, W., Zhang, D., Büeler, A., Lee, S., Shen, Y., Xu, L., Huang, X., Zhang, P., 2009. Speciated mercury in size-fractionated particles in Shanghai ambient air. Atmos. Environ. 43, 3145–3154.
- Yang, T., Wang, Z.F., Zhang, B., Wang, X.Q., Wang, W., Gbauidi, A., Gong, Y.B., 2010. Evaluation of the effect of air pollution control during the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games using Lidar data. Chin. Sci. Bull. 55, 1311-1316.
- Zhang, L., Wang, S., Wang, L., Wu, Y., Duan, L., Wu, Q., Wang, F., Yang, M., Yang, H., Hao, J., Liu, X., 2015. Updated emission inventories for speciated atmospheric mercury from anthropogenic sources in China. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 3185-3194.
- Zhao, Y., Zhong, H., Zhang, J., Nielsen, C.P., 2015. Evaluating the effects of China's pollution controls on inter-annual trends and uncertainties of atmospheric mercury emissions. Atmos. Chem. Phys 15, 4317–4337.

B.2 Seasonal dynamics of coarse atmospheric particulate matter between 2.5 μ m and 80 μ m in Beijing and the impact of 2008 Olympic Games

Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 109-118



Seasonal dynamics of coarse atmospheric particulate matter between 2.5 μ m and 80 μ m in Beijing and the impact of 2008 Olympic Games



Stefan Norra ^{a, b, c, *}, Yang Yu ^{a, d}, Volker Dietze ^e, Nina Schleicher ^a, Mathieu Fricker ^e, Uwe Kaminski ^e, Yuan Chen ^a, Doris Stüben ^a, Kuang Cen ^d

^a Institute of Applied Geosciences, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Adenauerring 20, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany

^b Institute of Geography and Geoecology, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Kaiserstr. 12, 76128 Karlsruhe, Germany

^c Institute of Mineralogy, Technische Universität Bergakademie Freiberg, Brennhausgasse 14, 09596 Freiberg, Germany

^d Department of Geology and Mineral Resources, Chinese University of Geosciences, Xueyuan Road 29, Beijing 100083, China

e Research Center Human Biometeorology, Air Quality Department, German Meteorological Service, Stefan-Meier-Str. 4, 79104 Freiburg i. Br, Germany

HIGHLIGHTS

•Assessment of coarse particles between 2.5 and 80 μ m in Beijing. •This study covers a long period from 2005 till 2009. •Seasonal and source variations of mass concentrations are identified. •Influences of Asian dust and the 2008 Olympic Games are described. •A long term decrease of coarse particle mass concentrations was detected.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 31 January 2015 Received in revised form 10 August 2015 Accepted 12 August 2015 Available online 14 August 2015

Keywords: Beijing Coarse atmospheric particles Passive sampling Asian dust Microscopic particle analysis Olympic Games

ABSTRACT

Beijing is well known as a megacity facing severe atmospheric pollution problems. One very important kind of pollution is the high amount of particles in Beijing's atmosphere. Numerous studies investigated the dynamics of fine particles smaller 10 μ m. Less information is available on the coarse particle fraction larger 10 μ m, although geogenic dusts, which often are composed by those coarser particles, frequently affect the air quality in Beijing. Therefore, systematic sampling and analysis of size fractionated particulate matter between 2.5 and 80 µm was performed in Beijing from April 2005 till October 2009. Atmospheric particles were collected in the North-West of Beijing using a cost-effective passive sampling method called Sigma-2. Altogether, 200 weeks could be analysed and assessed. Concentrations and size distribution of atmospheric coarse particles were determined by automated microscopic single particle analysis. Seasonal variability of the total mass of different size fractions was identified as follows: spring > winter > autumn > summer. High concentrations of transparent mineral particles indicate the activity of geogenic sources in spring and winter time, due to asian dust events and resuspension of soil from local bare land during dry and windy periods. The percentage of opaque particle components differs seasonally with relatively high values in winter, confirming combustion of fossil fuels for heating purposes as a predominant pollution source in this season. The influence of meteorological conditions on concentrations and size distribution of atmospheric particulate matter between 2.5 and 80 μm is demonstrated for the whole sampling period. Lowest pollution by coarse aerosols occurred during the period of the 2008 Olympic Summer Games. A general trend of decreasing total coarse particle mass concentrations was observed. Due to frequently observed high total coarse particle mass concentrations of several 100 μ g \cdot m⁻³ it is strongly recommended to enhance research and observation regarding these air pollutants to gain a better understanding of their dynamics, health effects, well being impacts on Beijing inhabitants and the effectiveness of mitigation measures.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author. Institute of Applied Geosciences, Karlsruhe Institute of

Technology, Kaiserstr. 12, 76128 Karlsruhe, Germany.

E-mail address: stefan.norra@kit.edu (S. Norra).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.08.029 1352-2310/© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

More than half of the world population now is living in urban environments. These systems consume and process enormous amounts of energy and mineral ressources causing environmental pollution potentially harming the health of its inhabitants. From the geoscientific point of view, urban systems form a world wide connected entity, the astysphere (Norra, 2009, 2014a), showing beside local also a severe global environmental impacts (Baccini and Brunner, 2012; UNEP, 2012; Norra, 2014b). The atmosphere is one compartment of the astysphere with specific chemical compositions and aerodynamic properties due to characteristical urban land uses and pollution sources. Highest pollution levels are often reached in so called megacities such as Rio de Janeiro (Quiterio et al., 2004), Hong Kong (Lee et al., 2007), Delhi (Mandala et al., 2014) or also Beijing (Schleicher et al., 2010a). According to a certain global similarity of megacity systems regarding their subsystems such as industry, housing and traffic, experiences about air pollution dynamics from one megacity contribute also to the knowledge about possible atmospheric pollution dynamics in other megacities, and help to identify potential threads and optimal mitigation measures. Within this special issue of Atmospheric Environment, Beijing, Tianjin and the surrounding Hebei province are in the focus of presenting research results on atmospheric pollution dynamics. Beijing in particular is an ideal region to study the impact of geogenic coarse particles and its interactions with anthropogenic emitted particulate matter due to frequently occurring dust storms transported from western deserts to Beijing and surrounding dry areas, which additionally act as particle sources (Schleicher et al., 2011a,b; Schleicher et al., 2012). Tianjin is only located about 100 km southeast of Beijing at the ocean and both cities are continuously growing together forming a metacity in the near future (UN Habitat, 2007). Furthermore, during periods of dominating winds from north-west Tianjin potentially is affected by atmospheric pollution generated in Beijing and during times of dominating winds from south-east Beijjing potentially is affected by air pollution from Tianjin. However, since main wind directions in Beijing are south-east and north-west, this mutual impact on air quality is to some extend limited yet. Beijing, the capital of China, comprises over 20 million inhabitants (Beijing statistical yearbook 2012, http://www.bjstats.gov.cn). Together with Tianjin this metacity agglomeration will host more than 30 million inhabitants. Both urban plumes (Puxbaum et al., 2004) will grow together with consequences for urban air quality not known in detail yet. Thus, there is an urgent need on comprehensive knowledge on the dynamics of air pollution in this region to develop regionally adapted mitigation measures to improve the living conditions of the urban dwellers.

Studies on Beijing aerosol pollution in the past have been mainly focused on monitoring PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀, and were carried out for certain limited periods (Guinot et al., 2007; Chan and Yao, 2008; Quan et al., 2014; Li et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013). Some studies also considered coarser particle loads. Dillner et al. (2006) comprehensively investigated the dust storm event between March 22nd and April 1st in 2001. This study combined the analyses of total suspended particulates (TSP) with PM2.5 and particle size fractions between 0.056 and 1.8 µm sampled by 10 stage micro orifice uniform deposit impactors (MOUDI). During this dust event TSP concentrations reached about 900 µg/m³ and declined to about 200 μ g/m³ at non dust event days. Between 2001 and 2004, PM2.5 and TSP concentrations in Beijing's air were recorded by Wang et al. (2006). Sampling was carried out by a medium-volume sampler during day time. Within the sample period altogether 315 samples were taken and classified according to dust, haze and clear days. Maximum TSP concentrations reached about 10,000 μ g/m³ and the average was 2000 μ g/m³ for 40 samples representing dust days. A further study (Zhang et al., 2006) on a similar period from July 2001 to April 2003 also surveyed TSP, PM10 and PM2.5 and recorded similar concentrations as Wang et al. (2006). The mobility of trace elements in TSP from Beijing collected in the period February 2005 to September 2007 was subject of a study by Schleicher et al. (2011a). Here, it was demonstrated that trace metal mobility varies throughout the year. A study on size fractionated coarse particles in Beijing's atmosphere was published by Norra et al. (2007). This study used the passive sampler technique Sigma-2 (VDI, 2013) and distinguished pollution during day and night for a short period in January 2005. Maximum concentrations of particles of the size fraction between 3 and 96 um reached 500 µg/m³. First insights into the successful reduction of different size fractions of coarse particles by mitigation measures enforced during the Olympic Games were presented by Schleicher et al. (2011b). The chemical composition of single coarse particles, collected by the SIGMA-2 method, was analysed at µm scale by means of µ-Synchrotron X-ray fluorescence (Schleicher et al., 2010b). These studies underline the important meaning of studies on coarse particles in Beijing, which still are a potential threat to the inhabitant's well-being. A detailed understanding of the sources and temporal dynamics of coarse particle is indispensable for the development of sustainable mitigation measures.

Also in this study, the passive sampler Sigma-2 (Schleicher et al., 2010; Guéguen et al., 2012; VDI, 2013) was applied in order to collect the coarse particles for subsequent particulate matter measurements ranging from 2.5 μ m to 80 μ m in diameter in intervals of 2.5–5, 5–10, 10–20, 20–40 and 40–80 μ m. The aim of this paper is to study not only the size distributed mass concentration of coarse particles but also the seasonal variations and meteorological effects during a long term continuous sampling period (from April 2005 till October 2009) at an urban site in N–E Beijing.

2. Methods

2.1. Sampling

Coarse atmospheric particles were sampled with the passive sampling device Sigma-2 (Grobéty et al., 2010). Technical details of the instrument are described in the guideline VDI 2119:2013–06 (VDI, 2013). The Sigma-2 sampler consists of a protective antistatic plastic head covering an inner tube. The interior of the sampler contains a carrier with an inlaid sampling plate located at the bottom of the tube. Airborne particles are allowed to enter the tube through four rectangular windows in the head and the tube, as well but twisted against one another. Due to this construction the inside of the sampler is widely protected against the impact of precipitation and wind. In the claimed interior of the tube, particles are settling down onto the highly transparent collection plate suitable for optical microscopy. The particles are fixed on the surface of the collection plate, which is covered by a weather resistant adhesive.

Microscopic analyses of collection plates provide deposition rates of particles of sizes between 2.5 and 80 μ m (geometrical equivalent diameter, d_p). By assuming spherical shape and unit density for all particles, a size-fractionated mass deposition rate of particles can be calculated. From these mass deposition rates, a size-fractionated particle mass concentration can be calculated by approximating individual particle deposition velocity by its settling velocity assumed under the calmed conditions in the interior of the Sigma-2 passive sampler (Schleicher et al., 2010b; VDI, 2013).

Sampling was conducted from April 25th 2005 till November 2nd 2009 (Table 1). Each week was separated into two sampling periods for three and four days to avoid too high loads and superimpositions of particles on the adhesive collection plates. After microscopic analyses, the weekly concentrations of aerosols were calculated from these both samples. Unfortunately, logistic problems caused a gap of several weeks of samples from autumn 2007 and winter 2007/2008. Altogether, 15.3% of the samplings were interrupted by external errors. Sampling was carried out at the east gate of China University of Geosciences Beijing (CUGB) near to the 4th ring road (Fig. 1) (about 10 m west from the street kerb). The sampling site belongs to the north-western part of Beijing and represents a typical "urban site". The sampler is installed at a height of 1.5 m above ground, which is an average standard height for the exposure of humans.

2.2. Measurement

An automatic image analysis system consisting of a Zeiss optical microscope (ZEISS Axioplan 2) with an adapted automatic scanning stage (Prior Scientific), a high-resolution CCD camera (SVS-VISTEK) and a PC-aided image analysis system Digitrace V.3.4 (IMATEC) was used to carry out measurement object-specific features of individual particles at the German Meteorological Service (DWD) in Freiburg, Germany. This approach provided the mass concentration of particles in the size range between 2.5 and 80 μ m (geometrical equivalent diameter, d_p). Concurrently, particles were differentiated into transparent and opaque particles. Transparent particles typically are mineral particles from geogenic sources, such as quartz, feldspars or calcite. Furthermore, salt particles e.g. from sea spray belong to this particle group. However, due to the methodological needs of the optical analysis the sample has to be embedded into an aqueous immersion fluid which dissolves water soluble salts. Opaque particles often are characteristic for anthropogenic sources, such as combustion residues or tyre abrasion. Mass concentrations were calculated as described in Dietze et al. (2006) and expressed in fractions of size intervals of $2.5-5 \ \mu m$ (SI1), 5–10 µm (SI2), 10–20 µm (SI3), 20–40 µm (SI4) and 40-80 µm (SI5).

2.3. Meteorological data

Meteorological data (three hourly data) was obtained from China Meteorological Data Sharing Service System (http://cdc.cma. gov.cn). Wind roses were produced with WRPLOT View Freeware (Lakes Environmental, Ontario, Canada). Seasons are classified here according to meteorological definitions: Spring – March, April, May; Summer – June, July, August,; Autumn – September, October, November; Winter – December, January, February.

3. Results

Summary statistics of mass concentrations of total particles (TP) and transparent particles (TRP) between 2.5 and 80 μ m differentiated for the size intervals SI1: 2.5–5 μ m, SI2: 5–10 μ m, SI3: 10–20 μ m, SI4: 20–40 μ m, SI5: 40–80 μ m are reported in Table 2. Weekly concentrations of TP (2.5–80 μ m) varied from 43.5 to 528 μ g·m⁻³. The coarsest fraction analysed from 40 to 80 μ m shows the lowest concentrations, whereas highest mass concentrations

Table 1

List of all sampling weeks.

were found in the size fractions of 5–20 μ m. Average mass concentrations still are high in the size fraction of 2.5–5 μ m, and lower in the size fraction of 20–40 μ m. The same order of average mass concentrations was found for TRP. Thus, the general order of mass concentrations of the different fractions is: SI2, SI3 > SI1 > SI4 > SI5. SI2 shows a slight trend of higher concentrations as SI3. Transparent particles highly dominate opaque particles and account for about 90% of the whole particle mass concentrations, indicating the high meaning of geogenic particle sources for air quality in Beijing.

The time series are similar for the different size fractions during the period of sampling (Fig. 2), and follow the same temporal trend of high concentrations in spring and winter and lowest concentrations in summer (Fig. 3). Two periods differ obviously from the rest of the investigation period. Highest concentrations in all particle classes were monitored during the asian dust event in spring 2006 in the period of calendar week 10–22. Lowest concentrations occurred during the Olympic and Paralympic Games in summer and autumn 2008 from calendar week 32–38.

4. Discussion

4.1. Size distribution and seasonal variability

The average concentrations of coarse particles analysed in this study are in the same magnitude (201 μ g/m³) as Schleicher et al. (2010a) reported for total suspended particles (TSP) sampled by an active sampling measurement in Southeast Beijing. This study resulted in an average TSP concentration of 370 $\mu g/m^3$ for the period from August 2005 till August 2007. In contrast to TP as analysed in this study, TSP also includes the PM2.5 fine particle fraction. The sum concentrations of coarse particles between 2.5 and 80 µm in diameter exceeds those of PM2.5 concentrations. For the period of September 2007 till January 2011, Chen et al. (2014) reported average PM2.5 concentrations of 88.5 μ g/m³ at a site in north east Beijing. For the same site as investigated in this study (CUGB), Yu et al. (2011) calculated average annual PM2.5 concentrations between 63.3 and 65.6 μ g/m³ for the period between 2005 and 2007. Thus, PM2.5 concentrations only account for less than half of the mass concentrations of the particle size fractions between 2.5 and 80 μ m. Also in this study, the average mass concentration of the finest particle size interval $2.5-5 \mu m$ (SI1) of the coarse particle fractions never was the highest one within the four seasons (Fig. 3). Conclusively, these results indicate that coarser particles, and especially those up to 40 µm in diameter, represent considerable air pollution in Beijing, needing more attention to be paid for, since those are able to negatively affect the well-being and the respiratory tract of humans (Guthrie and Mossmann, 1993; Guthrie, 1997) and influence local climate (Tandon et al., 2010).

The high concentrations in spring can be explained by the occurrence of Asian dust events, showing different intensities over the years. During these periods air masses transport high loads of particles from dry areas like Takla Makan and Gobi eastwards to the densely populated coastal regions of China where inhabitants of megacities such as Beijing and Tianjin consequently are suffering by reduced air quality (Qian et al., 2002; Shao et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2011; Schrader et al., 2013). Here, we show that concentrations

 Number (weeks)
 Percentage of total weeks
 Calendar weeks (week/year)

 Weeks with operational errors
 36
 15.3
 06/07-08/07, 36/07-11/08, 03-03/09, 28/09-31/09

 Weeks without operational errors
 200
 84.7
 All the others

 Total weeks
 236
 100
 17/05-44/09

S. Norra et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 109-118



Fig. 1. Location of sampling site at the China University of Geosciences, Beijing (CUGB), and of the Central Olympic District (COD) (@ OpenStreetMap contributors).

for particles of sizes between 2.5 and 80 μ m even exceed 500 μ g/m³ for the weekly mean value. Together with the particle size fraction smaller 2.5 μ m concentrations above 1000 μ g/m³ can occur as reported by Schleicher et al. (2010a). Especially spring 2006 faced an intensive dust storm, whereas the other springs which have been monitored faced lower dust storm intensities (Fig. 2).

Table 2

Mass concentrations ($\mu g \cdot m^{-3}$) for the different size intervals for total particles (TP) and transparent particles (TRP), respectively (N = 200).

Size interval (µm)	Mean	Stdev	Median	Max	Min
TP					
2.5-5 (SI1)	48.0	19.4	43.6	141	11.2
5-10 (SI2)	58.4	22.5	54.1	135	14.3
10-20 (SI3)	55.6	24.9	50.6	152	12.8
20-40 (SI4)	31.2	21.7	25.6	135	4.30
40-80 (SI5)	7.68	10.0	4.62	84.2	0.45
2.5-80	201	90.8	184	528	43.5
2.5-10	106	41.5	99.7	277	25.5
TRP					
2.5-5 (SI1)	43.3	18.3	39.6	135	9.38
5-10 (SI2)	52.1	21.6	48.2	129	10.9
10-20 (SI3)	50.3	23.9	45.6	146	9.01
20-40 (SI4)	28.5	20.8	22.7	132	3.26
40-80 (SI5)	7.04	9.60	4.19	80.9	0.32
2.5-80	181	87.3	162	506	33.4
2.5-10	95.4	39.5	88.4	264	20.2

centration is winter when substantial heating processes emit combustion residues to the atmosphere (Schleicher et al., 2010a; Chen et al., 2014). This trend is traceable for all size fractions (Fig. 3). Lowest mass concentrations occur for each size fraction during summer, when combustion of fossil fuels for heating purposes is less necessary, dust storms do not occur due to other wind directions (Fig. 4), wind velocity is low and most precipitation is recorded (Fig. 5). Rainfall is able to wash out aerosol particles from the atmosphere, which is a well-known phenomenon. Beside precipitation also wind velocity is particularly able to influence the concentration of coarse particles. Coarse particles need stronger impulses to be suspended and resuspended into the atmosphere in comparison to smaller aerosol fractions (Shao and Lu, 2000; Alfarao and Gomez, 2001; Xuan and Sokolik, 2002). The correlation between wind velocities and concentrations of coarser particles is demonstrated in Fig. 5. In addition to spring, higher wind velocities occur during late autumn and early winter, which is the period of a second peak of coarse particle mass concentrations in Beijing (Fig. 5). Thus, strong wind at dry days can resuspend considerable amounts also of local coarse particles from streets, bare land and other surfaces. Conclusively, with respect to all size fractions, the respective mass concentrations follow the same seasonal trend: spring > winter > fall > summer (Fig. 3).

The season with the second highest coarse aerosol mass con-



S. Norra et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 109–118

Fig. 2. Time series of coarse atmospheric particular mass concentrations for TP total (2.5–80 µm) and the different size intervals S11–S15 (calendar week: year/week). The Olympic Rings indicate the period of the Olympic Games.

4.2. Evaluation of the origin: geogenic or anthropogenic

The Sigma-2 passive sampling technique in combination with the subsequent automated microscopic analysis does not only provide results for total particle concentrations but also for opaque (OP) and transparent particles (TRP). The described analysis directly obtains a size fractionated particle number deposition rate of low light absorbing transparent particles and of highly light absorbing opaque particles often characterized by considerable content of elemental carbon (Fiebig-Wittmaack et al., 2006). Examples for such particles are shown in Fig. 6. The opaque particles represent predominantly

anthropogenic aerosol sources such as soot from combustion processes and rubber particles from tyre wear while transparent particles are frequently refer to a geogenic origin, such as soil and sediment particles (Grobéty et al., 2010). In order to evaluate the contributions from anthropogenic or geogenic origin, the concentrations of opaque and transparent particles in the size intervals between 2.5 and 80 μ m geometric diameter are plotted in Fig. 7. Interestingly, concentrations of OP and TRP significantly discern in different seasons. Generally, concentrations of opaque particles are much lower by a factor of 5–15 in comparison to the concentrations of transparent particles. Both, opaque and transparent particles show



Fig. 3. Medians of seasonal coarse atmospheric particular mass concentrations for different size fractions for the period April 2005 till October 2009.

S. Norra et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 109–118

highest concentrations for the size fraction of $5-20 \,\mu m$ (SI2, SI3). The smaller fraction SI1 of opaque and transparent particles already shows lower concentrations as SI2 and SI3 but still higher ones as those of SI4 and SI5, which is in accordance to the distribution of total particles (Fig. 3). Seasonal distribution of concentrations of opaque and transparent particles differs, since geogenic particles more contribute to the transparent particle fraction and combustion processes to the opaque particle fraction. Therefore, highest concentrations of opaque particles occur in winter and lowest in summer. Autumn and spring concentrations of opaque particles show intermediate values but change their order at 20 μ m. In autumn, the mass concentrations of opaque particles of the fraction below 20 μm is higher as in spring. Opaque particles with diameters above 20 μ m behave vice versa, most probably because the dust storms are able to transport some opaque coarse minerals, such as hornblende, chlorite or illite (Liu et al., 2004; Shao et al., 2007, 2008) and resuspend more anthropogenic particles from the surfaces due to higher wind velocities. This behaviour does not occur for transparent particles. In this case, the order of TRP concentrations follows spring > winter > autumn > summer for all size fractions (Fig. 7), which is the











Fig. 4. Wind roses for different seasons (2005-2009) in Beijing (based on three-hourly data obtained from http://cdc.cma.gov.cn).

S. Norra et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 109-118



Fig. 5. Annual courses of wind velocities, precipitation and coarse aerosol mass concentrations. For moving averages, the mean of values of five days were used. (Meteorological data are obtained from China Meteorological Data Sharing Service System, http://cdc.cma.gov.cn).

same order as for TP. For OP the order of seasonal mass concentrations follows the sequence winter > spring, autumn > summer (Fig. 8).

4.3. Long term trend of mass concentrations and the influence of the Olympic Games

The time series of the single size fractions for the whole sampling period is shown in Fig. 2. To analyse the long term trend of mass concentration development, the medians of the size fraction $2.5-5 \mu m$ (SI1) and the agglomerated size fraction $2.5-80 \mu m$ (SItot) are depicted in Fig. 9 for the single seasons. Here, the smallest size fraction is used as indicator for anthopogenic emissions, whereas whole mass concentration is much more influenced by geogenic particle sources. For all seasons, a certain variance of SI1 mass concentrations is obvious but for the years 2005–2009 no clear trend can be alluded on basis of the available data. Contrarily, SItot shows a trend of decreasing mass concentrations over time for spring, summer and autumn, but not for winter. The lack of a temporal trend in winter can be caused the limited available data only allowing to calculate the median for three seasons. Thus, more

data of an even longer time series is necessary. The distribution of seasonal medians for spring periods is dominated by the severe asian dust event in spring 2006. But since then, median concentrations are steadily decreasing from medians of 426 μ g·m⁻³ in 2005 to 202 μ g·m⁻³ in 2009. In case of summer seasons the medians decrease from 157 μ g·m⁻³ in 2005 to 125 μ g·m⁻³ in 2009, and for fall seasons from 249 μ g·m⁻³ in 2005 to 158 μ g·m⁻³ in 2009.

The trends indicate that mitigation measures to reduce particulate air pollution in Beijing was more successful with respect to the reduction of coarse particle mass concentrations as with respect to the reduction of fine particle mass concentrations. This is in correspondence to the seasonal ratios of SI1 to SItot as demonstrated in Fig. 10. From 2005 to 2009 the ratios of SI1/SItot show for most seasons a trend of a slight increase indicating a growing share of smaller particles within the total particulate load. Only during winter the ratios stay fairly stable indicating no relative decrease of larger particle fractions.

The effects of the various mitigation measures during the Olympic Games (Chen et al., 2014) are visible in the temporal minima of median particle mass concentrations in summer 2008



Fig. 6. Microscopic pictures of atmospheric particles sampled by SIGMA-2 method. Left: typical picture from spring season, calendar week 12, March 2006; Right: a typical picture from winter season, calendar week 52, December 2006. Transparent particles are often minerals such as quartz, whereas opaque particles often are tyre rubber or soot. The spring picture is dominated by coarse particles with a relative high number of transparent particles. The winter picture is dominated by smaller particles and a relative high number of opaque particles.



S. Norra et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 109-118



Fig. 8. Seasonal dynamics of TRP an OP coarse atmospheric particular matter mass concentrations (medians) for agglomerated size fractions of $2.5-10 \ \mu m$ and $2.5-80 \ \mu m$ and for the period April 2005 to November 2009.

especially affected the abundance of coarse geogenic particles in the ambient Beijing atmosphere and supported a relative low mass concentration of coarse particles in Beijing's ambient air.

5. Conclusions

The technique of size distributed particle sampling by the Sigma-2 device combined with detailed automatic microscopic single particle analysis provided valuable results of size distribution and seasonal variation of different size fractions of coarse atmospheric particles between 2.5 and 80 µm. A noteworthy insight is presented into the coarse particles' temporal dynamics within the urban area of Beijing and their contribution to air pollution.

Mass concentrations and seasonal variations of particulate matter of 2.5–80 μ m, also distinguished into opaque and transparent particles in different size intervals, were provided by this study for a long time period from April 2005 till October 2009. Highest mass concentrations occurred for the particle sizes between 5 and 20 μ m. The mass concentrations in all size fractions follow the same seasonal trend: spring > winter > fall > summer. If differentiating the particles into transparent and opaque particles, transparent particles account for the lion's share of the total particle concentrations. However, the seasonal coarse of mass concentrations of opaque particles differed from transparent particles with highest mass concentrations in all size fractions during winter and not in spring.

A long term trend for the reduction of predominantly anthropogenic emitted particles was not obvious for small size fractions such as SI1 (2.5–5 μ m) and opaque particles. Nevertheless, such a trend was recorded for fractions of larger particles and transparent



(Figs. 2 and 9). This effect becomes even more visible if only focussing on the respective time period of the Olympic Games comprising the period from August 7th till September 17th, which falls into the calendar weeks 32–38 in 2008. Table 3 summarizes the median values of this specific period for TP. It is obvious that TP was reduced for all size classes relative to previous years and the following year. This indicates that reduction measures were effective for anthropogenic emissions of coarse transparent particles as e.g. emitted during construction activities, which were extremely predominant all over Beijing before 2008. Furthermore, the Olympic Games period in 2008 from August 7th till September 17th showed the highest precipitation with 207.6 mm in comparison to this period in the other years of this survey (2005: 77.5 mm; 2006: 44.5 mm; 2007: 74.5 mm; 2009: 53.2). Thus, this humid period









Fig. 9. Seasonal courses of medians of coarse atmospheric particular matter mass concentrations of size fractions 2.5–5 μm and 2.5–80 $\mu m.$

particles for the seasons spring, summer and fall from 2005 till 2009. The asian dust event in 2006 caused an extremely high average weekly mass concentration of up to more as 500 μ g·m⁻³ for the sum of all size fractions. Mitigation measures accompanying the period of Olympic Summer Games in 2008 especially were effective for larger particles. These mitigation measures were substantially supported by the highest precipitation amounts for years. Beside precipitation also wind speed effects particle concentrations contributing to lower mass concentrations of coarse particles



Fig. 10. Course of seasonal ratios of coarse atmospheric particular matter mass concentrations of size fractions 2.5–5 µm and 2.5–80 µm.

Table 3Medians of the mass concentrations ($\mu g \cdot m^{-3}$) for the different size intervals for totalparticles (TP) for the period of the Olympic Games in different years.

	2.5—5 μm	5—10 µm	10—20 µm	20—40 µm	40—80 µm	2.5 — 80 μm
TP						
2005	38.6	48.8	46.1	19.7	3.2	157
2006	34.2	49.1	44.8	19.0	2.7	157
2008	23.1	26.2	20.5	7.4	0.9	80.3
2009	37.8	46.5	34.5	12.5	1.6	137

during summer and higher concentrations during the other seasons with higher average wind speeds.

The results of this study prove an intensive urban air pollution in Beijing by coarse particles between 2.5 and 80 μ m, exceeding the mass of PM2.5. Till today not many studies are available on the dynamics of coarse particles and especially of size fractionated coarse particles in the ambient air of Beijing and of megacities in general. Neither the meaning of the various coarse particles for scavenging small particles is comprehensively understood (Schleicher et al., 2010a, b) nor the influence of coarse particles on the local climate. Thus, it is highly advised to intensify the monitoring and reduction measures for this pollutant not only in Beijing but also in other megacities facing severe air pollution.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by scholarships from the Chinese Scholarship Council for Y. Yu and Y. Chen were supported to work at the Karlsruhe Institute of Technology. The overwhelming majority of analytical work was done at the German Meteorological Service (DWD), Freiburg i. Br, Germany. We like to thank the technical staff at DWD for the maintenance of the sampling devices and making available data for analysis. We also would like to thank our colleagues at the CUGB for collecting the samples. WRPLOT View Freeware was used for the preparation of wind roses.

References

Alfaro, S., Gomes, L., 2001. Modeling mineral aerosol production by wind erosion:

117

Fig. 10. Course of seasonal ratios of co

S. Norra et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 109-118

122

S. Norra et al. / Atmospheric Environment 124 (2016) 109-118

emission intensities and aerosol size distributions in source areas. J. Geophys. Res. 106, 18075-18084.

- Baccini, P., Brunner, P.H., 2012. Metabolism of the Anthroposphere, second ed. MIT Press books, Cambridge, ISBN 978-0-262-01665-0. Chan, K.C., Yao, X., 2008. Review – air pollution in mega cities in China. Atmos.
- Environ. 42, 1-42.
- Chen, Y., Schleicher, N., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Norra, S., 2014. The influence of governmental mitigation measures on contamination characteristics of PM2.5 in Beijing. Sci. Total Environ. 490, 647–658.
- Dietze, V., Fricker, M., Goltzsche, M., Schult, z E., 2006. Luftqualitätsmessung in deutschen Kurorten. Teil 1: Methodik und Absicherung. Gefahrst. - Reinhalt. Luft 66, 45-53.
- Dillner, A.M., Schauer, J.J., Zhang, Y., Zeng, L., Cass, G.R., 2006. Size-resolved par-Liculate matter composition in Beijing during pollution and dust events. J. Geophys. Res. 111. D05203.
- Fiebig-Wittmaack, M., Axhultz, E., Córdova, A.M., Pizarro, C., 2006. A microscopic and chemical study of airborne coarse particles with particular reference to sea salt in Chile at 30° S. Atmos. Environ. 40, 3467–3478. Grobéty, B., Gieré, R., Dietze, V., Stille, P., 2010. Airborne particles in the urban
- environment. Elements 6, 229-234.
- Guéguen, F., Stille, P., Dietze, V., Gieré, R., 2012. Chemical and isotopic properties and origin of coarse airborne particles collected by passive samplers in industrial, urban, and rural environments. Atmos. Environ. 62, 631-645.
- Guinot, B., Cachier, H., Oikonomou, K., 2007. Geochemical properties from a new aerosol chemical mass closure. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 7, 1657-1670.
- Guthrie jr., D.G., 1997. Mineral properties and their contributions to particle toxicity. Environ. Health Perspect. 105 (Suppl. 5), 1003–1011.
- Guthrie jr., D.G., Mossmann, B.T., 1993. Health Effects of Mineral Dusts. Reviews in Mineralogy 28. Mineralogical Society of America, Washington. Lee, C.S.L., Li, X.D., Zhang, G., Li, J., Ding, A.J., Wang, T., 2007. Heavy metals and Pb
- isotopic composition of aerosols in urban and suburban areas of Hong Kong and Guangzhou, South China—evidence of the long-range transport of air contam-inants. Atmos. Environ. 41, 432–447.
- Li, X., He, K., Yang, F., Zhao, Q., Ma, Y., Cheng, Y., Ouyang, W., Chen, G., 2013. PM2.5 mass, chemical composition, and light extinction before and during the 2008 Beijing Olympics. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 118 (12), 12,158–12,167. Liu, W., Qi, F., Wang, T., Zhang, Y., Shi, J., 2004. Physicochemistry and mineralogy of
- storm dust and dust sediment in northern China. Adv. Atmos. Sci. 21 (5), 775-783.
- Mandala, P., Sarkar, R., Mandala, A., Saud, T., 2014. Seasonal variation and sources of aerosol pollution in Delhi, India. Environ. Chem. Lett. 12, 529-534.
- Norra, S., 2009. The astysphere and urban geochemistry a new approach to integrate urban systems into the geoscientific concept of spheres and a challenging concept for modern geochemistry supporting the sustainable development of planet earth. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 16, 539–545.
- Norra, S., 2014a. The biosphere in times of global urbanization. J. Geochem. Explor. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gexplo.2014.06.004.
- Norra, S., 2014b. Urban geochemistry news in brief. Environ. Earth Sci. 71 (2), 983-990
- Norra, S., Hundt, B., Stüben, D., Cen, K., Liu, C., Dietze, V., Schultz, E., 2007. Size, morphological and chemical characterization of aerosols polluting the Beijing atmosphere in January/February 2005. In: Morrison, G.M., Rauch, S. (Eds.), Highway and Urban Environment. Springer, Berlin. Puxbaum, H., Gomiscek, B., Kalina, M., Bauer, H., Salam, A., Stopper, S., Preining, O.,
- Hauck, H., 2004. A dual site study of PM2.5 and PM10 aerosol cheVienna, Austria. Atmos. Environ. 38, 3949–3958.
- Quan, J., Tie, X., Zhang, Q., Liu, Q., Li, X., Gao, Y., Zhao, D., 2014. Characteristics of heavy aerosol pollution during the 2012–2013 winter in Beijing, China. Atmos. Environ. 88, 83-89.
- Qian, W., Quan, L., Shi, S., 2002. Variations of the dust storm in China and its cli-matic control. J. Clim. 15, 1216–1229.
- Quiterio, S.L., Da Silva, C.R.S., Arbilla, G., Escaleira, V., 2004. Metals in airborne

particulate matter in the industrial district of Santa Cruz, Rio de Janeiro, in an annual period. Atmos. Environ. 38, 321–331. Schleicher, N., Kramar, U., Norra, S., Dietze, V., Kaminski, U., Cen, K., Yu, Y., 2010b. μ-

- scale variations of elemental composition in individual atmospheric particles by means of synchrotron radiation based μ -XRF analysis. In: ICXOM20 Proceedings, 20th International Congress on X-ray Optics and Microanalysis 14–18 September 2009, Karlsruhe. American Institute of Physics Conf. Proc., April 6, 2010, vol. 1221, pp. 172–180. Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chai, F., Chen, Y., Wang, S., Cen, K., Yu, Y., Stüben, D., 2011a.
- Temporal variability of trace metal mobility of urban particulate matter from Beijing – a contribution to health impact assessments of aerosols. Atmos. Environ. 45, 7248–7265.
- Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chai, F., Chen, Y., Wang, S., Stüben, D., 2010a. Anthropogenic versus geogenic contribution to total suspended atmospheric particulate matter and its variations during a two-year sampling period in Beijing, China. J. Environ. Monit. 12, 434–441.
- Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Chen, Y., Chai, F., Wang, S., 2012. Efficiency of mitigation measures to reduce particulate air pollution – a case study during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing, China. Sci. Total Environ. 427–428, 146–158. Schleicher, N., Norra, S., Dietze, V., Yang, Y., Fricker, M., Kaminski, U., Chen, Y.,
- Cen, K., 2011b. The effect of nitigation measures on size distributed mass concentrations of atmospheric particles and black carbon concentrations during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 in Beijing. Sci. Total Environ. 412-413, 185-193.
- Schrader, S., Sokolik, I.N., Vogel, B., Vogel, H., Suppan, P., Schäfer, K., Norra, S., 2013. Use of staellite data for air quality applications in northern China. In: Pro-ceedings of SPIE – the International Society for Optical Engineering, 8890, art. No. 88900G.
- Shao, L., Li, W., Xiao, Z., Sun, Z., 2008. The mineralogy and possible sources of spring dust particles over Beijing. Adv. Atmos. Sci. 25 (3), 395–403. Shao, L., Li, W., Yang, S., Shi, Z., Lü, S., 2007. Mineralogical characteristics of airborne
- particles collected in Beijing during a severe Asian dust storm period in spring 2002. Sci. China Ser. D Earth Sci. 50 (6), 953–959.
- Shao, Y., Lu, H., 2000. A Simple expression for wind erosion threshold friction ve-
- Iocity, J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 105, 22437–22443 (1984–2012).
 Tandon, A., Yadav, S., Attri, A.K., 2010. Coupling between meterological factors and ambient aerosol load. Atmos. Environ. 44, 1237–1243.
- UNEP, 2012. Sustainable Resource Efficient Cities-make it Happen! United Nations Environment Programme, ISBN 978-92-807-3270-2.
- UN-Habitat, 2007. State of the World's Cities 2006/7. Earthscan, London.
- VDI, 2013. VDI 2119 Ambient Air Measurements. Sampling of Atmospheric Particles >2.5 Mm on an Acceptor Surface Using the Sigma-2 Pasive Sampler. Charac-terization by Optical Microscopy and Calcualtion of Number Settling Rate and Mass Concentration. ICS: 13.040.01. Betth Verlag, Berlin. Wang, J., Wang, Y., Liu, H., Yang, Y., Zhang, X., Li, Y., Zhang, Y., Deng, G., 2013.
- Diagnostic identification of the impact of meteorological conditions on PM2.5 concentrations in Beijing. Atmos. Environ. 81, 158–165. Wang, Y., Zhuang, G., Sun, Y., An, Z., 2006. The variation of characteristics and
- formation mechanisms of aerosol in dust, haze, and clear days in Beijing. Atmos. Environ. 40, 6579-6591.
- Xuan, J., Sokolik, I.N., 2002. Characterization of sources and emission rates of mineral dust in Northern China. Atmos. Environ. 36, 4863–4876. Yu, Y., Norra, S., Schleicher, N., Fricker, M., Dietze, V., Kaminski, U., Cen, K.
- Stüben, D., 2011. Dynamics and origin of PM2.5 during a three-year sampling
- period in Beijing, China. J. Environ. Monit. 13, 334–346. Zhang, R., Jing, J., Tao, J., Hsu, S.-C., Wang, G., Cao, J., Lee, C.S.L., Zhu, L., Chen, Z., Zhao, Y., Schen, Y., 2013. Chemical characterization and source apportionment of PM2.5 in Beijing: seasonal perspective. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 13, 7053-7074.
- Zhang, W.J., Sun, Y.L., Zhuang, G.S., Xu, D.Q., 2006. Characteristics and seasonal variations of PM2.5, PM10, and TSP in Beijing. Biomed. Environ. Sci. 19 (6), 461-468.

B.3 Characteristics and sources of PM in seasonal perspective – A case study from one year continuously sampling in Beijing
Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235-248



Original article

Characteristics and sources of PM in seasonal perspective – A case study from one year continuously sampling in Beijing



Rongrong Shen ^{a, *}, Klaus Schäfer ^a, Jürgen Schnelle-Kreis ^b, Longyi Shao ^c, Stefan Norra ^{d, e, f}, Utz Kramar ^e, Bernhard Michalke ^g, Gülcin Abbaszade ^b, Thorsten Streibel ^h, Mathieu Fricker ⁱ, Yuan Chen ^e, Ralf Zimmermann ^{b, h}, Stefan Emeis ^a, Hans Peter Schmid ^a

^a Institute of Meteorology and Climate Research, Atmospheric Environmental Research, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT/IMK-IFU), 82467 Garmisch-Partenkirchen, Germany

^b Joint Mass Spectrometry Centre, Comprehensive Molecular Analytics, Helmholtz Zentrum München (HMGU/CMA), 85764 Neuherberg, Germany

^c School of Geoscience and Surveying Engineering, China University of Mining and Technology (Beijing) (CUMTB), 100083 Beijing, PR China

^d Institute of Geography and Geoecology, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT/IGG), 76128 Karlsruhe, Germany

^e Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT/IMG), 76128 Karlsruhe, Germany

^f Institute of Mineralogy, TU Bergakademie Freiberg (TUBF), 09596 Freiberg, Germany

^g Research Unit Analytical BioGeoChemistry, Helmholtz Zentrum München (HMGU/ABGC), 85764 Neuherberg, Germany

^h Joint Mass Spectrometry Centre, Chair of Analytical Chemistry, University of Rostock (UR/IC), 18059 Rostock, Germany

¹ Research Center Human Biometeorology, Air Quality Department, Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD/AQD), 79104 Freiburg, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 June 2015 Received in revised form 7 September 2015 Accepted 7 September 2015 Available online 21 October 2015

Keywords: Seasonal variation Characteristics Source apportionment PMF Back trajectory cluster analyses

ABSTRACT

Daily mass concentrations and chemical compositions (elemental carbon, organic carbon, water soluble ions, chemical elements and organic species) of PM were measured continuously in Beijing for one year from June 2010 to June 2011 (365 samples). The seasonal variation of PM mass concentration followed the order of spring 2011 > winter 2010 > summer 2010 > autumn 2010. Organic matter (OM) and secondary inorganic aerosol components (SNA: SO₄²⁻, NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺) were the two major fractions of PM during the whole year. Source apportionment by PMF performed on the basis of a full year of data, including both inorganic and organic species, showed that biomass burning, secondary sulfate and nitrate formation, mineral dust, industry, coal combustion and traffic were the main sources of PM in Beijing during 2010-2011. Specifically, comparison among the four seasons shows that the contribution of secondary sulfate and biomass burning, secondary nitrate formation, mineral dust, and coal combustion were the dominating sources of PM in summer, autumn, spring and winter, respectively. The contributions of industry to PM was distributed evenly in four seasons, while traffic contributed more in summer and autumn than in winter and spring. Backward trajectory analysis was applied in combination with PMF and showed that air flow from the South contributed mostly to high PM mass concentrations in Beijing. Meteorological parameters (temperature, wind speed, wind direction, precipitation and mixing layer height) influence such a variation. In general, high relative humidity and low mixing layer height can raise PM mass concentration, while high wind speed and precipitation can reduce pollutants. In addition, wind direction also plays a key role in influencing PM because different wind directions can bring different pollutants to Beijing from different regions.

Copyright © 2015 Turkish National Committee for Air Pollution Research and Control. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 8821 183192; fax: +49 8821 73573. *E-mail address:* Rongrong_Shen@sina.com (R. Shen).

Peer review under responsibility of Turkish National Committee for Air Pollution Research and Control.

PM, as the major air pollutant in Beijing, has been widely studied on the general chemical characteristics (Song et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2013a) and certain specific species, such as carbonaceous components (Yang et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2013b), inorganic elements (Shi

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2015.09.008

1309-1042/Copyright © 2015 Turkish National Committee for Air Pollution Research and Control. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2012), inorganic ions (Yao et al., 2002; Ianniello et al., 2011), organic matter (Sun et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2012) as well as on health effects (Shao et al., 2006, 2007; Li et al., 2010; Dimitrova et al., 2012), and influence on visibility (Jung and Kim, 2006; Cao et al., 2012) and global climate (IPCC, 2013).

In order to improve air quality, source apportionment of PM in Beijing was also widely performed by different receptor models, such as chemical mass balance (CMB), positive matrix factorization (PMF) and principal component analysis (PCA). However, in the receptor models mentioned above, PMF is discussed to be the most suitable tool for source apportionment. The reason is that PMF does not need a priori information on source emission profiles when compared with CMB, and PMF can constrain the factors and their loadings to be non-negative in value and handle missing data (Paatero and Tapper, 1994; Paatero, 1997) when compared with PCA. Even though lots of studies on source apportionment of PM in Beijing have been done by PMF (Lei et al., 2004; Song et al., 2006, 2007; Zhang et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008, 2009; Yu et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2014), these studies only used either inorganic or organic compounds to perform source apportionment and the durations of sampling were comparably short or discontinuous. Sources and characteristics of PM samples from a short or discontinuous sampling period cannot be satisfactorily representative of the whole year. A previous study (Zhang et al., 2009a) pointed out that not less than 90 samples should be analyzed to obtain robust PMF results when 48 chemical species were included in the analysis. Of course more observations increase the robustness of source contribution analysis.

Consequently, a full year of continuous data was investigated to obtain more robust source apportionment and to investigate the temporal variation of source contributions. Source apportionment of PM in Beijing with continuous long-term inorganic and organic compounds has not previously been reported. Here, for the first time, data from a sampling campaign covering a full year of PM sampling are investigated. Both inorganic and organic composition was analyzed in this study and source apportionment based on a full year of continuous data was conducted.

Daily PM samples were collected continuously for one year from June 2010 until June 2011. Elemental carbon (EC), organic carbon (OC), inorganic elements, water soluble ions, PAHs, hopanes and levoglucosan were quantified. Source apportionment of PM was performed by PMF on the basis of these chemical compounds. The objectives of this paper are: (1) to investigate PM level at the height for exposure to humans; (2) to study the annual and seasonal variation of inorganic and organic species mass concentrations; (3) to obtain the more robust source apportionment results based on a large data set; (4) to look into the seasonal variation of different sources contribution to PM; (5) to examine the contribution of different sources in different air flows; (6) to discuss typical PM chemical characteristics during the four seasons together with meteorological influences.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Sampling methods

Two sequential High-Volume Samplers (HVS, nominal flow 500 l min⁻¹, Digitel DHA-80, Hegnau, Switzerland), sampler A and sampler B, were installed at the campus of the China University of Geosciences (Beijing) (CUGB) (Fig. 1). PM samples (00:00–24:00) were collected in parallel from 21 June 2010 till 20 June 2011. Quartz fiber filters (Munktell T293, Falun, Sweden) with 150 mm diameter were used as the collection substrate. One field blank sample from both samplers was collected every second week. The sampler inlet tubes were installed at a height of 2 m above ground, which is a typical height for the exposure of humans.

2.2. Analytical methods

Filters of sampler A were heated at 500 °C for 6 h before sampling and analyzed for EC, OC, water soluble ions and organic compounds. Filters of sampler B were weighed by an analytical balance (Mettler Analysenwaage AE240, reading precision 0.1 mg) before and after sampling for gravimetric PM mass concentration determination. A 48 h equilibration of filters at a temperature of 22 °C \pm 0.2 °C and a relative humidity (RH) of 42% \pm 0.5% in a conditioning room was conducted before weighing. Filters of sampler B were also used for inorganic elements analysis.

OC and EC were analyzed by a thermal/optical carbon analyser (DRI Model 2001A, Desert Research Institute, USA). The IMPROVE (Interagency Monitoring of Protected Visual Environments) A protocol and the thermal optical reflection method (TOR) are applied. Round filter parts with 8 mm diameter were punched from each loaded sample and heated gradually at different temperatures for measuring different OC (OC1, OC2, OC3 and OC4) and EC fractions (EC1, EC2 and EC3). OC and EC have been corrected by the value of optical pyrolyzed carbon (OPC) (OC=OC1 + OC2 + OC3 + OC4 + OPC; EC = EC1 + EC2 + EC3-OPC). More details of this method can be found in previous studies (Chow et al., 2007; Li et al., 2012a).

Inorganic elements, including K, Ca, Ti, Cr, Mn, Fe, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Sn, Sb, Ba and Pb, were measured by polarized energy dispersive X-ray fluorescence (PEDXRF, Epsilon 5, PANalytical, The Netherlands). All loaded filters were analyzed as thin layer samples, using for calibration 30 filters of different load, which were previously analyzed by Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). More details of this method are described by Kramar (1999).

Cl⁻, NO₃ and SO₄²⁻ were analyzed by ion chromatography (IC) (ICS-1500, Dionex, USA) and NH₄⁺ by a continuous flow analyser (CFA) (Scan⁺⁺, Skalar, The Netherlands). Round filter parts with 25 mm diameter were punched from loaded filters and extracted by 5 ml de-ionized water (Milli-Q, 18.2 MΩ cm) in an ultrasonic bath for 15 min. The extraction was taken for three times and the solution was filtered by 0.45 μ m syringe filter after each extraction. 15 ml extracted solution was obtained for each sample in total.

Levoglucosan, eleven Hopane substances and fifteen PAHs were measured by in-situ derivatisation direct thermal desorption gas chromatography time-of-flight mass spectrometry (IDTD-GC-TOFMS). An Agilent 6890 gas chromatograph (Agilent, USA) attached to a Pegasus III time of flight mass spectrometer (Leco, USA) was used. The eleven Hopane substances are 18α(H)-22,29,30-Trisnorneohopane (Ts), 17a(H)-22,29,30-Trisnorhopane (Tm), 17β(H)-22,29,30-Trisnorhopane (27b), 17α(H)21β(H)-30-Norhopane (29ab), $17\beta(H)21\alpha(H)$ -30-Norhopane (29ba), $17\alpha(H)$ $21\beta(H)$ -Hopane (30ab), $17\beta(H)21\alpha(H)$ -Hopane (Moretan) (30ba), 22S-17α(H)21β(H)-Homohopane (31abS), 22R-17α(H)21β(H)-Homohopane (31abR), 22S-17 α (H)21 β (H)-Bishomohopane (32abS), and 22R-17 α (H)21 β (H)-Bishomohopane (32abR). The fifteen PAHs are Phenanthrene (PHE), Anthracene (ANT), Pyrene (PYR), Fluoranthene (FLU), Benz[a]anthracene (BAA), Chrysene (CRY), sum of Benzfluoranthenes (BBKF), Benzo[e]pyrene (BEP), Benzo[a]pyrene (BAP), Perylene (PER), Dibenz[a,h]anthracene (DAH), Indeno[1,2,3cd]pyrene (IND), Picene (PIC), Benzo[ghi])perylene (BGH), and Coronene (COR). However, PHE, ANT, PYR and FLU are considered to be semi-volatile and thus mainly present in the gas phase. As the mass concentrations of these compounds determined in PM samples are highly driven by the gas phase concentrations during the last minutes of sampling, PHE, ANT, PYR and FLU are excluded from discussion in this study. More details of this method are described by Orasche et al. (2011).



R. Shen et al. / Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235–248

Fig. 1. The location of the sampling sites in Beijing (Source: http://map.baidu.com): CUGB is the China University of Geosciences (Beijing); IAP is the Institute of Atmospheric Physics of the Chinese Academy of Sciences; ZBAA is the code for the monitoring site from where one can obtain meteorological data on the website of the University of Wyoming, USA (http://weather.uwyo.edu/upperair/sounding.html).

2.3. Meteorological parameters

Meteorological data, including temperature (T), atmospheric pressure (p), relative humidity (RH), visibility, wind speed (WS) and wind direction (WD), were collected from the internet page of the University of Wyoming, USA (http://weather.uwyo.edu/upperair/sounding.html) where the data of the weather station ZBAA (Fig. 1) is available. The available maximum visibility data is only up to 10 km. Wind roses were produced from ZBAA half hourly wind data with WRPLOT View Freeware (Lakes Environmental, Ontario, Canada).

Mixing layer height (MLH) was determined by a ceilometer CL31 (Vaisala GmbH, Hamburg, Germany), a laser-based remote sensing system (mini lidar), at the IAP (Institute of Atmospheric Physics) (Fig. 1). All details about methods of MLH calculation from particle backscatter intensities are described in previous studies (Münkel et al., 2007; Emeis et al., 2008).

2.4. Positive matrix factorization (PMF)

PMF is one kind of multivariate factor analysis methods which uses a matrix of measured data and a matrix of known uncertainties of individual data points to produce two matrices: factor profiles and factor contributions. So PMF can be written as:

$$x_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{p} g_{ik} f_{kj} + e_{ij}$$
(1)

where x_{ij} is the measured concentration of compound j in sample i (µg m⁻³), p is the total number of factors, g_{ik} is the contribution of factor k to sample i (µg m⁻³), f_{kj} is the profile of compounds j of

factor k (g g⁻¹), and e_{ij} is the residual for the compounds j in sample i ($\mu g m^{-3}$).

The aim of the PMF method is to find the minimum weighted sum of the squared residual function Q value (Equation (2)) by using least-squares fitting (Paatero and Tapper, 1993, 1994). The solution obtained at the minimum Q value is considered to be a reasonable result. The equation is as follows:

$$Q = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left[\frac{x_{ij} - \sum_{k=1}^{p} g_{ik} f_{kj}}{u_{ij}} \right]^{2}$$
(2)

Here, u_{ij} is the uncertainty of x_{ij} , n is the total number of samples, and m is the total number of measured compounds. The value of p, m, and n are restricted as p < m and n > m. More details about PMF are described by previous studies (Paatero and Tapper, 1993; Paatero and Hopke, 2003; Reff et al., 2007; Norris et al., 2008).

Input data x_{ij} lower than or equal to the limit of quantification (LOQ) were replaced by half of the LOQ and their uncertainties u_{ij} were set as 5/6 of the LOQ (Polissar et al., 1998). But if x_{ij} is higher than the LOQ, u_{ij} were calculated by following equation (Norris et al., 2008):

$$u_{ij} = \left(\left((\text{Error Fraction})^* x_{ij} \right)^2 + \text{LOQ}_{ij}^2 \right)^{0.5} \tag{3}$$

where error fraction (%) is estimated from both sampling error and analytical error. In this study, an error fraction of 8-10% for trace elements, 8% for EC and OC, 12-15% for water soluble ions, and 12-20% for organic compounds were estimated for the PMF analysis.

The missing data were replaced by the mean values of that species and the uncertainties were set as three times of the mean value (Gu et al., 2011). LOQ of all species are shown in the Table S1 of the Supporting Material. The modeling uncertainty, which is caused by other errors, such as variation of source profile and chemical transformation, was set as 5% in this study according to the suggestion from Norris et al. (2008).

In this study, species were discarded from the model if the sum of the number of missing data and the number of data with values below the LOQ was more than 1/3 of the samples.

Signal to Noise (S/N) ratios were used to categorize a species, and according to S/N ratios (Paatero and Hopke, 2003), three categories were obtained: "bad" (S/N < 0.2), "weak" (0.2 < S/N < 2), and "strong" (S/N > 2). "Bad" means this species will be excluded from the PMF model. "Weak" means the uncertainty of this species will be increased by model in order to reduce the influence of this species. Further information about S/N ratios of each input species are listed in Table S2 of the Support Material. 321 PM samples with 31 species (OC, EC, Cl⁻, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, NH₄⁺, K, Ca, Ti, Mn, Fe, Cu, Zn, As, Ba, Pb, 29ab, 29ba, 30ab, 30ba, 31abS, 31abR, BAA, CRY, BBKF, BEP, BAP, IND, PIC, BGH and levoglucosan) were used in the final PMF analysis (n = 321 and m = 32). The PM₄ mass concentration was also included but marked as a "total variable" which was grouped into the "weak category" automatically by the model in order to reduce its influence on the PMF solution. PMF was run several times with different factor numbers (4-12) to determine the most reasonable number of factors. The O values (see equation (2)), which are goodness-of-fit parameters, are checked first to assess how well the model fits. The Q values in all runs converged and Qrobust was close to Q-true, indicating that the model fit well with the input data and the global minimum Q was found. In addition, the G-space plot (factor versus another factor) showed no edges in all factors, indicating that there is no rotational ambiguity. Therefore Fpeak = 0 was used in this study. Finally, six factors were determined to be the most meaningful result. After a reasonable solution was selected, a 100 bootstrap was run (minimum $R^2 = 0.6$) to check its stability. Of the 100 runs, factor 1, factor 2 and factor 6 only had 2, 2 and 3 bootstraps unmapped, respectively, while all the remaining three factors had all bootstraps mapped. The correlation R² between modeled PM₄ mass concentrations by PMF and measured PM₄ mass concentrations reached 0.93 with a slope of 0.96, showing that model can adequately reproduce the measured PM₄ mass concentration. Therefore, the solution with six factors was considered as a stable result.

2.5. Backward trajectory analysis

The HYSPLIT4 (Hybrid Single Particle Lagrangian Integrated Trajectory, Version 4) model was used to calculate backward trajectories of air flows (http://ready.arl.noaa.gov/HYSPLIT.php) with meteorological data from Global Data Assimilation System (GDAS). In order to cover both horizontal and vertical scale transport of air flows, 72 h backward trajectories were selected (Zhu et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012b). 500 m height above ground level (AGL) at the ending point was chosen because in general pollutants are well mixed up to this height. The same application can also be found in previous studies (Zhang et al., 2009b; Ji et al., 2014). The time ending at 06:00 UTC (14:00 local) was chosen for calculating backward trajectories indicative of each day because the MLH is the highest at this time during the day and the conditions are favorable for mixing of air pollutants.

In order to obtain the possible source locations, cluster analysis based on backward trajectories was performed by multiple iterations. The aim of cluster analysis is to sort all backward trajectories which have similar movements into the same group, a so-called cluster. During iteration, the cluster spatial variance (SPVAR) and the total spatial variance (TSV) among trajectories were calculated. SPVAR is the sum of the squared distances between the endpoints of the trajectories and corresponding cluster-mean, while TSV is the sum of SPVAR of all clusters (Draxler et al., 2009). At the initial step, one trajectory is considered as one cluster. With iterations, two trajectories with the lowest increase in STV are paired into the same cluster. Iterations continue until the rapid increase in STV is found. The detail about cluster analysis can be found in previous studies (Draxler et al., 2009; Kelly et al., 2012).

2.6. Quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC)

All filter holders and rings were cleaned by de-ionized water twice in an ultrasonic bath before being used. A time of 20 min was used for each cleaning. The holders and rings were then washed by de-ionized water individually once more and baked at 110 °C in an oven for 1 h. The tweezers were also first cleaned by de-ionized water and then by methanol once more before each time using. All loaded filters were stored at -20 °C before the chemical analysis, while all experimental results were corrected by deducting the blank filter values.

A not instantly perceived fault during installation of the devices led to a decreased collection air flow of 167 l min⁻¹ in both samplers. Meanwhile, the size of the collected particles on the filters was changed with the reduction of flow volume of samplers.

According to the impactor design theory (Gussman, 1969; Marple and Liu, 1974; Marple and Willeke, 1976), the equation is given as:

$$Stk_{50} = \frac{4\rho_p QCD_{50}^2}{9\pi n u W^3}$$

$$\tag{4}$$

Here, Stk₅₀ is the stokes number at 50% collection efficiency, ρ_p is the particle density ($\rho_p = 1~g~cm^{-3}$), Q is the total volume passing through the sampler, C is the Cunningham slip correction factor, D_{50} is particle diameter at 50% collection efficiency, n is the number of nozzles (n = 10), μ is the flux viscosity ($\mu = 1.81 \times 10^{-4}~kg~s^{-1}~m^{-1}$) and W is the jet width (5.6 mm).

Because Stk₅₀ is relatively constant when the ratio of jet-to-plate distance to jet width (S/W) is larger than 1.0 (Marple and Willeke, 1976) (in our study, S/W = 3.6), the cut-off size of particles $C^{0.5}D_{50}$ can be recalculated as PM₄ (aerodynamic diameter of PM is less than 4 µm), which is still meaningful and can be represented as respirable particulate matter (Fromme et al., 2005; Keil et al., 2010). The most important point is that the variation trend of PM₄ is supported by simultaneous PM_{2.5} TEOM data at CAS/IAP (Institute of Atmospheric Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences) (Xin et al., 2014).

3. Results

3.1. PM₄ mass concentrations

Annual variation of PM₄ mass concentrations from 18 to $321 \ \mu g \ m^{-3}$ with an annual average value of $83 \ \mu g \ m^{-3}$ is shown in Fig. 2. Significant variation of monthly PM₄ mass concentrations was observed. PM₄ mass decreased continuously from June 2010 till September 2010, then increased from October 2010 till November 2010, and decreased again after December 2010, reached the lowest monthly average value ($44 \ \mu g \ m^{-3}$) in January 2011, and the highest monthly average value of 117 $\ \mu g \ m^{-3}$ in April 2011 (Fig. S1 of the Supporting material). The seasonal variation of PM₄ mass concentration was also examined. Considering the heating periods, the seasons are defined as summer from June till August, autumn in



Fig. 2. Annual variation of daily mean PM₄ mass concentrations at the CUGB from 2010.06.21 till 2011.06.20.

September and October, winter from November till March, and spring in April and May. Only 20 days were investigated in summer 2011 (from 1 June till 20 June 2011), which cannot be representative for summer 2011. So in this paper, the data of these 20 samples will not be discussed with respect to seasonal variation. PM₄ mass concentrations are found to reach the highest value of 95 μ g m⁻³ during spring 2011, decrease through the winter 2010 (83 μ g m⁻³), summer 2010 (82 μ g m⁻³).

3.2. Mass concentrations of chemical species in PM₄

In order to assess air quality, seasonal average mass concentrations of chemical compounds in PM₄ are listed in Table 1.

3.2.1. EC and OC

The variation of daily EC and OC are shown in Fig. S2(a) of the Supporting material. Daily EC and OC mass concentrations varied from 0.5 to 11.6 μ g C m⁻³ and from 5.4 to 70.1 μ g C m⁻³ with annual average mass concentrations of 3.8 \pm 2.1 (mean \pm standard deviation, similarly hereinafter) μ g C m⁻³ and 18.9 \pm 10.9 μ g C m⁻³, respectively. EC had the highest mass concentration in autumn 2010 (4.3 \pm 2.2 μ g C m⁻³) and the lowest mass concentration is spring 2011 (3.2 \pm 1.8 μ g C m⁻³), while the seasonal average concentration of OC was the highest of 19.2 \pm 13.5 μ g C m⁻³ in winter 2010 and the lowest of 18.0 \pm 9.7 μ g C m⁻³ in spring 2011. The mass percentages of EC and OC in PM₄ showed no large variation in different seasons, 5.2%, 5.9%, 5.4% and 4.3% for EC and 26%, 26%, 25% and 24% for OC in summer 2010, autumn 2010, winter 2010 and spring 2011, respectively. The annual average contributions of EC and OC to PM₄ mass were 5.3% and 26%, respectively.

Carbonaceous matter (CM) was estimated applying the following equation (Turpin and Lim, 2001).

$$CM = OM + EC = 1.6 \times OC + EC$$
(5)

where OM is organic matter which can be estimated from OC. The ratio between OM and OC was found to range from 1.4 to 1.8 depending on the oxidative state of the aerosol which may lead to a seasonally dependent ratio. In this study, an average ratio of 1.6 was used (Turpin and Lim, 2001).

CM contributed 45%, 48%, 46% and 38% to PM_4 mass in summer 2010, autumn 2010, winter 2010 and spring 2011, respectively with the annual average mass percentage of 46%. It shows that CM is an important constituent in PM_4 .

A ratio of OC/EC higher than 2 is an indicator for the presence of secondary organic carbon (SOC) (Chow et al., 1996). OC/EC mass ratio in Fig. S2(a) of the Supporting material showed that all OC/EC ratios during the whole year were higher than 2, which indicated that SOC formation in Beijing PM is common. SOC can be estimated from OC and EC but an uncertainty is exists which is not easily evaluated. Therefore, estimation of SOC was not conducted in this study. OC/EC ratios varied from 2.7 to 48.6 with an average value of 5.3. The seasonal variation showed that the lowest OC/EC ratio was 4.4 in autumn 2010 and the highest value was 5.6 in spring 2011. The highest OC/EC value (48.6) was found on 1 May 2011 caused by dust storm on 1 May 2011 which transported organic soil material with high OC concentration (Zhao et al., 2013a) to Beijing.

3.2.2. Organic compounds

Levoglucosan shown in Fig. 2S(b) of the Supporting material was the dominant compound in all measured organic species and mass concentrations varied from 8 to 2443 ng m⁻³ with an annual average value of 406 ng m⁻³ and contributed 0.6% to PM₄ mass. The seasonal variation of levoglucosan mass concentration (Table 1) showed the highest mass concentration in summer 2010 (667 ng m⁻³), followed by autumn 2010 (568 ng m⁻³), winter 2010 (369 ng m⁻³), and the lowest was in spring 2011 (176 ng m⁻³).

Most of hopanes, except Ts, 30ab and 31abS, had the highest mass concentration in winter 2010 (Table 1). The dominant substances were 29ab and 30ab in all hopane compounds (Fig. 2S(b)), which contributed 23% and 24% to the hopane pattern, respectively.

The daily sum of PAH mass concentrations were in the range of 1-332 ng m⁻³. The lowest PAH mass concentration was found in summer 2010, followed by spring 2011 and autumn 2010, and increased rapidly during winter time as also observed in previous studies (He et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2006).

3.2.3. Water soluble ions

 SO_4^{-} showed the highest mass concentration of 21.9 µg m⁻³ in summer 2010 and the lowest mass concentration of 9.9 µg m⁻³ in spring 2011. NO₃ had the highest mass concentration at 11.7 µg m⁻³ in winter 2010 and the lowest mass concentration in summer 2010 (1.7 µg m⁻³). Seasonal variation of NH₄ mass concentration showed the highest value in autumn 2010, followed by summer 2010, winter 2010, and spring 2011. The contribution of SO₄²⁻, NO₃ and NH₄ (SNA) to PM₄ mass concentration ranged from 2% to 85% with an annual average value of 24%, and 33%, 26%, 23% and 20% in summer 2010, autumn 2010, winter 2010 and spring 2011,

R. Shen et al. / Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235-248

Seasonal average mass concentrations of chemical compounds in PM_4 at the CUGB from 2010.06.21 till 2011.06.20 (unit: from EC to NH_4^+ : $\mu g m^{-3}$; from Fe to COR: $ng m^{-3}$).

Species	Annual average	Summer 2010	Autumn 2010	Winter 2010	Spring 2011
EC/OC					
EC	3.8 ± 2.1	3.8 ± 0.9	4.3 ± 2.2	4.0 ± 2.6	3.2 ± 1.8
OC	18.9 ± 10.9	18.2 ± 2.8	18.8 ± 10.6	19.2 ± 13.5	18.0 ± 9.7
Ions					
Cl-	2.0 ± 3.0	0.07 ± 0.2	0.5 ± 0.7	3.0 ± 3.5	0.9 ± 1.7
NO ₃	8.6 ± 21.2	1.7 ± 1.0	9.9 ± 17.4	11.7 ± 28.8	7.5 ± 11.3
SO_4^{2-}	12.8 ± 19.3	21.9 ± 16.3	12.8 ± 16.3	10.9 ± 23.7	9.9 ± 10.7
NH ₄ ⁺	4.6 ± 8.6	5.6 ± 4.3	5.8 ± 9.9	4.6 ± 10.6	2.8 ± 4.0
Elements					
Fe	1455 ± 1198	1155 ± 368	1227 ± 605	1494 ± 1169	2103 ± 2013
K	1569 ± 1740	1163 ± 827	1070 ± 771	1899 ± 2318	1585 ± 1370
Ca	2340 ± 2048	1534 ± 544	1747 ± 862	2540 ± 1898	3587 ± 3494
Ti	102 ± 101	67.3 ± 22.9	72.6 ± 36.8	107 ± 77.6	175 ± 190
Mn	52.3 ± 37.4	37.6 ± 13.1	46.8 ± 23.3	61.0 ± 42.8	60.7 ± 48.9
Cr	16.3 + 13.0	17.5 ± 11.0	14.3 + 8.7	17.8 + 15.5	14.3 + 11.4
Ni	1.0 + 0.7	0.9 + 0.6	0.7 + 0.5	1.1 + 0.8	1.0 + 0.7
Cu	35.5 + 30.9	28.8 + 16.8	37.0 + 28.3	39.9 + 37.8	31.0 + 27.5
Zn	326 + 301	350 + 219	328 + 296	313 + 351	326 + 295
As	15.6 + 19.6	13.1 ± 13.1	12.7 + 13.4	17.2 + 24.6	16.8 + 19.9
Sn	5.3 + 3.6	5.0 + 3.5	4.1 + 3.3	5.3 + 3.5	6.0 + 3.8
Sb	2.8 + 1.9	2.6 + 2.0	2.7 + 2.0	3.0 + 2.0	2.7 + 1.8
Ba	22.5 + 18.8	17.8 ± 5.8	18.9 ± 9.5	23.1 + 18.4	32.6 + 31.5
Pb	105 ± 98.8	96.6 ± 56.2	97.3 ± 80.6	116 ± 122	99.2 ± 103
Organic compounds					
Levoglucosan	406 ± 352	667 ± 462	568 ± 451	369 ± 262	176 ± 131
Hopanes					
Ts	1.5 ± 1.0	1.5 ± 0.9	1.7 ± 0.9	1.3 ± 0.9	1.5 ± 0.9
Tm	2.4 ± 2.2	1.1 ± 0.5	1.6 ± 0.8	3.4 ± 2.7	1.3 ± 0.6
29ab	5.6 ± 4.2	4.6 ± 1.6	5.3 ± 2.3	6.6 ± 5.5	3.4 ± 1.9
29ba	2.9 ± 3.2	0.9 ± 0.5	1.3 ± 0.5	4.5 ± 3.7	0.9 ± 0.8
30ab	5.6 ± 3.7	5.2 ± 1.8	6.0 ± 2.5	5.7 ± 4.4	4.0 ± 2.7
30ba	2.6 ± 3.0	0.8 ± 0.3	1.4 ± 0.5	4.0 ± 3.6	0.9 ± 0.6
31abS	2.1 ± 1.1	2.3 ± 0.6	2.4 ± 0.8	1.9 ± 1.1	1.5 ± 0.9
31abR	1.9 ± 1.1	1.7 ± 0.4	1.7 ± 0.6	2.2 ± 1.4	1.2 ± 0.9
32abS	1.6 ± 0.9	1.4 ± 0.4	1.6 ± 0.4	1.8 ± 1.0	1.0 ± 0.9
32abR	1.4 ± 0.9	1.3 ± 1.0	1.1 ± 0.4	1.5 ± 0.9	0.9 ± 1.0
PAHs					
BAA	2.1 ± 4.0	0.1 ± 0.1	0.4 ± 0.4	4.4 ± 5.1	0.3 ± 0.2
CRY	5.6 ± 8.6	0.8 ± 0.4	1.9 ± 1.9	10.8 ± 10.8	1.4 ± 1.0
BBKF	7.5 ± 10.8	1.3 ± 0.5	3.6 ± 2.9	14.0 ± 13.5	2.2 ± 1.8
BEP	2.3 ± 3.3	0.4 ± 0.2	1.2 ± 0.9	4.2 ± 4.1	0.7 ± 0.6
BAP	2.6 ± 3.8	0.3 ± 0.2	1.1 ± 1.0	4.7 ± 5.0	1.2 ± 0.5
PER	0.7 ± 0.9	0.06 ± 0.03	0.4 ± 1.1	1.0 ± 0.9	0.2 ± 0.1
DAH	0.7 ± 0.8	0.2 ± 0.1	0.4 ± 0.3	1.1 ± 0.8	1.1 ± 1.3
IND	3.4 ± 4.4	0.8 ± 0.5	2.0 ± 1.4	5.9 ± 5.4	1.3 ± 1.0
PIC	0.9 ± 0.8	0.1 ± 0.05	0.5 ± 0.3	1.2 ± 0.8	0.5 ± 0.5
BGH	2.5 ± 3.2	0.6 ± 0.2	1.6 ± 1.2	4.3 ± 3.9	1.0 ± 0.9
COR	2.6 ± 2.4	1.0 ± 0.8	1.4 ± 1.2	3.8 ± 2.6	1.0 ± 0.8

respectively. Cl⁻ was a minor fraction (2%) in PM₄ in comparison with SNA and it showed noticeably high mass concentration of $3.0 \ \mu g \ m^{-3}$ during winter 2010 compared with summer 2010.

3.2.4. Inorganic elements

In all measured metals, Ca had the highest annual average mass concentration (2340 ng m⁻³) while the lowest was Ni with 1.0 ng m⁻³. Fe, Ca, Ti and Ba, which are discussed to be related to the crustal sources (Yang et al., 2005), accounted for 67% of all elemental mass, and showed similar variation patterns over the whole year with many similar peaks in mass concentration. For instance, the highest mass concentrations of these four elements occurred in spring 2011 which was likely due to a dust storm contribution (Fig. 3S(a) of the Supporting material). The annual average mass concentration of [Fe + Ca + Ti + Ba] was 3913 ng m⁻³, and showed the seasonal average mass concentration of 2774, 3037, 4163 and 5898 ng m⁻³ in summer 2010, autumn 2010, winter 2010 and spring 2011, respectively. The other non-crustal elements, such

as Zn, As and Pb, which are generally considered to originate from anthropogenic sources (Shi et al., 2010; Tian et al., 2010; Soriano et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2012), followed a similar pattern during the whole sampling period and showed no large differences from season to season ([Zn + As + Pb]: 460 ng m⁻³ in summer 2010, 432 ng m⁻³ in autumn 2010, 446 ng m⁻³ in winter 2010 and 441 ng m⁻³ in spring 2010) except significant lower mass concentrations in January 2011 (Fig. 3S(b) of the Supporting material), which corresponds to relatively low PM₄ mass concentration.

3.3. PM₄ mass balance

The mass balance of PM₄ is shown in Fig. 3. Organic matter was calculated by 1.6 times OC (Formula 5) and was the largest fraction of PM₄ with a mass contribution of 41%. SO₄²⁻, NO₃ and NH₄⁺ (SNA) contributed 25% to PM₄ mass. Crustal elements were described by the sum of Fe, Ca, Ti and Ba and contributed 5% to PM₄ mass. Trace elements including Cr, Ni, Zn, As, Pb, Sn, Cu and Sb, only were 1% of

²⁴⁰ Table 1



Fig. 3. Mass balance of PM₄ on the basis of daily mean samples in different seasons at the CUGB during 2010–2011.

PM₄ mass. The other unknown part was the third highest fraction of PM₄ mass with the contribution of 23%.

Seasonal mass balance of PM_4 is also shown in Fig. 3. Both OM and EC had the lowest contribution of 37% and 4% to PM_4 in spring 2010, respectively. NO_3^- showed the highest values (10%) in winter 2010 while SO_4^{2-} and NH_4^+ had the highest contribution (25% and 6%) in summer 2010 on the contrary. The sum of Fe, Ca, Ti and Ba showed the clearly highest contribution in spring 2011 (6%). The exception was trace elements had no large variation during the four seasons.

3.4. Source apportionment

Six factors that can be explained as sources were determined by PMF (see discussion below). The species mass concentration (g g⁻¹, the species mass contained in 1 g particles in each factor) and mass percentage (%, the species mass concentration contained in one factor divided by the total mass concentration in all factors) are shown in Fig. 4. The time series variation of each factor mass concentration is shown in Fig. 5. The seasonal mass contributions of six factors are listed in Table 2.

4. Discussions

4.1. Organic compounds

Levoglucosan is widely used as an indicator for biomass burning (Zhang et al., 2008; Wagener et al., 2012), so the contribution of biomass burning to OC can be implied by the mass ratio of levoglucosan to OC (Zhang et al., 2008). Levoglucosan had much higher mass concentrations in summer and autumn than in winter and spring (Table 1), while the seasonal average mass ratios of levoglucosan to OC also showed the highest values in summer 2010 (0.04), followed by autumn 2010 (0.03), then winter 2010 (0.02) and spring 2011 (0.01). All these indicated that biomass burning contributed significantly to the particle loading in summer and autumn in Beijing. This agrees well with previous studies which pointed out that biomass burning, such as the combustion of agricultural waste and fallen leaves, usually happens in summer and autumn in Beijing and its surrounding area (Huang et al., 2012).

Fossil fuel combustion, such as coal combustion and vehicle emissions, is considered to be the main source of hopanes (He et al., 2006; Schnelle-Kreis et al., 2007). The hopane patterns, such as hopane index or homohopane index, are usually used to distinguish mineral oil based sources like vehicle emission from coal

R. Shen et al. / Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235-248

combustion sources (Oros and Simoneit, 2000). The hopane index, 30ab/(30ab + 30ba), was found to be 0.1 for lignite coal, 0.5 for bituminous coal, 0.6 for brown coal (Oros and Simoneit, 2000) and greater than 0.9 for crude oil (El-Gayar et al., 2002). In this study, it varied from 0.29 to 0.95 with an annual average value of 0.72, and had the highest value of 0.86 in summer 2010, followed by autumn 2010 (0.83), spring 2011 (0.82) and the lowest values in winter 2010 (0.61). The homohopane index, 31abS/(31abS + 31abR), was found to be about 0.1 for lignite coal, 0.4 for bituminous coal, and 0.6 for fuel oil combustion (Oros and Simoneit, 2000; Schnelle-Kreis et al., 2007). In PM₄, it ranged from 0.14 to 0.78 with an annual average value of 0.53 and had a value of 0.57, 0.58, 0.47 and 0.56 in summer 2010, autumn 2010, winter 2010 and spring 2010, respectively. So both indexes in winter had lower values in comparison to other seasons, indicating that hopanes in spring, summer and autumn mainly originated from fuel oil consumption while coal combustion had a greater contribution to hopanes during winter.

PAHs had the highest mass concentrations in winter (Table 1). The reasons could be low temperatures, weak solar radiation (He et al., 2006) and the increase in coal combustion. PIC in PAHs, a tracer for coal combustion (Oros and Simoneit, 2000), had the highest mass concentration with the value of 1.2 ng m⁻³ in winter 2010, followed by autumn 2010 and spring 2011 which had the same value of 0.5 ng m⁻³ and much higher than in summer 2010 (0.1 ng m⁻³). This supported that coal combustion contributed a large amount to PAHs during winter.

4.2. Interpretation of factors from PMF results

The first factor contained 65% of SO₄²⁻, 50% of NH[‡] and 55% of levoglucosan (Fig. 4). As discussed in Section 4.1, levoglucosan is widely used as a tracer for biomass burning (Zhang et al., 2008; Wagener et al., 2012). From Fig. 5 and Table 2, the time series variation and seasonal variation show that this factor had the highest mass concentration during summer (35.8 μ g m⁻³) and followed by autumn with the value of 13.7 μ g m⁻³. This is because biomass burning usually happens during summer and autumn in Beijing and its surrounding areas (Huang et al., 2012) and the secondary sulfate is easily formed under strong solar radiation and high temperature, especially in summer (Seinfeld and Pandis, 2006). In addition, previous studies showed that SO₄²⁻ mass concentration increased during biomass burning episodes (Cheng et al., 2014; Rastogi et al., 2014). Therefore this factor can be explained by biomass burning and secondary sulfate formation.

The second factor was characterized by high concentrations of nitrate and ammonium, which can be explained as a secondary nitrate formation. The time series (Fig. 5) and Table 2 show that this factor concentrated during autumn (13.2 μ g m⁻³) and winter (10.4 μ g m⁻³) but had the lowest concentration during summer (0.8 μ g m⁻³). The low values during summer may be biased because ammonium nitrate is semi-volatile and high temperatures in summer could have caused losses from the filters.

The third factor was mainly contributed by Fe (58%), Ca (59%), Ti (67%), Mn (48%), and Ba (59%) (Fig. 4). The main source of all these elements is considered as soil. The time series (Fig. 5) and seasonal variation (Table 2) showed that high concentrations of this factor were concentrated during spring with the value of 53.6 μ g m⁻³ when dust storms occurred. For instance, this factor had a peak value on 30 April 2011 when a dust storm happened. Therefore, this factor is indicative of mineral dust, including dust storm, road dust and construction dust.

The fourth factor was characterized by relative high contributions of As (79%), Zn (66%), Pb (57%), Cu (45%) (Fig. 4). As was found to be originated from smelter and base-metal refinery industries (Wang and Mulligan, 2006). Zn and Cu are originated



R. Shen et al. / Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235-248

Fig. 4. PMF factor profiles from chemical compounds data in PM4 during 2010-2011 at the CUGB.

from industrial metallurgical process (Xu et al., 2012). Tangshan city and Tianjin Municipality are important industrial cities which are located to the Southeast of Beijing. The main industry in Tangshan is iron and steel. In Tianjin, metalworking is one kind of important industry. Pb was considered to have originated from the ceramic industry, the manufacturing of insecticides, paints, glass and storage batteries (Soriano et al., 2012). Porcelain is another important industry in Tangshan city and producing photovoltaic cells is an important industry in Baoding city which is located to the Southwest of Beijing. In addition to surrounding cities, the smelter industry is also located inside of Beijing, to the Northwest of CUGB, which is called "Changping smelter". All above mentioned support that this factor can be representative of industrial based sources. The time series (Fig. 5) shows that the contribution of this factor to PM₄ is stable during the whole year, except in January 2011 where the lowest mass concentration was



Fig. 5. Daily mean contributions of six sources from the PMF analysis for PM4 at the CUGB in Beijing during 2010–2011.

found, which is supported by the lowest PM_4 mass concentration at the same period. The reason could be it was influenced by meteorological parameters and the decrease in human activities during winter holiday period.

The fifth factor in Fig. 5 was dominated by PAHs (95% of BAA, 90% of CRY, 80% of BBKF, 76% of BEP, 76% of BAP, 68% of IND, 80% of PIC and 67% of BGH), 29ba (87%), 30ba (70%), Cl^- (76%), and levoglucosan (23%). Levoglucosan was found not only from biomass

Table 2		
Seasonal contributions of 6 factors	s to PM ₄ during 2010–2011 (uni	t: μg m ⁻³).

	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4	Factor 5	Factor 6
	Secondary sulfate formation and biomass burning	Secondary nitrate formation	Mineral dust	Industry	Coal combustion	Traffic
Annual average	14.1	8.6	29.1	8.8	4.8	14.4
Summer 2010	35.8	0.8	17.1	7.3	0.3	16.3
Autumn 2010	13.7	13.2	20.7	9.0	1.1	17.5
Winter 2010	8.6	10.4	27.7	8.9	10.2	13.4
Spring 2011	8.5	8.1	53.6	9.9	0.7	9.8

burning, but also from lignite combustion (Fabbri et al., 2008, 2009). Even though levoglucosan could also be caused by biomass burning for heating in winter, this form of heating is less common in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region in comparison with coal combustion. Therefore, levoglucosan in this factor was most probably from coal combustion. Cl⁻ also can originate from coal combustion (Yao et al., 2002) and PIC is also used as a tracer for coal combustion (Oros and Simoneit, 2000). In this factor, the hopane index 30ab/(30 ab + 30ba) is 0.2. As discussed in Section 4.1, this factor can be interpreted as coal combustion. In addition, contribution of this factor was found to be concentrated during winter (Fig. 5 and Table 2), indicating that coal combustion for heating during winter is the main reason. Most of PAHs were found to have a high contribution in this factor, showing that most of the very health hazardous PAHs are associated with coal combustion.

The sixth factor found in Fig. 5 was characterized by EC (52%), OC (49%), 29ab (64%), 30ab (70%), 31abS (78%) and 31abR (63%). In this factor, the homohopane index 31abS/(31abS + 31abR) was 0.6 and the hopane index 30ab/(30ab + 30ba) was 0.9. Both indexes indicated that this factor can be explained by oil combustion. Hopanes are considered to be an organic tracer for the lubricating oil which is usually used for gasoline or diesel engine vehicles (Rogge et al., 1993; Phuleria et al., 2006; Kleeman et al., 2009). Therefore this factor can be considered as traffic.

The six factors can be interpreted as a mixture of secondary sulfate formation and biomass burning, secondary nitrate formation, mineral dust, industry, coal combustion and traffic. These sources contributed the average value of 14.1, 8.6, 29.1, 8.8, 4.8 and 14.4 μ g m⁻³ to PM₄ mass and constitute 18%, 11%, 36%, 11%, 6% and 18% of PM₄ mass, respectively (Table 2). The major sources of PM_{2.5} in Beijing from previous studies (Song et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008; Yu et al., 2013) can be listed as: dust, biomass burning, coal combustion, industry, vehicle emission and secondary particles formation. The difference to these studies is that the contribution of each source is different. In particular, the contribution of mineral dust to PM is much higher in this study and mineral dust is found to be an important source in Beijing, especially in spring. The reason could be that the size of PM₄ is coarser than PM_{2.5}. On the other hand, the sampler inlet tubes were installed at a height of 2 m above ground, which is a typical height for the exposure of humans and is closer to the ground which can be more influenced by road dust.

The results from source apportionment illustrate the seasonal variation of each source and the dominant source of PM in each season (Table 2). In general, secondary sulfate formation and biomass burning contributions were concentrated in summer, while secondary nitrate formation concentrated in autumn and winter. PM from mineral dust had a relative high concentration during the whole year, especially in spring. Industry distributed relatively consistently throughout the whole year. Coal combustion for heating clearly had an obvious high contribution in winter. PM from traffic had a relative higher concentration in summer and autumn.

Considering source markers usually have more than one possible source, using single source marker or one category of species to trace the source is not complete. In this study, source apportionment was performed using a full year of data from both of inorganic and organic species for the first time to obtain more reasonable source identifications. In doing so it was possible to identify contributions from, e.g., coal combustion separated from traffic emissions. On the other hand it was not possible to un-mix sources with very similar variations in time like secondary sulfate formation and biomass burning. 4.3. Regional transportation indicated by back trajectories and cluster analysis

HYSPLIT4 was used to calculate 72 h backward trajectories at 500 m AGL prior to arriving in Beijing at 14:00 local time each day. Four trajectory clusters were obtained (Fig. 6).

Clusters 1, 2, 3 and 4 expressed the air flow from the South, the North, the Northwest and the Northwest with a long range transport of Beijing, respectively. These clusters are called the "South flow" (S flow), the "North flow" (N flow), "Northwest flow" (NW flow) and Long-range Northwest flow" (Long-range NW flow) and they accounted for 33%, 17%, 35% and 15% of all air flows, respectively. Long-range NW flow was longer than NW flow which indicated that Long-range NW flow had higher wind speeds in comparison with NW flow. In all clusters, the S flow was the shortest trajectory by far, which can be explained by the presence of relatively stagnant conditions.

According to these four clusters, all sampling days were also classified into four groups (Table 3). The highest PM4 mass concentration was from the S flow (103 μ g m⁻³), followed by the longrange NW flow (95 μ g m⁻³), the NW flow (63 μ g m⁻³) and the N flow (57 μ g m⁻³). The mixture of secondary sulfate formation and biomass burning, secondary nitrate formation and industry sources were mainly from S flows with the highest mass concentrations of 33.5, 14.2 and 12.8 μ g m⁻³, respectively. In other words, the precursors of secondary inorganic ions, such as SO₂ and NO_x, were transported mainly from the cities which are located in the South of Beijing, such as Tianjin Municipality and Tangshan city. Both of these two cities are important heavy industrial cities. This indicates that cities located in the South of Beijing play an important role in PM pollution in Beijing. The highest contributions from mineral dust (43.9 μ g m⁻³) and coal combustion (10.8 μ g m⁻³) were found to be from long-range NW flows, the longest trajectory, which means this cluster was accompanied by the highest wind speed. In addition, this air flow passed Russia, Mongolia, Inner Mongolia and Hebei Province to Beijing. Therefore, high wind speeds could transport the dust particles from Gobi desert in Mongolia and sandy lands in Inner Mongolia to Beijing, leading to the increase in the mass concentration of mineral dust. Coal is widely used for heating during winter in Mongolia, Inner Mongolia and Hebei



Fig. 6. Clusters of backward trajectories during 2010-2011.

R. Shen et al. / Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235-248

Table 3
Summary of source distribution to PM ₄ and corresponding PM ₄ mass concentration on different directions of air flows during 2010–2011 (unit: µg m ⁻³). S is South, etc

Direction	Secondary sulfate formation and biomass burning	Secondary nitrate formation	Mineral dust	Industry	Coal combustion	Traffic	PM_4
S flow	33.5	14.2	22.6	12.8	3.3	16.7	103
N flow	5.5	5.9	23.6	6.6	2.5	12.6	57
NW flow	3.4	4.7	31.6	5.9	4.7	13.0	63
Long-range NW flow	6.9	8.8	43.9	9.5	10.8	15.1	95

Province, and Zhangjiakou fossil-fuel power station, which mainly used coal, is also located on route where the long-range NW flow passed. 75% of sampling days from long-range NW flows were found to be in winter. Therefore, the highest contribution from coal combustion was found from long-range NW flows coincidentally. Traffic showed little variation in all four backward trajectory clusters, indicating that it was mainly from local sources.

4.4. Influences of meteorological parameters and effect on visibility

Previous studies have pointed out that meteorological parameters were key factors affecting PM loading (Schäfer et al., 2006, 2011, 2014; Deng et al., 2012). The correlation coefficients between PM₄ and meteorological parameters such as T, WS, RH and MLH are listed in Table S3 of the Supporting Material.



Fig. 7. Wind rose (WRPLOT View Freeware, Lakes Environmental, Canada) for PM4 sampling at the CUGB, Beijing (data obtained from ZBAA) from half hourly mean data during different seasons.

245

R. Shen et al. / Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235-248

Temperature had no significant correlation with PM₄ and most of its compounds except Cl⁻, all PAHs, Tm, 29ba and 30ba. Coal combustion for heating is one important source of Cl⁻ (Yao et al., 2002) and PAHs. Therefore, it was expected that the decrease in ambient temperatures may lead to the increase in coal combustion and increasing contribution from related emission constituents to PM in Beijing. On the other hand, stronger solar radiation accompanied by higher temperatures can accelerate the photochemical degradation of PAHs.

RH had a weakly positive correlation with PM₄ mass concentrations which indicated a high RH could favor the growth of the particles. This could be caused by hygroscopicity of particles which can lead to the increase in PM mass concentration. Especially, EC, NH_4^+ , SO_4^{2-} , Zn, 31abS and levoglucosan were found to have a positive correlation with RH. EC contains char and soot (Han et al., 2009), and aged soot is hydrophilic (Niu et al., 2011).

Generally, wind speed had a negative correlation with PM₄ mass concentration and almost all compounds which supported that high wind speed could enhance the dispersion of pollutants. However in some cases, a high wind speed can also cause high PM mass concentration, such as a dust storm. Therefore, the threshold value of wind speed should be considered. In this study, this threshold cannot be determined because the influence on PM is often inferred from other meteorological parameters.

The MLH was found to have a negative correlation with PM₄ and most compounds which illustrated that a lower MLH could accelerate the accumulation of pollutants from local and regional sources.

Wind direction and precipitation are other two very important factors for influencing PM mass concentrations in Beijing. The wind conditions in this study are shown in Fig. 7. In spring, the prevailing wind directions were from the North, Northwest, South and Southeast. Therefore, dust storms which were from north and northwest can bring more particles into Beijing and then cause particularly higher PM concentrations in spring than in other seasons. In winter, the dominant wind direction was blown from the North and brought fresh air into Beijing, thus leading to PM4 mass concentration during winter lower than during spring. In summer and autumn, the PM4 concentration was relatively low because 59% and 30% of precipitation happened during these two seasons which can cause the wet deposition of particles leading to the decrease in PM mass concentration.

Visibility had negative correlations with all chemical compounds, especially strong negative correlations with PM, OC, EC, SO_4^{2-} , NH_4^+ , Cu, Zn, Pb and levoglucosan, which meant visibility decreased with the increase in the PM mass concentration and is highly correlated with anthropogenic compounds. In addition, visibility was also significant affected by RH (correlation coefficient R = -0.70).

5. Conclusions

The temporal variations of PM and its compounds were investigated and the results showed that the PM mass concentrations at the height for exposure of humans after the emission reduction measures during the Olympic Summer Games 2008 were still high with an average value of 83 μ g m⁻³, which is much higher than annual average of Chinese Ambient Air Quality Standard for PM_{2.5} (Grade II: 35 μ g m⁻³) (China State Environmental Protection Administration (SEPA), 2012). The influence of PM on human health is still serious.

The mass balance showed that OM and SNA were two major fractions of PM in Beijing during the whole year with the contribution of 41% and 25% to PM mass, respectively, which means anthropogenic PM is a very important part of the total PM.

Sources of PM were obtained by performing source apportionment, using PMF. They were industry, secondary nitrate formation, secondary sulfate formation, coal combustion, traffic, dust and biomass burning. These results were totally supported by the analysis of seasonal variation and characteristics of chemical species.

The seasonal variation of different sources points out the dominant source in each season: secondary sulfate formation, biomass burning contributions and secondary nitrate formation in summer, secondary nitrate formation in autumn, mineral dust in spring and coal combustion in winter. This is helpful for policy makers for the purpose of improving air quality according to the corresponding dominant PM source in each season.

Regional transportation can contribute significantly to the air pollution in Beijing. Backward trajectories, in combination with cluster analysis, demonstrated that the southerly air flow (S flow) is responsible for the high SNA and emission from the biomass burning and industry and it is the direction which transported the most PM to Beijing.

Meteorological parameters were the important factors influencing PM and its compound mass variations. In general, high relative humidity and low MLH can raise PM mass concentration, while high wind speed and precipitation can reduce pollutants. In addition, wind direction also plays a key role in influencing PM because different wind directions can bring different pollutants to Beijing from different regions.

Conflict of interest

There is no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgment

The authors greatly thank Prof. Kuang Cen of the School of Earth Sciences and Resources of the China University of Geosciences (CUGB) for organizing the sampling site. Thanks to Jing Wang and Jianying Wang of the China University of Mining and Technology (CUMTB) for assisting with collecting PM samples for one year. We also thank MSc. Regula Muther, Digitel, for cooperation during QA/ QC work. Chemical analyses at the Helmholtz Zentrum München were carried out in the framework of the Helmholtz Virtual Institute Institutes Complex Molecular Systems in Environmental Health (HICE). This work is supported by scholarships of the China Scholarship Council (CSC), the KIT Centre for Climate and Environment and the National Natural Science Foundation of China under No. 41175109.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data related to this article can be found at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2015.09.008.

References

- Cao, J.J., Wang, Q.Y., Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G., Tie, X., Shen, Z., Wang, P., An, Z., 2012. Impacts of aerosol compositions on visibility impairment in Xi'an, China. Atmos. Environ. 59, 559–566.
- Cheng, Y., Engling, G., He, K.B., Duan, F.K., Du, Z.Y., Ma, Y.L., Liang, L.L., Lu, Z.F., Liu, J.M., Zheng, M., Weber, R.J., 2014. The characteristics of Beijing aerosol during two distinct episodes: impacts of biomass burning and fireworks. Environ. Pollut. 185, 149–157.
- China State Environmental Protection Administration of China. Ambient Air Quality Standard of People's Republic of China (GB3095-2012).
- Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G., Chen, L.W.A., Chang, M.C.O., Robinson, N.F., Trimble, D., Kohl, S., 2007. The IMPROVE_A temperature protocol for thermal/optical carbon analysis: maintaining consistency with a long-term database. J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc. 57, 1014–1023.

R. Shen et al. / Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235-248

- Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G., Lu, Z.Q., Lowenthal, D.H., Frazier, C.A., Solomon, P.A., Thuillier, R.H., Magliano, K., 1996. Descriptive analysis of PM2.5 and PM10 at regionally representative locations during SJVAQS/AUSPEX. Atmos. Environ. 30, 2079-2112
- Deng, X.L., Shi, C.N., Wu, B.W., Chen, Z.H., Nie, S.P., He, D.Y., Zhang, H., 2012. Analysis of aerosol characteristics and their relationships with meteorological parameters over Anhui province in China. Atmos. Res. 109–110, 52–63.
- Dimitrova, R., Lurponglukana, N., Fernando, H.J.S., Runger, G.C., Hyde, P., Hedquist, B.C., Anderson, J., Bannister, W., Johnson, W., 2012. Relationship between particulate matter and childhood asthma – basis of a future warning
- system for central Phoenix. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 12, 2479–2490. Draxler, R., Stunder, B., Rolph, G., Stein, A., Taylor, A., 2009. HYSPLIT4 User's Guide. El-Gayar, M.S., Abdelfattah, A.E., Barakat, A.O., 2002. Maturity-dependent eochemical markers of crude petroleums from Egypt. Petroleum Sci. Technol. 20.1057-1070.
- Emeis, S., Schäfer, K., Münkel, C., 2008. Surface-based remote sensing of the mixinglayer height - a review. Meteorol. Z. 17, 621-630.
- Fabbri, D., Marynowski, L., Fabianska, M.J., Zaton, M., Simoneit, B.R.T., 2008. Levoglucosan and other cellulose markers in pyrolysates of Miocene lignites: geochemical and environmental implications. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 2957-2963.
- Fabbri, D., Torri, C., Simoneit, B.R.T., Marynowski, L., Rushdi, A.I., Fabiańska, M.J., 2009. Levoglucosan and other cellulose and lignin markers in emissions from burning of Miocene lignites. Atmos. Environ. 43, 2286-2295.
- Fromme, H., Lahrz, T., Hainsch, A., Oddoy, A., Piloty, M., Ruden, H., 2005. Elemental carbon and respirable particulate matter in the indoor air of apartments and nursery schools and ambient air in Berlin (Germany). Indoor Air 15, 335–341.
- Gu, J.W., Pitz, M., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Diemer, J., Reller, A., Zimmermann, R., Soentgen, J., Stoelzel, M., Wichmann, H.E., Peters, A., Cyrys, J., 2011. Source apportionment of ambient particles: comparison of positive matrix factorization analysis applied to particle size distribution and chemical composition data. Atmos. Environ. 45, 1849-1857.
- Gussman, R.A., 1969. On the aerosol particle slip correction factor. J. Appl. Meteorol. 8, 999–1001.
- Han, Y.M., Cao, J.J., Chow, J.C., Watson, J.G., An, Z.S., Liu, S.X., 2009. Elemental carbon in urban soils and road dusts in Xi'an, China and its implication for air pollution. Atmos. Environ. 43, 2464–2470.
- He, L.Y., Hu, M., Huang, X.F., Zhang, Y.H., Tang, X.Y., 2006. Seasonal pollution characteristics of organic compounds in atmospheric fine particles in Beijing. Sci. Total Environ. 359, 167–176.
- Huang, K., Zhuang, G., Lin, Y., Fu, J.S., Wang, Q., Liu, T., Zhang, R., Jiang, Y., Deng, C., Fu, Q., Hsu, N.C., Cao, B., 2012. Typical types and formation mechanisms of haze in an Eastern Asia megacity, Shanghai. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 12, 105–124. Huang, X.F., He, L.Y., Hu, M., Zhang, Y.H., 2006. Annual variation of particulate
- organic compounds in PM2.5 in the urban atmosphere of Beijing. Atmos. Environ, 40, 2449-2458.
- Ianniello, A., Spataro, F., Esposito, G., Allegrini, I., Hu, M., Zhu, T., 2011. Chemical characteristics of inorganic ammonium salts in PM2.5 in the atmosphere of Beijing (China). Atmos. Chem. Phys. 11, 10803–10822. IPCC, 2013. In: Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.K., et al. (Eds.), Climate Change
- 2013: the Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Ji, D.S., Li, L., Wang, Y.S., Zhang, J.K., Cheng, M.T., Sun, Y., Liu, Z., Wang, L., Tang, G., Hu, B., Chao, N., Wen, T., Miao, H., 2014. The heaviest particulate air-pollution episodes occurred in northern China in January, 2013: Insights gained from observation. Atmos. Environ. 92, 546-556.
- Jung, C.H., Kim, Y.P., 2006. Numerical estimation of the effects of condensation and coagulation on visibility using the moment method, I. Aerosol Sci. 37, 143–161.
- Keil, C., Kassa, H., Brown, A., Kumie, A., Tefera, W., 2010. Inhalation exposures to particulate matter and carbon monoxide during Ethiopian coffee ceremonies in Addis Ababa: a pilot study. J. Environ. Public Health. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/ 2010/213960. Article ID 213960.
- Kelly, G.M., Taubman, B.F., Perry, L.B., Sherman, J.P., Soulé, P.T., Sheridan, P.J., 2012. Aerosol-precipitation interactions in the southern Appalachian Mountains. Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss. 12, 5487–5517. Kleeman, M.J., Riddle, S.G., Robert, M.A., Jakober, C.A., Fine, P.M., Hays, M.D.,
- Schauer, J.J., Hannigan, M.P., 2009. Source apportionment of fine (PM1.8) and ultrafine (PM0.1) airborne particulate matter during a severe winter pollution episode. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 272–279.
- Kramar, U., 1999. 1999 Methods and Instrumentation X ray Fluorescence Spec
- trometers. Encyclopedia of Spectroscopy and Spectrometry, pp. 2467–2477. Lei, C., Landsberger, S., Basunia, S., Tao, Y., 2004. Study of PM2.5 in Beijing suburban site by neutron activation analysis and source apportionment. J. Radioanalytical Nucl. Chem. 261, 87-94.
- Li, M.M., Huang, X., Zhu, L., Li, J., Song, Y., Cai, X., Xie, S., 2012b. Analysis of the transport pathways and potential sources of PM10 in Shanghai based on three methods. Sci. Total Environ. 414, 525-534.
- Li, X.R., Wang, L.L., Wang, Y.S., Wen, T.X., Yang, Y.J., Zhao, Y.N., Wang, Y.F., 2012a. Chemical composition and size distribution of airborne particulate matters in Beijing during the 2008 Olympics. Atmos. Environ. 50, 278–286.
- Li, Y., Wang, W., Kan, H.D., Xu, X.H., Chen, B.H., 2010. Air quality and outpatient visits for asthma in adults during the 2008 Summer Olympic Games in Beijing. Sci. Total Environ. 408, 1226–1227.

- Marple, V.A., Liu, B.Y.H., 1974. Characteristics of laminar jet impactors. Environ. Sci. Technol. 8, 648-654.
- Marple, V.A., Willeke, K., 1976. Impactor design. Atmos. Environ. 10, 891-896. Münkel, C., Eresmaa, N., Rasanen, J., Karppinen, A., 2007. Retrieval of mixing height
- and dust concentration with lidar ceilometer. Boundary-Layer Meteorol. 124, 17-128.
- Niu, H., Shao, L., Zhang, D., 2011. Aged status of soot particles during the passage of a weak cyclone in Beijing, Atmos, Environ, 45, 2699-2703, Norris, G., Vedantham, R., Wade, K., Brown, S., Prouty, J., Foley, C., 2008. EPA Positive
- Matrix Factorization (PMF) 3.0 Fundamentals & User Guide
- Orasche, J., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Abbaszade, G., Zimmermann, R., 2011. Technical Note: In-situ derivatization thermal desorption GC-TOFMS for direct analysis of particle-bound non-polar and polar organic species. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 11, . 8977—8993.
- Oros, D.R., Simoneit, B.R.T., 2000. Identification and emission rates of molecular tracers in coal smoke particulate matter. Fuel 79, 515-536.
- Paatero, P., 1997. Least squares formulation of robust non-negative factor analysis.
- Chemom. Intelligent Laboratory Syst. 37, 23–35.Paatero, P., Hopke, P.K., 2003. Discarding or downweighting high-noise variables in factor analytic models. Anal. Chim. Acta 490, 277–289.
- Paatero, P., Tapper, U., 1993. Analysis of different modes of factor analysis as least squares fit problems. Chemom. Intell. Lab. Syst. 18, 183-194. Paatero, P., Tapper, U., 1994. Positive matrix factorization: a non-negative factor
- model with optimal utilization of error estimates of data values. Environmetrics 5. 111-126.
- Phuleria, H.C., Geller, M.D., Fine, P.M., Sioutas, C., 2006. Size-resolved emissions of organic tracers from light- and heavy-duty vehicles measured in a California roadway tunnel. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 4109-4118.
- Polissar, A.V., Hopke, P.K., Paatero, P., Malm, W.C., Sisler, J.F., 1998. Atmospheric aerosol over Alaska: 2. Elemental composition and sources. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 103, 19045-19057.
- Ratogi, N., Singh, A., Singh, D., Sarin, M.M., 2014. Chemical characteristics of PM2.5 at a source region of biomass burning emissions: evidence for secondary erosol formation. Environ. Pollut. 184, 563–569.
- Reff, A., Eberly, S.I., Bhave, P.V., 2007. Receptor modeling of ambient particulate matter data using positive matrix factorization: review of existing methods. J. Air & Waste Manag, Assoc. 57, 146–154. Rogge, W.F., Hildemann, L.M., Mazurek, M.A., Cass, G.R., Simoneit, B.R.T., 1993.
- Sources of fine organic aerosol. 2. Noncatalyst and catalyst-equipped automo-biles and heavy-duty diesel trucks. Environ. Sci. Technol. 27, 636–651.Schäfer, K., Elsasser, M., Arteaga-Salas, J.M., Gu, J., Pitz, M., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Cyrys, J.,
- Emeis, S., Prevot, A.S.H., Zimmermann, R., 2014. Source apportionment and the role of meteorological conditions in the assessment of air pollution exposure due to urban emissions. Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss. 14, 2235–2275.
- Schäfer, K., Emeis, S., Hoffmann, H., Jahn, C., 2006. Influence of mixing layer height upon air pollution in urban and sub-urban areas. Meteorol. Z. 15, 647–658.
- Schäfer, K., Emeis, S., Schräder, S., Török, S., Alföldy, B., Osan, J., Pitz, M., Münkel, C., Cyrys, J., Peters, A., Sarigiannis, D., Suppan, P., 2011. A measurement based analysis of the spatial distribution, temporal variation and chemical correspondence of contractions of the spatial distribution. and chemical composition of particulate matter in Munich and Augsburg. Meteorol. Z. 20, 47–57
- Schnelle-Kreis, J., Sklorz, M., Orasche, J., Stolzel, M., Peters, A., Zimmermann, R., 2007. Semi volatile organic compounds in ambient PM2.5. Seasonal trends and daily resolved source contributions. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 3821-3828.
- Seinfeld, J.H., Pandis, S.N., 2006. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics: from Air Pollution to Climate Change, second ed. John Wiley & Sons Inc, New Jersey, U.S. Shao, L.Y., Li, J.J., Zhao, H.Y., Yang, S.S., Li, H., Li, W.J., Jones, T., Sexton, K., BéruBé, K.,
- 2007. Associations between particle physicochemical characteristics and oxidative capacity: an indoor PM10 study in Beijing, China. Atmos. Environ. 41, 5316-5326.
- Shao, L.Y., Shi, Z.B., Jones, T.P., Li, J.J., Whittaker, A.G., BéruBé, K.A., 2006. Bioreactivity of particulate matter in Beijing air: results from plasmid DNA assay. Sci. Total Environ. 367, 261–272. Shi, G., Chen, Z., Bi, C., Li, Y., Teng, J., Wang, L., Xu, S., 2010. Comprehensive
- assessment of toxic metals in urban and suburban street deposited sediments
- (SDSs) in the biggest metropolitan area of China. Environ. Pollut. 158, 694–703. Shi, Z.B., Shao, L.Y., Jones, T.P., Lu, S.L., 2005. Microscopy and mineralogy of airborne particles collected during severe dust storm episodes in Beijing, China.
- J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 110, D01303. Song, S.J., Wu, Y., Jiang, J.K., Yang, L., Cheng, Y., Hao, J.M., 2012. Chemical characteristics of size-resolved PM2.5 at a roadside environment in Beijing, China. Environ. Pollut. 161, 215-221.
- Song, Y., Tang, X.Y., Xie, S.D., Zhang, Y.H., Wei, Y.J., Zhang, M.S., Zeng, L.M., Lu, S.H., 2007. Source apportionment of PM2.5 in Beijing in 2004. J. Hazard. Mater. 146, 124-130.
- g, Y., Zhang, Y.H., Xie, S.D., Zeng, L.M., Zheng, M., Salmon, L.G., Shao, M., Slanina, S., 2006. Source apportionment of PM2.5 in Beijing by positive matrix factorization. Atmos. Environ. 40, 1526–1537.
- Soriano, A., Pallarés, S., Pardo, F., Vicente, A.B., Sanfeliu, T., Bech, J., 2012. Deposition of heavy metals from particulate settleable matter in soils of an industrialised area. J. Geochem. Explor. 113, 36–44.
- Sun, Y.L., Wang, Z.F., Dong, H.B., Yang, T., Li, J., Pan, X.L., Chen, P., Jayne, J.T., 2012. Characterization of summer organic and inorganic aerosols in Beijing, China with an aerosol chemical speciation monitor. Atmos. Environ. 51, 250-259.

R. Shen et al. / Atmospheric Pollution Research 7 (2016) 235-248

- Tian, H., Wang, Y., Xue, Z., Cheng, K., Qu, Y., Chai, F., Hao, J., 2010. Trend and characteristics of atmospheric emissions of Hg, As, and Se from coal combustion in China, 1980-2007. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 10, 11905-11919.
- Turpin, B.J., Lim, H.J., 2001. Species contributions to PM2.5 mass concentrations: revisiting common assumptions for estimating organic mass. Aerosol Sci. Technol. 35, 602-610.
- Wagener, S., Langner, M., Hansen, U., Moriske, H.-J., Endlicher, W.R., 2012. Spatial and seasonal variations of biogenic tracer compounds in ambient PM10 and PM1 samples in Berlin, Germany. Atmos. Environ. 47, 33–42.
- Wang, H., Zhuang, Y., Wang, Y., Sun, Y., Yuan, H., Zhuang, G., Hao, Z., 2008. Longterm monitoring and source apportionment of PM2.5/PM10 in Beijing, China. J. Environ. Sci. 20, 1323–1327.
- Wang, H.L., Zhou, Y.M., Zhuang, Y.H., Wang, X.K., Hao, Z.P., 2009. Characterization of PM2.5/PM2.5–10 and source tracking in the juncture belt between urban and rural areas of Beijing. Chin. Sci. Bull. 54, 2506–2515.
 Wang, S.L., Mulligan, C.N., 2006. Occurrence of arsenic contamination in Canada:
- sources, behavior and distribution. Sci. Total Environ. 366, 701-721.
- Wang, Y.S., Ren, X.Y., Ji, D.S., Zhang, J.Q., Sun, J., Wu, F.K., 2012. Characterization of volatile organic compounds in the urban area of Beijing from 2000 to 2007. J. Environ. Sci. 24, 95–101.
- Wu, Y., Yang, L., Zheng, X., Zhang, S.J., Song, S.J., Li, J.Q., Hao, J.M., 2014. Characterization and source apportionment of particulate PAHs in the roadside environment in Beijing. Sci. Total Environ. 470-471, 76-83.
- Xin, J.Y., Zhang, Q., Wang, L.L., Gong, C.S., Wang, Y.S., Liu, Z.R., Gao, W.K., 2014. The empirical relationship between the PM2.5 concentration and aerosol optical depth over the background of North China from 2009 to 2011. Atmos. Res. 138, 179-188.
- Xu, L.L., Chen, X.Q., Chen, J.S., Zhang, F.W., He, C., Zhao, J.P., Yin, L.Q., 2012. Seasonal variations and chemical compositions of PM2.5 aerosol in the urban area of Fuzhou, China. Atmos. Res. 104-105, 264-272.
- Yang, F., Huang, L., Duan, F., Zhang, W., He, K., Ma, Y., Brook, J.R., Tan, J., Zhao, Q., Cheng, Y., 2011. Carbonaceous species in PM2.5 at a pair of rural/urban sites in Beijing, 2005–2008. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 11, 7893–7903.

- Yang, F.M., Ye, B.M., He, K.B., Ma, Y.L., Cadle, S.H., Chan, T., Mulawa, P.A., 2005. Characterization of atmospheric mineral components of PM2.5 in Beijing and Shanghai, China. Sci. Total Environ. 343, 221–230.
- Yang, G.S., Ma, I.L., Xu, D.D., Li, J., He, T.T., Liu, I.Y., Jia, H.L., Zhang, Y.B., Chen, Y., Chai, Z.F., 2012. Levels and speciation of arsenic in the atmosphere in Beijing, China. Chemosphere 87, 845–850.
- Yao, X.H., Chan, C.K., Fang, M., Cadle, S., Chan, T., Mulawa, P., He, K.B., Ye, B.M., 2002. The water-soluble ionic composition of PM2.5 in Shanghai and Beijing, China. Atmos. Environ. 36, 4223–4234.
- Yu, L.D., Wang, G.F., Zhang, R.J., Zhang, L.M., Song, Y., Wu, B.B., Li, X.F., An, K., Chu, J.H., 2013. Characterization and source apportionment of PM2.5 in an urban environment in Beijing. Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 13, 574–583.
- Zhang, R.J., Han, Z.W., Cheng, T.T., Tao, J., 2009b. Chemical properties and origin of
- dust aerosols in Beijing during springtime. Particuology 7, 61–67. Zhang, T., Claeys, M., Cachier, H., Dong, S.P., Wang, W., Maenhaut, W., Liu, X.D., 2008. Identification and estimation of the biomass burning contribution to Beijing aerosol using levoglucosan as a molecular marker. Atmos. Environ. 42, 7013-7021.
- Zhang, W., Guo, J.H., Sun, Y.L., Yuan, H., Zhuang, G.S., Zhuang, Y.H., Hao, Z.P., 2007. Source apportionment for urban PM10 and PM2.5 in the Beijing area. Chin. Sci. Bull. 52, 608–615. Zhang, Y., Sheesley, R.J., Bae, M.-S., Schauer, J.J., 2009a. Sensitivity of a molecular
- marker based positive matrix factorization model to the number of receptor observations. Atmos. Environ. 43, 4951-4958.
- Zhao, P.S., Dong, F., He, D., Zhao, X.J., Zhang, X.L., Zhang, W.Z., Yao, Q., Liu, H.Y., 2013b. Characteristics of concentrations and chemical compositions for PM2.5 in the region of Beijing, Tianjin, and Hebei, China. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 13, 4631-4644.
- Zhao, P.S., Dong, F., Yang, Y.D., He, D., Zhao, X.J., Zhang, W.Z., Yao, Q., Liu, H.Y., 2013a. Characteristics of carbonaceous aerosol in the region of Beijing, Tianjin, and Hebei, China. Atmos. Environ. 71, 389-398.
- Zhu, L., Huang, X., Shi, H., Cai, X., Song, Y., 2011. Transport pathways and potential sources of PM10 in Beijing. Atmos. Environ. 45, 594–604.